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This Annual Report and Financial Statements may
contain certain “forward-looking statements™ with
respect to certain of the Group's plans and its
current goals and expectations relating to its future
financiat condition, performancs, results, sirateqy
and objectives. Statements containing the words
“befieves”, “intends”, “expects”, “plans”, “seeks”
and “anticipates”, and words of similar meaning,
are forward-looking,

By their nature, all forward-looking statements
involve risk and uncertainty becausa they relate to
future events and circumstances which are beyond
the Group’s control including among other things,
UK domestic and global economic and business
conditions, market related risks such as
fiuctuations in market indices, interest rates and
axchange rates, and the performance of financial
markets generally; the policies and actions of
regulatory authorities, the impact of competition,
inflation and deflation; the timing, impact and other
uncertainties of future acquisitions or combinations
within relevant industries; and the impact of
changes in capital, solvency or accounting
standards, and tax and other legislation and
regulations in the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates.

Financial Statements

02 Independent Auditor’s Report a1
03 Consolidated Income Statement 42
04 Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 43
o7 Consolidated Staterment of Financial Position 44
10 Consolidated Staternent of Changes in Equity 45
13 Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 46
14 Accounting Policies 47
15 Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 55
16 Five Year Record 123
Recorciliations of reported to underlying earnings 124
20 Company Balance Sheet 126
Company Accounting Policies 127
Notes to the Company Financial Statements 131
22
23 Shareholder Information
27 Notice of Annual General Mesting 141
34 Natice to US Sharehalders 144
40 Corporate Information 145
Definitions

As a result, the Group's actual future financial
condition, performance and results may differ
materially from the plans, goals, and expectations
set forth in the Group's forward-looking
statements. F&C undertakes no cbligation to
update the forward-locking statements contained
In this Annual Report and Financial Statements.
Nothing in this publication should be considered as
a profit forecast.

*F&C, FCAM, Group or Company” F&C Asset
Management plc and its subsidiaries

“FL", “FL Group" Friends Life and its subsidiaries
*FRCGH" FAC Group (Holdings) Limited and its
subsidiaries

*FBC REIT™ F8C REIT Asset Management LLP
and its subsidiaries

“REI™" REIT Property Asset Management LLP
and its subsidiaries

*Sherborne or the Sherborme Group” Sherborne
Investors {Guernsay) GP, LLC (Sherborne GP),
SIGA, LP (SIGA), Sherborne Invastors (Guernsey) A
Limited, Sherbarne Investors Management
{Guernsey) LLC and Sherborne Investors LP
“Thames River” or “TRC” Thamas River Capital
Group Limited and its subsidiary companias or
limited Eability partnerships (LLPs) which are
consofidated within the Group

“NCI" Non-controlling interests
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Our year in brief

Net revenue

£267.0m

Group underlying profit before tax

£47.0m

Underlying earnings per share

9.9p

Total dividend per share

3.0p

2011 Financial and Business Highlights

*» First phase of the strategic review completed, second
phase expected in May 2012

s £33.2 million cost reduction programme is ahead of plan
and remains on track to be substantially achieved by the
end of 2012

* Assets under management of £100.1 billion
{2010: £105.8 biflion)”

s £7.8 bilion of gross new third-party business
{2010: £5.7 billion)

¢ Three-year investment performance track record remains
competitive, particularly in the Group’s largest asset class of
fixed income

¢ Consultant buy ratings at record levels
* Net debt reduced to £77.8 million (2070: £95.9 miflior)*

¢ Underlying earnings per share of 5.5 pence
(2010: 5.7 pence)

¢ Unchanged total dividends of 3.0 pence per share
(2010: 3.0 pence)

Reconciliations of reported to underlying earnings and calcutations of key performance
inclicators ara given on page 124,

Reconciliations between reported earnings/loss) and underlying earnings and between basic
loss per share an undertying earnings per share are given in note 10 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

* As at the end of the reporting period.

Assets under management*
£100.1bn £105.8bn
2011 2010
Net revenue
2011 2010
Undertying operating margin
24.4% 27.6%
2011 2010

Group underlying profit before taxation

201 2010

Reported profit/{loss) after tax

- |

2011 2010

Underlying eamings per Ordinary Share

2011 2010

Basic loss per Ordinary Share

(0.19)p “

2011 2010

Total dividend per Ordinary Share

3.0p 3.0p

2011 2010
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Welcome from the Chairman

2011 was a significant year for F&C with
changes in the composition of the Board and
important progress made in developing its
strategy. A review of business flows,
investment performancs and operational
developments, is provided in the Chief
Exscutive’s Report.

Five new Directors joined the Board, three as
a resuit of the changes which arose from the
Extraordinary General Meeting in February
2011, which was covered in last year's
Annual Report, and the subsequent
appointment of two additional Directors. In
the second half of 2011, Keith Jones and
Keith Percy were appeinted as independent
Non-Executiva Directors. Both Mr Jones and
Mr Percy bring considerable industry
expertise to the Board as former chisf
executive officers of major asset
management firms. Additional information on
the recently appeinted and incumbenit
Directors is included on page 22.

The Board has been conducting a
comprehensive review of strategy duning the
year. As | wrota in last year's report, F&C has
a great many strengths, including a strong
brand, competitive investment performance
across a range of products and high quality
professionals, but these have not been
reflected in its financial performance in recent
years. The goal of the review is therefore to
anhance shareholder value.

In setting the parameters for the revised

strategy the Board agreed three key

objectives:

+ Generate above-average shareholder
returns with below-average volatility

* Achieve compstitive scale in areas of
strategic focus

* Create a stable environment for
long-term growth
The first phase of this work completed in
Cctober and focused on addressing cerntain
corporate issues, as well as the growth
strategy for our institutional business, In
particular, we announced steps to improve
profitability through an additional £21.2 milion
expense reduction programme over and
above the £12.0 million 1arget set-out at the
start of the year from the operational
outsourcing project and related restructuring.
These combined £33.2 milion cost
reductions, which will substantialty be
achieved by the end of this year and iully
achieved during 2013, will enhance
undertying samings and the level of dividend

cover and provide the Group with the ability
1o accelerate the retirement of its long-tarm
debt. Improving the Group’s financial position
will better enable F&C to implement its
revenue growth plans, with consistant
investment in the resources required to
suppoit growth.

Our revised institutional strategy is to focus
on those arsas where F&C has sxisting scale
and marketable track records in products
that meet the needs of insurance companies
and pansion schemes. Both of these largs
client groups are increasingly focused on
immunising liabilities, with fixed income as
the core asset class in their portfalios. F&C
has significant scale in fixed income, good
performance track records and has gathered
strong consuftant suppont for its expertise in
Liability Driven Investment.

The second phase of the strategic raview,
which will cover the growth strategies for our
retail, wholesale, investrment trust and
real-estate businesses, is ongoing. We
expect to conclude this work in May.

Results and Dividend

The underlying profit after tax was £28.4
million compared to £28.8 million in 2010.
This reprasents undertying earnings per share
of 5.5 pence for 2011 (2010: 5.7 pence).

On a statutory reporting basis, which
includes exceptional and non-cash items, the
Group made a profit after tax of £2.6 millicn,
compared to a loss after tax of £13.4 million
in 201G. This represents a basic loss per
share of 0.1 pence comparad to a loss of
3.3 pence in 2010,

The Board is recommending an unchanged
final dividend of 2.0 pence per share,
payable con 25 May 2012 to shareholders on
the register at 30 March 2012. This brings
full-year dividends to 3.0 pence per share
(2010: 3.0 pence per shara}.

Retirement of Alain Grisay

In October 2011 the Group announced that
Alain Grisay would be retiring in the latter part
of 2012 and would therefore step down as
Chief Executive and from the Board at the
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting in
May. As part of a gradual and orderty
handover of responsibilities, | have
temporarily taken on the position of Executive
Chairman. This is an interim measure whils
the Group completes its strategic review and
implements the related actions. The Board

axpects that the roles of Chairman and Chief
Executive wil be separated again by the time
of tha 2313 Annual General Mesting.

As & result of the handover, and to ensure
accountability for delivery of goals for each
business line, we have clarified senior
management responsibilities. Richard Wilson
is now head of our Investment and
Institutional Business and Charlie Porter is
head of our Retail and Wholesale Business
fwhich incorporates investment trusts).
Responsibifity for F&G REIT, our real-estate
business, and F&C Portugal remains
unchanged.

On behalf of the Board and management
team, | would like to thank Alain Grisay for
the huge contribution he has made to F&C
Qver many years, the last six of which he has
sarved as Chief Executive. His notable
achigvernents include successfully leading
F&C through a period of cwnership
uncertainty to an independent stock market
listing and the acquisitions of Thames River
and REIT Assat Managemsnt. Alain leaves
F&C with our very best wishes for the future.

Edward Bramso
Executive Chairman

15 March 2012

2011 was a significant year
for F&C with changes in the
composition of the Board and
important progress made in
developing its strategy.




04 | BUSINESS REVIEW |

Chief Executive’s Report

Market Overview

The ongoing European sovereign debt crisis
continued to cast a cloud of uncertainty
over the global economy during 2011 as
solvency fears spread beyond Greece,
Ireland and Portugal to the much larger
economies of Spain and ltaly. Alongside this
the year also saw a number of significant
geopoliticat developments and natural
disasters which contributed to extreme
volatifity in global markets and poor investor
sentiment. These included the earthquake,
tsunami and nuclear reactor crisis in Japan,
violent upheaval in the Middle East and
North Africa and growing concerns over
Iran's nuclear programme.

While across the year the equity market
ended only modestly down, with the FTSE
100 Index posting a total return of -2,2 per
cent., volatility as measured by the VIX
Index hit levels last seen at the height of the
credit crisis in 2008 when the global
financial system was on the brink of
collapse. At its lowest point the FTSE 100
Index had declined by -13.8 per cent, from
the start of the year and the S&P 500 Index
of feading US companies traded in a 24 per
cent. range with an average daily move of
around 1 per cent,

Volatile markets, combined with poor
liquidity, adversely affect the asset
management industry by impacting both new
business generation, particularly from retail
investors, and the ability of fund managers to
position client portfolios in order to deliver
out-performance. During 2011 only 17 per
cent. of funds in the IMA UK All Companies
sector managed to outperform the FTSE All
Share tndex on a total return basis

{source: Lipper).

Undertying asset performance was a £2.9
billion positive contributor to assets under
management {AUM) over the year. However,
the Group saw its AUM decline 5.4 per cent.
to £100.1 billion (31 December 2010: £105.8
billion) principally as a result of net outflows
and adverse foreign exchange movements
associated with strategic partner assets.

Some 52 per cent. of the assets we manage
are in Euro-denominated portfolios, with
strategic partners rmaking up 67 per cent. of
this exposure.

Business Flows

While the business saw overall net outflows
of £7.2 bilion during the year, this was
primarily attributable to strategic partner
outflows. The outfiows reflected the
underlying maturity profile of some of our
strategic partners’ insurance books, the
market conditions in Portugal and Ireland
and specific developments including the
partial nationalisation of the BCP Pension
Scheme in Portugal and the sale of Imperio
France by Achmea. We estimate annualised
revenues lost from these net outflows in
2011 to be approximately £11.9 million.

Net flows from third-party clients were flat
reflecting the difficult market environment,
particularly for retail and wholesale business.
Institutional gross sales were strong, with
£4.6 billion new mandates funded and an
additional £1.2 billion won but unfunded at
year end. Institutional flows were indicative
of our much improved position with
investment consuttants where our
credentials in areas such as fixed income
and Liability Driven Investments (LDI) have
gained strong recognition.

Financial Results

While net revenues increased to £267.0
million {2010: £243.2 million), this reflected
the first full-year of Thames River's inclusion
in the Group which also had a corresponding
impact on the expense base. Net revenues
included performance-related management
fees of £11.8 million {2010: £12.9 million).
The reduction in performance fees over the
pravious year partially reflected weaker
investment performance in the second half of
the year at Thames River, where the majority
of products have performance fee potential,
and also the reduced performance fee
potential from certain F&C mandates.

Underlying operating costs, excluding
amortisation of intangible assets and
exceptional items, werg £202.1 million
(2010: £177.0 milion). These included a
full-year impact from the Thames River
acquisition, including £18.3 million in respect
of distributions payable to Thames River
members. Core operating expenses in the
legacy FA&C business were slightly lower year-
on-year, with cost reductions more than
offsetting inflationary increases.

The Group also incurred a number of
exceptional and non-recurring costs which
are excluded from our undertying resulfts.
These included costs associated with the
F&C Partners fitigation, costs of
implementing our back and middle office
outsourcing and one-off expenses related to
our cost reduction programme. Offset
against these, and also excluded from
underlying resulis, are exceptional gains
arising from the reassessment of conditional
consideration payable for Thames River, and
in respect of the reduction in F&C REIT put
option liabilittes. The Group anticipates that,
based on current and forecast financial
performance, no conditional consideration
will be payable for the Thames River Group.

The Group achieved an undertying operating
profit for 2011 of £65.2 million {2010: £67.2
milion), resulting in an underlying operating
margin of 24.4 per cent. (2010: 27.6 per
cent.}. In addition, the Group recognised
investment gains, which are included in
investment income, of £3.7 million during
the year.

Underlying eamings per share for the year
were 5.5 pence (2010: 5.7 pence).

On a statutory basis, which includes
amortisation and excepticnal items, the
Group made a profit after tax of £2.6 rilion
{2010: a loss of £13.4 million}.




Statement of Financial
Position

The Group closed the year with £196.9
million of shareholders’ cash reserves

and net debt reduced to £77.8 million
{2010: £95.9 million}, A significant proportion
of the shareholders’ cash reserves are held
in our regulated subsidiaries against their
capital requirements.

Gross debt of some £275 million (2010:
£275 milion) comprises £125 million of
subordinated loan notes and €150 milion of
senior lpan notes, neither of which include
any financial covenants.

Business Review

While the Board conducted its review of
strategy, the operational focus of the
business during 2011 remained the delivery
of good investment performance and client
servicing during a period of market
turbulence, and the project to outsource our
back and middle office functions.

On an asset-weighted basis relative
investment performance during the year was
encouraging, particutarly in fixed income,
which is the core asset class for both defined
benefit pension schemes and insurance
portiolios. Importantly, three-year track
records continue to be competitive: on an
asset-weighted basis some 87 per cent. of
fixed income, 64 per cent. of equities and 98
per cent. of property assets are above
benchmarks over threas years.

Qur position with investment consuttants
continues to improve and we have a highly
active programme of consultant
engagement. We now have 70 individual
product buy ratings compared to 43 at the
end of 2010. This significant increase in
consultan! ratings primarily reflects new
ratings for a number of investment solutions
products launched over the last two years,
including our equity-inked bond fund range
and a suite of Dynamic LDI funds that we
launched in December 2011, Our credentials
in providing solutions to help insurers to
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address their solvency requirements and
pension schemes to immunise liabilities,
gained important recognition with our
appointment to the UK's Pension Protection
Fund’s panel of LDI providers. F&C also
won the LDI Provider of the Year award

at the prestigious 2011 European

Pensions Awards.

As disclosed in our Interim Report, a further
notable achievement during the year was
our appointmen? by the National
Employment Savings Trust (NEST) to
manage their ethical fund option. NEST is a
new workplace defined contribution pension
scheme, into which UK employees who do
not currently nave access o an occupational
pension scheme will gradually be auto-
enrclled by 2017. This mandate provides
long-term potential for business flows and
further recognition of F&C's scale and
leadership in sustainable investing. We see
further opportunities for developing our
presence in socially responsible investment
arising from recent decisions by some other
asset managers to scale back their
resources and activities in this area.

The tough market environment for the
retail/whotesate mutual fund business
resulted in 2011 being a relatively subdued
year for new praduct innovation across the
industry. We closed a small number of funds
and share classes which were sub-scale and
where we saw little demand. In the UK, we
continued to focus heavily on multi-manager
products, including our Lifestyte risk-rated
funds, where we are seeing support from
Independent Financial Advisers (IFAs)
seeking an outsourced core investment
proposition for their clients. We have also
been planning for the implementation of the
recommendations of the Retail Distribution
Review, which will replace the traditional
commission-based IFA model with the
explicit charging of fees for advice. The new
regime will be fully implemented by the end
of 2012 and therefaore we are in the process
of finalising our new fund pricing strategy.

F&C manages significant assets for a number
of strategic partners: Achmea (The

Netherlands}, Millennium BCP {(Portugal),
Friends First {(iretand) and Friends Life (UK).
These assets principally comprise insurance
funds but also include sub-advised mutual
funds and certain pension scheme assets.
These are long standing refationships which
have generally provided us with exclusivity to
manage the assels of these partners for a
minimumm period of time. An exception 1o this
is the Millennium BCP relationship in
Partugal, which is principally represented by
a BCP-Ageas insurance joint venture, where
that exclusivity period has already come to
an end. We are in discussions with BCP-
Ageas regarding the longer-term nature of
our business relationship.

At 31 December 2011 AUM for strategic
partners were £60.2 bilion (2010: £67.0
billion} representing B0 per cent. of our total
AUM. Due to the lower fees that we receive
for managing thesa assets, our revenue from
strategic partners is considerably less at
some 30 per cent. of 2011 revenues.

Friends Life has set out its intertion to
establish an in-house asset management
function and, as previously disclosed, has
served notice to withdraw £2.3 billion of
assets at the end of this year. Our
expectation is that all or most of the assets
that we manage for Friends Life may be
withdrawn at the expiration of the contractual
exclusivity periods, which occur at various
times up to October 2014, Our strategy, as
set out in October 2011, anticipated this
potential withdrawal and we intend to offset it
through reductions of related costs and a
focus on generating new business.

As disclosed in our Interim Report, the
agreement 10 outsource certain back and
middle office functions to State Street came
into effect on 1 July with all impacted staff
now transferred to State Street. The project
has been managed successfully, with
minimal disruption to client servicing. As we
complete our move 10 State Street’s strategic
platform over the course of 2012, we expect
to deliver the cost savings associated with
this project.
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Summary

While the macroeconomic outlook remains
challenging and geopolitical instabilities
persist, markets have begun to make
headway in 2012 with the FTSE 100 Index
rising 5.4 per cent. to the end of February.
Encouragingly, our refative investment
performance has also been strong in the first
two months of 2012,

After six years as Chief Executive of F&C, this
will be my last report as | will be retiring from
the Board at the conclusion of the Annual sovereign debt crisis continued
General Meeting in May. It has been a .
priviege to serve as Chief Executive and in to cast a cloud of uncertainty

The ongoing European

particular to guide FAC through a period over the g!obal CONOMy during
which saw the two most significant market

downturns in eighty years. | wish my 2011 as solvency fears spread
colleagues on the Board and all of the staff at

F&C every sucoess for the future. beyond Greece, Ireland and

Portugal to the much larger
econcmies of Spain and itaty.

Alain Grisay
Chiet Executive

o z/v~>7

15 March 2012
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F&C is a leading asset management company providing solutions that deliver superior performance

and service.

With offices in 8 countries we are a global business with a strong presence in Europe. Our clients are
insurance companies, institutional, retait and wholesale investors, representing over three million
individuals — for whom we manage approximately £100 billion.

The Board has prepared this review on pages 2 to 21 in accordance
with the requirements of Section 417 of the Companies Act 2006
and it forms part of the Directors’ Report. The law requires the
Company’s auditor to report on whether the information given in the
Directors' Report and Business Review is consistent with the
Financial Statements. The auditor’s opinion is included in the report
on page 41.

The purpose of this review is to provide shareholders with a
snapshot summary setting out the business objectives of the
Company, the Boand's strategy to achieve those cbjectives, the risks
faced, the regulatory environment and the key performance
indicators (KPls) used to measure performance.

What we do

F&C’s sole activity is asset management. We are an active
imternational investor with a client focus on the UK and
Continental Europe.

We operate across multiple locations, with a physicaf presence in
eight countries, Qur organisational philosophy has two key
parameters — to seek to avoid duplication by, for example, managing
each asset class from only one location, and to place client service
functions where appropriate in order 1o meet client requirements.

Our values
+ Client focus
+ Accountable performance

+ Commercial innovation

= Mutual respect
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Our objective is simple: to create value by delivering first quartile
performance in everything our clients expect from us.

Our clients

Our clients comprise a wide range of
insurance companies, institutional, wholesale
and retall investors, across multiple
geographies and jurisdictions, for whom we
manage a diverse spread of investments
including fixed income, equities, property and
altermative asset classes.

How we manage money

With over 250 investment professionals, F&G
has one of the largest investment teams in
Europe. Our scale gives us a competitive
edge in research resources and access to the
most senior management at companies. We
believe individuals work best as part of small,
focused teams. Our investmen? professionals
are therefore organised into dedicated teams,
focused on specific products or market
segments. We provide them with a high

degree of autonomy over their investment
process. We do this in order to foster a
strong culture of enterprise and accountability
for delivering performance. This approach -
of being both large in terms of resource, but
entrepreneurial in structure - is what we
describe as a ‘multi-specialist” fund
management model.

Responsible investments

We seek to deliver strong investment
performance through active management.
However, as a shareholder representative,
we seek to engage with the companies in
which we invest. aiming to enhance and
protect long-term shareholder value. Our
approach is to have constructive dialogue
with companies. We cast votes on
shareholder resolutions globally, and disclose
this 1o our clients on our website.

Key risks (ses pags 13)

In addition to the *normal risks” facing the
business relating to the market, interest
rates and foreign currency, the Board has
identified the following as the key risks
facing the business:

* Investment management

« Effective strategy formulation and
execution

+ Loss of strategic partners
* Qutsourced activities

* Euro currency

* Loss of key employees

= Regulatory compliance

Assets Under Management by Client Category

as at 31 December

as at 31 December

Assets Under Management by Asset Class

B insurance Funds

Institutional Funds

Sub-Agvisory

Investment Trusts

Open Ended Funds (UK Onshore)
ﬂ Open Ended Funds (Offshore)

2010 2011 2010 2011
fbn Fbn £bn  Ebn
50.5 54.4 Bl Fixed Interest 620 59.2
203 301 B Equities 28.7 255
3.0 27 ﬂ Property 8.2 1.9
58 56 B} Cther Alternative Investments 24 17
a5 a5 Money Market 45 58
456 38
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Executive management

Edward Bramson
Executive Chairman

Alain Grisay
Chief Executive

David Logan
Chief Financial Otficer

Jeremy Charles
Group Operations
Director

Charlie Porter
Head of Retail, Wholesale
& Investment Trusts

Richard Wilson
Head of Investment &
Institutional Business

Executive Directors and
Group Management

Messrs Bramson, Grisay and Logan are the
Executive Directors of the Company.

Alain Grisay and David Logan, together with
Jeremy Charles, Charfie Porter and Richard
Wilson formed the Group Management team
{Group Management) in 201 1. Group
Management is accountabile and responsible
for implermenting Board strategy, propasing
developrment of new elements of strategy
and for the day-to-day running of the
business. In addition to overseeing the
implementation of the strategy, Group
Management regularly reviews business
issues and matters not reserved for the
Board as a whole. Group Management has
reserved lists to assist it in carrying out

its functions.

Examples of matters reserved for Group
Management as detegated authorities from
the Board:

* The approval of day-to-day business
issues linked to the strategy or the
annual budget and including the launch
of new products.

¢ The approval of contractual
commitments.

» The approval of expenditure and the
management of any issue that could
have a potential legal or reputational
impact on the Group.
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Our strategy

During the year the Board launched a comprehensive review of strategy. In October 2011, the results
of the first phase of this review, covering the Group's corporate functions and institutional business,
were announced. The review of strategy for the retail, wholesale, investment trust and property
businesses is expected to be announced in May 2012, Strategic objectives announced in the first

phase of the review include:

*  Generating above-average shareholder returns with below-average volatility;

*  Achieving competitive scale in areas of strategic focus; and

» Creating a stable environment for long-term growth.

In supporting these strategic objectives, tha Group has identified
the following priorities:

Resolving corporate uncertainty

The Board determined that concerns regarding the potential impact

of a significant loss of strategic partner assets, together with F&C's
level of expanses and borrowings, were creating uncertainty over
the future outlook for the Group. Accordingly, the Board has:

* Provided a profile of strategic partner contract terms and
profitability;
* Set out a cost reduction programme to preserve Group

profitability in the event that strategic partner assets are
withdrawn at the end of their exclusivity pariods; and

+ Clarified that its chjective is both to maximise the retention of
strategic partners’ mandates beyond current excluslvity periods
and to seek to add new insurance mandates.

Qur 2012 priorities are to:

* Exscute our cost reduction programme;

* Grow third-party institutional business;

+ Develop new product areas for a re-risking scenario;

+  Maximise the ratention of strategic partner assets; and

« Utiisa free cash flow, after dividends, to reduce gross and
net debt.

Improving financial results

The Board believes that the Group's ability to executa its growth
plans will be enhanced with improved profitability and a stronger
balance sheet. Specific objectives include:

* Improving dividend cover, to provide sharehokders with greater
certainty of future payments;

* Providing for consistent investment in new products and
distribution over time; and

e Creating the opportunity for improved employee compensation.
Our 2012 priorities are to:

¢ Deliver improved underlying eamings per share;

Invest in core institutional products, which meet the Board's
financial criteria. Thase criteria include scalability, high operating
leverage and low revenus volatility;

Focus institutional product development on areas with growing
potential dermand and which meet long-temm client needs; and

Integrate our investment and sales teams, through an enhanced
marketing function, to improve product development.

Enhance employee motivation

The Board believe that employee motivation can be improved by
providing a clear linkage of compensation to individual performance
and Group objectives.

Qur 2012 priorities are to:

Revise the Group's objective-setting and performance appraisal
process to set and monitor measurable individual objectives for
key employess; and

Deliver a remuneration structure that rewards employess for
mesating individual objectives, whitst linking that reward to
corporate amings.

Improving marketing and product development

The strategic review identified a number of changes which could be
made to the Group's markating and product development functions
to deliver improved institutional flows. These include:

Investment in the sales and marketing functions;
Aligning product development with evolving customer needs;

Integrating the Group's investment process with its distribution
approach; and

Clarifying the Group's approach to each distribution channel,

Our 2012 priorities are to:

Create a formal marketing strategy for the insurance sector and
expand our dedicated sales resource;

Better communicate the Group's overall positioning in the
institutional market; and

Selectivaly incubate new products in the wholesale channel for
potential transfer to the institutional channel when sufficient track
records and scale are achieved.




Whilst the change in priorities arising from the strategic review result
in our 2012 goals differing significantly from our 2011 priorities, we
have set out below our performance against our original 2011 goals
and objectives.

Client service

2011 key points
+ Completed the outsourcing of key operational functions without
disrupting client service

+ Transterred responsibility for investment trust client service and
business development to our funds business

* Held a series of successful educational seminars for pension
schemes trustees and a major invastment conference for
discretionary wealth managers

Key performance Indicators

Carporate Heatth — The Board considers a raport on the Group's
Operations and IT systems, Human Resourcas, Audit and Risk and
Compliance functions at each Board Meeting.

investment performance

2011 key points
= 87 per cont. of fixed income assets were ahead of agreed index
benchmarks or targets over three years as at year end

* 64 per cent. of equity assets were ahead of agreed index
benchmarks or targets over three years as at the year end

« 98 par cent. of IPD monitored portfolios ahead of benchmark
over three years as at the year end

Key performance indicators

Average percentage of Fixed k ts above index benchmark
or paer group on an asset welghted basis
% (3 years)

87
72
72 |EE

Average percentage of Equity assets above index benchmark
or peer group on an asset weighted basis
% (3 yoars)

64
63
72 [

Average percentage of Property assets above index benchmark
or peer group on an asset weighted basis
% (3 years)

%8
100 I
100
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Grow new revenues and further diversify the

client base

2011 key points

* (Good progress with institutional investment consultants, with
70 product buy ratings achieved by the end of the year

* Generated £7.8 billion of new third-party business (ex. strategic
partner flows), with a further pipeline of £1.2 billion in institutional
mandates awaiting funding

* 20 new institutional clients added during the year

Koy performance indicators

Gross institutional new business
£bn

5.1
39
25

Net {outflows)/inflows in third-party mutual funds
£m

(170) (EGEEI
425 2010 (N
64 2000

Focus on higher margin and specialist areas

for new business

2011 key points

* Average basis points {excluding performancs fees) increased
from 22.6 in 2010 to 24.4 in 2011

* Koy institutional products include emerging market debt, equity-
linked bond funds, liability driven investments and real-estate

* In the UK retail markatl key tocus remains mutti-manager and the
‘Lifestyla’ funds

s In the wholesala segmants key products included global bonds
and global convertibles

Key performance indicators
Average basis points earmed on assets under management*

24.4
228
218

229
225

*axciuding performance fees

Pertormance fees earned
£m

18

129

187

79

208
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Create greater fiexibility in our cost base

2011 key points
+ Underlying operating costs reduced by £1.7 mitlion

+ Signed an agreement to ocutsource certain back and middle
office functions to State Street to create an operational cost bass
that will adjust with assets under management and transaction
levels. Annualised cost savings of this and related actions
expected to be £12 million once fully implemented

* Launched a further cost reduction programime to deliver an
additional £21m of annualised cost savings with full run-rate
axpected in 2013

Key performance indicators
Operating margin
%

24.4
276
230

improve capital strength

2011 key points

« Net debt reduced by £18.1 million

* Set out plans to reduce debt through the period to the expiry of
the exclusivity periods on strategic partner contracts

* Debt reduction plans will enable the Group to substantially
reduce its net interest expanse

Key performance indicators

Net debt
£m

778
95.9
785




Managing risk
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The Directors are committed to a strong control environment throughout the Group. F&C has a culture
that emphasises the impaortance of rigorous disciplines and procedures to safeguard the interests of our

clients and other key stakeholders.

Investment management

Key Risk The success of the Group depends upon the effective
managemeant of client portfolios against targets, benchmarks ana/or
peer groups. Failure to do so could lead to dlient outflows and the
loss of key mandates, may prevent the Group from winning new
business and could potentialty expose the Group ta greater risk of
mandate or requlatory breach.

Mitigation Fund Managers are responsible for interpreting and
sffectively managing the risks associated with investmant
ideas/strategies. Independent of Fund Managers, the Group
operates an Investment Risk Oversight team with responsibility for
monitoring and challenging risks within ¢lient portfolios.

Effective strategy formulation and execution

Key Risk The succass of the Group depends upon the effective
formulation, articulation and execution of its strategy. During the year
there ware changes in key elements of strategy formulation

and execution.

Mitigation Following the appointment of a new Chairman in
February 2011 the strategic review of the Group's corporate position
and its Institutional Business was announced in October 2011,
highlighting the objective of achieving competitive scale in areas of
strategic focus through consistent investment in products, channels
and human resources. This will increase institutional focus on the
Group's fixed income offerings. The strategic review of the Retail
and Wholesale Business is expected to be announced in May 2012.

Loss of strategic partners

Key Risk The success of the Group depends on the relationships it
has with its clients. The retention of clienis and the winning of new
mandates may be driven by historical performance and the quality of
client service. A number of contracts with our key strategic pariners
are approaching expiry of exclusivity,

Mitigation Dedicated relationship managament teams ensure
continued quality of service. Investment performance is closely
monitored by Investment Function management. Furthermore, the
strategic review explicitly addressed uncertainties relating to
strategic partners. Combined with an increasing reliance on
outsourced providers, additional cost cutting measures werg
announced that will deliver cost flexibility and ensure that the Group
should rermain financially viable under a scenario where strategic
partners assets are withdrawn.

Outsourced activities

Kay Risk In pursuing a strategy with a focus on competitive scale,
the use of outsourced service providers benefits the Group by
providing cost effective access to an industry competitive operating
piatform. In support of this strategic objective, the Group has

increased its concentration and reliance on third parties through the
execution of a service agreement with State Street Corporation.

Mitigation The selaction of a key supplier to the Group was
undertaken following a robust due diligence and selection process.
As part of the implernentation of these outsourcing arrangements
the Group has established a dedicated team to overses all aspacts
of sarvice delivery. The implementation project is being managed by
a Steering Group comprised of senior business managers.

Euro currency

Key Risk In addition to the potential operational implications arising
from the coitapse of the Euro or withdrawal of individual countries,
the Group has exposure to a large number of clients whose assets
under management have the potential to be impacted, In Q4 2011
strategic partner assets were withdrawn as a result of the decision
by the Portuguese goverrmment to nationalise past pension
obiigations of the country's largest banks.

Mitigation The Group’s operating platform is positioned to cope
with potential changes to Eurozone membership arising from the
Euro crisis and the Group proactively considers a range of potential
scenarios with key service providers. Tha Group also provides
tailored assistance to its clients in considering scenario implications
for their own planning.

Loss of key employees

Key Risk The success of the Group depends on the support of its
employees. The departure of key employees could lead to client
outflows and ths loss of key mandates, may prevent tha Group from
winning new business and could potentially expose the Group to
greater risk of regulatory, financial or operational faiture.

Mitigation The Group banchmarks iotal compensation to market
data. All employees receive an annual appraisal which roviews their
performance against clearly defined objectives with the aim of
encouraging strong performance. Reliance on key individuals is
mitigaied by the Group's team-based approach 10 investmeant
managemert. Moreover, we seek to reduce our dependence on key
staff through ongoing learning and development initiatives, and the
recruitment of suitably skilled individuals.

Regulatory compliance

Key Risk Significant changes in reguiatory frameworks and the
increased trend in regulatory scrutiny across the financial services
industry present both opportunities and challenges for the Group.

Mitigation The Group Compliance 1eam ensures that key
regutatory changes are identified at the eariiest opportunity. Their
impact is then assessed to allow practical guidance on the proper
application and interpretation of any changes to be provided to all
relevant business areas.
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Our view of the market

The spectre of the ongoing European sovereign debt crisis continues
to cast a long shadow of uncertainty over the global economy. De-
leveraging remains the dominant global theme as govemnments persist
with implementing austerity programmes against a backdrop of
anaemic economic growth. With interest rates in the US, UK and
Eurozone already at histonically low lavels and dabt reduction targets
curtaifing the scope for tax cuts, the policy options for stimutating
growth are limited, so we expect any recovery to take place over a
protracted penod. This backdrop, combined with upheaval in the
Middle East and mounting concem over iran's nuclear ambitions,
prasants the asset management industry with near-term headwinds in
the form of volatile markets and fragile investor sentiment.

However, daspite thase current challenges, in our view the long-term
prospects for the asset management industry remain attractive. We
see considerable opportunities both from structural refonm in
developed market pension systems and from the growth of the
emearging economies whars the rapid spread of wealth is creating new
pools of assets for tha industry to manage.

In the developed world, governments ara under pressure to pull back
from increasingly unaffordabie universal welfare provision as mortality
rates have improved. In the UK the number of retired people wik fise by
moee than a thind by 2050, while the working population is expected to
deciine. Governments are therefore encouraging individuals, and
companias on behalf of their employees, to take increased
responsibitity for their long-term financial well-being. For example,
commencing this year it has become a legal duty for UK employers to
provide workers with access to a qualifying pension scheme with
gradual phasing in of auto-enrciment which wilt extend 10 all employers
by September 2016. Alongside this the UK government has
established the National Employment Savings Trust (NEST). NEST will
provide an occupational defined contribution pension scheme for
those employees who do not curmantly have access to ong, typically
those working at smaller firns.

The asset management industry is itself going through a period of
structural upheaval driven by new regulation, changing client needs
and developments in the distribution landscape.

In the institutional market, the long-standing trend of Defined Benefit
(DB} pension scheme closuras has continued with Royal Dutch Shell,
believad to be one of the last companies in the FTSE 100 curmently
operating a final satary scheme open 1o new members, recently
announcing that it too will close its final salary scheme to new members
next year, Wa therefore expect to see rapid growth in the Defined
Contribution (DC) pensions markeat, as companies shift risk away from
their balance sheets and on to the shoulders of individual employees. As
the DC pensions market grows, this will increasingly blur the boundaries
of institutional and retad asset management, as scheme members are
prasanted with pooled fund cholces in much the same way as thay
would select from a range of mutual funds for an investment portfolio
outsice of a pension Wrapper.

Notwithstanding the closure of DB pension schemes to new
members, these will remain very significant pools of capital for many
years to corne. Within thess schermes, the ermphasis has moved
incraasingly towards de-risking and the immunisation of future
liabilities, Fixed income has become the core asset class for these
schemes, with a steady decline over many years in their exposure to
equities. In this respect we see a growing convergence between the
needs of DB pension schermes and insurance companies where
changing solvency requirements are resulting in greater use of asset
and liability matching strategies. We expect to see continued, and

growing, demand for both corporate credit and emerging market debt
from pension schemes and insurers, as logical steps along the
risk/retum spectrum from daveloped market soversign bonds and as
these governments seek to reduce their debits. Within institutional
equity aflocations, mandates are increasingly global in nature, focused
elther on developed or emerging markets. There is reduced
institutional demand for long-cnly actively managed regional equity
strategies although these do remain core products for retail investors
and discrationary wealth managers.

As the needs of pension schemes have changed, new models have
emerged from both asset managers and investment consultants to
support them in the form of fiduciary managerment (an asset-manager
led proposition) and implementad consulting (a consuttant-led
propasition). These services broadly seek to intagrate advice on asset
allocation, risk budgeting and manager selection. Unlike traditional
balanced pension management, these new providers of multi-asset
services are prepared 1o make greater use of both passive strategies
and alternative asset classes. We anticipate that these senvices, which
are well established in the Nethertands and of growing importance in
the UK, will expand into further pension markets.

The retait and wholesale market is also undergoing significant change,
due to the growth of platforms and regulatory reform impacting the
distribution landscape. In the UK a key driver of change is the Retail
Distribution Review (RDR) which will be implermented by the end of
2012, These refonms seek to improve the advice received by
consumers in the UK Independent Financial Adviser (JFA) market
through the replacement of commission-based business models with
the explicit pricing of acvice through fees chargad to the end-investor
and new professional qualification standards. RDR is prompting many
IFA firns to fundamentally change how they do business, with one
outcome baing an increased propensity to outsource the management
of client investment portfolios through either the use of mutti-manager
funds or by partnering with discretionary wealth managers. The growth
of these ‘gate keepers' is leading o a greater institutionalisation of fund
buying processes and accelerating the blurring of institutional and retail
asset management referred to above. For management groups
offering core multi-asset and multi-manager products to the
intermediary marks, the shift towards greater use of “outsourced”
investment management sclutions by IFAs should provide more stable
fund flows and longer term holding pattems. However, in other single
strategy product areas where the principal clients are incraasingly
mutti-managers and discretionary wealth managers rather than [FAs,
we axpect to see a reduction in the average holding periods as these
investors are more inclinad to shift in and out of products depending
on changing views on assat allocation or undertying managers. Asset
managers are currertly reviewing their fund pricing strategies and
product ranges in preparation for this new distribution landscape.

Finally, the financial crisis that began in eamest in 2008 has raised
important questions about the extent to which institutional investors
have adequately held companies, and banks in particular, to account
in areas such as remuneration, risk management and effective Board
oversight. Across the assat management industry there is a much
greater focus on corporate governance issues, as axemplified by the
Stewardship Code, a set of principles released in 2010 by the UK's
Financial Reporting Council. We see a similar trend towards higher
expectations of shareholder engagement and improved transparency
over voting activities across a number of developed markets and
therefore we believe that the strength of expertise asset managers can
demonstrate in this fiekd will become an increasingly important factor in
overall cormpetitive positioning,
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Our trading performance and outlook

Institutional: Third-Party and Strategic Partner
business

F&C is a leading provider of services to institutional investors, which
we broadly categorise as either third-party institutional business or
“strategic partners” for whom we principally manage insurance
assets. We provide these clients with both portfolio management in
mutti-asset and single asset class mandates and, increasingty,
investment solutions such as liability hedging strategies and
shareholder engagement programmes.

Qur largest markets for third-party institutional business are The
Netherands, the UK and Germany. Institutional assets under
managernent, excluding strategic partner assets, were £27.1 bilion
at 31 December 2011 {2010: £24.7 billion) reprasenting 27 per cent.
of our total assets under management and some 27 per cent. of
2011 net revenues.

Mandates in the institutional asset management industry are
predominantly intermediated through firms of investment

consultants who advise pension schemes on manager selection and
asset allocation. In recent years F&C has achieved a much improved
position with investment consultants, with a total of 70 individual
product buy ratings at the end of 2011, compared to 26 four years
ago. Consuttant support and competitive performance resulted in a
28 per cent. increase in gross sales to £4.6 billion during 2011
(2010: £3.6 bilion), After allowing for outflows, this resulted in net
inflows of some £0.3 billion. Additionally, at 31 December 2011 the
business had won a further £1.2 billion, pipeline of institutional new
business that had yet to be funded. In line with the strategy
announced in Octaber 2011, we believe this business is well
positioned for growth as we have strong track records, significant
scale and consultant support in a number of core capabilities which
are seeing strong demand from pension schemaes and insurers.,
These Include fixed income and solutions to help immunisa liabilities.

F&C manages significant assets for a number of strategic partners:
Achmea (The Netherlands), Millennium BCP (Portugal), Frisnds First
(ireland) and Friends Life {UK}. Theso assets principally comprise
insurance funds but also include sub-advised mutual funds and
certain pensions scheme assets. These are long standing
relationships which have generally provided us with exclusivity to
manage the assets of these panners for a minimum period of time.
An exception to this is the Millennium BCP relationship in Portugal,
which is principally represented by a BCP-Ageas insurance jeint
venture, whers that exclusivity period has already come to an end.,
Wa are in discussions with BCP-Ageas regarding the longer-terrn
natura of our business relationship. At 31 December 2011 assets
under management for strategic partners were £60.2 bilion (2010:
£67.0 billion) representing 60 per cent. of our total assets under
management. Due to the lower fees that we receive for managing
these assets, our ravenue from strategic partners is considerably
less at some 30 per cent, of 2011 net revenues,

Partially clue to the maturity profile of some of the undertying
insurance products of our strategic partners, there has been a
longstanding trend of annual net outflows. In 2011 net cutflows from
strategic partners were £7.2 biflion (2010 : £1.5 bilion). 2011
strategic partner outflows were exacerbated by the partial
nationalisation of the BCP Pension schems by the Portuguese
government and the sale of a French subsidiary by Achmea.,

We have been notified of additional cutflows totalling £3.3 billion

which will occur during 2012, from the BCP Pension Scheme and
Friends Life.

Friends Life has set out its intention to establish an in-house asset
management function and, as previously disclosed, has served
notice to withdraw £2.3 billion of assets at the end of this year. Qur
expectation is that all or most of the assets that we manage for
Friends Life may be withdrawn at the expiration of the contractual
exclusivity pericds, which occur at various times up to October
2014. Our strategy, as set out in October 2011, anticipated this
potantial withdrawal and we intend 10 offset it through reductions of
related costs and a focus on generating new business.

Retail and Wholesale: Funds and Investment Trusts
The FAC Group offers a wide range of investment vehicles which
are distributed into the retail and wholesale markets, principally
through Independent Financial Advisers, discretionary wealth
managers and other wholesale channels such as banks and
platforms. Thesa products comprise closed-end listed investmant
companies/invastment trusts and both UK and offshare domiciled
open anded mutual funds. Some of these vehicles are managed by
F&C siaff and others by teams operating through the Thames River
LLPs. Itis important to distinguish betwean these as the allocation
of revenues and profits differ significantly. Where a fund is managed
by a Thames River teamn, the revenues earned from that fund, net of
the direct costs of managing the fund, and certain allocated costs,
are shared between the senior investiment professionals in the
investmant team and the Group under a predetarmined profit share
formula. This typically results in the senior investment prafessionals
receiving around 50 per cent. of the mlevant profits. Where a fund is
managed by F&C staff, the relevant investment managers are
generalty remunerated by a combination of salary plus a
discretionary bonus.

Buring 2011, the total assets managed in fund products

and investment trusts declined by £1.3 billion to £12.8 billion at

31 December 2011. £1.0 billion of that reduction arose from

markat movaments, exchange rates and investment performancs.
Whilst gross inflows for funds and investment trusts were some
£3.2 billion, and demonstrata our ability to successfully raise new
assets, gross outflows were some £3.5 billion, resulting in a net
outflow of £0.3 billion. Within these flows, products managed by
Thames River saw £0.4 billion net outflows partially due to generally
weaker performance in their funds during the second half of the year
and also due 10 asset allocation changes from their more wholesale
focused client bass.
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Our financial performance

Total return

Wa view share price total return (including dividends) as a key
performance measure. Cur total shareholder return for the year
ended 31 December 2011 was -18.6 per cent. In the same period,
the total shareholder return on the FTSE 250 Index was -10.1 per
cant. and the FTSE 100 Index was -2.2 per cent.

Strategic background

2011 comprised two very distinct periods for equity markets — in the
first half of the year markets were relatively benign, with the FTSE
100 Index opening the year at 5,800 points and standing at 5,946
points at 30 June. Howevar, the second hatf of 2011 saw extreme
levels of volatility as concems regarding the stability and
continuation of the Eurozone, together with other macroeconomic
and geopolitical factors, led to a deterioration in markst sentiment.
As a consequence, the FTSE 100 fell sorme 20 per cent. to 4,791
points before recovering to close the year at 5,572 points. One of
the consequences of this volatility was a significant de-risking by

wholesale asset allocators; a trend from which we were not immuns,

Presentation of financial results

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) require our
Financial Statements to consolidate the resutts of our Managed
Pension Funds (MPF) business on a line-by-line basis, impacting the
presentation of both our Incomea Statemant and Staternent of
Financial Position. Our MPF business provides certain clients with
asset management services inside an insurance product wrapper,
The requirement to consolidate this business has a significant effect
on tha financial investments and investment contract liabilities
captions included in our Staterment of Financial Position, the risks
and rewards of which are substantially bome by the clients of this
business. in addition, our Statement of Financial Position includes
some £28m of cash also atiributable to policyholders of this
business and which is not available tor corporate purposes.

Thames River acquisition

While the purchase of Thames River completed on 1 September
2010, its acquisition had a significant impact on our reported
financial results for 2011. Under the tarms of the acquisition
agreemsent, we paid an initial cash considsration of £33.6m for the
business and, at 31 December 2010, had provided for a further
astimated amount of cash consideration payable of £7.5m as a
resuft of the net assets of the acquired entities exceeding specified
targets. The majority of that additional consideration, some £7.4m,
was paid in cash during 2011, with the remainder released to the
Income Staterment.

In addition to the consideration amounts set out above, the Group
agreed further potential payments to the vendors, members and
employess of Tharmnes River. These amounts are generally
dependent on the post-acquisition financial performance of Thames
River and, given they are acquisition related, have been excluded
from underlying earnings.

Firstly, the Group established a Management Ratention Plan (MRP)
to retain and incentivise certain key individuals within Thames River.

Under this plan some 21.7 million F&G shares were awarded, which
will be issued and vest to employees in September 2013, At the
date of announcing the acquisition, these share awards had a value
of some £15.0m. The value of the shars awards at the date of grant
is treated as an expense over the vasting period and a cost of
£4.7m under this plan has been recognised in the 2011 results.

Secondly, the Group also established a Management Incentive Plan
(MIP}, under which a maximum of some 29 miflion shares, with a
value of £20m at the date of announcing the acquisition, may be
issued to certain key individuals within Thames River. To date,
awards over 14.2 milion shares have been issued. The vasting of
these awartds is dependent on the achieverment of three
performance conditions; a profit target measured at 31 December
2011, a further profit target measured at 30 June 2012 and the
curmulative profitability of Thames River over the 48 months ending
31 March 2014,

The 31 December 2011 profit target was not met, and the Group
does not expact that the 30 June 2012 or 31 March 2014 profit
targets will ba met. As a consaquencs, we do not believe any
shares will be issued under the MIP and previously recegnised
accounting charges of £0.1m in respect of the MIP have
reversed during 2011 and are recognised as a credit in the
Income Statement.

Thirdly, the acquisition agreement provided that the Group would
pay additional consideration to the vendors of Thames River based
on achievement of the same 31 December 2011 and 30 June 2012
profits targets as for the MIP. At 31 December 2010, the Group had
estimated that £7.5m may be payable and had provided for this
amaount in the year end Statement of Financial Position. As the

31 December 2011 prefit target has not been met and the Group
does not expect the 30 June 2012 profit target will be met, the
Board does not expect that any shares will be issued to the
vandors. This liability has therefore been released, in accordance
with IFRS, to the 2011 Income Statement.

Al the time of the acquisition, the Group entsred into agreements
(the Commutation Arrangements} with the Individual Members of the
Thames River Limited Partnerships. Under the Commutation
Arrangements, the Group agreed, under certain circumstances, 10
purchase part of the Individual Members' profit share in the
partnerships by issuing F&C shares in consideration, As the
Commutation Arrangements can only be exarcised by members
who are still actively involved in the Thames River business and
those members must continue in the business for a further two
years to receive the full amount of their consideration, IFRS requires
the estimated value of the shares which may be issued under the
Commutation Arrangements to be treated as an expense,
recognised between the date of award and the expiry of the period
in which the member must remain in the business. The
Commutation Arrangements can be spiit into two parts.

Under the first commutation, an investment team which has positive
fund flows in the 12 months prior to the commutation date can
require the Group to purchase a proportion of their profit share. This




commutation may be exercisable in 1H 2012. At 31 December 2011,
the Group has assessed which investment teams would be able to
exarcise this right if it had crystallised at that date and a charge of
£.3.6m has been recognised in the 2011 Income Statemnent in
raspect of these arrangements. If the first commutation had occurred
at 31 December 2011, the Group would have issued approximately
10.9 milion new shares in satisfaction of its obligations.

tinder the second commutation, the Group can, if it wishes, acquire
profit share from each or any investmant team. Tha maximum
amount of profit share which can be acquired through the first and
second commutation is typically 20% of the profit share of each
investment team. An accounting cost of £2.5m has been
recognised in the 2011 Financial Statements in respect of those
teams where it appears economically attractive at December 2011
to exercise the commutations. If the second commutation had
occurred at 31 December 2011, the Group would have issued
approximatety 12.6 million new shares in satisfaction of its
obligations. No commitment to exercise those commutation rights
has been made.

The aggregate commutation expense of £5.7m therefore reflects the
charge of £6.1m for the first and second commutation options, less
a £0.4m credit, which primarily relates to options which are no
longer assumed to be exercisable.

Net revenue

Net revenue for the year was £267.0m (2010: £243.2m}. This
included £11.8m (2010: £12.9m) of performance fea income.
Performance fee income was earned from a variety of fund and client
types, with the maost significant contributors being the Thames River
funds and F&C REIT, our property business. Performance fees from
Tharnes River were biased towards 1H 2011. Thames River
contributed £40.5m of non-performance fee income to the Group
during the year.

While our strategic partners remain an important part of cur client
base, we believe our strongest growth opportunities are with third-
party clients — for institutional business and in the retail and
wholesale channels. White £7.8 hillion of gross new third-party
business was funded during 2011, net new business was flat,
reflecting the difficult market environment faced by retail and
wholesale clients.

Net funds flows and related annualised revenuas reprasent a key
performance indicator and are indicative of the growth potential of
the business. In this regard, it is pleasing to report that despits
difficult market conditions in the second half of the year, which had a
detrimental impact on flows in our mutual funds business, we
remained in positive flows for our third-party business for the year as
a whole,

Revenue margin

Cur revenue margin excluding performance fees, measured as our
net managemeant fee income divided by average assets under
management, increased from 22.6 basis points in 2010 to 24,4
basis points in 2011. While we have historically used revenue margin
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as a key performance indicator, our emphasis on this measure will
decling, in light of the revised strategy for the Group’s institutional
business announced in October 2011. The Group indicated that its
institutional strategy will increasingly focus on highly scatable
products, with relatively low revenue volatility and a high incremantal
profit margin. Accordingly, success in implementing this strategy
could see the Group add large volumes of low fee margin business,
but whose profitability would be reflected through an improving
operating margin and operating profits.

Operating expenses

The Group's undertying operating expenses, excluding amortisation
of intangible assets and exceptional items, were £202.1m in 2011,
compared to £177.0m in 2010, During 2010, Thames River was
included in the Group's results for the four months from completion
of the acquisition and its costs for the period were some £12.6m,
comprising £6.6m of operating expenses and £6.0m of profit share
payable to LLP members. Thames River's results have been
included in the Group Income Statement for the full year in 2011
and its costs for that period were some £21.1m of underlying
operating expenses and £18.3m of distributions to LLP members.
This difference represents the majority of the year-on-year
movement in our cost base.

One of the key costs for an asset management business is
rermuneration costs, which ara correlated to staffing levels. At

31 December 2011, our headgount, on a full-time equivalent basis,
was B47 compared to 962 at 31 December 2010. The majority of
the reduction in headcount arose from the transfer of back and
middle office staff as a result of the outsourcing agreement signed
with State Street during the year. As we implement the headcount
reductions arising from the strategic review we announced in
Octaber 2011 and the “rightsizing” initiatives associated with the
outsourcing arrangements, we anticipate that this headcount
number will reduce further.

During 2011, we incurred a numiber of exceptional operating costs,
which are excluded from our undertying rasufts. These include
employment expenses, outsourcing expenses and

litigation expenses.

During 2011 we announced two cost reduction programmes. The
first — which we have termed “rightsizing” — will allow us to recognise
cost savings in a range of functions as a result of our back and
middle office ocutsourcing. Thess include our retained operations
support and IT functions. The second cost reduction programme is
an integral outcoma of the strategy review, which targeted cost
reductions in a number of our corporate functions and in business
overheads. The majority of these cost savings will be realised
through headcount reductions and during 2011 exceptional
employment related costs of £8.7m have been recognised in
respect of termination and benefits payments which represent the
one-off cost to be incurred to generate the annualised savings.
Whilst some of those amounts have been paid during 2011, part of
this cost represents a liability for redundancies which will oceur in
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2012. We anticipate that further costs will be incurred during 2012
as emaining actions are implemented.

The outsourcing expense of £2.7m reprasents project management,
implementation and consultancy costs incurred in connaction with
outsourcing of our back and middle office to State Street. Whilst this
arrangement became effective part way through 2011, we continue
to incur axpansas associated with the transition to State Street's
long-term, strategic operating platform. We anticipate this project
will completa during 2012,

As disclosed in the 2010 Financial Statements, the Group had
received put option notices under a Limited Liability Partnership
Agreement from the two Individua! Members of FAC Partners LLP,
the Group's former fund of hedge funds business. The Group had
sought a Court declaration as to the validity of the exercise of these
notices. During 2011, the High Court held that the put options were
validly exercised and required the Group to mest the option exercise
price, of ©7.8m plus costs and interest. As a congaquence, the
2011 Income Statement includes a £1.9m net cost, representing the
Group's professional fees and interest on the option proceeds. The
put option payments, plus the estimate of the Individual Members
costs to be borne by the Group, totaling some £10.7m, represent

a goodwill payment to acquire the remaining 40 per cent. of F&C
Partnars LLP. However, as the group already controlled 60 per cent.
of this business, IFRS requires that these amounts are recognised
directly in raserves as a transaction between sharsholders of

the Group.

Operating margin

The Group's undertying operating margin for 2011 was 24.4 per

cant, compared to 27.6 per cent. in 2010. Key reasons for the
reduction in Group operating margin inchude the weaker performance
foe yield compared to prior years and the full year impact of the
acquisition of Thames River, which has a lower operating margin than
the rast of the Group. Operating margin represents one of
management's key performance indicators, and is measured as
underlying operating profils as a percentage of net rovenues.

For this purpose, adjusted oparating profits represent operating
profits bafore the impact of exceptional items but after deducting
variable compensation payable to members of Thames River
partnerships. As the results of the cost savings programmes are
deliverad, oparating margin should improve from its 2011 level.

Financing revenue and expenses

The Group's Finance Revenus increased to £17.2m (2010: £11.1m).
The principal reasons for this increase wera £3.7m of performance-
related income from carried interest investments, and an increase of
£2.0min expected returns on pension plan assets.

Qur finance costs rose by £1.8m to £35.4m, with the majority of this
increase representing the full-year intarast cost of the additionat
senior loan notes issued part way through 2010 as part of the
financing for the Thames River acquistion.

Amortisation and impairment of intangible assets
Under IFRS, when an acquisition is made, there is a reguirement to
recognise separately the fair valus attributed to intangible assets, in
our case, management contracts. The excess of consideration over
the fair value of net assets acquired represents the business value
and infrastructure and is recognised as goodwill.

Management contracts are separated by client category and are
amortised over their estimated useful lives. Whare an indicator of
impairment occurs, such as greater than anticipated fund losses, we
are required to review the carmying value of these contracts.

No such indicators of impairment arose during 2011 and
accordingly no impainment charges were recognised.

Wa are also required to conduct an annual impairment raview of the
carrying value of goodwill, Thig review demonstrated that there was
ng impaiment and hence no requirement to write-down goodwilk.

Foreign exchange

A large proportion of the Group’s business is conducted outside the
UK and, consequently, the Group has significant exposure to foreign
exchange rate movements. The main areas which are potentially
exposed to exchange rate fluctuations are our revenues and our
assets and liabilities. Approximatety 52 per cent. of the Group's
assets under management are denominated in Euros and,
accordingly, a significant proportion of the Group's revenues are
sarned in Euros. During 2011, negligible exchange differences were
recognised in the Income Staterment and some £2.0m of losses
waere recognised in reserves in respect of revaluation of foreign
operations.

F&C REIT

Qur minority interest partners in F&C REIT, the Group's property
asset manager, currentty own 30 per cent. of the business. In certain
circumstances, they can require FEC to purchase their interests at
future dates and, under IFRS, a liability for this potentiat obligation is
included in our financial statements. As this option is required 1o be
carried at its fair value, répresenting 30 par cant. of the value of F&C
REIT, it is revalued each year, with any revatuation gain or loss
reflected in the Income Statement. During 2011, a downward
revaluation rasulted in a gain of £8.7m being included in tha 2011
Income Staternent. This gain is excluded from underlying samings.

In addition to the amangements described above, the F&C REIT
minority interest partners have the opportunity to incraase their
ownership interest from 30 per cent. to 40 per cent. should F&C
REIT achieve certain stretching financial targets over agreed periods.
For accounting purposes, the valuation of the option provided by
the earn-out mechanism is treated as a share-based payment
expense and included in the Income Statement. As a rasult of a
re-assessment of the likelihood of these financial targets being
achieved, a credit of £4.8m was recognised in the Income
Statement during 2011 and, consistent with prior years, this amount
has been excluded from underlying eamnings.




Underlying earnings

The Board utilises underlying earnings per share as one of its key
metiics in assessing financial performance. The reconciliation
hetween underlying earnings and statutory earnings is provided in
note 10 to the Consclidated Financial Statements. Underlying
eamings per share for the year ended 31 December 2011 were 5.5p
(2010: 5.7p).

Dividends

As set out above, our undertying samings for the year were 5.5p per
share. An interim dividend of 1.0 penca per share was paid during
the year. After a review of the results for the year, the market
conditions that prevailed during the year and the business outlook
for 2012, the Board has declared a final dividend of 2.0 pence per
share. If approved by Shareholders, this dividend, together with the
interim dividend, will result in a total dividend for the year of 3.0
pence per share. The Board is conscious of the need to balance
retumns 1o shareholders through dividends with the profit enhancing
objective of repaying the Group’s senior and subordinated loans
aver tha medium term.
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Cash resources

The Group has gross debt of some £275m (2010: £275m),
comprising £125m of subordinated loan notes and some £150m of
sanior loan notes. Neither the subordinated foan notes nor the
sanior loan notes include any financial covenants.

Al 31 December 2011, the Group held cash resocurces of £225m
(2010: £202m), of which some £28m (2010: £23m) relates 10
policyholders and is not available for corporate purposes. A
significant portion of cash is held in our regulated subsidiaries
against their capital requirements. As asset management is a cash
generative business, we should not require significant cash

for working capital purposes beyond our regulatory

capital requirements.

Cur bomowings carry fixed rates of interest. The subordinated loan
notes currently bear interest at 6.75 per cent. and the senior loan
notes carry a fixed 9 per cant. interest rate. Our cash resources earn
interest based on bank deposit rates. We use muitiple
counterparties for our cash deposits which are approved by the
Group's credit committee. The maximum amount that can be held
with a single counterparty is £25 million.
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Our strategic approach and commitment
to corporate responsibility (CR)

CR commitment

The Board is committed to maintaining the highest standards of
governance and corporata citizenship. We recognise that in addition
to our responsibilities to clients and shareholders we also have
responsibilities to employees, suppliers, the environment, the
companies in which we invest and the wider community in which
we operate.

CR strategy
The Group has two overarching strategic CR ambitions:

= To snabls our clients to raspond eftectively to changing
dynamics in the world economy through our products and
through influencing companies to improve business
performance.

« To ensure that we meset the highest practicable standards of
corporate responsibility in our own operations.

We have defined four key categories supporting our strategic
ambitions: Marketplace, Environment, Workplace and Community.

We are committed to monitoring and reporting on progress against
the targets set within each category, both internally {on a quartery
basis) and externally (at least annually). F&C's CR policies are guided
by a numbaer of broadly accepted international standards and
benchmarks. Wherever practicable, we seek extemnat validation of
our progress and publish these results.

F&C considers the following key external measures to validate our
relative CR performance.

External validation

2010 Existing 2012

position position target
BITC Comporate Gold Platinum Platinurn
Responsibility Index status status status
EIRIS/FTSE4Good Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion
UN Global Inclusion Inclusion Inclusion
Compact CCP
Carbon Disclosure Mamber Member Mamber
Project
Principles for Founding Founding Founding
Responsible signatory signaiory signatory
Investment

F&C identifies its key stakehoklers as shareholders, clients,
employees, suppliers, government and non-government
organisations, the wider community, other asset management
companies and companies in which we invest. We engage widealy
with stakeholder groups through regular dialogue tailored to meet
the requirements of each staksholder group.

CR categories supporting the strategic ambitions
F&C has established key performance indicators {KPis} for each of
the CR categories detailed below, details of which can be found in

the Corporate Responsibiiity section of the Group's website. A
summary of our objectives in each area is set out below.

Marketplace

F&C will use the influence of its clients’ assels to angage with
companias on all relevant CR matters where this will improve
business performance. F&C intends to achieve 435 milestones
(being an instance in which a company improves its policies,
proceduras or practices following engagement and where FEC's
participation has been a major factor) in 2012,

F&C will issue voting instructions in ling with its Corporate
Governance Operational Guidelines on 100 par cant, of global
resolutions that it is mandated to on behalf of clients and will publish
its voting history. F&C will contact 100 per cent. of companies
following an abstention or vote against management.

Environment

FAC is targeting carbon neutrality internally and is committed to
helping our clients and suppliers cut carbon emissions. Over the
next three years F&C will obtain 100 per cent. of its energy usage
from renawable sources, whera such markets exist.

F&C will source 100 per cent. of its paper from chilorine free recycled
supplies, reduce waste to landfill by 20 per cent. and increase its
own recycling by 20 per cent.

F&C will actively embark on an internal education programme on the
effect that water and waste management has on the environment.

F&C, through its marketplace engagament activity, will widen its
influence to the companies in which it invasts.

Examples of some of our 2011 community or charity
events

75 members of staff participated in the JPMorgan Chase Corporate
Challenge, held in Battersea Park, London, raising funds for
Barnardos.

Throughout 2011, 38 members of staff based in Edinburgh
participated in a variety of volunteering avents which included
painting and gardening at three local primary schoois.

6 members of staff in the London office participated in the London
Marathon, raising funds for a variety of charities, including British
Heart Foundation, Parkinsens UK and Arthritis Care.

More than 20 members of staff based in the UK volunteered for a
variety of events held by the Charity of the Year, Back Up Trust.

5 members of the Dublin office participated in a volunteering project,
painting a residence for a previously homeless single parent.




Corporate responsibility key performance indicators
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Category KPVstatistic 2011 performance 2012 targets
Marketplace Number of resolutions voted on during the year 100% 100%
Proportion of companies contacted following an abstention
or vote against managament 100% 100%
neo® engagement SUCCessas in year 480 435
Community Staff participation in Give as You Earn 12% 15%
Employeses participating in charitable events and charitable fundraising 235 475
Staff volunteering for community projects 90 staff days 365 staff days
Environment Carbon neutrality Full Full
Reduction in paper consumption 5% 5%
Workplace Diversity training (staff coverage) 100% 100%
Workplace How is Corporate Responsibility implemented

F&C is committed to ensuring good practices in managing its own
workplace issues.

F&G will undertake an employee survey and wil,, in 2012, target top
decile employee participation levels.

F&C always seeks to employ the best person for each job and does
not discriminate on grounds of gender, race, ethnicity, religion,
sexual orientation, age or physical disability. F&C wil educate 100
per cent. of employees on the importance of recognising and

embracing diversity in the workplace and the community as a whole.

F&C encourages share ownership and will continue to operate
all-employse share schemas.

Community
F&C offers financial supporn and, wherever practicable, offers
empioyees time off work to supporn charitable activities.

In 2012 F&C is targeting 365 staff days of community work.

F&C targets 15 per cert, of employees participating in the Give As
You Earn scheme and will match employee contributions up to a set
monthly level.

,@44/»7

by F&C

The Beard is ultimately responsible for CR within the Group.
Development of F&C's policies on CR and their implementation
throughout the Group are co-ordinated by the CR Committee,

chaired by David Logan.
D@:

23 March 2012

Alain Grisay
23 March 2012
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Company Directors

10

Non-executive Directors
2 Keith Bedell-Pearce CBE

Senior Independent Director
Mr Bedel-Pearce, a solicitor, joined the Board in
Decamber 2002. Until Decernber 2001,
Mr Bedell-Pearce was an executive director of
Prudential pic with over 30 years experience in
the financial services industry. He is curentty
chaiman of 4D Data Centras Ltd and a member
of the Council of the University of Warwick.

3 lan Brindle

Mr Brindis joined the Board in February 2011,
Mr Brindle was UK chairman of
PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP and deputy
chaiman of the Financial Reporting Review
Pangl. He is currantty the chaimnan of Sherbome
Investors {Guernsey) A Limited and a non-
executive director of Spirent Communications
phc, Hementis pic and 4imprint Group plc.

4 Keith Jones”’
Independent Director

Mr Jones joined the Board in Novernber 2011.
Mr Jones is a former chist executive officer of
Morkey Fund Managernent and former CEC of
NPI Invgstments and a past chairman of the
irmvestment Committee of the Association of
British Insurers. He cumently holds non-
axgcutive positions at Just Retirement Holdings
Ltd, Espirito Santo tnvestment Bank and Acn
Hewitt, and advisery positions at Lioyds Bank
and Permira LLP.

5 Jeff Medlock't’
Independent Director

Mr Medllock joingd the Board in October 2004,
Mr Madlock was chief executive officer of
Eureko from its formation in 1992 until 1999
when he became chief financial officer at
Achmea. He returned to the board of Eureko

in 2002 shortly after its merger with Achmea
and Seguros 8 Pensoes as chief financial officer
urtl his retirement in 2004. He is also a trustes
of the children's charity Coram Life Education.

6 Derham O’Neill"®
Independent Director

Mr O'Neill joined the Board in February 2011.
Prior to his appointment, Mr O'Neill was a
senior partner of Clifford Chance LLP. He s
cumently the chaiman of Schroder Asian
Property Managers Limitad (Bermuda) and was
formery the chairman of Scotty Group plc and
a non-executive diractor of Cedar plc, Georgica
pic, and Schroder Venture Managers Limited
{Barmuda).

7 Keith Percy’
Independent Director

Mr Percy jeined the Board in Novernber 2011,
Mr Percy was most recently executive chaimman
and chief executive officer of Société Générale
Asset Management UK and was previously
chief executive of Morgan Grenfell Asset
Management. He is a director of Brunner
Investment Trust plc, Standard Life Equity
Income Trust ple, Henderson Smaller
Companies Trust plc, JP Morgan Japanese
Investment Trust plc and The Childrens Mutual.

8 Kieran Poyntert+*
Independent Director

Mr Poynter joined the Board in June 2008, Prior
10 his appointment, Mr Poynter was chairman
and senior partner of PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP having spent 37 years with the fim. Heis a
director of Nomura Intermational plc,
International Consolidated Aidines Group SA
and British American Tobacco pic.

Executive Directors
1 Edward Bramsont

Executive Chairman
Mr Bramson joined the Board and was
appointed Chairman in February 2011 and
Executive Chairman in October 2011. He is
cumantty a partner of Sherbome Investors and
was formenrty chaimman of Spirent
Communications plc, Elementis plc, 4imprird
Group plc, Nautilus, Inc and Ampex Corporation.

9 Alain Grisay

Chief Executive
Mr Grisay jcined the Board in October 2004
having previously bean Deputy Chief Executive
of FRCGH and head of the institutional business.
Prior to joining F&C in April 2001, Mr Grisay was
at JP Morgan for 20 years, serving as managing
director responsible for the investment bank's
market client business in Europe.

10 David Logan

Chief Financial Officer
Mr Logan joined the Board on 31 July 2006.
Prior to his appointment, Mr Logan spent
seventeen years in the accounting professicn,
including four years as a partner at Deloitto &
Toucha LLP and three years as a pariner at
Andersen.

# Member of the Nomination Committee
* Mermber of the Remuneration Committea
T Member of the Audit & Compliance Committee

@ Member of the Risk Committee (created in
March 2012)
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Report of the Directors

Results, business review and dividend

The Group's results for the year ended 31 December 2011 are
shown in the Consolidated Income Statement on page 42. A
business review of the year ended 31 December 2011 and future
developments are covered on pages 2 to 21, This review, together
with the Directors’ Report on Corporate Govarnance on pages 27 to
33, forms part of the Report of the Dirsctors.

The Group profit for the year, after tax, amounted to £2.6 million.

The Directors recommend a final ordinary dividend of 2.0 pence per
share, amounting to £10.4 milion, resulting in a total of 3.0 pence
and £15.6 million for the year.

The final ordinary dividend, if approved, will be paid on 25 May 2012
to ordinary shareholders whose names are on the register on

30 March 2012. No liability for the proposed dividends has been
recognised as at 31 December 2011, in accordance with IFRS.

Principal activity and status

The Group’s business is asset management. Details of the progress
of the business during the year and of future prospects are
contained in the Chairman's Statament, the Chief Executive's Report
and the Business Review on pages 2 to 21.

The Company is registered as a Public Limited Company in terms of
the Companies Act 2006 and is curmently a constituent of the FTSE
250 Indax. The Company is registered in Scotland, registered
number SG73508, and is domiciled in the United Kingdom.

Details of the principal entities within the Group are contained in
note 39 to the Consolidated Financiat Staternents. There are also
two branch offices in the Group outside the UK, in Germany

and Ireland.

Significant agreements
F&C is party 1o the following significant contracts that take effect,
atter or terminate upon a change of controf of the Company:

Friends Life Group (FL Group)

There are four material Investment Management Agreements (the
Agresments) that have been in place with companies within the FL
Group since October 2004 and under which assets are managed
by F&C. Management of the majority of these assets can only be
terminated by the relevant contracting party within the FL Group
upon 12 months' notice expiring no earlier than 11th October 2014
subject to certain exceptions listed within the Agreements. Thess
exceptions include withdrawals of assets as a result of
underperiormance thresholds being triggered, withdrawals for
reasonable business and financial needs {such as discharging
liabilities under insurance contracts and mesting internal financing
requirements), and withdrawals of asssts of up to £150 milion per
annum in respect of the overall portfolio of assets covered by each
of the Agresmants. Withdrawals of assetls not permitted under the
Agreements require the payment of compensation by the FL Group
to F&C. Management of the remainder of the assets of the FL
Group by F&C (known as the Demutualisation Assets) can be

terminated at any time by the relevant contracting entity within the
FL Group either, in the case of the "With Profits” fund assets, upon
6 months' notice or, in the case of the other Demutualisation
Assets, upon 12 months' notice. As praviously notified in the
Company's Interim Management Statement in January of this year,
F&C is on notice from the FL Group for the withdrawal of £2.3
bifion of the Demutualisation Assets, such withdrawal to take effect
in December 2012,

Achmea Group

There are four material Investment Management Agreemenis (the
Agreemants) that have been in place with companies within the
Achmea Group since October 2004. These Agreements sit
alongside an overarching Umbrella Agreement which sets out the
high level terms governing the relationship between the F&C Group
and the Achmea Group inctuding the operation of F&C’s rights to
exclusivity over the management of assets of the Achmea Group.
Managerment of the majority of these assets can only be terminated
by the relevant contracting party within the Achmea Group upon 12
months’ notice expiring no earlier than 11th October 2013 subject
to certain exceptions listed within the Agreements. These
exceptions include withdrawal of assets for reasonable business
needs, including strategic acquisitions and assets withdrawn
following termination for underperformance by a particular asset
class by a specified margin below the applicable investment
benchmark and assets withdrawn pursuant to an allocation to an
asset class not covered by exclusivity rights (for example venture
capital investmenis). Withdrawals of assets not permitted under the
Agreements require the payment of compensation by the Achmea
Group to F&C. Management of the remaining assets of the Achmea
Group by F&C can be terminated at any time upon provision of
notice,

Millennium BCP Group (BCP)

The consequences of termination of the various agreements with
BCP-related funds are regulated by an Umbrella Agreement with
BCP (the UA). The UA provided that compensation would be
payable if any of these agreements am terminated before 2¢ June
2013. If a person acquires an interest in the shares of F&GC which is
larger than the aggregate interest of Friends Life and Achmea, then
the period by reference to which compensation is payable by BCP
to F&C on termination of such an agreement is reduced. On

17 December 2010, Sherborne acquired an interast in the shares of
F&C which is greater than the aggregate interest of Friends Life and
Achmea thersby reducing the period by reference to which
compensation would have been payable had an agreement been
terminated at that time from 42 months to 12 months. Further
communications from BCP have put F&C on notice that payments
by BGP in respect of F&C's continued provision of services to BCP,
constitutes payment in lieu of compensation and that the
agreements could be terminated by BCP at any time without
compensation or notice. As at the latest practicable date prior to the
publication of this Annual Report and Financial Staterments, none of
the relevant agreements has bean terminated and no notice
{ferminating such agreements has been received.
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Foreign & Colonial Investment Trust Plc

The Investment Management Agreerment in place with Foreign &
Caolonial Investrment Trust Plc can be terminated by the trust on a
minimum of six months' notice expiring at the end of any calendar
menth. In the event that there is a change of control in F&C (as
defined in Section 1124 of the Corporation Tax Act 201 0), then the
investment trust is entitled to terminate the agreement on not less
than threa months’ notice to expire at the end of any

calendar month.

F&C Commercial Property Trust Limited

The Investment Management Agreement in place with F&C
Commercial Property Trust Limited can be terminated by the
investment trust on not less than six months’ notice. Early
tarmination can be undertaken by the investment trust, but only
subject to the payment of compensation to F&C based on rovenug
stream. Immediate termination is possible by the investment trust in
the event that there is a change of control in F&C (as defined in
Saction 1124 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010) which has not besn
consented to by its Board.

F&C REIT Asset Management LLP

The F&C REIT Asset Management LLP {the LLP) Limited |iability
Partnership Agreement, dated 21 July 2008, is between F&C, the
two individual members and a separate company controlled by
discretionary trusts.

Where thera is a change of control of F8C, F&C can elect to change
the arrangements for voting at LLP members' meetings such that
F&C's interests are represented by one vote and the REIT Parties’
aggregate interests are represented by one vote. If F&C does not so
alect, then F&C may be required to offer to sell its interasts in the
LLP to the other members of the LLP at a price dstermined by an
independent valuer.

Property, plant and equipment

Details of changes in property, plant and equipment are disclosad in
note 12 to the Consolidated Financial Statements. At 31 December
2011, there were no significant differences between the net book
and market values of property. plant and equipment.

Financial instruments

Details of financial instruments are disclosed in notes 14 and 18 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements. The financial risk
managemeant objectives and policies of the Group are contained in
note 36,

Share capital and Directors’ interests

The Company did not issue any ordinary shares in respect of vested
awards or options under the Company’s long term incentive
schemes in 2011,

Details of shares under option at 31 December 2011 are shown

on page 137. The Directors who held office at the year end and their
interests (together with those of their connected persons} in the
share capital of the Company ara shown below:

31 Dec 2011** 31 Dec 2010**
Beneficial Nil Nil

Ordinary Shares
Edward Bramson

Non-Beneficialt 106,397,130 96,329,200
Keith Bedell-Pearce Benaficiat 51,285 51,285
lan Brindle Benesficial Nil Nil
Alain Grisay Benaficialt 562657 2,062,657

Non-Beneficial® 64176 64,176
Ksith Jones Beneaficial Nil Nil
David Logan Beneficial 344 627 198,428

Non-Baneficial® 64,176 64,176
Jeff Medlock Baneficial 20,000 20,000
Derham O’ Naill Beneficial Nil Nil
Keith Percy Beneficial Nil Nil
Kigran Poyntar Beneficial 30,000 30,000

t  Edward Bramson is an associate of SIGA, LP, a member of the Sherbarne
Group.

t  These shares include Mr Grisay's participation in the Purchased Equity
Plan. Further details of this plan are st aut in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report on page 35.

*  Aain Grisay and David Logan are Directors of FAC Group ESOP Trustes
Limited, a company incorporated in 1995 as a discretionary empicyee
bensfit trust to encourage and facilitate the acguisition and holding of
shares in the Company by employees.

= Or date of appointment if tater.

Since the year end, the following Directors’ dealings (and those of their

connected persons) in the Company's shares have taken place:

*  Mr Logan subscribes for £128 worth of shares each month under the
Company's Share Incentiva Plan, details of which are set out on page 35;
and

+ On 15th March 2012, Alain Grisay sold 65,000 shares at a price of 70.12
pance per share.

Directors’ and officers’ liability
The Group maintains insurance cover in respect of Directors’ and
officers’ liability.

The Directors have the benefit of an indemnity in accordance with
the Company's Articles of Association at article 166 which is a
qualifying third-party indemnity provision as defined in the
Companies Act 2006.

Charitable and political contributions

During the year, the Group made contributions to charity of
£274,000 (2010: £211,000). No political donations or contributions
were made during the year (2010: Enil}. Further details on the criteria
for chasitable giving are contained on the Company’s website.

Payment policy and practice

It is the Group's policy to ensure settliement of suppliers’ accounts in
accordance with the stated terms. In certain circumstances,
settlement terms are agreed prior 10 any business taking place. It is
our policy to abide by those terms.

At 31 December 2011, trade creditors represented the equivalent of
3 days (2010: 9 days) of the annual purchases invoiced by the
supgliers to the Group.




Substantial interests in share capital
The Company has been informed of the following substantiat
interasts, above 3 per cent. as at 23 March 2012:

Ordinary

Shares Percemage
Sherborne 106,397,130 19.99
Fidelity Worldwide 53,158,667 9.99
Aviva 48,621,733 814
Sarasin & Partners 25,381,134 477
M&G Investments 18,606,636 3.50
Legal and General 16,365,403 3.07
Employees

At 1 March 2012, there wera 776 full-time employees and 84
part-time employses within the Group (1 March 2011: 898 full-time
employees and 84 part-time employees).

Disabled employees

The Group gives full consideration to applications for ermnployment
from disabled persons where the requirements of the jolb can be
adequately fuffilled by a handicapped or disabled person.

Whaere existing employees become disabled, it is the Group's policy
wheraver practicabla to provide continuing employment under
nomal terms and conditions and to provide training, career
development and promotion to disabled empioyees wherever
possible.

Employee involvement

During the year, the policy of providing employeas with infarmation
about the Group has been continued through internal presentations
by the Executive Directors and Group Management and the intarnal
publication of relevant information. Wherever appropriate, employees
are consulted to ensure that their views are taken into account before
dscisions are taken which are likely to affect their interests.

Equal opportunities

The Group aims to provide equat opportunities for all, without
discrimination on the grounds of racs, religion, marital status, age,
sex, sexual orientation or disability. We recruit and promote those
bast suited for the job. The Group respects the dignity of individuals
and their beliefs. The Group does not tolerate any sexual, racial,
physical or mental harassment of staff in the work place.

Share incentive schemes

During the year, employeas participated directly in the business
through a number of Employee Share Schemes, details of which are
included within the Directors' Remuneration Report on pages 34 to
39 or the notas to the Consofidated Financial Statements on pages
90 to 98.

Annual General Meeting (AGM)
The Company will hold its AGM on Wednesday, @ May 2012 at
Irenmongers Hall, Shaftesbury Place, Barbican, London ECZY BAA.
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The Mesting will start at 10 a.m. (UK time). Details of all resolutions
being put to shareholders are set out in the Notice of Annual
General Mesting commencing on page 141.

Board changes

On 3 February 2011, at a General Meeting of the Gompany,
shareholders approved the appointment of Messrs Bramson,
Brindle and O'Neill to the Board and resolved that Massrs
MacAndrew and Larcombe be removed from the Board.

On 6 October 2011, Alain Grisay, the Company's Chief Executive,
announced his intention to retire on conclusion of this year’s Annual
General Mesting. The Board are in the process of reviewing the
Company's succession plans for the Chief Executive position and
will make an announcemant in dus Coursa,

On 25 November 2011, Messrs Jones and Percy joined the Board
as independent Non-axecutive Directors.

Information relating to the re-election of Directors at the Annual
Ganeral Meeting is sat out in the Directors’ Report on Corporate
Governance on page 31.

Authority to allot erdinary shares and disapplication
of pre-emption rights

Ordinary resolution 14 will be put to the AGM of the Company to
renew the Directors’ power to allot shares. The Directors currently
have a general authority to allot relevant securities up to a maximum
amount of £177,355.19 together with specific authorities to aliot
shares 10 satisfy the consideration payable in connection with the
acquisition of Thames River and the related commutation
arrangements and for the sattlemnent of awards made under the
management share plans {the Specific Authorities). The resolution
proposes that a similar general authority be granted in substitution
of the existing general authority to allot securities up to a maximum
amount of £177,355.19, representing approximately 33.33 per cent.
of the Company’s total issued ordinary share capital (excluding
treasury shares) as at the date of this report. The Specific Authorities
will rernain unaffected by the passing of this resolution.

In addition, in accordance with guidance issued by the Association
of British Insurers in December 2008, the Company is seeking
additional authority to allot securities in connection with a pre-
emptive rights issue up to a maximum amount of £177,355.19,
representing approximately 33.33 per cent. of the Company's total
issued ordinary share capital (sxciuding treasury shares) as at the
date of this report. The benefit to the Company of obtaining such
authority on an annual basis is that it would allow the Company to
implement a rights issue of an amount equal to approximatety
66.67 per cent. of the issued ordinary share capital without the
need to call an additional general meeting. This would shorten the
implementation timetable for such a rights issue. The Directors
have no presant intention of exercising this authority. The authority
will expire at the end of the AGM to be held in 2013, unless
previously cancelled or varied by the Gompany in general meeting.
It is the intention of the Directors to renew this authority annually at
sach AGM,
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Special resolution 15 will renew the present power to allot unissued
ordinary shara capitat and to sell ordinary shares hald in treasury for
cash without first baing required to offer such shares to existing
shareholders in proportion to their existing sharehokdings.

Such power will apply to the allotment of unissued ordinary shares
and treasury shares sokd up {o a maximum nominal amount of
£26,605.94 representing approximately 5 per cant. of the
Company’s issued ordinary share capital as at the date of this
report, except that:

{1) the maximum nominal amount of shares that can be allotted in
connection with a pre-emptive rights issus is £354,710.38
representing approximately 66.67 per cent. of the Company's
total issued ordinary share capital (excluding treasury shares) as
at the date of this report; and

{2) the maximum nominal amount of unissued ordinary shares that
can be alloited or treasury shares sold:

{8) pursuant to any other pre-emptive offering {where legal or
regulatory requiraments pravent the issue of shares wholly
on a pre-emptive basis); or

{b} in order 1o satisfy options or awards under any share
scheme for employees or share incentive plan approved by
the Company in general masting,

is £177,355.19, representing approximately 33.33 per cent,
of the Company’s total issued ordinary share capital
{excluding treasury shares) as at the date of this repont,

The Directors consider that the authority proposed to be granted by
resolution 14 and the power proposed to be granted by resolution
15 are necessary in order to take advantage of opporiunities as they
arise and to retain flexibility. The Directors do not have any intention
of exercising such authority or power at the present time other than
for the purposses referred to in {2){b} above.

Purchase of own shares

Special resolution 16 will be put to the AGM to renew the present
powar 10 make market purchasas of the Company's own ordinary
shares. Pursuant to the renewed power, the maximum aggregate
number of ordinary shares which may be purchased pursuant to the
authority shall be 53,211,879 (being approximatety 10 per cent. of
the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at the date of
this repon. The minimum price which may be paid for an ordinary
share shall be 0.1 pence (exclusive of expenses). The maximum
price for an ordinary share (again exclusive of expenses) shall be an
amount equal to 105 per cent. of the average of the middle market
quotations for the Company's ordinary shares for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of purchase. The power
conferred by this resolution will expire on the earlier of the date
falling 15 months after the date of the passing of this resolution and
the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be
held in 2013.

As at the date of this repont, the Company had 105,957,664 options
10 subscribe for ordinary shares outstanding (representing 19.91 per
cent. of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company at the

same date, excluding treasury shares). If the buy-back authority is
renewed at the 2012 AGM and is then utilised in full, the options
outstanding at the date of this report would represent 22.12 per
cent. of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company (exchiding
treasury shares).

Any ordinary shares purchased pursuant to this authority would
either be held as treasury shares or cancelled. While any shares are
held in treasury, voting rights are suspended and curently no
dividends {or any other distribution) are paid (or made) on such
sharas. The Directors consider it appropriate tc have in place the
facility to acquire shares in circumstances where they believe that
future shareholder returns can be enhanced by taking such action.
This authority, if renewed, will onfy be exercised if to do so would
result in an increase in earnings per ordinary share and if it is
considered to be in the best interests of shareholders generally.

Notice of General Meetings

We are currently able to call general meetings (other than AGMs} on
14 days’ notice. We are proposing Special resciution 17 at the
Mesting so that we can continue to be able to do s0. The flexibility
offered by this resolution will only be used where it is, in the opinion
of tha Directors, appropriate in relation to the business to be
considered at the mesting and meritad in the interests of the
shargholders as a whole.

The authority being sought pursuant to Special resolution 17 will
expire at the conclusion of the AGM to be held in 2013. itis the
current intertion of the Directors to renew this authority annually,

Auditor

KPMG has expressed its wilingness to continue in office as auditor
and a resolution proposing its re-appointment and for the Directors
to determine its {ees will be submitted at the AGM.

Details of the auditor's rernuneration is provided in note 4(c) to the
Consolidated Financial Statements and further detail on how the
Board ensuras the independence of the auditor is detailed on pages
32 and 33 within the Directors' Report on Comporate Governance,

Adequacy of the information provided to the auditor
The Directors who held office at the date of approving this Directors'
Report confirm that, so far as they are each aware, there is no
relevant audit information of which the Company's auditor is
unaware, and sach Director has taken all the steps that he is obliged
to take as a Director in order to make himself aware of any relevant
audit information and to establish that the Company's auditor is
aware of that information.

By order of the Board,

W Marrack Tonkin, FCCA
Secretary

80 George Street

Edinburgh EH2 3BU

23 March 2012
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Directors’ Report on Corporate

Governance

The Group is committed to, and strives for, best practice in
comoratg governance. The Boand is accountable to the Group's
shareholders #or good corporate governance. This statement
describes how the principles of corporate govemance set out in
saction one of the UK Corporate Governance Code issued in 2010
{the Code) have been apptlied.

Statement of compliance

The Directors consider that the Company has, throughout the year
ended 31 December 2011 and up to the date hereof, applied the
principles and met the requirermnents of the Code with the following
exceptions:

¢ The Company did not comply with Cods provision A.3.1 in that
Mr Bramson, the Company's Chairman was, by virtue of his
participation in Sherbome {the Gompany's largast shareholder},
not independant on appointment.

¢  (On & October 2011 Mr Grisay announced his intention to retie
from the Board with affect from the conclusion of this year's
Annual General Mesting. On the same date, the Company
announced that Ed Bramson, the Company's Chairman, would
taka on the role of Executive Chairman to oversae the
implementation of the strategic review that was underway at that
tima. Mr Bramson's appointment as Executive Chairmman is for an
interim penod only. While the Board acknowledges that the
temporary appointment of Ed Bramson as Executive Chairman
does not meet the best practice guidance set out in the Code
{Provision A.2.1), they believe it to be appropriate given the
Strategic review work being performed by Mr Bramson.

The Chairmen of the Audit, Risk & Compliancs, Remuneration and
Nomination committees will be available to answer questions at this
year's Annual General Meeting to be held on Wednesday, 9 May 2012.

Going concern

The Coda requires Directors to report, under the terms set out in the
relevant guidelines to the Code, on the appropriateness of adopting
the going concern basis in preparing Financial Statements.

The Group's business activities, together with the factors likely to
affect its future development, performance and position are sst out
in the Business Review on pages 2 to 21. The financial position of
the Group, its cash flows and liquidity position are described in the
Business Review on pages 2 to 21. In addition, note 36 to the
Financial Statements includes the Group's objectives, policies and
processes for managing its capital; its financial risk management
objectives; details of its financial instruments and hedging activities;
and its exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk.

The Group has considerable financial resources together with long-
term contracts with a number of clients across different geographic
areas and industries. After making enquiries, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Company and the Group have
adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going
concern basis in preparing the Annual Report and Financial
Statements.

The Board

The Board of Directors currently comprises the Executive Chairman,
two further Executive Directors and seven Non-executive Directors,
six of whom the Board has identified as independent Directors. lan
Brindle, a representative of Sherborne, the Company's largest
shargholder, does not meet the criteria of independence as set out
in the accepted guidance.

The biographies of the Directors appear on page 22. These
demonstrate a range of experience, skills and personal standing
sufficient to bring independent judgsment on issues of stratagy,
perforrmance, resourceas and standards of conduct which are wvital to
the success of the Group. All Directors have access to the advice
and services of the Company Secretary, who is responsible to the
Board tor ensuring that Board procedures are followed and that
applicable rules and regulations are complied with. The Board
meets formally on a regular basis and is responsible for approving
the Group's objectives and policies. The Board focuses mainly on
strategy, investment and financial performance, the Group's control
environment and executive management and Board succession. To
enable the Board to discharge its duties, all Diractors receive
appropriate and timely information ensuring that they are property
briefed on issues for consideration in advance of meetings. In
addition, all Directors have access to senior management and can
request, either during meetings or at other appropriate times,
further explanation or written papers on matters as they see fit.

The Board has a detailed list of mattars specifically reserved to it —
the ‘Board Reserved List’. This is contained in 'The Directors'
Guide’, a training and reference document issued to all Directors on
appointment and updated as appropriate. The Board Reserved List
is reviewed annuatty and clearly sets out what authority is delegated
from the Board to Board Committees and to management. This
ensures that matters of significance are overseen and reviewed by
the Board prior to implementation. Examples of matters reserved
for the Board as sat out in the Board Reserved List are the approval
of: the Group strategy; the annual budget; the composition and
terms of reference of any of the Board Committees; the high level
organisational structure; and the review of the effectiveness of the
Group's system of intarnal control.

The composition of the Board is reviewed annualty.

The Board committees
The Board has established a number of standing committaes 10
facilitate the smooth transaction of business within the Group.

The tarms of reference of each Board Committee, outlining its
authority and duties, are reviewsd and approved annually by the
Board, published on the Company’s website and are available on
written request from the Company Secretary. The terms of
reference of each of the Board Committees provide the authority
to take independent professional advice, if necessary, at the
Company's expense.
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Statement of diversity policy

The Group recognises the value of a diverse workforce and aims to
attract and retain the best people from the widast pool of talent,
axperionce and perspectives drawn from all sections of society. We
believe that differences in gender, background, perspective,
axpertise and culture are an asset to the Company.

The diversity of the Board is intended to be improved when new
appointments are made as a result of Director rotation. As a result,
the Company's succession planning process has been revised to
include the Company's commitment to improved diversity (including
gender diversity).

Consistent with the Board's intention {o improve diversity through
Director rotation, we anticipate that there will be at lsast one female
Director appointed to the Board by 2013,

(A) Statement of the Nomination Committee

Purpose and Terms of Reference

The Gommittas leads the process, and makes recommendations to
the Board, for all new Board appointments and the appointment of
Non-executive Directors 10 any Board Committee. It is responsible
for evaluating the balance of skills, knowledge and experience on
the Board and ensuring that a formal, rigorous and transparent
appoiniment process exists.

Membership

The Committes is chaired by Edward Bramsoen. The Committeg
comprises the Executive Chairman and two independent
Non-executive Directors.

Members of the Nomination Committee:
Edward Bramson {appointed Chairman on 3 February 2011),
Keith Badell-Pearce and Kieran Poynter {appointed 1 March 2011},

Nick MacAndrew and Brian Larcombe served as members of the
Committes until their removal from the Board on 3 February 2011,

Activities and work of the Committee

Throughout 2011 external search consultants were engaged by the
Committee to conduct a search for two additional independent
Non-executive Directors, Having identified suitable candidates, the
Committee recommended the appointment of Keith Jones and
Keith Percy to the Board in Cetober 2011. Messrs Jones and Percy
joined the Board in Novembar 2011 following receipt of their
necessary FSA approvals.

As an integral part of its succession planning, the Commitiee
reviews the balance and composition of the Board including the
number of Directors serving thereon.

On an annual basis the Committea raviews the terms and conditions
of appointment of Non-aexecutive Directors set out in the standard
letter of appointment to ensure that they continue to meet the
requirements of the Code. This standard letter of appointment can
be inspected during nomnal working hours at the Company's
registered office by contacting the Company Secretary. The
Committee considers, on an annual basis, the time requirsad of Non-
executive Directors for the fulfiment of their duties and assesses the
contribution of the Directors, their independance and their suitability
for re-election pricr to an appropriata resolution being put to
sharsholders. Under the Company’s Anticles of Association, all
Directors are subject to election by sharsholders at the first
opportunity after their appointment and to re-election at least every
thres years. Howevar, in fine with the Code, alf of the Directors are
subject to annual re-election by Sharsholders.

For the Board
Edward Bramson
Chairman, Nomination Committee

23 March 2012




(B} Statement of the Audit, Risk and
Compliance Committee

Purpose and Terms of Reference

The Committee vouchsafes the processes and controls sumounding
the production of the Group's Financial Statements and provides the
Board with assurance that the processes and controls exist to
facilitate reporting on the Group's risk management activities,
including those related to Social, Environmental and Ethical matters,
internal control and adherence 10 policies and procedures.

Membership
The Commitiee is chaired by Kieran Poynter. The Committee
comprises solaly independent Non-executive Directors.

The Board is satisfied that at feast one member of the Committee
has recent and relevant financial experience, a position that should
continue throughout 2012.

Members of the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committese:
Kieran Poynter (appointed Chairman on 3 February 201 1), Keith
Bedel-Pearce (Chainman of the Committee untit 3 February 2011),
Jaff Mediock (appointed on 1 March 2011) and Derham O'Neill
(appointad on 1 March 2011).

Brian Larcombe served as a member of the Committee until his
departure from the Board on 3 February 2011 and Gerhard
Roggemann served as a member of the Committes until he retired
from the Board in May 2011.

Activities and work of the Committee

The Committes normally discharges its responsibilities, as allocated
by its terms of reference, within a schedule of four meetings. Two
meetings are held early in the year, one to deal with matters of
governance {for example, compliance with the Code, the Financial
Servicas and Markets Act, the effectiveness of intarnat controls and
fisk managemant systems, monitoring and reviewing the internal
Audit Risk & Gompliance department and monitoring and reviewing
the independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the external audit
process) and the other to consider the integrity of the year-end
Financial Statements and any formal announcements relating to the
Company's and the Group's financial performance, including any
significant financial reporting judgements contained therein. A similar
process is adopted at the interim reporting stage, with a final
meeting taking ptace late in the year to consider relevant year-end
matters. The Commitiee also considers and reviews other risk
management or control documentation including the Group’s policy
on whistlsblowing, the results of internal and external audit and
compliance reports or management letters, and oversees the award
of any non-audit refated consultancy werk. On an annual basis the
Committee considers and makes a recommendation to the Board
as to the appointment, re-appointment or removal of the external
auditors and approves their remuneration and terms of engagement.
Other mestings of the Committee are called at the raquest of the
Chairmman to ¢onsider ad hoc control issues that may emerge during
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the year as well as other matters that the Board has asked the
Commitiee to consider or investigate.

Changes effective March 2012

In March 2012 the Board resolved to split the existing Audit, Risk
and Compliance Committee’s activities into two distinct committees,
each of which has separate Terms of Reference. The new
committees are the Risk Committes and the Audit and

Compliance Committes.

The newly created Risk Committee is chaired by Keith Percy.
The other members of the Risk Committee are Jeff Medlock,
Keith Jones, Derham G'Neill and Kieran Poynter.

The Audit and Compliance Committse's membership is unchanged
from the tormer Audit, Risk and Compliance Committee.

For the Board

Kieran Poynter

Chairman, Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee
23 March 2012
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{C) Statement of the Remuneration Committee

Purpose and Terms of Referonce
Full details of the pumaose, terms of reference, activities and work of
the Committes are set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

Membership
The Chairman of the Committes is Keith Bedell-Pearce. The
Committes comprises solely indepandent Non-exacutive Directors.

Members of the Remuneration Committee:

Keith Bedell-Pearce (appointed Chairman on 3 February 2011),
Jefi Medlock (appointed on 1 March 2011), Derham O'Naill
(appointed on 1 March 2011}, Kieran Poynter {appointed on

3 February 2011) and Keith Jones {appointed 12 March 2012).

Brian Larcombe served as the Chairman of the Committes until his
departure from the Board on 3 February 2011 and Gerhard
Roggemann served as a member of the Commiitee until he retired
from the Board in May 2011.

Attendees at the Remuneration Committee

Alain Grisay and the Group Head of Human Resources attended all
meatings of the Committee in 2011. lan Brindle also attended all
Committes meetings in 2011,

Activities and work of the Committee

The Board is ultimatsly accountabie for the Group's remuneration
policy but delegates responsibility to the Remuneration Committee.
The Remuneration Committee has resolved the following key issues
during the year:

« Revised the remuneration policy and ensured that it meets the
requirements of the FSA Remuneration Code (to the extent
applicable to the Company);

= Recommended the remuneration of the Executive Directors to
tha Board;

* Reviewed and approved the remuneration of the Executive
Gommittee and FSA Code staff;

+ Approved that the performance targets in relation to long-term
awards require no amendment at this stage;

+» QOverseen the Company's remuneration policy as it applies to
executives, senicr management and employees, including the
discretionary cash bonus scheme and awards under the long-
term incentive schemes;

* \Verified that the remuneration policy does not encourage
excessive risk beyond that of the appetite of the Company;

« Completed the annual review of the Committea Terms of
Refarance.

For the Board
Keith Bedell-Pearce
Chairman, Remuneration Committes

23 March 2012

Attendance at meetings

The following table identifies the number of Board and formal
committee meetings held in 2011 and the attendance record of the
individual Directors as members of committees of the Board. In
addition to the scheduled mestings detailed below a number of

ad hoc Directors' meetings, sub committees of the Board and
Board Committees were held.

MNon-axscutive
Director
mastings Aucti,
‘without Risk & .-. N
Board present
Number of meetings
held 2011/(2010)  7(7) 2(2) 5(5) 5(6) 2(2)
Edward Bramson' 5 2 - - 2
Nick MacAndrew? 1 - - - -
Alain Grisay 7 - - -
Keith Badell-Pearce 7 2 5 5 2
lan Brindle' 5 2 - - -
Derham O'Nei’ 6 2 3 2 -
Keith Jones* - - - - -
Brian Larcombe? 1 - - 2 -
David Logan 7 - - - -
Jeft Mediock 7 2 3 2 -
Keith Parcy* - - - - -
Kieran Poynier 7 2 5 3 1
Gerhard Roggemann® 2 - 1 2 1

! Appointed to the Board in February 2011

2 Ramaved from the Board in February 2011
3 Ratired from the Board in May 2011

4 Appointed to the Board in November 2011

Board Roles

Chairman

The Executive Chairman of the Gompany is Edward Bramson. As

Chaimnan, Mr Bramson is responsibla for leadership of the Board

and ensuring the effective running and management of the Board.

The role profile of the Ghairman includes the following specific

responsibilities:

« Ensuring that the Board agenda for each meeting takes account
of the issues and concerns of each Board member and that
mambaers of the Boand receive accurate, timely and clear
information on the Company and related matters to enable them
to monitor the Group's performance and take sound decisions;

*  Ensuring effective communication with shareholders and
ensuring that the Board develops an understanding of the views
of major investors;

+ Ensuring that, in conjunction with the Company Secretary, a
formal induction and development process, including any
relevant internal and external training, exists for all Directors and
the Board as a whole with a view to enhancing the Board's
effectiveness; and

« Ensuring consiructive relations between Executive and Non-

executive Directors and an effective contribution from all
Diractors.




The parformance of the Chairman is reviewed annually by the Non-
executive Directors in a meeting chaired by the Senior Independent
Director.

Chief Exectitive

The Chief Executive of the Company is Alain Grisay. As Chief
Executive, Alain is responsible for overseeing the implementation of
the strategy as sei by the Board, providing strategic vision and
executive leadership to all the Group's business activities and
ensuring the effective running of the business and the Group
Management.

Non-executive Directors

Massrs Bedell-Pearce, Brindle, Jones, Medlock, O'Nelll, Percy and
Poynter are the Company’s Non-executive Directors. As Non-
executive Directors they are responsible for: promoting
entrepreneunial leadership and the highest standards of govemnance
within a framework of prudent and effective controls; constructively
challenging and helping davelop strategic proposals; ansuring that
the Group has in place the necessary resources to meet its strategic
objectives; reviewing management performance; determining
appropriate levels of Executive Director Remuneration
(Remuneration Committes members}, taking a prime role in
appointing, and where necessary removing, Executive Directors;
setting the Company’s values and standards to ensure its
obligations to its stakehoiders are understood and met; and
reviawing communication with sharsholders.

Board evaluation and professional development

A comprehensive and rigorous external evaluation of the
performance of the Board, its principal Committees and all Directors
was conducted in the first quarter of 2012. Each Director was
interviewed by an external evaluator to extract their views on the
perceived operation and effectiveness of the Board, the Board
Committees and individuat Directors. The results of this process
ware presented to the Board in March 2012, All recommendations
made by the external evaluator were accepted by the Board and the
Board have committed to addressing all matters raised during 2012.

The Board also set themselves ¢bjectives earty in 2011 and
assessed their performance against these objectives at a mesting
held in January 2012. Al the sama meeting Board objectives for
2012 were discussed and an agreed set of Board objectives for
2012 was approved at the end of January 2012.

The Company has a full and formal induction process for all new
appointments to the Board. The Chainman, in consultation with the
Company Secretary and individual Directors, is responsible for
assessing the professional development needs of each Director. The
induction process and ongoing professional development is
facilitated by the Company Secretary who, in consuttation with the
individual Director, identifies the most appropriate method of
ensuring professional development. The Company Secretary also
assists in organising attendance at internal or external courses 10
develop familiarity with the Company's business operations.
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Directors' conflicts of interest

From 1 October 2008, Directors have a statutory duty to avoid a
situation in which they have or can have an interest that conflicts or
possibly may conflict with the interests of the Company. A Director
will not be in breach of that duty if the relevant matter has been
authorised in accordance with the Articles of Association by the
other Directors.

Directors and Directors' re-election

The Directors who served at any time during the year ended

31 December 2011 are as shown in the Directors” Remuneration
Report on page 38. Details of the Executive Directors’ service
coniracts and Non-executive Directors’ letters of appointment can
be found on page 38.

Kaith Jones and Keith Percy joined the Board during the year as
independent Directors and as such will retire at the Annual General
Meeting and being eligible will offer themsehves for election. With the
exception of Alain Grisay, who has exprassed his intsntion to retire
on conclusion of the Annual General Meeting, all other Directors will,
in accordance with the Code, offer themselves for re-election at the
Annual General Meeting.

In accordance with the requirements of the Gode, during 2011, the
Nomination Committee gave more detalled consideration to the
proposed re-alection of Messrs Bedell-Pearce and Medlock, given
that they have both served more than six years as Directors.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and
composition of the Board, and has confirmed that alt Directors
submitting themselves for election and re-elaction demonstrate the
commitment and devote sufficient time to perform their duties as
members of the Board and should be elected or re-elected.

Details of the Directors offering themsehves for alection or re-election
can be found on page 22.

Board succession planning

The Nomination Committee has a succession plan for the Board's
Non-executive Directors. The plan was shaped by a skills profile,
projected and expected normal retirements, and the Company’s
commitment to corporate governance best practice. The planis
approved annually by the Board.

Relations with shareholders

The Board as a whole acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring
satisfactory dialogue with shareholders and that communications
are given high priority. The Company weicomes the views of
shareholders and, whers practicable, enters into dialogue with
institutional shareholders based on the neead for mutual
understanding of objectives. The Company’s Chief Executive and
Chief Financial Officer regutarty meet the largest institutional
shareholders and Company analysts following the announcerment of
the yaar-end and interim results; the Senior Independent Director
and all other Non-exacutive Directors have the opportunity to attend
these meetings. The Annual General Meeting of the Company
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provides a forum, both formal and informal, for investors to meet
and discuss issues with Directors and senior management of the
Company.

At its Annual General Meeting, the Company complies with the
provision of the Code relating to the disclosure of proxy votes, the
saparation of resolutions and the attendance of the Committee
Chairmen. The results of the votes cast at the Annual General
Masting are postad on the Company's website.

Following the announcement of the first phase of the Company's
Strategic Review, tha Company’s Executive Chairman and Chief
Financial Officer met with a number of the Company's largest
shareholders. The feedback from these meetings was circulated to
the Board. Unattributable teedback from a number of the
Company's sharsholders, facilitated by the Company's brokers, is
also presented to the Board following management’s year-end
results presentations.

Electronic communications

Copies of the 2011 Annual Report and Financial Statements, the
Notice of Annual General Meeting, other corporate publications,
prass releasas and announcements are available on the Company's
website. Shareholders are encouraged to take advantage of the
provisions allowing the Company to communicate alectronically.

internal control

The Board has overall responsibility for the Group's system of
internal contral and for raviewing its effectivenass cn a regular basis.
Management's role is to implement and operate the Board policies
on risk and risk management. The system of internal control is
designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives and can only provide masonable and
not absolute assurance against material errors, losses or fraud.,

The Company, as required by the FSA Listing Rules, complied
with the Code provisions on internal control for the year ended
31 December 2011.

The procedures that the Directors have established are designed to
provide etfective control within the Group and accord with the
Internal Controt Guidance for Directors on the Code issued by the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales “Internal
Control: Guidance for Directors on the Combined Code” (the
Turnbull Guidance). Such procedures have been in place throughout
the year and up to 23 March 2012, the date of approval of the
Annual Report and Finangial Staternents. A high-level overview of
the ongoing process for identilying, evaluating and managing
significant risks including social, environmental and ethical issues is
detailed below. This process is regularty reviewed by the Board o
ansure it complies with the Turnbull Guidance.

Control environment

The Group is committed to the highest standards of business
conduct and seeks to maintain thesa standards across all areas of
the business. The Group has in place appropriate procedures for the

reporting and resolution of activities that do not meet the required
standards of business conduct.

The Group has an appropriate organisational structure for planning,
executing, controlling and monitoring business operations in order
to achieve its objectives. The structure is designed to provide clear
responsibilities and a control framework for key areas of the Group's
business.

Operational responsikility rests with the Chief Executive and is
devolved through a documented executive structure with clearly
delegated and appropriate levels of authority. Members of Group
Management ars, therefore, accountable for the oparation of the
systems of internal controls within the Group's business.

Business risks

The identification of major businass risks is carmed out by the Board
in conjunction with management and procedures to control these
risks, where possible, are reviewed and agreed.

Quarterly reports are prepared by each area of the business,
covering all key locations. These quarterly reports include issues of
material business risk which are discussed in detail by the Group
Management which includes both Executive Directors. All significant
iterns identified are reported to the Board on a regular basis.

The key risks facing the Group at the year end and the mitigating
actions assigned to these risks are detailed in the Business Review
on page 13.

Monitoring and corrective action

The Company has a formal compliance function which, in addition
to providing regutatory advice to the business, has undertaken
compliance monitoring and performed a number of regulatory
inspections in 2011. A separate Internal Audit department
conducted regular monitaring of various business areas in ting with a
plan agreed annually with the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee.
Any issues of significance are brought 10 the attention of the Board
by the Internal Audit, Risk 8 Compliance depariments and through
the regular reporting process. Planned corrective actions ars
independently monitored for timety completion and reviewed by the
Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee.

The Audit, Risk & Compliance Committee reviews the effectiveness
of the operation of the Risk, Compliance and Internal Audit
departments at least twice gach year,

Independence of the auditor

The Board has in place nigorous systems for ensuring the
independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the Group's auditor
and has satisfied itse!f that during the year no aspect of its work was
impaired on these grounds. In maintaining a clear perception of
independence and batancing that with the best interests of the
Group, the Board has & clear policy that it follows when consgidering
the award of non-audit work to the Group’s auditor. The policy
applied during 2011 is detailed below,




The Company does not impose an automatic ban on the Group’s
auditor underiaking non-audit work. The Group's aim is always to
have any non-audit work involving accountancy firms camed out in a
manner that affords value for money while 1aking into account
relevant ethical guidance. The firm must not be in a position of
confiict in respect of the work in question and must have the skill,
competence and integrity 1o camy out the work in the baest interests
of the Group.

The auditer ¢f the Company is permitted to perform non-audit work
in areas where, in the opinion of the Audit, Risk & Compliance
Committee, it is appropriate for it to do so and thera are no actual or
perceived indspendence issues.

The Chairman of the Audit, Risk & Compliance Committes is
authorised to approve the use of the auditor for non-audit work
provided that the cost does not exceed £50,000 and the aggregate
value does not exceed the audit fee for the financial year in question.
In other circumstances, the approvat of the Audit, Risk &
Compliance Committee is required.

The performance, independence, competence and cost of the
auditor are reviewed annually by the Audit, Risk & Compliance
Cormittee. When the Cormmittee considers it appropriate, the
provision of audit services will be formally market-tested through a
tender process involving those audit firms judged competent to
meet the needs of the Group. The froquency of this markei-testing
will depend on the views of the Audit, Risk & Compliance
Committee, on the needs of the Group and pravailing leading
practice.

During the year a number of accountancy firms, all of whom are
independent of KPMG, the external auditor, provided non-audit
retated services to the Group. Details of fees paid to these firms
during 2011 are disclosed in note 4{c) on page 58 of the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Future developments

The Board believes that the controls in place during 2011 have been
appropriate to the needs of the Group. Nevertheless, it is committed
to the highest standards of governance and business conduct and
will ensure that those controls continue to develop in line with the
requirements of the FSA and leading practice.

By order of the Board,
W Marrack Tonkin, FCCA
Secretary

80 George Straat
Edinburgh EH2 3BU

23 March 2012
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Directors’ Remuneration Report

Governance

In designing the total compensation arrangements for the Group
and in preparing this repont, the Board and the Remuneration
Committes have complied with the provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code (the Code), Part 15 of the Companies Act 2006,
the Large and Medium sized Companies and Group {Accounts and
Reports} Regulations 2008 and the FSA Listing Rules. An ordinary
resolution for the approval of this repont will be put to shareholders
at the forthcoming Annual General Mesting.

Legislation requires the Group's auditor to audit certain disclosures
within this report. Where disclosures have been audited they are
indicated as such.

The following policies represent the policies now adopted by the
Group for the forthcoming year and subsequent financial years.

The Committes has been established by the Board to:

{a8) recommend to the Board the Group's policy on Directors’
remuneration;

{b} ensure that the Executive Directors and senior employees are
fairty rewarded and that a significant proportion of Executive
Directors' remuneration is linked to the Group's corporate, and
their individual, performance;

{¢) demonstrate to sharsholders that the remunaration of Executive
Directors and senior employees of the Group is determined by a
committee of Board members which has no personal interest in
the level of remuneration of the Group's Executive Directors or
senior employeas and who will pay due regard to the interests of
shareholders and to the financial and commercial health of the
Group; and

d

ensure that full consideration has been given to Section D and
Schedule A of the Code's best practice provisions as annexed
to the Listing Rules.

A Statement of the Remuneration Committee detailing membership
of the Committee and the activities and work of the Commitiee is
set out on page 30.

Research and advice

During the year the Group Chief Executive provided regular briefings
to the Gommittee. The Committee also received advice from the
Group Head of Human Resources.

The Remuneration Committas received advice from Kapler
Associates during the year on general remuneration strategy, senior
executive pay benchmarking and on the Company's LTRP. Kepler
Associates was appointed by the Committes in 2007 as its
indapendaent acviser and providad no other senvices to the
Company during the year.

During the year, the Remuneration Commitiee also received
independent remuneration research undertaken by Mclagan &
Partners, Deloitte and PricewaterhouseCoopers, leading firms of
executive remuneration consultants, to assess comparabiiity of the
Group’s remuneration policies to the marketplace.

Statement of the policy on Directors' remuneration
The Company's compensation policy detaited below is based upon
the following key principles:

a) Remuneration policies, procedurss and practices should be
consistent with and promote sound and effective risk
management. The Palicy should not incentivise risk-taking that
excesds the approved risk appetite of F&C.

b} The Remuneration Policy should be akigned with the business
strategy, objectives, values and long-term interests of F&C.

c) The quantumn of total variable ramuneration should not limit the
ability of FAC to strengthen its capital basse.

d) Total variable remuneration should in general reflect the financial
performance of the Group without jeopardising the abillity to
attract, retain and motivate the key talent required to achieve its
goals.

In applying its policy the Group takes a total compensation
approach with a strong emphasis on variable pay. The Board
befieves that sharsholders' intarests are best served by containing
fixed costs and increasing the proportion of total compensation that
is directly performance-related and thus aligned with shareholders'
interests. Total remuneration will comprise basic salary, pension
provision, annual bonus and any awards under the long term share
incentive schemes.

The total cash component of compensation is benchmarked to
market median for solid performers and to upper quartile for
exceptional performers. A range of benchmark data is used, based
on comparable asset management businesses, with appropriate
data being used for each geographic location.

Policies on the individual elements of remuneration
and employment

{a) Salarias

The salaries of all employees, including Executive Directors, are
reviewed annually to ensure thay remain appropriate and
competitive. Increases to sataries may be made periodically
although nat annually. Salaries are determined by reference to
relavant comparator Financial Services companies as reported by
external market data providers. The Remuneration Committes also
takes into account salary movements for staff across the Group
when setting Executive Director salaries.

(b) Discretionary Cash Bonus

The size and allocation of the annual discretionary cash bonus pool
is recommended by the Remuneration Commitiee to the Board for
approval.

The recommendations of the Committee are determined by the:

* performance of the Group relative 1o pre-agreed targets;

+  motivation and retention of key employees;

* practice of market competitors; and

* appropriate balance between fixed and variable pay.




Performance targets have been agreed by the Board and inctuda
Investment Performance, Fund Flows, Profitability and a range of
other financial and corporate objectives.

All staff including Executive Directors are sligible for discretionary
cash bonus awards which recognise individual achievernent and
contrbution relative to agreed annual objectives.

A Purchased Equity Plan operates in conjunction with the

discretionary bonus scheme and is intended to encourage

shargholding by management and employees of the Group by

providing for:

« the compulsory purchase of shares using annual bonus above a
threshold level; and

+ the voluntary purchase of shares using annual bonus, with
associated matching shares.

Under the terms of the Purchased Equity Plan, participation can

arise in two ways:

* onan annual basis, eligible employees who are awarded in a
financial year an aggregate bonus in excess of a threshold level
of £100,000 will be required to defer one third of the element
exceeding £100,000 into shares (comprising a range of
investment products managed by the Company or the
Company's shares) {Compulsory Purchased Equity) for three
years; and

« as and when determined by the Board, eligible employees may
be invited to elect to defer into shares in the Company any
remaining proportion of their gross cash bonus not subject to
deferral on a compulsory basis for three years (subject to a
minimum deferral of £1,500) (Moluntary Purchased Equity). To
date, no voluntary purchased equity awards have been made.

The Compuisory Purchasad Equity will not benefit from any form of
matching award and is subject to forfeiture in the event that the
employee leaves the Group for any reason {other than as a “good
lsaver”} in the three-year retention peariod.

In 2011, the Board suspended the compulsory element of the
Purchased Equity Plan in relation to bonuses paid for all staff.

During 2011 Compulsory Purchased Equity awards made to Alain
Grisay and David Logan in 2008 vested. Their gains on vesting,
representing the gross value of the shares and the cash equivatent
of re-invested dividends thereon, were £688,000 and £183,000
respectively.

At 31 December 2011, 493,810 shares in the Company are held
within the Purchased Equity Plan for Mr Grisay as a result of a
Gomputsory Purchased Equity award mada in 2010,

{¢) Savings-related share schemes

To foster a cutture of share ownership throughout the Group, the
Board operates a Share Save Scheme (Share Save) and a Share
Incentive Plan (SIF) for all eligible employees. Both schemes are “all-
employse share schemes” and all employees including Executive
Directors who meet certain criteria are eligible to participate.

The SIP is a shara scheme that enables employees to purchase
F&C shares in a tax efficient manner on a monthly basis at the
prevailing market price. The Share Save Scheme is a parsonal
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savings scheme that enables employees 1o either purchase
discounted F&C shares, the price of which is determined at the
time of offering, at the end of a three-year or five-year saving
period, or to receive the accumulated cash value, including
accrued interest, on a tax-free basis.

At 31 December 2011, 274 employses {31 December 2010:

321 employees} participated in the SIP and 18 employees
{31 Decamber 2010: 42 employees) participated in the Share Save.

Shares under option within the Share Save at 31 December 2011
are detalled betow:

Number Term Exercise
of options {years) price
April 2007 Participation 102,663 5 1443 pence

At 31 December 2011, 783,944 shares (31 December 2010:
739,947 shares) were held in trust for employees within the SIF,
Both “all-employee share schemes” seek to buy shares in the
market to remove any possible impact of dilution.

(d) Share incentive schemes

The Board believes that the share incentive schemes increase the
potential for greater importance to be placed upon the performance
ralated elerment of total remuneration,

In any ten-year pericd, the aggregate number of QOrdinary Shares
which will be placed under award under any share incentive
schema, shall not, whan aggregated with the number of Crdinary
Shares placed under option or issued in that period under any other
employees' shara scheme operated by tha Company, excesd 10
per cent. of the Company's issued ordinary share capital at that
time. For the purposes of measurement against this limit the
following will be disregarded: any Crdinary Shares that have been,
or will be purchased, rather than allotted; any Ordinary Shares
issued pursuant to the Thames River MRP anc/or the MIP; and any
awards or grants that have lapsed or become incapable of vesting.

In order to ensure that the assessment of performance conditions in
relation to the share incentive schemes detailed below is
independent, PricewaterhouseCoopers will report to the
Remuneration Committee as to whether the performance criteria
under all schemes have been met.

Policy on grants and awards under the share
incentive schemes

The Company’s policy for the granting of awards under the LTRP is
that awards and grants are based on an assessment of individual
contribution to the business and independent advice obtained on
curment remuneration praclices. Award levels will be determined by
the Remuneration Committee with reference to Group performance,
market competitiveness (assaessed on a total compensation basis
using independent market total compensation data), and individual
performance. Because of the active policy of reducing the emphasis
on base salary, the Remuneration Committee will not link or limit any
awards under the LTRP explicitly to a multiple of base salary,
believing that making such a linkage provides an incentive to
increase base salarigs, and therefore fixed costs, which is contrary
to shareholders’ interests.
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Any share incentive awards mads 10 Executive Directors will be
LTRP restricted awards.

The F&C Asset Management plc Long Term
Remuneration Plan (LTRP}

The LTRP is the primary long term incentive arangsment of the
Company,

The LTRP is a discretionary contingent share award scheme
unapproved by HM Revenue and Customs. The LTRP is designed
to support the business objectives of the Group.

Under the LTRP, contingent awards of shares are made under two
categories:

Deferred awards

The Committee believes that it is to the benefit of shareholders that
key employees have a long-term Interest in the future performance
of the Group. Equally the stability and retention of key employees is
crucial to the continued success of the Group. To achieve this,
Deferred awards may be made in Ordinary Shares the vesting of
which is contingent on the continued employment of the relevant
participant over the three-year deferral period.

This arrangement provides competitive Total Compensation and
secures a high retention value combined with strong atignment to
the interests of shareholders.

During the year, 15,437,379 deferred awards were made under the
LTRP (2010: 17,355,585). Deferred awards were made to 217 staff
during 2011 {2010: 201 staff).

The Executive Directors are not eligible to participate in deferred
share awards under the rules of the LTRP.

Restricted awards

Vesting of the Ordinary Shares that are currently the subject of a
restricted award under tha LTRP will be contingant upon both the
specified performance conditions and conditions of continued
service.

The performance conditions applied 1o restricted awards under the
LTRP are determined by the Board and are measured over a three-
year period.

For the awards granted in 2010 and 2011 the following four

performance measures were applied with equal weighting:

- Real Growth in Earnings per Share over 3 years: full vesting at
RPI+11% p.a., 25% vesting at RPI+3% p.a.

- Total Shareholder Return relative o a peer group of FTSE250
Financial Companies: full vesting at upper quartile, 25% vesting
at median

- Achievement of annual net new business targets as approved
by the Board: full vesting for achievernent of 125% of target,
reducing on a straight line to nil vesting for achievernent of 25%
of target

- Relative investment performance compared to benchmarks: full
vesting at 75% of revenue-weighted funds outperforming
benchmark, reducing on a straight line to nil vesting for 42% of
revenua-weighted funds outperforming benchmark

These measures were selected as at the time they were considered
by the Committee to be the most relevant in capturing the critical
elements of performance which reinforce value creation for
sharsholders.

In 2012 it is intended to make a one-off award of restricted shares
10 certain key staff, the performance cenditions of which will be
solely linked to the Company’s undertying Earnings per share for the
year ended 31st December 2015.

During the year a total of 2,815,730 restricted share awards were
mada under the LTRP to the Company's Executive Directors (2010:
3,786,486) and a further 933,954 restricted share awards wera
mada to members of the senior management team (2010: Nil).

Achievement of performance conditions
During 2011, the growth in the Group's underlying EPS
underperformed the growth in the RPI by 8.3 percentage points.

The Company’s total shareholder return (TSR) ranked 8th out of a
FTSE 250 Financial Companies Index comparator group of

15 companies in the period from 4 May 2010 to 31 December 2011
and 7th out of a FTSE 250 Financial Companies index comparator
group of 16 companies in the period from 4th May 2011 to

31 December 2011.

Information on the net new business and investment performance
results of the Company is set out in the Business Review on pages
2t021.

Share price performance

The sham price at 31 December 2011 was 65.5 pence. During the
year the highest price was 92.90 pence per share and the lowest
price was 56.05 pence.

Performance graph for the share incentive schemes
The graph below compares the performance of the Company with a
notional investment made up of shares of the group of companies
from which the FTSE 250 Financial Companies Index of companies
is caleulated for the period from creation of the index in July 2006 to
31 December 2011. The graph is based on the TSR for each period
{assuming all dividends are reinvested). The FTSE 250 Financial
Companies Index has been chosen as the comparator index as it is
the index that includes the Company and is considered the most
appropriate benchmark as there are very few comparable listed
asset management businesses.




TSR performance compared to FTSE 250 Financial
Companies Index
For the five financial periods ending 31 December

{e) Policy on Pension and other benefits
F&C seeks to ensure that its pension policy is in line with its
business strategy, objectives, values and long-term interasts.

F&C has a number of pension plans which are designed to enable
employees to make provision for a suitable income in retirement. In
the majority of cases these are defined contribution plans. In the UK
the defined benefit plan is closed to new members. Appropriate
plans are also in place in non-UK locations.

Pension payments are based on basic salary and no other cash
payments or benefits are pensionable.

In addition a range of competitive employee benefits are provided
including vacation and insured benefits including death in senvice,
private medical and income protection.

() Policy on contracts of employment

Tha Gompany's policy regarding contracts of employment is that all
sanicr employees, including Executive Directors, should be offered
rolling contracts of no longer than twetve months. Where it is
commercially appropriate to protect the Company, a longer-term
initial contract with any employee, including an Executive Director,
may be agread. On completion of the initial contract, the Company's
standard terms will be applied. The Remuneration Committes, in
considering contracts, has regard to compensation commitments in
respect of termination and believes that these are best addressed
by restricting the term of the contract.

{g) Policy on Non-executive Directors’' remuneration
Non-executive Directors’ fees for the year to 31 December 2011 are
set out below, None of the Non-executive Directors has a service
contract. Non-executive Directors must submit to re-election on an
annual basis and are not eligble for bonuses or participation in
savings related shara schemes or share incentive schemes.
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Non-executive Directors are not eligible to join any of the Company's
pension schemes. No pension contributions are made on their behalf
and no Non-executive Director feceives a salary from the Company.
The remuneration of Non-executive Directors is determined by the
Board as a whole within the limits stipulated in the Company’s
Articles of Association. All fees ara reviewed annually.

Apart from the Chairman and the Senior Independent Director,
Non-executive Dirsctors are paid a basic fee. In the year ended
31 December 2011 the Non-executive base fee was £40,000
per annum, In 2011 Non-executive Directors were separately
remunerated for their services on Board Committees,

The Chairman of the Board, who chairs the Nomination Committee,
receives an annual all-inclusive fee of £150,000 and the Senior
independent Director receives a £15,000 suppternental fee to the
Non-executive base fee.

The Remuneration Committee sets the Chairman's annual
remuneration. The Board as a whole determines the fees for Non-
executive Directors, the Senior Independent director supplement
and the additional fees payable for membership and chaining Board
Committees. The supplemental member and Chairman'’s fees paid
for Board Committees in 2011 are set out below.

Chairman’s fee

{payable in

Committee addition to

Member's fee (£} the member's) {£)

Audit, Risk & Compliance 10,000 10,000
Remuneration 7.500 10,000
Nomination 5,000 10,000"
Thames River Advisory Councils 20,000 Nil

* Gurrently inciuded within the all-inclusive fees payable to Edward Bramson.

With effect from the 1st January 2012, the Board increased the
Non-executive base fee to £60,000 per annum, rasolved to remaove
the additional remuneration paid for serving as a member on the
Audit, Risk and Compliance, Remunsration and Nomination
Committees and increased the fee payable for chairing the Audit,
Risk and Compliance, Remuneration and Nomination Committess
to £12,500 per annurm,
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Statement on Executive Directors’ service contracts and Non-executive Directors’ letters of appointment

Messrs Grisay and Logan have current service contracts with the Gompany that are for a roling period of one year, details of which are
summarised below. No employes of the Group has a service contract that cannot be brought to an end within one year.

Provisions for compensation

payable by the Company

on eatly termination

Executive Directors Date of contract Naotice period Unexpired term £000
Alain Grisay 11 QOct 2004 Twelve months six months 361
David Logan 31 July 2006 ‘Twatve months rolling twelve months 277

for comp ti

payable by the Company
Chaiman and on early termination
Non-executive Directors Date of contract Notice period £000
Edward Bramson* 3 February 2011 One month Nil
Keith Bedel-Pearce 7 May 2009 One month Nil
lan Brindle* 3 February 2011 One month Nil
Keith Jones™ 24 Novemnber 2011 One month Nil
Jeff Medlock 13 May 2008 One month Nil
Derham O'Neill 3 February 2011 One manth Nil
Keith Percy* 23 November 2011 One manth Nil
Kieran Poynter 4 May 2010 One month Nil

* Appointed during 2011.

Statement on Directors’ Remuneration (audited)
The remuneration of the Executive Chairman and the other Directors who held office during the year ended 31 December 2011 is set out in the

table below:
Total Total
Benefits 201 2010
Salary and {excluding (excluding Pension
and foes Bonus  allowances pension pension Contributions Total Total

2011 201 2011 contribution}  contribution) 2011 2011 2010

£000 £000 £000 o000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Executive Directors
Alain Grisay 350 800 11 1,161 1,147 22 1,183 1,168
David |_cgan 275 300 2 577 585 40 617 6§23
Executive Chairman and Non-executive Directors
Edward Bramson (Executive Chairman) 136 - - 136 - - 136 —-
Nick MacAndrew® 14 - - 14 150 - 14 150
Keith Bedell-Pearce* 114 - - 114 95 - 114 a5
lan Brindlet? 38 - - 36 - - 36 _
Keith Jones® 4 - - 4 - - 4 -
Brian Larcombe® 7 - - 7 73 - 7 73
Jeff Medlock 55 - - 55 40 - 55 40
Derham O'Neilt™ 51 - - 51 - - 51 -
Kelth Percy™ 4 - - 4 - - 4 -
Germrhard Roggemannt 21 - - 4 62 - 21 62
Kiaran Poynter” a7 - - 97 57 - 97 57
Total 1,164 1,100 13 22717 2,209 62 2,339 2,268

T Appointed as a member of the TRC Advisory Councils on 1 September 2010.

1 Appointed to the Board in February 2011

2 Remaved from the Board in February 2011
* Appointed to the Board in November 2011
4 Retired from the Board in May 2011

Edward Bramson's fees are paid to Sherborme. No other sums were paid to third parties in respect of any Diractor's services.

The Company received £nil (2010: £nil} in fees payable to Executive Directors in respect of any external directorships held. No Executive
Director receives any fees in respect of extemal appointments.
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Statement on Directors’ pensions (audited)
The number of Diractors who held office during the year and to whom retirement benefits are accruing is set out below:

2011 2010
Number Number
Members of money purchase pension scheme 2 2
2011 2010
£000 2000

Company contributions paid to money purchass pensicn schemes:
Alain Grisay 22 21
David Logan 40 38

Curing the year, the Company paid a widow's pension of £102,000 (2010: £100,000) in respect of the pension benefits which had accrued to
a former Chairman and £116,000 (2010: £nil) to Mr Jankins, a former Chairman of the Company.

No Directors were memipers of a defined benefit scheme during the year.

Statement on Directors’ Share Incentive Schemes (audited)
The Executive Directors who held office during the year and their awards under any of the Group's share incentive schemes at 31 December
2011 are shown below.

Non-executive Directors do not participate in any of the Group's long term incentive plans.

Executive Director Remuneration Plan (audited)
Details of the Executive Director Remuneration Plan are set out on pages 93 to 94.

Gain on Gatn on

Share price  Share price vesting* vesting”

Nature at date at date of £000 £000

Date of Grant of Award Alain Grisay David Logan of award vesting Alain Grisay David Logan
25 Mar 2008 Deferred 740,740 284,900 192.5p -
8 Jul 2008 Deferred 1,649,452 539,540 64.9p -
Opening position at 1 January 2011 2,390,192 824,440 - -

Deterred awards that vested during the year (740,740}  (284,900) 192.5p 78.8p 722 278

Deferrad awards that lapsed during the year - - - -

Deferred awards remaining
at 31 December 2011 1,649,452 539,540 - -

* The gain on vesting represents the gross value of shares and the cash equivalent of re-invested dividends thereon transferred on vesting.

Long Term Remuneration Plan awards {audited)
Details of the Long Term Remuneration Plan ars set out on page 36.

Share price

MNature of Alain David gt date

Date of Grant Award Grizay Logan of award
4 May 2010 Restricted 2,795,929 990,557 64.8p
4 May 2011 Rastrictad 1,978,729 837,001 77.8p

No restricted awards made to Mr Grisay or Mr Logan vested or lapsed during the year.

Share options (audited)
Detaits of the share option schemes are set out on page 98. As at 31 December 2011, there are no share options cutstanding for any Director.

By order of the Board,

W Marrack Tonkin, FCCA
Secretary

80 George Street

Edinburgh EH2 3BU

23 March 2012
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Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities

in respect of the Annual Report and the Financial Statements

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and Responsibility Statement
tha Consolidated and Company Financial Statements in accordance We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

with applicable law and regulations.
« the Financial Staterents, prepared in accordance with the

Company law requires the Directors to prepare Consolidated and applicable set of accounting standards, give a true and fair view
Company Financial Statements for each financial year. Under that of the assets, liabilities, financiat pesition and profit or loss of the
law they are required tc prepare the Consolidated Financial Company and the undenakings included in the consolidation
Statements in accordance with Intemational Financial Reporting taken as a whole: and

Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the EU and applicable law and have
elected to prepare the Company Financial Statements in
accordance with UK Accounting Standards and applicable law (UK

+ the Chairman’s Statement, Chief Executive's Report and
Business Review include a fair review of the development and

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). performance of the business and the position of the issuer and

the undertakings in the consolidation taken as a whols, together
Under company law the Directors must not approve the Financial with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that
Staterents unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair they face.

view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of their
profit or loss for that period. In preparing each of the Consolidated
and Company Financial Statements, the Directors are required fo:

+ select suitable accounting palicies and then apply them : //ynrwb
consistently;

+ make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and

prudent; Edward Bramso'
« for the Consolidated Financial Statements, stata whether they Chairman
r:veE- Seen prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by 23 March 2012
e £

+ for the Company Financial Statements, state whether applicable
UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any
material departures disclosed and explained in the Company
Financiat Statements; and

+ prepare the Financial Statements on the going concern basis
unlgss it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and the
Company will continue in business.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records
that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that its
Financial Staternents comply with the Companies Act 2006. They
have general responsibility for taking such steps as are reasonably
open to them to safeguard the assets of the Group and to prevent
and detect fraud and other imegularities.

Under applicable taw and regulations, the Directors are also
responsible for preparing a Directors” Report, Directors’
Remuneration Report and Corporate Governance Statement that
comply with that law and those regulations.

The Directors are responsibie for the maintanance and integrity of
the corporate and financial information included on the Company's
website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and
dissernination of Financial Statements may differ from legislation in
other jurisdictions,
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Independent Auditor’s Report

to the members of F&C Asset Management plc

Wae have audited the financial statemants of F&C Asset
Management plc for the year ended 31 December 2011 set
out on pages 42 to 122 and 126 to 140.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by
the EU. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in
the preparation of the parent company financial statements is
applicable law and UK Accounting Standards (UK Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the company's members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.
Qur audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the
company's members those matters we are required to state to them
in an auditor's report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent
permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to
anyone other than the company and the company's mambers, as a
body, for our audit worlk, for this report, or for the opinions we have
formed.

Respective responsibilities of Directors and auditor
As explained more fully in the Directors' Responsibilities Statement
set out on page 40, the directors are responsibie for the preparation
of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a
true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit, and express an
opinion on, the financial stataments in accordance with applicable
law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), Thoss
standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's
(APB's) Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

A description of the scope of an audit of financial statements is
provided on the APB's website at

www, fre.org.Uk/apb/scope/private.cfm.,

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

= the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state
of the group's and of the parent company's affairs as at
31 December 2011 and of the group's profit for the year then
ended;

* the group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU;

= the parent company financial statements have been property
prepared in acoordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice;

= the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006; and, as regards
the group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006

In our opinion:

» the part of the Directors' Remuneration Repont to be audited has
been property prepared in accordance with the Companies Act
2006; and

= the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent
with the financial statements; and

+ the information given in the Corporate Governance Statement
set out on pages 27 to 33 with respect to intarnal control and
risk management systems in relation to financial reporting
processes and about share capital structures is consistent with
the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by
exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report 1o you if,
in our opinion;

= adeguate accounting records have not been kept by the parent
company, or returns adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us; or

» the parent company financial statements and the pan of the
Directors' Remuneration Report to be audited are not in
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

» certain disclosures of directors' remuneration specified by law
are not made; or

* we have not received all the information and explanations we
requirg for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

* the directors' statement, set out on page 27, in relation to going
coneern;

= the part of the Corporate Govemnance Statement on page 27
relating to the company’s compliance with the nine provisions of
the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review;
and

* certain elements of the report o shareholders by the Board on
directors’ remuneration.

Q)"\ M~ s

JM Mills (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on behalf of KPMG Audit Plc, Statutory Auditor
Chartered Accountants

Edinburgh

23 March 2012
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Consolidated Income Statement

for the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Notes om £m
Revenue
Investment management fees 2 279.0 258.2
QOther income 2 4.2 1.6
Total revenue 2 283.2 259.8
Fee and commission expenses 2 {16.2) (16.6)
Net revenue 2 267.0 243.2
Net gains and investrment income on unit-Enked assets 3 137 74.3
Movement in fair vatue of unit-linked liabilities {13.4) (73.3)
Operating expenses
Oparating expenses 4(b) (183.8) (169.7)
Distributions 1o members of LLPs 5 {18.3) 6.0
Amortisation of intangible assets — management contracts 13 {45.8) {50.7}
Other exceptional net operating expenses 6(a) {15.0) {20.9}
Total operating expenses 4(a) {266.9) (247.3}
Operating profit/(loss) 0.4 3.1}
Finance revenue 7 17.2 1.1
Finance costs 8 {35.4) {33.6)
F&C REIT put option fair valua gain &(b) 8.7 6.4
TRC acquisition consideration adjustments 6(c) 7.6 -
Loss before tax (1.5) (19.2)
Tax - Shargholders 4.1 6.2
Tax - Policyholders - 0.4}
Tax income 9 4.1 5.8
Profit/{loss) for the year 26 (13.4)
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent (0.5} (16.6)
Non-gontrolling interests 341 32
Profit/{loss) for the year 286 {13.9)
Basic loss per Ordinary Share 10 (0.10)p 3.31)p
Diluted loss per Ordinary Share 10 0. 10)p {3.31)p
£m £m
Memo - dividends paid 11t 15.8 24.5
Memo - dividends proposed 11 10.4 10.3

The accompanying notes to the Consclidated Financial Statements form an integral part of these financiat staternents.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

for the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Notes &m £m
Profit/{loss}) for the year 26 (13.4)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income:
Forsign exchange movements on translation of foreign cperations {2.0) 4.7
Neat actuarial gains on defined benefit pension schemes 25(d) 33 104
Gains on available for sale financial investments 14 1.5 1.3
Realised gains on available for sale financial investments transfered to the Income Statement 14 3.3) -
Tax expense on items taken directly to equity 2] (0.5) {3.5)
Foreign exchangs transfer to Income Statement on liquidation of subsidiary - 1.3
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year {1.0) 2.2
Total comprehensive income/(expense) for the year 1.6 {11.2)
Total comprehensive income/(expense) attributable to:
Equity holders of the parant (1.5} {14.4)
Non-controlling interests 3.1 3.2
16 {11.2)

The accompanying notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements form an integral pant of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

as at 31 December 2011

31 Decomber 31 December

2011 2010
Notas £m £m
Assats
Non-current assets
Property, plant and aequipment 12 7.4 8.3
Intangible assets:
- Goodwill 13 8119 611.9
- Management contracts 13 128.8 175.5
- Software and licences 13 25 1,
13 7430 788.4
Financial invastments 14 17 3.5
ther recefvables 20 1.1 2.0
Deferred acquisition costs 18 4.7 6.0
Defarred tax assets 17(a} 28.3 30.9
Total non-gurrent assets 786.2 8391
Current assets
Financial investments 18(a)(} 454.4 548,7
Reinsurance assets 18 20 2.0
Stock of units and shares 18{a)i} 0.9 0.1
Deferred acquisition costs 16 24 2.8
Trade and other receivables 20 83.9 162.6
Curment tax receivable 0.7 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents:
- Shareholders 21 196.9 178.8
- Policyholders 21 28.1 23.4
21 225.0 202.2
Total current assets 769.3 918.5
Total assets 1,5555 1,757.6
Liabllities
Non-current liabilities
Intevest-bearing loans and borowings 22 273.8 2737
Cther payables 23 6.9 12.1
Provisions 24 73 8.1
Pensicn deficit 25(d} 20.5 276
Employee benefits 59 116
Deferved income 27 7.0 8.1
Other financial liabylities 28 415 49.5
Deferved 1ax liabiities 17{a) 324 48.1
Total non-current liabitities 395.3 438.8
Cusrent liabilitias
Investmeant contract liabilities 29 972.8 559.2
Insurance contract liabilities 30 20 20
Trade and other payables 23 71.7 138.5
Provisions 24 85 9.0
Employea benefits 28.8 24.3
Liabilities to members of LLPs 4.7 4.4
Deferred incoma 27 3.3 a7
financial liabilities 28 3.8 45
Current tax payable 7.8 1.6
Total current liabilities 603.4 7472
Total liabilities 998.7 1,186.0
Equity
Ordinary Share capital N 0.5 05
Share premium account 32 51.8 51.8
ital redemption reserve 32 0.8 0.8
Merger reserve 32 359.7 383.3
Other reserves 32 {22.8) {19.5)
Retained samings 32 154.3 138.2
Total equity attributable to equity holders of the parent 544.3 555.1
Non-controlling interests 32 125 16.5
Total aquity 556.8 5716
Total liabilities and aquity 1,555.5 1,757.6
The Consolidated Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 23 March 2012, They werg
signed on its behalf by:
S| K """j ) - e ~
ﬂ; mso A ﬁﬂyﬂ /4&” “ ; 4 Vo
Edward Bramson Alain Grisay
Executive Chairman Chief Executive

The accompanying notes to th nsolidated Financial Statements form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

for the year ended 31 December 2011

Orcinary Share Capital CATeNCY Non-
Shars  premium redemption Morgor tansiation  Fairvalus Acquisiton  Retained  controlling Total
capital aceout Merve ToS8rve nesorve reserve rgsorve aamnings intorests ooty
em €m em £m £m &m m m om m

Balance at 1 January 2010 0.5 33.8 0.8 416.6 50.1 1.4 B6.0) 1325 19.2 588.9
{Lossy/profit for the year - - - - - - - (16.6) 3.2 (13.4)
Other comprehensive
(expense)/income - - - - 6.0 1.0 - 7.2 - 22
Total comprehensive
{expensa)income - - - - 6.0 1.0 - {9.4) 3.2 (11.2)
Transactions with owners:
Reatised element of merger
reserve to offsat amortisation
of intangible assets - - - (33.3) - - - 33.3 - -
Transfer of investment in own shares
into equity on acquisition of TRC - - - - - - - {0.8) - {0.8)
Purchase of own shares - - - - - - - 9.7 - 9.7
Settlement proceeds received on
disposal of own shares - - - - - - - 1.1 - 1.1
Share-based payment
charges credited to equity - - - - - - - 19.5 - 19.5
Share capital allotted on placement
of shares - 14.2 - - - - - - - 14.2
Share capital allotted in respect of
TRC Cormmutation arrangements - 38 - - - - - (3.8) - -
Final 2009 dividend paid - - - - - - - {19.4) - (19.4)
Interim 2010 dividend paid - - - - - - - (5.1} - (5.1)
Distributions to
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 5.9) 5.9
Balance at 31 December 2010 0.5 51.8 0.8 383.3 44.1 24 (668.0y 138.2 16.5 571.6
(LossVprofit for the year - - - - - - - {0.5) 3.1 26
Cther comprehensive
{expense)/income - - - - {2.0) 1.3) - 23 - 1.0)
Total comprehensive
(expense)/income - - - - 2.0) (1.9) - 1.8 3.1 16
Transactions with ownars:
Realised element of
merger resarve to oftset
amortisation of intangible assets - - - {23.6) - - - 23.6 - -
Purchase of own shares - - - - - - - {3.2) - 3.2)
Share-based payment charges
credited to equity - - - - - - - 17.3 - 17.3
Consideration for non-controliing
interests in F&C Partners LLP - - - - - - - 10.7) - {10.7)
Tax credit associated with purchase
of non-controlling interests in F&C
Partners LLP - - - - - - - 29 - 2.9
Final 2010 dividend paid - - - - - - - {10.4) - (10.4)
Interim 2011 dividend paid - - - - - - - 5.2 - 5.2
Distributions to non-controlling
interests - - - - - - - - (7-1) 1)
Balance at 31 December 2011 0.5 51.8 0.8 359.7 421 1.1 (66.0) 1543 125 £56.8

The total of foreign curmrency translation reserve, fair valise reserve and acquisition reserve constitutes ‘Other reserves' as disclosed in the
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and amounts to a debit of £22.8m at 31 December 2011 {31 December 2010: £19.5m debit).

Cumulative defined benefit pension schermne actuarial losses (as disclosed in note 25(d)} recognised as at 31 Decemnber 2011 are £31.0m
which are included in retained earnings (31 December 2010: £34.3m).

The share premium recognised during 2010 is stated net of £0.4m of transaction expenses associated with the related share placing.

The accompanying notes to 1he Consolidated Financial Statements form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

for the year ended 31 December 2011

2011 2010
Notes £m fm
Cash flows from operating activities
Operating profit/{loss) 04 (3.1}
Cash outflow relating to restructuring costs* - (3.9)
Adjustments for non-cash items 33(@) 672 72.8
Changes in working capital and provisions 33(a) 183 {26.3)
Cash inflows from operating activities' 85.9 39.5
Income tax paid {0.7) 4.8)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 85.2 34.7
Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment (3.0) 1.1)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 01 0.1
Purchase of softwarg and licences (2.2) 0.7)
Payments to acquire investments {0.6) 1.2)
Proceeds from disposal of investments A7 3.0
Investment income - interest and dividends 59 1.1
Consideration payment for the acquisition of TRC (7.4) (33.6)
Fair value of cash acquired with the acquisition of TRC - 27.2
Expenses of acquisitions* - 0.1}
Net cash outflow from investing activities (3.5) 5.3)
Cash flows from financing activities
Payment for change in ownership interest in F&C Partners LLP {8.8) -
Interast paid on Loan Notes (21.9) (20.8)
Cther interest paid (0.4) 0.2)
Equity dividends paid 11 {(15.6) {24.5)
Distributions to non-controlting interests {71) 5.9)
Procesds from issue of share capital - 14.2
Purchases of own shares {3.2) .7
Proceeds of disposal of cwn shares - 1.1
Drawdown of acquisition koan facility - 15.0
Repayment of acquisition loan facility - {15.0)
Proceeds from issue of Guaranteed Loan Notas 2016 - 20.0
Repayment of Floating Rate Secured Notes 2010 - {10.0}
Expenses in respect of debt arrangements - (1.6}
Net cash outflow from financing activities (57.0) 37.4)
Net increase/{decrease} in cash and cash equivalents 247 8.0}
Effect of exchanga rate fluctuations on cash held {1.9) 3.7}
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 2022 213.9
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 21 225.0 2022
Cash and cash equivalents
Shareholders 21 196.9 178.8
Policyholders 21 28.1 234
21 2250 202.2

* Cash payment in respect of restructuring costs recognised on previous acquisitions.

t Cash infiows from operating actvities includes investments and disinvestments relating to unit-linked assets attributable to policyholders in the Group's insurance

company. These activities can result in significant fluctuations in “cash flows from operating activites”.

* Cash flows relating to acquisitions before 1 January 2010.

Non-cash transactions

During 2010, a total of 6,085,996 Ordinary Shares were issued during the year in respect of TRC Initial and Deferred Commutation

consideration. The fair value of these shares was £3.8m.

The accompanying notes to the Gonsolidated Financial Statements torm an integral part of these financial

statemants.




Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation and statement of compliance

These are the Consolidated Financial Statermants of F&C Asset
Management plc and its subsidiaries (the Group) which have been
prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with
international Financiat Repoerting Standards, as adopted by the
European Union {(adoptad IFRS), and those parts of the Companies
Act 2006 applicable to companies reporting under adopted IFRS.
These Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in millions
of pounds Sterling. rounded to one decimal point, except where
otherwise indicated.

Ceartain figuras reported in the 2010 Financial Statements have been
reclassified within these Financial Statements for consistency with
the prasentation applied within thesa Financial Statements. These
changes are prasentational in nature and do not change the
previously reported financial results for the year ended 31 Decermber
2010 nor the aggregate assets and liabilities at that date.

Going concern

The Group's business activities, together with the factors likely to
affect its future development, performance and position are set out
in the Business Review on pages 2 to 21. The financial position of
the Group, its cash flows and liquidity position are also described in
the Business Review. In addition, nota 36 to the Financial
Statements includes the Group's objectives, policies and processes
for managing its capital; its financial risk management objectives:
details of its financial instruments and its exposure to credit nsk and
liquidity risk.

The Group has considerable financial resources togethar with long-
term contracts with a number of clients across differant geographic
areas and industries, After making enquiries, the Directors have a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to
continua in operational existence for the foreseeable future,
Accordingly, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in
preparing these Financial Statements.

New or revised standards
The Group has adopted the following new or revised standards and
interpretations as of 1 January 2011:

The amendments to the standards and interpretations
below did not have any impact on the accounting policies,
financial position or performance of the Group:

Amendments to IFRS:

1AS 32 Financial Instruments: Prasentation; Amendments
relating to classification of Rights Issues

IFRIC 19  Extinguishing Financiat Liabilities with Equity Instruments

IFRS 1 Limited Exemption from Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosures

1AS 24 Related Panty Disclosures: Revised definition of related

parties
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IFRIC 14 IAS 19 — The limit on a Defined Benefit Asset, Minimum
Funding Requirements and their interaction:
Prgpayments of a Minimum Funding Requirement

2010 Improvements to IFRS (issued May 2010):

IFRS 1 First-tima Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards

IFRS 3 Business Combinations

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures

AaS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS 27 Consclidated and Separate Financial Statements

IAS 23 Interim Financial Reporting

Parent Company Financial Statements

The parent Company has continuad 10 present individual Financial
Statemants prepared on a UK GAAP basis as permitted by section
395(1) of the Cormpanies Act 20086, adopting the exemption of
omitting the Profit and Loss Account and refated notes conferred by
section 408 of that Act. The Company Financial Statements,
together with their respsctive accounting policies and notes, are
presented on pages 126 to 140.

Accounting estimates, assumptions and judgements
The preparation of the Financial Statements necessitates the use of
estimates, assumptions and judgemeants. Thesa estimates,
assumptions and judgements affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, contingent assets and contingent liabilities at the reporting
date as well as the reported income and expensss for the year.
While estimates are based on management's best knowledge and
judgsment using information and financial data available to them,
the actual ouicome may differ from these estimates,

The key sources of astimation, uncertainty and critical judgements in
applying accounting policies are disclosed, where appropriate, in the
following notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements:

{a) Impairment testing of intangible assets
The projected revenue growth, projected operating cost growth
and discount rates applied to cash flow projections, as
disclosed in note 13.

®

—

Pension assumptions

The mortality assumptions, expected rates of return, discount
rates, rates of salary increasss and inflation increases, as
disclosed in note 25.

{(c) Non-controlling interest {NCI) put options
The fair value of the F&C REIT NCI put options is subject to
uncertainties in respect of future porformance and other factors
impacting the valuation of the F&C REIT Group. Details of these
put options are disclosed in note 28.
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(d) Provisions

Onerous contract provisions for premises are subject to
uncertainties over time, including market rent reviews and break
options within the lease arrangements. The final setttement in
respect of the F&C Partners litigation is subject 1o determination
by an appeal process. While there are a number of possible
financial outcomes, the Directors have recognised a provision in
respect of the amount which ¢ould be payable. Details of
provisions are disclosed within note 24,

(o) Share-based payments

U]

The share-based payment expense in raspect of the TRC
Commutation arangements, as detailed in notes 15(a) and
26{g). ts dependent upon whether the underlying put and call
options are exercised and, if exercised, the expense will vary
according to a number of factors, including the level of earnings
of the respective Investmant Teams and the latest audited
financial results of the F&C Group.

The final F&C REIT variable NCI share-based payment expense
will depend on the extent of the FAC REIT financial results over
the remainder of the parformance periods and, if the
performance criteria are achieved, the value of F&CG REIT
business at the vesting date. Details are given in note 26(c).

Deferred tax assets

The quantum of deferred tax assets recognised, as detailed in
note 17, is based upon assumptions as to the future profitability
of the underlying companies to which they refate.

(g} TRC contingent consideration

The conditionat consideration payable in respect of the
acquisition of TRC has been estimated as nil, but is dependent
upon the level of future eamings of the TRC Group at 30 Juneg
2012, as detailed in note 15(a).

Summary of significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied
consistently throughout the Group for the purposes of the
Consolidated Financial Statements for the years ended

31 Decernber 2011 and 31 December 2010, aside from any new or
revised standards applicable for the first time in the cumment year.

(a) Consolidation

{d Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities over which the Company has the
powar, directly or indirectly, to govern the financial and operating
policies so as to ohtain benefits from their activities. Subsidiaries
follow accounting policies consistent with those of the Group,
unless there is a requirement for the subsidiary to follow a
differant accounting treatment, in which ¢ase, consolidation
adjustments are made to align the treatment of such
subsidiaries within the Consolidated Financial Statements. The
subsidiaries all have cotarminous reporting periods, with three
exceptions.

The Consolidated Financial Statements incorporate the assets,
liabilities, results and ¢cash fliows of the Company and its
subsidiaries. The results of subsidiaries acquired or sold during
the period are included in the consclidated results from the date

(b

—

of acquisition or up to the date of disposal. Intra-group balances
and any unvealised gains and losses or income and expensas
arising from intra-group transactions are eliminated in preparing
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

NCI represent the portion of profit or loss and net assets in
subsidiaries not held by the Group and are presented separately
in the Consclidated Income Statement {Income Statement) and
within equity in the Consolidated Staternent of Financia! Position
{Statement of Financial Pgsition), separately from parsnt
sharsholders' equity.

{{) Business combinations

{FRS 3 (Revised) (relating to Business Combinations from

1 January 2010}

A business combination is the bringing together of separate
entities or businesses into one reporting entity. The result is that
one entity, the acquirer, obtains control of one or more entities or
businesses. The acquisition date is the date on which the
acquirer obtains control of the acquiree.

The cost of an acquisition is measured at the fair value of the
assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange. Identifiable assets and
liabilities acquired and contingent liabilities assumed in a
business combination are measured initially a1 their fair values at
the acquisition date. The excess of the consideration transferred
for the acquisition, plus any NCI, over the fair value of the
Group’s share of identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as
goodwill. Acquisition-related expenses are expensed in the
Incorms Staterent.

Foreign currencies

The Group's presentational currency is Sterling. Each entity in
the Group detarmines its own functional currency and amounts
included in the financial statements of each entity are measured
in that functional currency.

iy Foreign currency transactions

Transactions in foreign cummencies are translated into the
functional currency at the exchange rate rufing at the date of the
transaction. Monstary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated at the
exchange rate ruling at the reporting date, and any exchange
differences arising are taken to the lncome Statement.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities, other than intangible assets
arising on the acquisition of foraign operations (Measured at
historical cost in a foreign curmency), are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of transaction and are not subsequently
rastated. Non-monetary assets and kabilities stated at fair value in
a foreign curmrency are translated at the exchange rate at the date
the fair value was detarmined. When fair value movernents in
assets and liabilities are reflected in the Income Statement, the
comesponding exchange movements are also recognised in the
Income Statement. Similarly, when fair value movements in assets
and liabiities are reflected directly in equity, the corresponding
exchange movements (except any retating to available for sale
monetary assets) are also recognised directly in equity.




(¢

(d)

{e)

{#) Foreign operations
The functional currency of foreign operations is predominantly
the Euro.

The assets and liabilities of, or relating to, foreign operations are
translated into Sterfing at foreign exchange rates ruting at the
reporting date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations
are translated to Steding at foreign exchange rates approximating
o the rates ruling at the dates of the transactions, Foreign
axchange differences arising on translation of forsign operations
into Sterling, including related intangitble assats, are mcognised
directly in the Group's Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
{FCTR), which is a separate component of equity, and reported in
the Staternent of Comprehensive Income. These exchange
differences are racognised as incorme or expensaes in the period in
which the foreign oparations are disposed of.

Revenue recognition

Management fees, investment advisory fees and other revenue
generated from the Group's asset management activities are
recognised in the Income Staterment over the peried which
these investment management services are provided.

Initial fess received in advance, arising on open-ended funds,
are taken to the Statement of Financial Position and amortised
over the period of the asset management service. The Group
enters into standard contractual terms for all investors.
Therefore, the period of provision of asset management services
is estimated based upon the Group's experience of the average
holding periods of investors. The average holding period is
reassessed on an annual basis.

The Group is entitled to earn performance fees from a number
of clients if the actual investment performance of clients' assets
excoeds defined benchmarks by an agreed level of
outperformanca, generally in a set time period. Performance
fees ame recognised when the quanium of the fee can be
astimated reliably, which is whan the perforrmance period ends,
when this occurs on or before the reporting date, or where there
is a period of less than six months rermaining to the end of the
performance period and thers is evidence at the reporting date
which suggests that the current performance will be sustainable.

Leases

All feases entered into by the Group are operating leases, being
leases where the lassor retains substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership of the leased asset. Rentals paid under
operating leases are charged to the Income Statement on a
straight-tine basis over the lease term. Leass incentives are
recognised by the Group as a reduction in the rental expense,
allocated on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
Accounting policy “(s) Provisions” discusses the recognition of
Provisions on onerous property leases when the leasad space
has ceased to be occupied by the Group.

Fee and commission expenses

Fee and commission expenses comprise two main elements -
CoSts associated with gaining new asset management contracts
and subsequent commission paid to agents. The costs

U]
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associated with gaining contracts are deferred and amortised
over the estimated term of the contracts (in ling with the
treatment of the associated initial fees raceived), while the
subseqguent renewal commission paid to agents is expensed as
the services are provided.

Exceptional income and costs

Whaere the Group incurs significant non-recurring expenditure or
sams significant non-recurring income in respect of items that
arise outwith the Group’s normal business activities and which
are sufficiently material to warrant separate disclosure, then
such items are disclosed in the Income Statemant as
axceptional items, either separately or collectively, depending on
their nature,

{g) Finance revenue

D

0]

—

Finance revenue comprises interest, dividends, investment
income, expectad return on pansion assets and net fair value
gains through the income Staterment in respect of shareholder
investments. Dividend income is recognised when the right to
receive payment is established, Imerest income is recognised in
the income Statement on an effective interast rate basis as it
accrues.

Finance costs

Finance costs comprise interest payable on borrowings, interest
on pension Kabilities, amortisation of loan issue costs, unwinding
of discount on provisions and net fair value losses through the
Income Staternent in respect of shareholder investments.
Borrowing costs are recognised in the Income Statement on an
effective interest rate basis.

Income taxes

The income tax expense or income disclosed on the face of the
Income Statement represents the aggregate of current tax and
the movement in deferred tax. Income tax is recognised in the
Income Statemant for the period, except to the extent that it is
attributable to a gain or loss that is recognised directly in equity.
In such cases the gain or loss shown in equity is stated
separately from the attributable income tax, which is also
recognised directly in equity.

Current tax is the expected iax payable to, or receivable from,
the taxation authorities on the taxable profit or loss for the
period, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacied at the
reporiing date, and includes any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is the tax expected 10 be payable or recoverabie on
differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities
in the Financial Statemenis and the corresponding tax basis
used in the computation of taxable profit or loss, accounted for
using the reporting date liability mathod.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expectsd to
apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset
realised, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the reporting date,
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Deferred tax liabilities are generally racognised for all taxable
terporary differences and defarmed tax assets are recognised to
the extent that it is probable that taxabie profits will be available
against which deductible tempaorary differences can be utilised,
except:

+ where the deferred tax asset or kability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination that at the
time of the transaction affects neither the accounting nor
taxable profit or loss; or

* in respect of taxable or deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsiciaries and associates,
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences
can be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differances will not raversa in the foreseeabls future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewsed at each
reporting date and reduced to the extent that it is no longer
probable that sufficient taxable profit will be avallable to allow all
or part of the asset to be recovered.

Any income tax expense or income in respect of taxable gains
or losses attributable to policyhoiders falls io be borne by or to
the benefit of the Group’s unit-linked policyholders. As a result,
the Directors consider it appropriate to differentiate on the face
of the Income Statement between tax attributable to
policyholders and that attributable to shareholders.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost less
accumutated depreciation and accumutated impairment lossas.

Expenditure on property, plant and equipment is capitalised on
initial recognition. Subsequent expenditure is only capitalised
when it is probable that there wilt be future sconomic benefits
associated with the expenditure which can be measured reliably.
All other expenditure is recognised in the Incomea Staternent as
an expeanse as incurred.

Property, ptant and equipment is dapreciated so as to write off
the cost of assets, using the straight-line method, over their
estimated useful lives, as follows:

Leasehoid improvements - ovear 10 years
Computer equipment —over 3 years
Office furniture & equipment - over 3-5 years
Motor vehicles - ovar 3-4 years

Depreciation is recognised as an expense in the Income
Statement.

The carying value of assets and their useful lives are reviewsd
at each reponing date. If an indication of impainment exists, the
assets are written down to their recoverable amount and the
impairment is charged to the Income Statement in the period in
which it arises.

An iterm of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no further future economic benefits are
expected from its use. Any gain or loss arising on darecognition
of the asset (calcutated as the fair value less costs to sell) is
included in the Incorme Statement in the year the asset is
derecognised.

(k) Intangible assets

() Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is initially
measurad at cost, being the excess of the cost of the business
combination over the Group's interest in the fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent kiabilities. Following
initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses.

Business combinations arising after 31 December 2009 are
accounted for under IFRS 3 (Revised): Business Combinations.
Whers the initial amount of goodwill can only be determined on a
provisional basis at the end of the financial reporting period,
adjustments are made to the amount of goodwill up to twelve
months from the date of acquisition to the extent that they relate
to revisions 10 the quantum of net assets acquired.

Any adjustment to the initial consideration, including amounts
which are conditional upon performance criteria, are recognised
in the Income Staternent in the period in which the subsequent
change arises,

Goodwill is tested annually for impairment, or mora freguently if
events or changes in circumnstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired.

(i) investment management contracts

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
racognition at cost. The measurement of intangible asssts
acquired in a business combination is at fair value as at the date
of acquisition. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are
carried at initial fair value less accumulated amortisation and any
accumulated impairment losses.

The useful lives of investment management contracts are finite
and such contracts are amortised on a straight-line basis over
their estimaied useful lives or average contractual term, with
amortisation being charged to the Income Staterment. The
amortisation period is reviewed at each financial year end.
Details of estimated useful lives are shown in note 13.

(i) Software and licences

Separately purchased intangible assets have a finite life and are
shown at cost less accumulated amortisation and any
accumnulated impairment losses. Amortisation is charged to the
Income Statement in equal annual instalments, based on the
following useful economic lives:

Software - 3 years
Licences - over the contractual term {3-5 years)

Subsequent expenditure on capitalised intangible assets is
expensed as incurred.

Impairment of intangible assets

At each reporting date the Group assesses whether there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication
exists, or when annual impaimment testing is required, the Group
makes an estimate of the asset's recoverable amount. An
asset's recoverabte amount is the higher of an asset's or cash-
generating unit's fair value less costs to sell and its value in use,
and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does
not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying




amount of an asset excesds its recoverable amount, the asset
is considered impaired and is writtan down 10 its recoverable
amount. Any impairment arising is recognised in the Income
Statement. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a discount rate
that reflects cument marke! assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill acquired in a
business combination is allocated to a cash-generating unit that
is expected to bensfit from the synergies of the combination.
Each unit to which the goodwill is so allkecated represants the
lowast level within the Group at which the goodwill is monitored
for internal management purposes.

Where intangible assets form part of a cash-generating unit and
part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the
intangible assets associated with the operation disposed of are
included in the camrying amount of the operation whan
determining the gain or loss on disposal of the oparation.

{m) Financial instruments
Financial instruments are recognised initially at fair value, plus
directly attiibutable transaction costs, in the case of investments
not at fair value through profit or loss.

The fair value of instrurments that ame actively traded in organised
financial markets Is determined by reference to quoted market
bid prices (mid price for OEICs) at the close of business on the
reporting date. For investments where there is no active markst,
fair value is determined using valuation techniques. Such
techniques include using: recent arm's length market
transactions; reference to the cument market value of another
instrument which is substantially the same; or discounted cash
flow analysis and option pricing models.

Financial instruments are classified into the categories described
below:

@ FAnancial instruments at fair value through profit or loss
include investments that are held for trading purposes or
that have been specifically designated as *at tair value
through profit or loss’. They are carried in the Statement of
Financial Position at fair value and movements in fair value
are taken to the Income Statemeant in the period in which
they arise. Interast and dividend income on these financial
instruments is recognised separately in Finance revenue.

The Group has adopted "trade date” accounting for
purchases or sales of financial assets under a contract
whose tarms require delfvery of the asset within the time
frame established in the marketplace concernad.
Accordingly, such financial instruments are recognised on the
date the Group commits to the purchase of the investments,
and are derecognised on the date it commits to their sale.

The Group has adopted the Fair Value Option in IAS 38,
which enables the liabilities in respect of the Group's unit-
linked investment contracts to be matched to the fair value
of the related assets which are solety attributable to the
investment contract policyholders, thus reflecting the
coniractual entitierneant of the policyholders. Differances in
fair values are taken to tha Income Statement.
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i) Available for sale financial assets are also carried at fair
value in the Statement of Financial Position. In respect of
unguoted instruments, or where the market for a financial
instrument is not active, fair value is established by using
recognised valuation methodologias, in accordance with
International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation
Guidelines, Where insufficient information exists to produce
a vafuation then the price of recent investments is used.
Such technigues include using: recent arm’s length market
transactions; reference to the cummant market value of
another instrumen?t which is substantially the same; or
discounted cash flow analysis and option pricing models.

For unquoted investments in sarly stage enterprises and
entarprisas with revenues hut without significant profits or
significant positive cash flows, fair value is determined using
the “Price of a Recant Investment” method. Repayments
arg treated as reduclions 1o carrying value. After an
appropriate period, an assessment is made as to whether
the circumstances of the investment have changed such
that another valuation methodology is appropriate, and
whether there is any evidence of deterioration or strong
defensible evidence of an ingrease in value. In the absence
of these indicators, fair valug is detenmined to be that
reported at the previous reporting date.

Unquoted investments with revenues, maintainable profits
and/or maintainable cash flows are valued by deriving an
Enterprise Value of the undertying business.

Movements in fair value, other than impairment losses and
foreign exchange movemenis on monetary assets, are
taken to the fair value reserve in equity until derecognition of
tha asset, at which time the cumulative amount in this
reserve is recognised in the Income Statement.

i} Loans and receivables are measured on initial recognition at
fair value plus any directly attributable transaction costs
incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables are measurad at amortised cost using the
effective intarest rate method. Gains and losses are
recognised in the Income Statament when loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as
through the amortisation process.

v,

-

Other financial iabiities include the NCI put options which
are recognised at fair value through profit or loss.

The NCI put options, over equity in majority-owned
subsidiaries, are recognised at fair vatue at the reporting
date. Upocn initial recognition the fair value of the put option
is debited to equity. Subsequent movements to the fair
value are reflected in the Income Staterment. Fair value is the
amount at which a derivative could be exchanged in a
transaction at the reporting date between willing parties.

The remaining financial liabilities are recognised at amortised
cost using the effective interest rate after initial recognition.

Expenses incurred in respect of raising capital on interest
bearing loans and barrowings are amortised over the term
of the loan on an affactive interast rate basis. Thase
expenses are offsot against the loan amount.
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Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities
Financial assets

A financial asset or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset,
is derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the
asset have expired.

Financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liahility is discharged, cancelled or expires.

Impairment of financial assets
The Group assesses at each reporting date whether a financial
asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Assels carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss on loans
and receivables carried at amortised cost has been incurred, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present vatue of estimated
futura cash flows discounted at the financial asset's originat
effective intarest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is
reciuced and the amount of the loss is recognised in the Income
Statement.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an
event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed. Any
subsaquent reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in the
Income Statement to the extent that the carrying value of the
asset does not exceed its amortised cost at the reversal date.

Available for sale financial assets

If an available for sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation} and its current fair value, less any impairment
loss previousty recognised in the Income Statement, is
transfermed from equity to the Income Statement. Raversals in
respect of equity instruments classified as available for sale are
not recognised in the Income Statement. Reversals of
impairmant losses on debt instrumants are taken through the
Income Statement if the increase in fair value of the instrument
can be objectively related to an event occurring after the
impairment loss was recognised in the Income Statement.

(n) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, deposits
held at call with banks and other short-term, highly liquid
investments in money market instruments with original maturity
dates of three months or less.

(o) Investment contracts
The Group sells unit-linked pension investment contracts
through its insurance entity, F&C Managed Pension Funds
Limited (MPF). These unit-linked contracts involve both the
transfer of a financial instrument and the provision of investment
managemeant services. The financial instrument component is
classified as a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.
The financial liability is measured using a valuation technique
based on the carrying value of the assets and liabilities that are
held to back the contract.

Unit-linked palicyholder assets heki by MPF and related
policyholder liabilities are carried at fair value, with changes in
fair value taken to profit or loss.

Amounts received from and paid to investers under these
contracts are accounted for as deposits received or paid, and
therefore not recorded in the Income Statement. At the reporting
date the value of these contracts is stated at an amount equal
to the fair value of the net assets held to match the contractual
obligations.

{p} Insurance contract liabilities

Insurance contract liabilities are measured in accordance with
actuarial principles and guidance. Any change in the value of the
liability is taken to “Movemant in fair vatue of unit-linked

liabilities" in the Income Staterment. Where these liabilities are
reinsured, the element of the risk reinsured is valued on the
same basis as the related lability and is included as an asset in
the Statement of Financial Position. Changes in the value of the
asset are taken to the Incoms Statemant. Amounts recoverablg
undler rainsurance centracts are assessed for impairment at
each reporting date.

Employee and member benefits

iy Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised as an
undiscounted expense and liability when the employes has
rendeared services during an accounting period. Short-term
compansated absences are recognised, in the case of
accumutating compensaled absences, when the employees
render service that increases their entitlement to future
compensated absences or, in the case of non-accumulating
compensated absences, when the absences ocour.

(i) Profit-sharing and bonus payments

These are recognised when there is a present legal or
constructive cbligation to make such payments as a result of past
events and a rfiable estimate of the obligation can be made.

(i) Profit entithement of members of Limited Liability
Partnerships
Where a member of a Limited Liability Partnership {LLP) has an
autornatic entitierment to distributions of partnership profits in
respect of their services, an expense (Distributions to members
of LLPs) and a liability (Liabilities to members of LLPs) are
recognised as their services are rendered during an accounting
period,

(v} Pension obligations
Defined banefit schemes

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension
arangements. These schemes provide benefits based on final
pensionable salary. The assets of the funded schemes are held
in separate trustee-administered funds.

The pension liability recognised in the Statemment of Financial
Position is the present obiigation of the empioyer, which is the
estimated present value of future benefits that employees have
earned in return for their services in tha current and prior years,
less the value of the plan assets i the schemes. The discount
rate applied to the employees’ benefits is the appropriate AA
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corporate bond yield at the reporting date. A qualified actuary
performs the calculation annually using the projected unit credit
method. The pension costs of the schemes in the Income
Staternent are analysed into:

* current service cost, which is the actuarially calculated
present value of the benefits earned by the active
employess in each period;

= past service costs, which relate to employee service in prior
periods, and arise as a result of the introduction of, or
impraverment to, retirement benefits in the current period.
These are recognised in the Income Statament on a
straight-line basis over the pericd in which the increase in
benefits vasts;

* ssttlernents or curtailments recognised in the Income
Staternent to the extant that they are not allowed for in the
actuarial assumptions. Gains or losses on settlements or
curtailments are recognised al the date on which there is a
demonstrable commitment to making a significant reduction
in the number of employees coverad by the plan or an
amendment to the terms of the plan;

* the expected return on pension assets recognised within
‘Finance revenue’; and

= ihe interest on pension obligations recognised in 'Finance
costs'

The actuarial gains and lossas, which arise from any new
valuation and from updating the previous actuanal valuation to
reflect conditions at the reporting date, are taken in full 1o the
Statement of Comprehensive Income for the period.

Defined contnbution schemes

Contributions made 1o these schemes are charged to the
Incoms Statement as they become payable in accordance with
the rutes of the scheme.

{v) Other long-term employee benefits

Other long-term employee benefits are recognised at the
discounted present value of the obligation at the reporting date.
The benefit is determined using actuarial techniques to estimate
the amount of banafit employees have eamed for their services
at the reporting date.

(vi) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised as a liability and an expense
when the Group is cornmitted to the tarmination of ermployrment
before the normal retirement date. A commitment to such
termination benefits arises whan the Group has initiated detailed
plans which cannot realistically be withdrawn.

Share-based payments
The Group operates a number of share scheme arrangements
which require to be accounted for as share-based payments.

All grants of shares, share options or other share-based
instruments that were granted after 7 Novermber 2002 have
baen recognised as an expense. Where applicable, the fair
values of share-based payment awards are measured using a
valuation model applicable to the terms of the awards (Black
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Scholes, Binomial or Monte Carlo simulation). The fair value is
measured by an independent external valuer at the date the
award is granted and the expenss is spread over the period
during which the employees becoma unconditionally entitled to
exercise the awards, known as the vesting period. Where
options exist for awards to vest cn more than one date, the
expense is initially spread over the period to the earliest possible
vesting date. The cumuiative expsense recognised in the Income
Staterment is equal to the estimated fair value of the award
multiplied by the number of awards expected to vest. Vesting of
awards typically depends upon mesting defined performance
criteria such as underlying earnings per share (EPS) targets
ancor share price return targets or continued employment.

The fair value of share-based payment awards, where it is not
considered possible to estimate reliabty the fair value of these
awards al the grant date, is determined by measurement of the
equity instruments at intrinsic value. The intrinsic valus is spread
over the vesting period.

Vasting of equity-settled employee share awards depends upon
meeting "market” and/or “non-market related” performancs
conditions. The type of vesting criteria affects the calculation of
the expense charged to the Income Statement and subsequent
adjustmants, as follows:

il Non-market retated conditions are performance criteria not
diractly linked to Company share price targets, such as EPS
targets and/or continued employment. The probability of
meeting non-market conditions is incorporated into the
expanse charge via the estimate of the number of awards
expected to vest, The total cumutative expense is
reassessed at each reporting date and is ultimately adjusted
to reflect the actual number of awards which vest.
Therefore, if no awards vest, nc cumulative expense charge
is ultimately recognised.

i} Market-related conditions are performance criteria linked to
Company share price targets. The probability of meeting
markat conditions is incorporated into the calculation of the
fair value of the award. Should the market-based
pertormance condition not utimately be met, no
“trug-up/down” adjustment is made to reflect this.
Therefora, an expense charge is made whether market-
based awards ultimately vest or not.

IFRS 2: Share-based Payment makes a distinction betwesan
awards settled in equity and those settfed in cash. Equity-settied
awards are charged to the Income Statement with a
corresponding credit to equity. Cash-settled awards are charged
to the Income Statement with a comesponding credit to
liabilities. The estimated fair valus of cash-settled awards is re-
measured at each reporting date until the payments ara
ultimately settled.

Awards to employees treated as “good lsavers™ or amployees
who cancel their savings contracts {under the Share Save
Schemae) vest immediately and the remaining full expenss of the
awards is charged to the income Statement at that time. Good
leavers include retirees and involuntary redundancies.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as
additionat share dilution in the computation of EPS.




54 | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | Accounting Policios

(s) Provisions

©
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A, provision is recognised in the Statement of Financial Position
when the Group has a legal or constructive obligation as a result
of a past event and it is probable that an outfiow of economic
benefits will be required to settle the obligation. If the effect is
material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected
future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects curent markst
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate,
the risks specific to the liability. No provision is established whem
a refiable estimate of the obligation cannot be made.

Where the Group expects some o all of a provision to be
recoverad from external parties, the recovery is recognised as a
separate asset but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain,

Where the Group has obligations under property leases and
where the space has ceased to be used for the purposes of the
business, full provision is made for future net outstanding
liabilities under such leases after taking into account the effect of
any expected sub-letting arrangements.

Share capital

When shares are issued, any component that creates a financial
liability of the Company or Group is presented as a liability in the
Statement of Financial Position, measured initialty at fair value,
net of transaction costs and thereafter at amortised cost until
extinguished on conversion or redemption.

New standards and interpretations not applied

The remainder of the issue proceeds is allocated to the equity
component and included in sharsholders' equity, net of
transaction costs.

Ordinary Share capital

When Ordinary Shares are repurchased, the amounts of
consicteration paid, including directly attributable costs, are
recognised in the own share reserve included within retained
eamings and are classifisd as deductions in equity. The
Company's dealings in its own shares are reflected

through equity.

Dividends on Ordinary Shares are recognised on the date of
payment, or if subject to approval, the date approved by the
sharehalders.

{u) Accounting for Employee Benefit Trusts (EBTs)

The Group has several EBTs which own shares in the Company
and other investments to enable it to satisfy certain future
settlements of share-based awards. The assets of the EBTs,
which relate 1o unvasted awards, are consolidated into the
Group's results, with these own shares included within retained
earnings at cost. Consideration received for such shares is also
recognised in retained earnings. No gain or loss is recognised in
the performance statements on the purchase, sale, issus or
cancellation of equity shares. Other investments held by EBTs
are recognised as assets in the Statement of Financial Position.

The International Accounting Standards Board has issued the following standards, relevant to the Group, which have not yet been applied

and hava an effective date after the date of these Financial Statements:

Intermational Accounting Standards (IAS/IFRS)

Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after

Endorsed by the European Union and avzilable for earty adoption:

IFRS 7 Amendment Disclosures — Transfers of financial assets 1 July 2011
Not yet endorsed by the Eurcpean Union:
IFRS 1 Amendment Savere Hyperinfiation and Removal of Fixed Dates 1 July 2011

for First-time Adopters

Deferred Tax: Recovery of Undertying Assets
Presentation of tems of Other Comprehensive Income
Consolidated Financial Statements

Joint Arrangements

Disclosure of interests in Other Entities

Fair Value Measurement

Separate Financial Statements

Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures
Employee Bangfits

Disclosures - Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Offsatting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities
Financial Instruments (issued in 2009 and 2010}

IAS 12 Amendment
IAS 1 Amendment
IFRS 10

IFRS 11

IFRS 12

IFRS 13

|AS 27 Revised

|AS 28 Revised

I1AS 19 Amendment
IFRS 7 Amendment
|AS 32 Amendment
IFRS 8

1 January 2012

1 July 2012
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2013
1 January 2014
1 January 2015

One of the changes in respect of the IAS 19 Amendment for the defined benefit pension arrangements is that the Net Interest Cost will
replace the Interest Cost and Expected Return on Assets. The discount rate will be used to calculate the Net Interest Cost instead of a
separate assumption for “asset mtuns”. In addition administrative expenses will require 1o be shown separately and not within the Net Interast
Cost. The overall impact on the Income Statement will depend on the size of the defined benefit deficit and the difierential betwean the
expected return rate and the discount rate. It is expected that thens will be a slight increase in the net expenss as a result of these changes.

The Directors are investigating the impact of the other new and revised standards. It is anticipated that, at a minimum, additional
disclosures will be required. The Group intends to adopt the standards in the reporting period in which they become sffective.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Operating segments

From a management perspective, the Group has three operating units and therefore presents three operating segments for segment reporting
purposes:

+  F&C;

* F&C REIT; and

* Thames River Capital (TRC).

Whila there ara different sources of revenue and distinct distribution channels within operating segments, and assets under management can
be categorised by client type and asset class, the Directors do not consider these to constitute separate oparating segments within the
meaning of IFRS 8: Operating Segmenits.

Management monitors the results of its three operating segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about resource allocation
and performancs assessment.

Transfer prices betwesn the pperating segments reflect arm’s-length agreements entered into at the time of acquiring REIT and TRC and
creating the F&C REIT and TRC operating segments. Segment revenue, oparating expenses, finance revenue and profit/loss) for the year
include transactions between operating segments, which are eliminated on consolidation. The accounting policies of the operating segments
are the same as those of the Group.

{a) Operating segments’ financial information

FAC F&C REIT TRC Total
2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010 2011 2010
m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Revenue
Extemnal clients 199.5 205.2 37.8 40.0 45.9 14.6 283.2 259.8
Inter-segment revenue 0.9 1.0 - - 1.5 0.7 24 1.7
Segment revenue 200.4 206.2 37.8 40.0 474 153 285.8 261.5
Fee and commission expenses {12.3) (14.4) 3.1) (2.1} {0.8) {0.1) {16.2) (16.6)
Net gains and investment income
on unit-linked assets 13.7 74.3 - - - - 13.7 743
Maovement in fair value of unit-linked liabilities {13.4) {73.3) - - - - {13.4) (73.3)
Operating expenses
Operating expenses (145.7) (144.8) {16.7) {16.9) (38.3) (12.3) (200.7) {174.0)
Amontisation and depreciation (3.7} (40.2) {(11.0) {11.6} {8.9) {2.3) (49.6) (54.1)
Other exceptional net operating expenses (8.6) (12.7) - (0.2} {10.4) (8.0 {19.0) (20.9)
Total operating expenses (186.0) (197.7) 27.7 (28.7) {55.6) (22.6) (269.3) {249.0)
Operating profit/(loss) 2.4 (4.9 7.0 9.2 {9.0) (7.4) 04 (3.1
Finance revenue 39.6 21.3 0.1 0.1 L1 8] 0.3 39.8 21.7
Finance costs {35.3) (33.6) - - 0.1) - (35.4) (33.6)
F&C REIT put option fair value gain 8.7 6.4 - - - - 8.7 6.4
TRC acquisition consideration adjustments 7.6 - - - - - 7.6 -
Tax income/(expense) 4.5 6.9 {0.5) (1.4} 0.1 0.3 4.1 58
Profit/(loss) for the year 27.5 (3.9) 6.6 7.9 8.9) 6.8) 252 2.8)
Segment assets 1,297.5 1,479.3 196.2 210.6 721 79.2 1,5685.8 1,769.1
Segment liabilities (937.8) (1,116.3) {20.0) (23.8) {30.7) (29.8) (988.5) (1,169.9)
Other information
Expenditure on non-current assets 3.9 3.5 0.4 0.2 0.5 40.1 4.8 43.8
Non-cash expenses/(income) other
than depreciation and amortisation {4.4) 1.8 0.1 0.1 10.0 6.1 5.7 8.0

Revenues from two external clients each represent 10% or more of the Group's total revenues. Revenwues from the largest client amount to
£31.0m (2010: £32.1m) and are earned in the FAC and F&C REIT segments. Revenues from the second largest client amount 1o £29.8m
{2010: £30.6m) and are earned in the F&C segment.
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1. Operating segments continued
(b) Reconciliations to Group Financial Statements

2011 2010
£m £m
Total revenue
Total revenue for reportable segments 285.6 261.5
Elimination of inter-segment revenue (2.4) (1.7}
Group revenue 2832 250.8
Operating expenses
Total operating expenses for reportable segments 269.3 249.0
Elimination of inter-segment expenses 24) 1.7)
Group operating expenses 266.9 247.3
Finance revenue
Total finance revanue for reportable segments 38.8 21.7
Elimination of inter-segment finance revenue (22.6) (10.6)
Group finance revenue 172 11.1
Profit/{loss) for the year
Total profit/{loss) for reportable sagments 252 (2.8}
Adjustment for inter-segment profit distributions (22.6) {10.6)
Group profit/{loss) for the year 26 {13.4)
Assels
Total assets for reportable segments 1,565.8 1,769.1
Elimination of inter-segment assets {10.3} 9.0)
Reclassification between assats and liabilities - 2.5)
Group assets 1,855.5 1,757.6
Liabilities
Total liabilities for reportable segments (888.5} (1,169.9)
Elimination of inter-segment liabilities 10.3 9.0
Reclassification between assets and liabilities - 2.5
Unallocated defined benefit pension liabilities {20.5) {27.6)
Group liabilities 99a.7) (1,186.0)
The reportable segments’ totals for all other line items reported in the table at note 1{a) are the same as those for the Group, with no
reconciling differances.
{c) Geographical information
2011 2010
Revenue by location of clients £m £m
United Kingdom 108.9 102.1
Continental Europa* 1503 138.0
Rast of the World 240 19.7
Group total 283.2 259.8
2011 2010
Non-current assets by domicile’ £m £m
United Kingdom 84.2 113.1
Continental Europe” 39.3 53.1
Rest of the World 15.0 18.6
138.5 184.8
Unallocated 611.9 611.9
Group total 750.4 796.7

* Continental Europe is defined as being within the European Economic Area.

t Excluding financial investments, other receivables, deferred acquisition costs and deferred tax assets.
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2. Net revenue

2011 2010
£m £m
Base management fees 267.2 2453
Performance-related management fees 11.8 12.9
Total investment management fees 279.0 258.2
Other income 4.2 1.6
Total revenue 283.2 259.8
Renewal commission on open-ended investmant products (8.8} {10.1)
Other selling expenses (7.4} 6.5)
Fee and commission expenses (16.2} {16.6)
Net revenue 267.0 243.2
Other incorme in 2011 includes £1.4m of compensation in respect of the loss of strategic partner assets.
3. Net gains and investment income on unit-linked assets
2011 2010
Notes £m £m
Interest income en financial instruments attributable to policyholders 7 7.2 7.5
Dividend income 7.3 10.0
Movement in fair values of unit-linked assets {0.8) 56.8
29 13.7 74.3
Note 18(a)()(1) gives further background to the unit-linked assats held by the Group.
4. Expenses
{(a) Total operating expenses
Total operating expenses, including exceptional costs, can be surnmarised into the following categories:
2011 2010
em £m
Employee and member benefits and related expenses® 149.4 125.0
Premises expenses 12.6 9.3
Communication and information technology expenses 16.6 14.4
Third-party administration expenses 8.5 6.6
Promotional and client sarvicing expensas Al 6.4
Depreciation and amortisation expenses 49.6 54.1
QOther expenses 231 31.5
Total operating expenses 266.9 247.3

* This includes £7.4m {2010; £5.6m) of employment-related expenses, which are not included in the employee benefit expensa table in note 5.

{b) Operating expenses
Operating expenses include the following:

2011 2010
Notas £€m £m
Depreciation of owned tangible property, plant and equipment 12 3.2 2.7
Amortisation of software and licances 13 0.6 0.7
Auditor's remuneration 4(c) 1.3 1.2
Operating lease rentals — land and buildings {head leases) 10.7 11.8
Operating lease rentals — vehicles 0.4 0.3
Operating lease rentals — other* 2.3 4.2
Rentals receivable — operating leases (sub-leases) {3.9) (4.1)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 0.3 0.1
Realised exchange gains on forward curmrency contracts - (0.9)
Other foreign exchange losses - 1.6

* Stated net of amounts receivable from brokars under Commission Sharing Arrangements.

Sub-lease rentals of £3.9m (2010: £4.1m) were raceived during the year, of which £3.7m (2010: £3.9m) relates to guaranteed payments and
£0.2m {2010: £0.2m) relates to contingent payments.

All amounts included within operating lease and sub-lease rental payments represent minimum lease payments.
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4. Expenses continued
{c) Auditor's remuneration
Fees paid to the Group's auditor are summarised as follows:

KPMG

2011 2010

£m £Em

Annual audit fees — 2011 0.5 -
Annual audit fees - 2010 - 0.5
Foes payable to the Group's auditor for the audit of the Group and Company's annual Financial Statements 0.5 0.5
Audit of financial staterments of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 03 0.3
Total audit fees of the Group 0.8 0.8
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 0.1
Other assurance sanvices 02 0.2
Other non-audit services 0.2 0.1
Total auditor's remuneration 1.3 1.2

The Group's policy on the award of non-audit services to accountancy firms is outlined in the Directors’ Report on Gorporate Governance.
During the year the fees paid by F&C to other accountancy firms for non-audit services were as follows:

2011 2010

£m £m

PricewaterhouseCoopers 0.5 0.7
Ernst & Young 0.3 0.4
Deloitte 02 1.8
BDO 0.1 -
Moore Stephans 0.1 -
12 29

In addition to the abova, the following fees were paid by OEICs and unit trusts, for services provided directly 1o them, for which Group
companies are the Authorised Corporate Director or Manager:

201t 2010
£m £m
PricewaterhouseCoopers 0.3 0.4
5. Employee and member benefit expenses
Total employee benefit expenses, including remuneration of the Directors and expenses relating to LLP members, were:
2011 2010
Notes £m £m
Short-term employee and member benefits:
Salaries and related benefits 62.1 58.7
Bonus 19.5 16.0
Wages and salaries 816 747
Distributions to members of LLPs 18.3 6.0
Social Security costs 10.2 10.4
TRC Commutation payment to LLP members - 1.4
1101 92.5
Post-employment benefits:
Defined contribution pension expenses 25(h) 3.5 3.9
Defined benefit pension expense/(income) 25(d)) 3.0 {1.3)
6.5 286
Total of wages and salaries, Social Security costs and post-employment benefits 116.6 95.1
Other long-term employes benefits - 0.1
Termination benefits 76 1.6
Share-based payment expense 26 17.8 22.6
Total employee and member benefits expenses 142.0 119.4

The monthly average number of employees and membars {including Executive Directors) of the Group during 2011 was 952 {2010: 1,018).
F&C Asset Management pic had no employees during either year,

The above table includes £14.4m (2010: £6.1m) of excaptional net employment costs.
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8. Exceptional income and expenditure
(a} Other exceptional net operating expenses
The Group has classified the following operating (expenses)/income as exceptional:

2011 2010

Notes m £m

Exceptional employment (expenss)/income [0} {8.7 25
TRC Commutation expenses {in {5.71 6.2)
TRC Management Retention and Incentive Plans (i) {4.6) (1.8)
Operations outsourcing expenses (v} @n -
F&C Partners litigation expense W] 1.9 6.0
TRC integration expenses (Vi) 0.2) (1.1)
F&C REIT variable non-controlling intérests SBP incomea {vil) 4.8 0.3
Corporate advisory fees {viil) - 9.9)
Foreign exchange transfer from reserves on liquidation of subsidiary (ix) - 1.3
(19.0} (20.9)

(i} Exceptional employrment {expense)/income

During 2011, the Board initiated actions to achieve ‘rightsizing’ staff cost savings as a result of the operations outsourcing and the subsequent
strategic review process. As a result, some £8.7m of non-recurming redundancy and related staft costs were incurred during the year in order to
achieve the targeted level of recurring staff cost savings.

During 2010 the Group recognised a net £2.5m of non-recurring income associated with employes remuneration amangements. This
comprised a £4.0m pension curtailment credit arising from benefit changes made to defined benefit pension arangements, as outlined in note
25(d), offset by a £0.6m past service pension cost and £0.9m of redundancy and related staff costs, which were incurred as a result of cost
saving actions initiated during that year.

The Directors consider these non-recurring employment (expensas)incoma to be exceptional in nature and have therefore excluded them from
the measurement of underlying earnings in the respective financial year.

(i) TRC Commutation expenses

The Divisional Members of TRC Investment Teams entered into put and ¢all options at the time of the TRC acquisition, which, if exercised, will
typically transter up to 20% of their entitiement 1o management fee profits to the F&C Group. Under IFRS, the share elermant of the
consideration payable under these Commutation arangements requires to be accounted for as a share-based payment.

Given the capital nature of these arangements, the Directors consider it appropriate to treat the total Commutation expense as exceptional in
nature and exclude it from the measurement of undertying earnings for each financial year.

(i) TRC Management Retention and Incentive Plans

As a condition of the acquisition of TRC, the Group established a Management Retention Plan (MRP) and Management Incentive Plan (MIP) to
retain and incentivise certain TRC personnel. At 31 December 2011 it has been assessed that none of the MIP performance criteria will be met
and, as a result, the cumulative charge previously recognised has been raversed and a credit has been recognised in the 2011 Income
Statement. The MRP expense {including NIC) recognised in the income statement is £4.7m (2010: £1.7m). The 2011 credit in respect of the
MIP is £0.1m (2010: charge of £0.1m). Detalils of these share-based payment arrangements are given in notes 26(g) and (f).

Given the quantumn and nature of these awards, the Diractors consider it appropriate to treat the associated expense/(credit) as exceptional
and exclude themn from the measurement of underlying earnings for each financial year.

{iv) Operations cutsourcing expenses
During 2011, £2.7m of legal, advisory and consultancy costs were incurred in respect of the planning and execution of the outsourcing of
certain of the Group's back and middie office investment operations 10 State Street,

The Directors consider these project costs to be exceptional in nature and have therefore excluded this expense from the measurement of
undarlying earnings for 2011.
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6. Exceptional income and expenditure continued

(v) FA&C Partners litigation expense

Note 24 outlines the background and status of this litigation and details the amounts paid and potentially payable to the founder members of
F&C Partners LLP. During 2011, £2.1m of further legal costs were incurred by the Group in continuing to defend its position in respect of all
disputed matters and £2.2m of related interest costs payable 10 the founder members have been recognised. These costs have been offset by
the utilisation of the £2.4m provision previously recognised in respect of the totality of this dispute, resulting in a net cost of £1.9m being
recognised in the Income Statement during the year.

During 20103, some £6.0m of jegal and professional costs were incurred with respect to this matter.

Given the quantum and nature of this expense, the Directors continue to consider it appropriate to treat it as exceptional in nature and exclude
it from the measuremant of underlying earnings in both financial years.

(vi) TRC integration expenses
In 2010 the Group incurred some £1.1m of integration expenses associated with the aignment of certain activities within the enlarged Group.
A further £0.2m of such costs were incurred in 2011.

Given the nature of this expensa, the Directors consider it appropriate to treat it as exceptional and exclude it from the measurement of
undertying earnings for each year.

{vii) F&C REIT variable non-controliing interests SBP income
30% of F&C REIT, the Group's property asset managesment business, is held by the former owners of REIT, two of whom occupy key
management roles within F&C REIT,

The former ownars have the opportunity to increase their ownership of F&C REIT by a further 10% through the achievement of stretching
performance targets over the six-year pariod to 31 Dacember 2014. This earn-out mechanism mesets the critaria of, and is accounted for as, a
share-based payment. At 31 December 2011 it has been assessed that the performance target is unlikely to be achieved in any of the
emaining performance periods. As a result, the cumulative charge previously recognised has been reversed and a credit of £4.8m has been
recognised in the 2011 Income Staterment (2010: a credit of £0.3m).

These credits have been excluded from underlying earnings, as this arrangement is considered to be of a capital nature. Further details of this
arrangement ara given in note 26(c).

{viii) Corporate advisory fees
During 2010, £7.5m of comorate advisory and related transaction expenses were incurred in connection with the acquisition of TRC, togsther
with £2.0m of abortive acquisition costs in respect of C-Quadrat and other corporata costs of some £0.4m.

The Directors considerad these corporate costs to be exceptional in nature and therefore excluded this £9.9m aggregate expense from the
meaasurament of underlying eamings.

{ix) Foreign exchange transfer from reserves on liquidation of subsidiary

Following the transfer of its assets under management to another F&C Group company, F&C Luxembourg was put into veluntary liquidation
during 2010. The cumulative foreign exchanga gain of £1.3m previously recognised in the foreign cumency translation reserve was ‘recycled’ to
the Income Statement in accordance with accounting requirements.

Due to the natura of this gain, the Directors excluded this credit from the calculation of undestying earnings for 2010.

(b) F&C REIT put option fair value gain

2011 2010
£m £m
F&C REIT put option fair value gain 87 6.4

The fair value of the F&C REIT put option liability, as disclosed in note 28, reflects the value of the portion of the F&C REIT business which is
currently owned by the non-controlling interest partners and which is the subject of options. The £8.7m reduction in the fair value of the
options during 2011 has been recognised as a gain in the Income Statement (2010: gain of £6.4m).

The Directors cansider the value of these options and moverments therein (o be of a capital nature, and have therefors excluded these gains
from the measurement of undertying earnings.
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(c} TRC acquisition consideration adjustments
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2011 2010

£&m £m

Net asset consideration adjustment 0.1 -
Deferred consideration adjustment 7.5 -
7.6 -

The total consideration of £48.6m recognised in 2010 for the acquisition of TRC included a £7.5m estimate of further cash consideration and
£7.5m of estimated conditional consideration payable if certain performance criteria were achieved.

During 2011, a payment of £7.4m was made to the vendors of TRC, under tha terms of the Sale and Purchase Agreement, repraesanting an
adjustmaent to the initial cash consideration to reflect the excess of net assets acquired over and above the agreed target. As the payment was
less than the estimate of £7.5m, the excess of £0.1m has bean creditad to the Income Statement in accordance with IFRS.

The 31 December 2C11 conditicnal consideration performance target was not achieved and it is anticipated that the comparable position
measured at 30 June 2012 will not be achieved. As a result, the associated liability of £7.5m has been released to the 2011 Income Statement

in accordance with IFRS.

Oue to the capital nature of these items, the Directors have excluded the total credit of £7.6m from the calculation of underlying earnings

for 2011.

7. Finance revenue

2011 2010
Note £m £m
Loans and receivables:
Bank interest receivable 1.8 1.1
Other interest receivable 0.2 2
Designated as fair value through profit or toss:
Movemnent in fair value of investments - 0.3
Designated as available for sale:
Investment income receivable 3.7 -
5.7 1.6
Other finance revenue:
Expected return on pension plan assets 25(d) 115 9.5
Total finance revenue 17.2 111
2011 2010
Note £m £m
Summary of total interest income:
Bank interest receivable 1.8 11
Other interest recevable 0.2 0.2
Interest incomsa on other financial instruments attributable 10 policyholders 3 7.2 75
Total interest income 92 8.8
8. Finance costs
2011 2010
Nota £m £m
Interest expense on financial liabilities recognised at cost using
the effective interest rate method:
Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 2016/2026 8.4 8.4
Guaranteed Fixed Rate Loan Notes 2016 135 12.2
Floating Rate Sscured Notas 2010 - 0.2
Bank charges and other interest payable 0.4 05
Total interest expense 23 213
Ameonrlisation of oan note issue costs and faciiity fees 1.0 0.5
Unwinding of discount on onerous provisions 0.5 0.5
Designated as fair vatue through profit or loss:
Movement in fair value of investments 0.1 -
Other finance costs:
Interest cost on pension obligations 25(d) 11.5 1.3
Total finance costs 5.4 3386
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9. Income tax
{a) Analysis of tax income in the year
The major components of tax {incomeyexpense recognised in the Income Statement and Statement of Changes in Equity are:

2011 2010
£m £m

Current income tax:
UK a7 0.8
Overseas 5.7 8.5
Adjustments in respect of previous years {0.1) {0.2)
Detferred income tax:
Relating to origination and reversal of temporary differences (127 {12.8)
Adjustments in respsct of previous years 0.1 (1.3)
Adjustments in respect of Corporation Tax rate change {0.8) 0.8
Tax income reported in the Income Statement {4.1} {5.8}

2011 2010

£m £m

Deferred and cumrent income tax related to items charged or credited directly to equity:
Fair value movements on financial investments {0.5) 0.3
Net actuarial gains on defined benefit pension schemes 10 3.0
Loss on overseas pension schemes {0.3} -
Adjustments in respect of Corporation Tax rate change 0.3 0.2
Tax expense recognised directly in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 0.5 35
Tax credit associated with purchase of NGI in F&C Partners LLP {2.9) -
Tax (income)/expense recognised directly in Statement of Changes in Equity (2.4) 35

* Non-controling interests (NCi).

{b} Factors affecting the tax income for the year
A reconciliation between the actual tax income and the accounting loss multiplied by the Group's domestic tax rate for the years ended
31 December 2011 and 2010 is as follows:

2011 2010
£m £m
Loss hefore tax {1.5} {19.2)
At the Group's statutory income tax rate of 26.5% (2010: 28.0%) (0.4) (5.4}
Adjustments in respect of pravious years - 1.5}
Disallowsd expenses 0.2 3.4
Non-taxable incorne {3.0} (1.6}
Overseas tax 0.2 0.1
Unrecognised losses 0.1 0.1
Share-based payments {0.4} @.1)
Disallowed distributions to LLP memhbers 4.9 1.7
Non-taxable income attributable to LLP members {4.9) (1.7)
Corporation Tax rate change {0.8} 08
Tax income reported in the Income Statement {4.1} 5.8)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are shown in nota 17.

{c) Effective rate of tax and factors affecting future tax charges

The Chancallor of the Exchequer's Emergency Budget on 22 June 2010 announced that the UK Corporation Tax rate will reduce from 28% to
24% over a period of four years from 2011. A further 1% reducticn in the UK Corporation Tax rate was announced in the Chancellor's Budget
of 23 March 2011. The combination of these announcements when substantively enacted will take the Group's UK effective tax rate to 23%
by 2015.

The first tranche of these reductions became effective during 2011 when the Corporation Tax rate moved from 28% to 26% on 1 April 2011,
leading to a statutory tax rate in the UK for the Group of 26.5% for 2011.

A further rate changs to 25% was substantively enacted on 5 July 2011, effective from 1 April 2012, As a result, the statutory rate for the UK
Group will move to 25.25% for 2012,

The effect of the rate changes substantively enacted during the year has been to reduce the net deferred tax liability by a net £0.5rm as at
31 Decaember 201 1. This comprises a £2.8m tax credit attributable to intangible assats, a £2.0m tax charge associated with the reduction in
value of defermed tax assets and a £0.3m tax charge to equity reflacting the deferred tax that is expected to reverse through equity.

The Directors are of the view that due to the significant level of astimation required it is not yet possible to quantify the effect of the proposed
subsaquent 2% rate reduction in future years, altthough this will further reduce the Group's current tax charge in future and reduce the Group's
deferred tax assats and liabilities recognised in the Statement of Financial Position.
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10. Eamings per share
Basic loss per shara amounits are calculated by dividing the loss for the year attributable 1o ordinary equity hoklers of the parent by the
weighted averags number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the year.

Diluted loss per share amounts are calculated by dividing the loss for the year attributabls to ordinary equity holders of the parant by the
weighted average number of Ordinary Shares outstanding during the year plus the weighted average number of Ordinary Shares tha!l would be
issued on the conversion of all the diutive potential Ordinary Shares into Ordinary Shares at the reporiing date.

In the opinion of tha Directors the ‘undertying earnings’ as quantified in the *Reconciliation of {lossi/earnings’ table below, more accurately
reflects the underlying earnings performance of the Group.

2011 2010

P _ {as restated®)
Reconciliation of (loss)/eamings per Ordinary Share p
Basic loss per Ordinary Share (0.10) (3.31)
Amortisation of intangibles 5.61 6.48
F&C REIT put option fair valua gain (1.69) (1.28)
F&C Partners litigation expense 0.16 0.88
TRC Commutation expensas 1.10 1.24
Exceptional employment expense/(income) 1.24 {0.38)
F&C REIT variable NCI SBP income {0.93) (0.06)
TRC Management Retention and Incentive Plans 0.80 0.30
TRC integration expenses 0.01 0.18
Oparations outsourcing expenses 0.39 -
TRC acquisition consideration adjustmenis (1.47) -
Defarrad Tax — Corporation Tax rate change® 0.39 0.16
Corporate advisory fees - 1.97
Foreign exchange transier from raservas on liquidation of subsidiary - {0.26)
Prior year unrealised losses on forward currency contracts, now realised - {0.18)
Undertying earnings per Ordinary Share 5.51 5.74
Foreign exchange losses included within underlying earnings per share - 0.28
Undertying earnings per Ordinary Share excluding foreign exchange losses 5.51 6.02

* As restated for the effect of the Deferred Tax — Carparation Tax rate change being excluded from underlying EPS.

2011 2010

p p
Diluted loss per Ordinary Share” {0.10) (3.31)
Diluted underlying earnings per Ordinary Share 4.93 5.52
Diluted underlying eamings per Ordinary Share excluding foreign exchange losses 4.93 5.79

* Where the Group has incurred a basic loss per Ordinary Share, ne dilution arises despite the *dilutive potential weighted average number of Crdinary Shares’ being
greater than the ‘weightad average number of Ordinary Shares usad to datermine the basic koss par share’. As a result, the reported basic and diuted loss per
Ordinary Share are the same in 2011 and 2010.

All amounts disclosed in the table above are stated net of any attributable tax, as presented in the *Reconciliation of {loss)/earnings' table below.
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10. Earnings per share continued

The following tables discloss the Jossyearnings and share capital data used in the (loss)earnings per share calcutations:

2011 2010 (as restated”)
Gross Tax Net Gross Tax Net

Reconciliation of {loss)/eamings £m £m £m m £m £m
Loss attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent for basic loss per share (4.0} 35 {0.5} {22.1} 5.5 (16.6)
Amortisation of intangibles™ 426 {1an 28.9 47.3 {14.8} 32.5
F&C REIT put option fair value gain 8.7} - 8.7} 6.4) - 6.4)
F&GC Partners litigation expense 1.9 {1.1) 0.8 6.0 (1.6) 4.4
TRC Commutation expenses 5.7 - 5.7 6.2 - 6.2
Exceptional employment expense/{income)® 8.7 {2.3) 6.4 2.6) 0.7 1.9}
F&C REIT variable NCI SBP income {4.8} - {4.8) {0.3) - 0.3)
TRG Management Retention and Incentive Plans 4.6 {0.5) 4.1 1.8 {0.3} 1.5
TRC integration expenses 0.2 {0.1) 01 IR ©0.2) 0.9
Cperations outsourcing expenses 27 0.7 20 - - -
TRC acquisition consideration adjustments (7.6) - (7.6) - - -
Deterred Tax — Corporation Tax rate change® - 20 20 - 0.8 0.8
Corporate advisory fees - - - 9.9 - 9.9
Foreign exchange transfer from reserves on liquidation of subsidiary - - - (1.3) - {1.3)
Prior year unrealisad losses on forward cumency contracts, now realised - - - {1.3) 0.4 {0.9}
Underlying earnings attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the parent 1.3 {12.9) 28.4 38.3 9.5) 28.8
Foreign exchange losses included within undertying earnings - - - 2.0 {0.6) 1.4
Underlying eamings attributable to ordinary equity holders
of the parent excluding foreign exchange losses 413 12.9) 28.4 40.3 (10.1) 30.2
* Asrestated for the eflect of the Deferred Tax - Corporation Tax rate change being excluded from underlying EPS.
W Exciudes £2.0m (2010: £2.3m) of amortisation of intangibles (net of tax) which is attributable to NCI,
@ Excludes £nil (2010: £0.1m}) of costs (Net of tax) which are attributabie to NCI.

2011 2010
Share capital No. No.
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares™ 515,372,721 501,469,251
Weighted average dilutive potential Ordinary Shares exercisable:
The Long Term Remuneration Plan awards 30,316,564 16,130,914
TRC Commutation arrangements 13,175,821 -
TRC Management Retention Plan awards 12,554,160 -
The Executive Director Remuneration Plan awards 2,157,685 2,643,218
Deferred Share awards 975,054 -
Purchased Equity Plan awards 606,632 £€94,880

Dilutive potential weighted average number of Ordinary Shares

575,158,617 520,838,263

@ Excluding own shares held by Nominees/Employee Benefit Trusts.

In the period betwaen the reporting date and the approval of the Consolidated Financial Statements, 1,112,958 share awards (2010:
9,474,354) vested which were salisfied by the utilisation of own shares held by Employee Benefit Trusts.
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10. Earnings per share continued

Potential future dilution

The following share-based payment arrangements coukd potentially dilute basic earnings per share in the future, but were not included in the
above calculation of diluted eamings per share because they were either anti-dilutive for the years presented or had not met the relevant
performance criteria at the reporting date:

* Long-Term Remuneration Plan {restricted awards}

* F&C REIT variable NCI SBP
This earn-out arrangement gives the F&C REIT NCI partners the opportunity to increase their ownership of F&C REIT from 30% to 40%
before 31 December 2014, At 31 December 2011, the Directors do not expect any of the ownership percentage to transter. Any transfer
would potantially dilute the profits attributable to the equity holders of the parent. Howaver, the principle of this incentive arrangement is
that the incremesntal profits which would become attributable 1o NCI as a result of achisving the parformance criteria are funded from the
increased level of absolute profits generated by FRC REIT for the year in which vesting arises, rather than diluting the current level of profits
attributable to equity holders of the parent. There can be no guarantee that, subsequent to vesting, the higher level of profits which met the
vesting criteria would be sustainable.

*  TRC Management Incentive Plan

* TRC Commutation arrangements
The Divisional Membaers of TRC Investment Teams have put and cal options to transfer up to 20% of their entitlement to management fee
profits of their respective Investmant Teams to F&C. The exercise of these options is expected to enhance the profits attributable to equity
holders of the parent. However, theré can be no guarantee that, subsequertt to the exarcise of the options, a higher lavel of absolute profits
would be sustainable.

* Share Save Scheme

+ 1995 and 2002 Exscutive Share Option Schemes
At 31 December 2011, the 909,900 (31 Decernber 2010; 1,318,528) options outstanding have all vested. These have exercise prices
between 139.00p and 240.83p and are anti-dilutive as the option prices are above the average share price for the year.

Details of all awards potentially dilutable, together with the total number of awards outstanding at each reporting date, are disclosed in note 26.

In addition, the TRC conditional consideration payment (as detailed in note 15(a)) could potantially dilute eamings per share, Linder the
acquisition agreement, one further potential instalment of up to £10.0m is payabie to the vendors where the Run-rate EBITDA performance
target is achisved. While the achievernent of the performance criteria would enhance the level of profits attributable to the equity holders of the
parent, there can be no guarantee that the higher level of profits which met the performance criteria would be sustainable.

11. Ordinary dividends

2011 2010
Declared and paid during the year £m £m
Equity dividends on Ordinary Shares:
Final dividend for 2010; 2.0p {2009: 4.0p} 10.4 19.4
Interim dividend for 2011: 1.0p (2010: 1.0p) 52 5.1
15.6 245
Proposed for approval at the Annual General Meeting
Equity dividends on Ordinary Shares;
Final dividdend for 201 1: 2.0p (2010: 2.0p) 10.4 10.3

The entiternent of Employee Benefit Trusts to receive dividends (on some of their holdings of F&C shares) has been waived by the Trustees.
This has resulted in the following dividends being waived:

Shares £m
2011 Dividends
2010 Final 14,436,341 0.3
2011 Interim 11,008,289 01
2010 Dividends
2009 Final 9,169,006 0.4

2010 Interim 17,372,505 0.2
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12. Property, plant and equipment

Office
[ hold Comp fumniture and Motor
improvements equipment equipment vehicles Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Cost:
At 1 January 2010 13.2 76 2.3 0.9 24.0
Fair value of additions arising on acquisition of TRC 0.5 0.9 0.3 - 1.7
Additions 0.1 0.8 0.1 0.2 1.2
Disposals {0.1) {0.6) 0.1) {0.1) 0.9
Foraign exchange losses (0.2) - - - 0.2)
At 31 Decembear 2010 13.5 8.7 2.6 1.0 25.8
Additions 0.6 1.5 0.3 03 2.7
Disposals (0.8} 0.2) - (0.3) {1.3)
At 31 December 2011 13.3 10.0 2.8 1.0 27.2
Depreciation and impairment:
Al 1 January 2010 6.8 6.8 1.7 0.3 15.6
Depreciation charge for the year 1.5 0.8 0.2 0.2 27
Disposals - 0.6) {0.1) 0.7)
Foreign exchange gains {0.1) - - - 0.1)
At 31 December 2010 8.2 1.0 1.9 0.4 17.5
Depreciation charge for the year 1.7 1.1 0.2 0.2 3.2
Disposals (0.6) (0.1} - (0.2) {0.9)
At 31 December 2011 9.3 8.0 21 0.4 19.8
Net book values:
At 31 December 2009 6.4 0.8 0.6 0.6 8.4
At 31 Decemnber 2010 5.3 1.7 0.7 0.6 8.3
At 31 December 2011 40 20 0.8 0.6 7.4

There are no restrictions cn the Group's title to the above assets and none are pledged as security for kabilities, ather than the security over
FCAM's holding in F&C REIT, which was relinguished on 29 June 2010 and which effectively yielded beneficial entitiemeant to some of the

Group's property. plant and equipment.

The cost of fully depreciated property, plant and equipment which is still in use at 31 Dacember 2011 is £9,1m {31 December 2010; £8.2m).

13. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Investment
management Software
Goodwill contracts and licences Total
£m £m £m £m

Cost:
At 1 January 2010 585.1 6885.1 4.7 1,284.9
Fair value of additions arising on acquisition of TRC - 23.0 a.5 23.5
Additicns 16.8 — 0.6 17.4
Foreign exchange losses — (3.5) — (3.5)
At 31 December 2010 611.9 704.6 5.8 1,322.3
Additions - - 21 21
Foreign exchange losses - {1.1) - (1.1}
At 31 December 2011 811.9 703.5 7.9 1,323.3
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 January 2010 — 478.4 41 4825
Amortisation charge for the year — 50.7 0.7 51.4
At 31 Decamber 2010 - 5291 48 533.9
Amontisation charge for the year - 45.8 0.6 46.4
At 31 December 2011 - 5749 5.4 580.3
Net book values:
At 31 December 2009 595.1 206.7 0.6 802.4
At 31 December 2010 611.9 175.5 1.0 788.4
At 31 December 2011 611.9 128.6 25 743.0
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13. Goodwill and other intangible assets continued

Goodwill
Googwill has artsen from various business combinations and, reflecting the Group’s reportable oparating segments disclosed innote 1, is
represented by three cash generating units {(CGUs), as follows:

31 December 31 Dacember

2011 2010

£m £m

F&C 467.2 467.2
FAC REIT 127.9 127.9
Thames River Capital 16.8 16.8
611.9 611.9

Goodwill is not amortised but is tested for impaimment annually at individual GGU level, or when indicators of potential impairment are identified,
The carying value of goodwill attributable to each CGU was tested for impairment as at 31 December 2011, as described below; to date,
none of the CGUs has suffered any impaimnent of goodwill.

Investment management contracts {management contracts)
Management contracts predominantly relats to contracts arising from business acquisitions.

Managemsnt contracts are amortised over their expected ussful ives and are tested for impainment only when indicators of potential
impairment are identified. No such indicators have been identified since the last impairment review undertaken as at 31 December 2008
and therefora no impaimesnt review of management contracts has been undertaken this year. Management contract impairment losses
recognised in prior years relate entirely to the F&C operating segment; the accumulated impairment losses at 31 December 2011 were
£218.3m (31 December 2010: £218.3m).

The foreign exchange losses recognised in the year arise from the relative weakening of the Eurc over the course of 2011, decreasing the value
of Euro-denominated contracts, (primarily F&C insurance contracts), in Sterling terms.

The categories of management contracts, their camying amounts at the year end, remaining amortisation periods and estimated useful lives are
as follows:

31 December 2011 31 December 2010

Remaining Estimated Aemaining Estimated

Net book amortisation useful Net book amartisation useful

values period e values period e

£m (years) {years} £m fyears) {years)

RSA! insurance contracts 03 e 10 1.0 1% 10

RSAI retail contracts/F&C QEICs 4.7 -3 10 9.1 1% -4 10

F&C insurance contracts 41.6 3 10 5841 4 10

FAC institutional contracts (fixed term/non-fixed tarmy} 4.8 - 10/4 6.7 4/- 10/4

F&C investment trust contracts 9.7 4% 10 11.8 5% 10

FAC advisory and sub-advisory contracts 140 3 10 19.3 4 10

Private equity fund of funds 0.8 13 20 0.9 14 20

REIT property contracts 37.3 4 7 47.5 5 7

Thames River Capital contracts 154 3 4 219 4 4
128.6 175.5

Impairment testing of goodwill

The recoverable amount of the CGUSs has been determined on their value in use (including terminal value} at each respective tasting date for
2010 and 201 1. The value in usa is cakeulated by discounting the cash flow projections based on the latest annual financial budget, and
managament's forecasts. A long-term growth rate is used io extrapolate the cash fliows reflacting the nature of the Group's business and the
Board's curment view that there is no reason to believe that the CGUs will not continue in operation in perpstuity.

The key assumptions adopted in these calculations for each operating segment are as follows:

31 December 2011 31 Pecember 2010
F&C FAC REIT TRC F&C F&C REIT TRC
Discount rate 10.15% 10.15% 1215% 8.60% 8.60% 10.60%
Long-termn market growth rate 5.20% 4.30% 5.45% 5.30% 4.25% 5.80%
Inflation rate” 3.85% 3.95% 3.95% 4.15% 4.15% 4.15%

* The costs included in year one of the projections reflect those included in the budget for the respective year.
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13. Goodwill and other intangible assets continued

The discount rate is based on the Group's weighted average cost of capital to estimate a market relevant rate, calculated as at the year end,
and takes into account the relative risks associated with the Group’s various revenue streams included in the respective operating segments.
The discount rates disclosed above are the post-tax rates which have been applied in the projections; the pre-tax discount rates are 12.50%
and 14.65% for FAC/F&C REIT and TRC respectively (2010: 10.85% and 13.009% respectivaly). All discount rates shown subsequently within
this note are stated after tax.

Revenues are based on the budge! for each operating segment, and management’s net business flow forecasts for the subsequent four years.
Thereaftar, revenues hava bean grown in ling with the Group's long-term view of market growth, consistent with that experienced historically, in
the long-term, across the markets in which assets are invested. The different rates reflect the composite mix of assets held in each operating
sagment for sach period. Net new business revenues are included at the levels assumed in the 2012 budgst and management's forecasts up
to 2016 with no further net new business included thereafter. Additional costs associated with the increased revenues have been included in
the projections, primarily to reflect variable remuneration costs. Where revenues earned from significant contracts with a fixed term are
assumed to terminate at the end of the fixed term, the operating costs have been reduced by an amount which assumes associated profit
margins of 0% (2010: 70%).

Projected operating costs for the first year are driven by the budgeted profit margins for each operating segment for 2012, Thereatter, both
existing budgeted costs and, as noted above, further costs added associated with net new business revenue forecasts have been grown at
inflation rates to accord with anticipated future salary and other cost increases.

Values in use are compared 1o the carrying values of goodwill, attributable management contracts and other intangible assets (net of
associated deferred tax provisions), and property, plant and equipment in order to ascertain whether any impairment exists.

As this annual impaiment review of goodwill indicated sumluses in all segments, no impairment has been recognised in the year in raspect of
goodwill (2010: Enil).

The key assumptions noted in the above table are those to which the calculated values in use are most sensitive. These assumptions, together
with the inclusion in the projections of forecast net new business revenues and associated costs, result in the following surpluses of goodwill:

31 December 2011 31 Decamber 2010
FAC FAC REIT TRC F&GC F&C REIT TRC
£m m £m £m £m £m
Excess of recoverable amount over carrying value 557.8 16.8 94.4 787.8 446 2349

In order 10 assess the sensitivity of the key assumptions on the canying values of goodwill, an analysis was conducted to ascertain the change
that would be required to derive values in use which approximated {0 the camying values of goodwill, and bayond which impairment would
arise.

The absolute levels, on a standalone basis, of the key assumptions which most closely resutted in a match in the values in use to the canying
values of goodwilt were as follows:

31 December 2011 31 December 2010
F&C F&C REIT TRC F&C F&C REIT TRC
Discount rate 16.97% 11.02% 30.80% 16.19% 10.36% 30.84%
Long-term market growth rate 1.87% 3.49% {2.29)% 2.49% 2.85% (5.93)%
Inflation rate 8.39% 5.10% 11.83% 7.38% 6.74% 14.21%

Per cent. achievement of new business targets <0.00% 72.56% <0.00% <0.00% <0.00% <0.00%
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14, Financial investments
The following assets are designated as available for sale:

2011 2010
Unqguoted investments £m £m
At 1 January 35 22
Fair value movement in the year 15 1.3
Fair value gains transterred to the Income Statement (3.9) -
At 31 December 1.7 35

Unquoted investments include the Group's direct investiment, co-investments and carried interest entitiernant in private equity limited
partnerships. The investments have no fixed maturity date or coupon rate.

The fair value of the unquoted investments has been estimated using International Private Equity and Venture Capital Vatuation Guidalines,

The Directors believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation tachnique applied to unquoted shares which are recorded in the
Staterment of Financial Position, and the related realised fair value gains recorded in the Income Statement, are reasonable and the most
appropriate at the reporting date.

Included within the unquoted financial investments at 31 December 2011 are £0.1m (31 December 2010: £0.1m) of equity instruments
measured at the price of recent investments. The fair value of these investments cannot be measured reliably as the Group does not have
access to the underlying information to produce fair value valuations for these investments. Thesa investments consist of loans and carried
interest in private equity kmiled partnerships. These investments are managed by external fund managers and the Group obtains income whan
the investmeants are realised. The Group intands to hold these investments until all the private equily investments are realised. In 2011, the
Group received £0.4m (2010: €nil) in respect of the investments held at cost.

15. Acquisition of subsidiaries
The acquisition of Thames River Capital Group was made on 1 September 2010. Section (a) disclosas the 2010 acquisition note and section
(b) discloses the 201 1 updates for changes in consideration.

{a} 2010 - Acqguisition of Thames River Capital Group

F&C Asset Management pic (FCAM) acquired and gained control of the Thames River Capital Group (TRG or the TRC Group) on 1 Septamber
2010 ('Completion' date). TRC is a London-based asset management business that provides specialist products and services to wholesale
and wealth management clients. TRC manages a range of specialist high alpha and absolute return products.

The acquisition of TRC representad an attractive opportunity to broaden F&C’s specialist investment management capabilities in multiple
product areas, augment its sakes and marksting skills and expand its distribution footprint, thereby accelerating the achievement of F&C's
strategic objectives.

The TRC Group operates its business through two Emited liability partnerships (LLPs), Thames River Capital LLP and Thamas River Multi-
Capital LLP. Baetween them they had seven Investment Teams at 1 September 2010.

FCAM acquired 100% cwnership of Thames River Capital Group Limited which, in turm, owned, directly or indirectly, 1009 of the fellowing
entities at the date of acquisition:

Thames River Capital Holdings Limited

Thames River Capital UK Limited (TRC UK)

TRC UK's interest in Thames River Capital LLP

TRC UK's interest in Thames River Multi-Capital LLP
Thames River Capital GmbH

As a result of the acquisition, F&C indirectly acquired TRC UK’s economic and membership interests in the LLPs.

The consideration payable by FCAM for the acquisition will be up to £53.6m {excluding the adjustment in respect of the consolidated net
assets target) comprised as follows:
{) The initial consideration:

«  £33.6m was paid in cash at Completion; and

» The consideration paid at Completion will be subject to an adjustment if the consolidated net asset value of the TRC Group at the
Completion date exceeds or falls shont of an agreed target amount of £9.0m.

(i) The conditional consideration payment:

« Upto a further £20.0m of conditional consideration is payable, in two instaiments, shortly after 31 December 2011 and 30 June 2012,
and is contingent on the TRC Group achieving certain financial targets at each of these dates;

= The first instalment is a variable amount dependent on the Run-rate Eamings Before Interest, Taxation, Depreciation and Amortisation
(Run-rate EBITDA) on an annualised basts as at 31 December 2011. This instalment becomes payabie if the December 2011 Run-rate
EBITDA exceeds £12.5m and the amount payable increases on a straight-line basis from zero to a maximum of £10.0m, which is
payable if the Decernber 2011 Run-rate EBITDA squals or exceeds £15.0m;
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15. Acquisition of subsidiaries continued

* The second instalment varies according to the Run-rate EBITDA on an annualised basis as at 30 June 2012. This instaiment hacomas
payable if the June 2012 Run-rate EBITDA exceeds £15.0m and the amount payable increasaes on a straight-line basis from zero to a
maximum of £10.0m, which is payable it the June 2012 Run-rate EBITDA equals or exceeds £17.0m; and

* The conditional consideration payment, if payable, will be satisfied by the issue of a variable number of Crdinary Shares or, in certain
limited circumstances, the issue of bank guaranteed loan notes by F&C.

F&C funded the cash consideration for the acquisition through a combination of the £14.2m net proceeds of a non-pre-emptive cash placing
of F&C Ordinary Shares carried out on 28 April 2010, a £15m acquisition lean facility and existing cash resources.

In addition, as a condition of the acquisition, tweo new shara-based payment agreements were established o retain and incentivise TRC Group
employsas: TRC Management Retention Plan and the TRC Management Incentive Plan. Details of these schemes are disclosed in notes 26(e)
and {f).

The fair value of consideration paid by the Group for its 100% holding in Thames River Capital Group Limited was as follows:

£m
Initial consideration - cash 33.6
Estimated additional cash consideration payable as a result of TRC net assets exceeding target net assets 7.5
Estimated fair value of first instalment of conditional considaration 5.0
Estimated fair value of second instaiment of conditional consideration 2.5
Fair value of consideration paid for 100% of TRC Group 48.6

FCAM also incuned £7.5m of acquisition expenses relating to the legal, accounting and other professional advisor fees associated with the
transaction (£7.2m of these have been capitalised in the Company Financial Stataments, as shown in note 4 on page 131). Thess axpensas
are treated as exceptional costs, as explained in note 6{a)viil).

The provisional fair values of assets and liabilities acquired at Completion were as follows:

Provislonal
fair value to
the Group at
acquisition,
Accounting as at
Book policy Acquired Fair value 31 December
value alignment intangibles  adjustments 2010
£m £m £m £m £m
MNon-cumrent assets:
Property, plant and equipment 1.7 - - - 1.7
Intangible assets:
- management contracts - - 230 - 23.0
- software and licences 0.5 - - - a.5
Deferred acquisition costs - 0.1 - - 01
Deferred tax assets 06 01 - 0.1 0.8
Current assets:
Financial investments 11 - - 0.8 1.9
Deferred acquisition costs - 01 - - 0.1
Trade and other receivables” 13.3 - - - 13.3
Cash and cash equivalents 27.2 - - - 27.2
Non-current liabilities:
Provisions (0.1} - - (0.1) {0.2}
Employee benefits {1.1} - - - {1.1}
Defarred income - {0.4) - - 0.4}
Deferred 1ax liabilities - - (6.4) - 6.4}
Current liabilities:
Trade and other payables (17.6) 0.1 - - {17.7)
Employes benefits 6.3) — - 0.3 6.0)
Deferred income - {0.3) - - 0.3)
Members' liabilities (3.4) - - - 3.4}
Curment tax payable (1.0 - - 0.3) {1.3}
Estimated net assets acquired 14.9 {0.5) 16.6 0.8 31.8
Goodwill 16.8
Total consideration 48.6

* The gross contractual amaunts receivable at Complation are £13.3m, which is also the estimate of contractual cash flows expected to be callected.
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15. Acquisition of subsidiaries continued
The following adjustments were made to the book values of the assets and liabilities acquired:

+ The key accounting policy alignment adjustments relate to the recognition of deferred income and deferred acquisition cosis, together with
associated tax adjustments, in accordance with IFRS requirements adopied by the F&C Group;

* An intangible asset of £23.0m, together with an associated deferred tax liability of £6.4m, has been recognised on acquisition, being the
fair value of the management contracts acquired with TRC. Further details of intangible assets are given in note 13; and

¢ Fair value adjustments inciude:

- the recognition of an investment of £0.8m, being the fair value of F&C Ordinary Shares acquired with TRC, which refate to employee
benefit arangements. On consolidation, this investment has been transferred to equity as the sharas ara required t¢ be accounted for
as ‘own shares’;

— areduction of £0.3m to the initial estimate of employee benefits included in the Completion Accounts; and

- the tax effect of pre-tax adjustments.

The adjustments noted above reflect the Directors’ best estimate of the necessary fair value adjustments to the net assets of the acquired
entities as at 31 December 2010.

As at 31 December 2010, the fair values of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed are considered by the Directors to be
provisional. Any subsequent amendments 1o the Eair values will be made after the TRC Completion Accounts review process has been
completed.

No provisions for rearganisation or restructuring costs were included in the liabilities of the acquired entities, The net revenues and loss before
tax attributable to the TRC Group for the four-month period between the date of acquisition and 31 December 2010 were £14.6m and £3.7m
respectively. On an underlying basis exciuding the Commutation expense and the costs associated with the TRC Management Retention and
Incentive Plans, the pre-tax result was a profit of £2.8m.

As a pre-condition of the acquisition agreements, a group restructuring involving the entities being acquired by the F&C Group was complated
in advance of the acquisition. This restructuring was required as the Group was not acquiring Nevsky Haidings Limited or TRC UK's interest in
Nevsky Capital LLP as outlined in the Gircutar issued to shareholders in respect of this transaction. As a result, the pre-acquisition results of
1he acquired entities would have diffared materially from the post-acquisition results of TRC entities included within the F&C Group results.
Theraforg, it is not considered possible to determing what the F&C Group results would have been had the acquisition completed on 1 January
2010.

The value of goodwil arising on acquisition includes the value of the investment management teams acquired and the value of future business
flows that the distribution capability of TRC is expected t¢ generate. No tax deduction is expected to be available in respect of the goodwill
arising on acquisition.

Commutation arrangements

The Divisional Members of investment Teams have entered into put and call options which, if exercised, will transfer value to F&C by way of
variation of the entitlements to the allocation of management fee profits (as defined in the undertying legal agreements) and capital profits in the
raspective LLP. The exercisa of these options will increase TRC UK’s share of the management fee profits of the respective Investment Tearns
by up to 20%.

These options are exercisable:

* 18 months after Completion:
At the option of the Investment Teams, TRC UK will purchase an additional 10% of the management fee profits of each Investment Team,
The option for Investment Teams to exercise this put option is conditional on that team's respective net fund flows being positive for the
twelve months preceding the option exercise period.

= 36 months after Gompletion:
FCAM has a call option to purchase, through TRC UK, an additional 20% of the management fee profits of each of the Investment Teams.
The level of 20% is reduced by the percentage of any profits which have already been commuted at an earlier date.

The 18/36 months options to acquire such management fee profits may be deferred for a period of tweive months if the F&C EBITDA Multipla,
which is one of the components used to guantify the Commutation consideration, is lass than five.
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15. Acquisition of subsidiaries continued
The Commutation consideration may be satisfied in two tranches, at F&C’s scle discretion, by:

* The allotment and issus at the relevant Commutation complation date 1o each Divisional Member of such number of F&C Shares as shall
have a value equal to 50% of the consideration, or the payment to the Divisional Members of 50% of the consideration in cash at the
relevant Commutation completion date; and

» The allotment and issuea at the relevant Commutation complstion date to a Nominee of such number of F&C Shares as shall have a value
equal to 50% of the consideration {Deferred Commutation Shares), o in certain circumstances the payment of 50% of the consideration in
cash on the date faling 24 months after the relevant Commutation completion date. Deferred Commutation Shares shall be released by
the Nominee 24 months after the Commutation completion date, provided the Member continues to provide services to the mspective
LLP or has ceased to do so in certain “good leaver” circumstances.

At Completion, two Divisions entered into an initial 10% Commutation, resulting in TRC UK cbtaining a further 10% of the related management
fee profits in those Investment Teams. The aggregate consideration payable in respect of this initial Commutation of profits was satisfied by: a
cash payment of £1.4m; the issue of 3,042,999 Ordinary Shares and the issue of 3,042,997 Deferred Commutation Shares. The aggregate fair
value of the Qrdinary Share capital and share premium arising on the issue of these Shares was £3.8m. The comesponding charge in respect
of these has been recognised in the own share reserve, a saparate component of retained earnings, in accordance with the treatment of new
shares issued to satisfy share-based payment arrangements.

Under IFRS the share element of these Commuiation arrangements requires to be accounted for as a share-based payment. Further details
are given in note 26(g). The cash payment has been expensed and is included within the Commutation expenses outlined in note 6(a)fii).

{b) 2011 - Acquisition of Thames River Capital Group (update)
The fair value of consideration paid by the Group as disclosed in 2010 has been revised as follows:

il The additional cash consideration paid as a result of TRC net assets exceéeding target net assets was £7.4m, compared to £7.5m as
estimated in the 2010 Financial Statements. Accordingly, £0.1m has been released to the Income Statermnent.

(i} The fair values of both the first and second instalments of conditional consideration have been assessed as zero, as the Run-rate EBITDA
target at 31 Decamber 2011 was not achieved and the 30 June 2012 target is not expected to be achieved. Therefore, the total
conditional consideration of £7.5m has been released to the Income Statement.

In accordance with IFRS, the release of both elements of consideration have besn shown as exceptional income {as disclosed in note 6(c)}
in the Income Statement.

The fair values of assets and liabilities acquired at Completion have remained unchanged from those disclosed in 2010.
{¢) Acquisition of F&C Group (Holdings) Limited
Following the review of the Completion Accounts and subsequent fair value adjustments to the purchase consideration for the acquisition

of F&C Group {Holdings) Limited on 11 October 2004, theare is an estimated further consideration of £0.7m payable to Achmea B.V. (formarty
Eureko B.V) at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: £0,7m).

16. Deferred acquisition costs

2011 2010

£m £m

At 1 January 8.8 9.0
Fair value of additions arising on acquisition of TRC - 0.2
Costs deferred in the year 1.1 2.4
Amortisation in the year {2.8) {2.8)
At 31 December 71 88

31 December 31 December

201 2010
£m £m

Split as follows:
Non-current assets 4.7 8.0
Current assets 24 28
71 8.8

Deterred acquisition costs represent the commission paid to gain new asset inflows into open-ended funds. These costs are amortised over
the expected tenms of the contracts, in line with the initial fees received from investors, as disclosed in note 27.




17.Deferred tax assets and liabilities

(a) Recognised deferred assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the folowing:
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31 Docember 2011 31 December 2010

Assets Llabilities Net Assets Liabilities Net

£m £m €m £m £m £m

Employse benefits* 6.9 - 6.9 B.3 - 8.3
Share-based payments 1.1 - 11.1 128 - 12.8
Unused tax losses 5.9 - 5.5 4.2 - 4.2
Property, plant and eguipment 27 - 2.7 29 - 2.9
Receivables, payables and provisions 21 - 21 2.7 - 2.7
Intangible assets — management contracts - 32.1) {32.1) - (47.3) {47.3)
Unrealised fair value gains on available for sale assets - {0.3) 0.3) - 0.8 {0.8)
Net deferred tax assets/{liabilities) 28.3 {32.4) {4.1) 309 48.1) {17.2)

* Inctudas £5.1m (31 December 2010: £7.3m) relating to deferred 1ax on defined benefit pension deficit.

Based on Board-approved budgets and forecasts, the Directors believe that it is appropriate to recognise defermsd tax assets at the reporting
date bacause it is considerad probable that thare will be suitable taxable profits from which the undertying temporary differences can be

deductad.

{b} Movement in temporary differences during the year

1January Recognised Recognised Revaluation Acquired 31 December

2011 In Income In equity in year in year 2011

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Employee banefits 8.3 {0.4) (0.9) {0-1} - 6.9

Share-based payments 128 (1.7 - - - 111
Unused tax losses 4.2 1.3 - - - 55
Property, plant and equipment 29 0.2 - - - 27
Receivables, payables and provisions 2.7 {0.5) {0.1) - - 21
Intangible assets - management contracts (47.3) 14.9 - 03 - 32.1)
Unrealised fair value gains on available for sale assets {0.8) - 0.5 - - (0.3)
7.2 13.4 (0.5) 0.2 - 4.1)

1 January Recognised Recognised Revaluation Acquired 31 December

2010 in income in equity in year in year 2010

£m £m em £m £m £m

Employee benefits 15.3 4.2) (3.2) (0.1 0.5 A3
Share-based payments 124 0.4 - - - 12.8
Unused tax losses 0.6 3.6 - - - 4.2
Property, plant anc equipment 2.6 0.4 - - 0.2 2.9
Receivablas, payables & provisions 34 0.9 - - 0.1 2.7
Intangible assets — management contracts {57.7) 15.8 - 1.0 6.4} {47.3)
Unrealised fair value gains on available for sale assets {0.6) - (0.3} Q.1 - (0.8}
(24.0) 14.9 (3.5) 1.0 (5.6) (17.2}

{c) Unrecognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

At 31 December 2011 the Group has unrecognised tax losses of £0.3m (31 December 2010: £0.3m) that are available indefinitely for ofiset
against future taxable profits of the companies in which the losses arose. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these
losses as thaey cannot be used to offset taxable profits elsewhere in the Group, and they have arisen in companies {hat have not reported

taxable profits for some time.
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18. Financial instruments

(a) Analysis of assets and liabilities at the reporting date
Financial investments held in relation to the activities of the Group's insurancae subsidiary have been classified as fair value through profit or loss
within cument asssts.

Stocks of units and shares are held in relation o fund management activities and are classified as held tor trading within curment assets.

Financial investments included within non-current assets are classified as available for sale and are carried at fair value (or at amortised cost if
fair value cannot be measured reliably). Other loans and receivables included within non-current assets are carried at amortised cost.

{i) Designated as fair value through profit or loss
31 December 31 December

2011 2010

Notes £m £m

Financial investments in respect of unit-linked contracts (1) 4478 538.8
Other financial investments 2) 6.6 9.9
454.4 548.7

{1) Financial investments in respect of unit-linked contracts
31 December 31 December

2011 2010
£m £m
Equity securities:
Listed 116.0 2324
QEICs and unit trusts 124.7 106.9
Total equity securities 240.7 339.3
Debt and fixed income securities:
Government bonds 468 59.2
QOther listed fixed interest securities 80.4 87.2
Index-linked gilts 89.7 42.8
Participation in pooled investments 10.2 10.3
Total debt and fixed income securities 2071 199.5
Total unit-linked financial investments designated as fair value through profit or loss 447.8 538.8

Financial instruments relating to unit-linked contracts

The Group's insurance subsidiary, F&C Managed Pension Funds Limited, provides unit-linked pension wrappers. From F&C's perspective, the
risks and rewards of managing these assets are the same as other assets under managemsnt, as the financial risks and rewards attributable to
the assets invested fall to be borne by, or to the benefit of, the Group's clients. Hence, while a number of significant financial instruments are
recognised in the Statement of Financial Position in respect of this subsidiary, the key risk to the Group is the impact on the level of
management faes which are earned from this entity and which are directly affected by the underlying value of policyholder assets, While F&C
Managed Pension Funds Limited has some insurance risks, these risks are fully reinsured, thereby negating any net insurance risk to the
Group's equity holders.

The amounts included in the Statement of Financial Position in respect of assets and liabilities held within unit-linked funds are as follows:
31 December 31 Dacember

201 2010
£€m £m

Fair value through profit or loss:
Financial investments 447.8 538.8
Loans and receivables:
Deferred acquisition costs 0.1 0.1
Trade and other receivables 0.1 0.1
Payables:
Trade and other payables {0.3) -
Cash and cash equivalents® 251 20.2
Total unit-linked assets less liabilities 4728 559.2

* This dees not inciude £3.0m of non-linked policyholders’ cash (31 Decembar 2010: £3.2m).

These unit-linked assets aré matched by the associated investmant contract liabilities disclosed in note 29,
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18. Financial instruments continued

(2) Other financial investments
31 December 31 December

2011 2010

Nota £m £m

Purchased Equity Plan 26{h}i) 15 4.0
NIC hedge 2.4 2.8
Bonus - investments 1.0 1.8
TRC Employee Bensfit Trust assets 1.1 1.2
Mutual funds 0.3 -
Corporate bonds 0.3 0.3
6.6 9.9

The 'Purchased Equity Plan’ represents investments held by an Employee Benefit Trust in F&C funds for the purpose of future settlement of
Purchased Equity Plan awards. A corresponding liability is recognised over the vesting period.

The 'NIC hedge' represents an investment in equities and other assets made via an Employee Benefit Trust for the purpose of funding future
national insurance contributions (NIC) payments on legacy employee share plans. The provision for the NIC liability is separately recognised.
‘Bonis — investments’ represent investments in managed funds for the purpose of future settlement of bonus awards, The liability for these
bonuses is separately recognised.
‘TRC Employee Bensfit Trust assets’ represents investments heid by an Employse Benefit Trust in TRC funds for the purpose of future
settlement of TRC bonus awards. A comesponding liability is recognised in employee benefit fiabilities.
‘Mutual funds’ reprasents investments in mainly fixed interest funds.
‘Corporate bonds’ represents an investment in corporate bonds held by F&C Managed Pension Funds Limited. The corporate bonds have the
following maturity dates:

31 December 31 December

2011 2010
m &n

Maturity date
2014 03 0.3

{ii} Designated as held for trading
31 December 31 December

2011 2010
m £€m
Stock of units and shares 0.9 01

Tha Group holds a stock of units and shares in respect of its OEIC and unit trust business. This stock of units and shares is commonly refarred
to as the ‘Manager's Box'. The Group's stock of units and shares is valued using quoted market values. The Group Is therefore exposed 1o
markat valus movernents in the value of these assets.

{(iii) Designated as loans and receivables
31 December 31 December

2011 2010
£m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 2250 202.2
Trade and other receivables:
Trade debtors 13.3 21.5
Accrued income 29.0 38.9
Cther debtors 4.8 10.8
QEIC and unit-trust debtors 29.5 81.2
Amounts owed by Achmea Group* - 1.4
Amounts owed by TRC related party entities 0.6 0.7
Amounts owed by F&C REIT related party entities 0.1 0.1
3023 356.8

* As the Achmea Group ceased to be a refated party during 2011, these balances are now included within other debtors at 31 December 2011.
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18. Financial instruments continued
(b) Fair values
() Fair value hierarchy

The Group uses the following hierarchy for determining and dischosing the fair value of financial instruments by category of valuation technique:

Level 1: Quoted (unadjusted) prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2: QOther techniquas for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value am observable, either directly or indirectly.

Level 3: Techniques which use inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not based on observable market data.

As at 31 December 2011, the Group held the following financial instruments measured at fair value:

31 December
Level 1 Lavel 2 Level 3 201
Assets measured at fair value m €m £m £m
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial investments in respect of unit-linked contracts 3968.2 51.2 0.4 4478
Other financial investiments 1.8 46 0.2 6.6
Classified as held for trading:
Stock of units and shares 0.9 - - 0.9
Available for sale financial assets:
Unquoted investments - - 1.7 1.7
398.9 55.8 23 457.0
31 December
Level 1 Lovel 2 Lovel 3 2011
Liabilities measured at fair value £m £m £m £m
Financial liabifities at fair value through profit or loss:
F&C REIT put options - - {45.3) {45.3)
Investment contract liabilities - (472.8) - {472.8)
- (472.8) {45.3) {518.1)
31 December
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 2010
Assets measured at fair value £m m £m £m
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial investrnents in respect of unit-linked contracts 4814 46.0 1.4 538.8
Other financial investrments 4.6 51 0.2 99
Classified as held for trading:
Stock of units and shares 0.1 - - 0.1
Available tor sale financial assets:
Unqueted investments - - 35 35
486.1 51.1 5.1 552.3
31 Dacember
Level 1 Levet 2 Level 3 2010
Liabilities measured at fair value £&m £€m £m £m
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss:
F&C REIT put options - - 54.0) 54.0)
Investment contract liabilities - (559.2) - (559.2)
- (559.2} 54.0) 613.2)
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18. Financial instruments continued
Level 3 assets/(liabilities) measured at fair value

Available
for sale Financial
Financial assets financial liabilities
at FYTPL assets at FVTPL
Financial
investments
in respect Other
of unit-inkea financial Unquoted F&C REIT
contracts investments investments put options Total
Fair value movements £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2010 3.5 0.2 2.2 60.4) (54.5)
Total gains or losses:
In profit or loss 0.4 - - 6.4 6.8
In other comprshensive income - - 1.3 - 1.3
Purchases 14 - - - 1.4
Settlements 0.7 - - - {0.7)
Transfers out of level 3° 3.2) - - - 3.2
At 31 December 2010 1.4 0.2 3.5 (54.0) {48.9)
Total gains or losses:
In profit or loss 0.2 - (3.3) 8.7 5.2
In other comprehensive income - - 1.5 - 15
Settlaments (0.6) - - - {0.6)
Transfers out of lavel 3° 0.2 - - - (0.2)
At 31 December 2011 0.4 0.2 1.7 {45.3) {43.0)
* Transfers out of level 3 resulted from imvestments receiving an active market price during the year.
Total gains or losses included in the Income Statement for the year:
2011
Net gaing and investment income on unit-inked assets (0.2 - - - 02
Finance revenue - - 3.3 - 3.3
F&C REIT put option fair value gain - - - B.7 8.7
(0.2) - 3.3 B.7 11.8
2010
Net losses and investment income on unit-linked assets 0.4 - - - 0.4
F&C REIT put option fair value gain - - - 6.4 6.4
0.4 - - 6.4 6.8

The gains or losses included in profit or loss for the year were all in respect of assets or liabilities held at the reporting date.

Sensitivities for level 3

While the Group helisves that its estimates of fair value are approprate, the use of different assumptions could lead to different measurements
of fair value. Potential changes in the assumplions used in the valuation of lavel 3 financial assets are not considered to have a material impact
on the Income Statemnent. in respect of fevel 3 financial liabilities changing one or more of the unobservable inputs to reasonably possible
alternative assumptions would have the following effects:

Effect on other
Effect on profit or loss comprehensive income
Favourable (Unfavourable) Favourable (Unfavourable)
At 31 December 2011 £m €m £m £m
Available for sale financial assets: Unguoted investments - - 02 0.2)
Financial liabilities at FYTPL: FAC REIT put options 4.7 (3.4) - -
At 31 December 2010
Available for sale financial assets: Unquoted investments - 0.3 {0.3)

Financial liabilities &t FYTPL: FAC REIT put options 5.0 (4.8) - -

The F&C REIT put option sensitivities were derived from reasonable changes to the assumptions, as disclosed in note 28, on the following
unobservable inputs:

* Recurring discount rates +/~ 1%

& Weightings of 2011 results +/- 10%

e Recurring EBITDA mulliple +/- 1x

* Flexing the relative weightings of the 3 valuation methodologies +/- 10%
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18. Financial instruments continued

{ii} Fair value comparisons
Set out below is a comparison by category of carrying amounts and fair values of all the Group's financial instrumens.

Carrying amount Fair value
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2011 2010 2011 2050

Financial assets £m om om £m
Financial investments: available for sale 1.7 3.5 1.7 3.5
Financial investments: fair value through profit or loss 454.4 548.7 454 .4 548.7
Held for trading: stock of units and shares 0.9 01 0.8 0.1
Financial liabilities
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:
Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 2016/2026 {124.4) {124.4} {80.5} {92.0)
Guaranteed Fixed Rate Loan Notes 2016 (148.4) {149.3} {154.0) {154.0)
Other financial liabilities:
F&C REIT put options {45.3) {54.0) {45.3) (54.0)
Investment contract liabilities ar2g) {559.2) {472.8) (559.2)

The fair values of short-term ‘trade and other receivables’, ‘cash and cash equivalenis’ and ‘trade and other payables' have been excluded
from the above table as their camying amounts are a reasonable approximation of their fair value.

The following summarises the major methods and assumptions used in estimating the fair values of financial instruments reflected in the table:

Securities

The fair value of listed investments is based on quoted bid market prices at the reporting date without any deduction for transaction costs. The
fair value of unlisted investments has been valued in accordance with International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines and
in accordance with the undertying limited partnership agreements.

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
The fair value of the Subordinated Notes and Guaranteed Loan Notes is basad on a quoted market price at the reporting date.

Unquoted investments

Whera discounted cash flow techniques are used, estimated future cash flows are based on management'’s best estimates and the discount
rate is a market-related rate for a simitar instrument at the eporting date. Where other pricing models ars used, inputs are based on
market-related data at the reperting date.

Put options
The fair value is based on an external valuation of the business, as detailed in note 28.

19. Reinsurance assets
31 December 31 December

2011 2010
£m £m
Reinsurers’ share of insurance contract liabiltios 20 2.0

Total reinsurance assets — current assets 2.0 2.0
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31 December 31 December
2011 2010
£m £m

Non-current:
Other debtors 1.0 0.4
Prepayments 0.1 0.1
Amounts owed by Achmea Group” - 14
Accruad income - 0.1
11 2.0

Current:

Trade debtors 13.3 21.5
Accrued income 29.0 38.8
OEIC and unit trust debtors 205 81.2
Cther debtors 38 10.4
Prepayments 7.6 87
Amounts owed by F&C REIT related party entities 0.1 0.1
Amounts owed by TRC related party entities 0.6 0.7
VAT recoverable - 1.2
83.9 162.6

* As the Achmea Group ceased to be a related party during 2011, these balances are now inciuded within other debtors at 31 December 2011.

Trade debtors are non-interest bearing and are generally receivable within 30 days.

21. Cash and cash equivalents
31 December 31 December

2011 2040
£m £m

Shareholders:
Cash at bank and in hand 304 29.7
Short-term deposits 166.5 1491
196.9 178.8

Policyholders:
Cash at bank and in hand 3.2 5.2
Shon-ternm deposits 249 18.2
281 234
Total cash and cash equivalents 225.0 202.2

Cash and cash equivalents are held by the Group for the purposa of meeting short-term cash commitrnents rather than for investment or other
purposes. Alf short-term deposits are readily convertible t¢ a known amount of cash and are not subject to significant risk of changes in value.

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates. Short-term deposits are generally made for varying periods of
betwaen one day and three months dapending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group and earn interest at the respective short-
term deposit rates. The fair valus of cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 2011 is £225.0m (31 December 2010; £202.2m).

Restrictions on use of cash
The policyholders’ cash is not available for general use by the Group. These funds are held on behalf of policyholders of unit-linked insurance
contracts which are included in the Statement of Financial Position.
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22. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings
The contractual terms of the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings are as follows:

31 December 31 Decemnbar
2011 2010
m £m
Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 2016/2026 124.4 1244
Intarast rate of 68.75% per annum until 19 December 2016, payabls annuatty in arrears. kssuer has
the option to extend the notas beyond this date at a rate of 2.69% above three-month LIBOR until
19 December 2026, payable quarterly in arrears.
Guaranteed Fixed Rate Loan Notes 2016 148.4 149.3
Interest rate of 9.0% per annum until 19 December 20186, payable annually in arrears.
273.8 2737
31 December 31 December
2011 2010
Repayment periods £m m
Amounts repayable:
In one year or less, or on demand - -
In more than one year but not more than two years - -
In more than two years but not more than five years® 273.8 -
In more than five years - 2737
2738 2737
* Assumes Fixed/Hoating Rate Subordinated Notes are not extended beyond 2016.
Additional information about the Group's exposure to interest rate risk is provided in note 37.
Borrowing facilities
The Group has borrowing facilities available to it. The undrawn committed facilities available at the year end are as follows:
31 December 31 December
2011 2010
£m £m
Expiring in one year or less:
Revolving credit facility 20.0 200
Bank overdraft facilities 20 20
220 220

Prior to the acquisition of TRC in 2010, the Group enterad into a facilities agreement with HSBC to provide two lines of credit:
+ 2 £15.0m bridging facilty for the acquisition of TRC; and
* a3 £20.0m revolving credit facility available for general corporate and working capital purposes.

The £15.0m facility was utiised to partially fund the initial cash consideration for the purchase of TRC and was rapaid shortly thereafter

following the issue of a further £20.0m of the existing 9% Guaranteed Fixed Rate Notes in September 2010.
The revolving credit facility expired on 28 February 2012 and had not been utilised.




ANNUAL REPORT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2011 | 81

23. Trade and other payables
31 December 3% December

2011 2010
£m m
Non-current:
Accruals 2.9 2.0
Other creditors* 4.0 10.1
6.9 12.1
Current:
Trade creditors’ ar 5.2
Amounts owed to Achrmea Group® - 2.0
VAT payable 0.9 -
Accruals 180 25.1
OEIC and unit trust creditors 278 80.1
Other craditors* 3 258
Amounts owed to F&C REIT related party entities - 0.3
"y 138.5

" At 31 Decernber 2010, other creditors inciudes £7.5m curent and £7.5m non-current of estimated consideration payable in respect of the TRC acquisition.
t Trage creditors are non-interest bearing and are settled in accordance with the individual contractual amangements.
§$ Asthe Achmea Group caased to ba a related party during 2011, the balances ara now included within other creditors at 31 December 2011,

24. Provisions

Long-
Onerous NIC on Long- term F&C
promises share term  Guaranteed service Partners
contracts schemes sickness product award litigation Total
m £m £m £em £m £m £m
At 1 January 2010 8.4 56 20 05 0.1 24 19.0
Fair value of provisions
on acquisition of TRC - 0.2 - - - - 0.2
Provided during the year 0.3 2.1 - - - - 2.4
Utilised during the year (1.7 (1.3 {0.2) - - - 3.2)
Released during the year (0.4) - {0.8) ©.1) - - (1.3)
At 31 December 2010 6.6 6.6 1.0 0.4 0.1 2.4 171
Provided during the year 1.3 0.9 0.2 - 0.1 9.1 1.6
Utilised during the year {1.8) (1.3} (0.2} - - (9.5) {12.8)
Released during the year - (0.1} - - - - (0.1)
At 31 December 2011 6.1 6.1 1.0 0.4 0.2 2.0 15.8
At 31 December 2011
Non-current liabilities 4.1 19 0.8 0.3 0.2 - 7.3
Current liabilities 20 4.2 0.2 0.1 - 2.0 8.5
At 31 December 2010
Non-current labilities 49 2.0 0.8 0.3 0.1 - 8.1
Current liahilities 1.7 4.6 0.2 0.1 - 2.4 9.0

Onerous premises contracts

The Group holds all properties under operating leases. This includes a number of vacant or sub-let properties which were either praviously
occupied or are partially occupied by the Group. Provision has been made for the residual lease commitments whers significant, after taking
into account existing and expected sub-tenant contractual arrangements. The remaining terms are for up to nine years, although a significant
element of this provision relates to lease incentive arrangements and is expected to be utilised within two years.

Assurnptions have been made as to whether each leasehold property may be sub-iet or assigned in the future. All leases, and the majority of
sub-leases, are for minimum guaranteed rentals. One sub-lease involves the possible receipt of contingent rent. Any contingent rent received in
excess of the anticipated amount is recognised as income during the period. The provision is subject to uncertainties over time, including
market rent reviews and break options within the lease arrangements. In addition, axposure could exist if an existing tenan! defaulted or went
into liquidation or administration.
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24. Provisions continued

NIC on share schemes

The provision for national insurance contributions (NIC} on share schemes represents the potentiat employer's NIC liabilities in respect of a
number of share-based payment schemes operated by the Group. Tha provision is subject to uncertainties in respect of the extent to which
performance conditions are met, movements in the Company's share price, the extent to which awards are forfeitec and, where eligible, the
timing of when employees choose to exercise options. The curent element of the provision for NIC on share schemes refates to awards which
arg expected to vest within one year. At 31 December 2011, £2.4m (31 December 2010: £2.6m) of financiaf invesiments were held by the
Group to partially fund the NIC liability on the Deferred Investrment Plan and Defarred Investment Option Plan. This is disclosed in

note 18{a)¥iN2).

Long-term sickness

The Group has long-term sickness insurance arangements which cover the cost of absence from work of alt current employees. However, the
cost of employees who went on long-term absence prior to these amangements being established are selff-insured by the Group. The provision
reprasents the expected prasent value of income protection payments due tc these individuals.

This provision has been quantified on the assumption that all employees currently on long-term sick leave do not etum to the employment of
the Group. The discount rate and satary growth assumptions used in each year ars identical to those used for the purposes of determining UK
defined benefit pension obiligations,

Guaranteed product

The provision for the guaranteed product represents the actuarialty assessed cost of meeting potential obligations under certain investmant
products which have a guaranieed payout in the event of death of the investor. This provision is subject to uncertainties in respect of
movements in market levels and the monality rates of investors. The undertying investment plan was closed to new invastors during 2004.

Long-term service award
This provision rapresents the obligation in respect of long-term service benefits to which some employeaes are entitled, including incremental
holiday entittement and long-term service awards.

F&C Partners litigation

On 14 July 2011 a judgment was handed down by the High Court in respect of litigation between the Group and the two individual founder
members of F&C Partners LLP {Partners), the Group's fund of hedgs funds business which is now in run-off. As disclosed in the Group’s last
two Annual Reports and Financial Statements, the Group had sought a declaration as to the validity of the exercise of put options by the
indivictual founder members to sell their non-controlling interest in Partners to the Group for a sum of approximataly £7.8m. The individual
founder members had sought an order that the Group buy out their interest, sither at the put option price or at a price determinad by the Court
under section 996 of the Companies Act 2006 on the grounds that the affairs of Partners had been conducted in a mannar which was unfairty
prejudicial to the individual founder members' interests.

The Court held that the put options were validly exercised by the individual founder members and that their interests were unfairty prejudiced
with the result that the Group was required 1o buy out the relevant interests which it did, on 7 October 2011, for just over £7.8m.

On 28 October 2011, the Gourt handed down a judgment in respect of the costs and interest of the litigation and ordered that F&C pay to the
founder members sums by way of interast and 70% of the founder members’ legal costs. The amount of costs (and consequentty interest)
payable under the terms of the judgment is to be determined by the Court in due course, but the Board has been advised that it is likely to be
in the region of £56m.

F&C has, however, applied to the Court of Appeal for permission to appeal the terms of the costs awarded and the Board has been advised by
lsading counsel that it is likely to be successful on that appeal. In that case, it is estimated that the total costs and interest payabile to the
founder members would be in tha region of £3m,

In order to protect its position pending the appeal, FAC has made payments totalling some £2.7m to the founder members in respect of costs
and interest, and has also recognised a withholding tax cost of £0.3m attributable to the interest paid.

As a result of the judgments outlined above, the payments already made and the tax cost recognised, the Directors have re-assessed their
estimate of the provision held in respect of this matter, resulting in a total provision of £2.0m as at 31 December 2011 in respect of further
amounts of interast and costs which could be payable.
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24, Provisions continued
The following table analyses the payments and the associated movemants in provisions:

Amounts
Amounts recognised
recognised in Statement
inincome of Changes
Statement in Equity Provision
Note £m £m £m
Opening provision at 1 January 2011 - - 2.4
increase in provision during the year 76 15 8.1
Transfer of put option cost to equity and payment to founder members (7.8) 78 {7.8}
Interest paid 1o founder members - - (1.7}
Legal costs paid to founder members - 1.4 -
F&C legal costs incurred 2.1 - -
F&C Pariners litigation expense recognised in Income Statement 6{ajv) 19
Consideration for NCI recognised in Statement of Changes in Equity 10.7
Closing provision at 31 December 2011 20

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Changes in Equity represents the fair value of the consideration paid for the acquisition of the
40% non-controliing interest in F&C Partners LLP. which was acquired pursuant to the valid exercise of the Put Option, as outined above. At
31 December 2011, £1.5m of this consideration (31 Decernber 2010: Enil) is included within provisions and £0.4m

(31 December 2010: £nil) has been recognised in other creditors.

25. Pension benefits

The Group operates defined benefit schemes in the United Kingdom, The Netherlands, the Republic of Ireland and participates in one in
Portugal. The UK scheme is closed to new entrants. All new UK employees are eligible to benefit from defined contribution arrangements,

which provide greater certainty over the future cost to the Group.

A former Chairman of the Group, Mr R W Jenkins, has a pension entitlement of £119,000 per annum, which commenced in January 2011.
This pension will be indexed in line with the Retail Price Index on 1 January in each subsequent year, The Group has not earmarked any assets

10 date with respect 1o this liability.

The net pension deficit is recognised under non-current liabilities in the Statement of Financial Position and is stated gross of the related

deferred tax asset.

The results of the latest full actuarial valuations were updated at 31 December 2011 by qualified independent actuaries.

The pension deficiis of the Group are summarised in aggregate and by scheme as follows:

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

Aggregate Note m £m
Fair value of plan assets 25(d) 2159 190.4
Benefit obligations 25(d) (236.4) (218.0}
Total pension deficit 25(d) (20.5) (27.6}
31 December 31 December

2011 2010

By scheme £m £m
F&C Asset Management Pension Plan (FCAM Plan) (10.3) (17.5)
F&C Netherlands pension plan (6.6) 6.5}
F8C Ireland pension plan (0.4} {0.4)
F&C Portugal pensicn plan - {0.2)
R W Jenkins pension 3.2 (3.0
Total pension deficit {20.5) (27.8)

Disclosure relating to the Group’s defined benefit obligations

The information given in (a) to (d) below reflects the aggregate disclosures in respect of all Group defined benefit pension arrangements, except

where otherwise indicated.




84 | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

25. Pension benefits continued
(a) Plan assets and expected rates of return

31 December 2011 31 December 2010
Ptan assets £m % m %
LDI pools 87.5 N 50.4 26
Equity-linked bond funds 58.4 27 52.7 28
Equities 58.0 27 71.9 38
Property (including secured leases) 13.0 6 0.6 -
Insurance contracts 10.7 5 101 6
Cash 6.2 3 24 1
Corporate bonds 21 1 - -
Government bonds - - 23 1
Total tair value of plan assets 2159 100 190.4 100

Plan assets include £13.9m (31 December 2010: £31.2m) of underlying investments held by the Group pension schemes via transferable
investment contracts with F&C Managed Pension Funds Limited, the Group’s unit-linked pooled pension business. The plan assets do not
include Ordinary Shares issued by the Company.

31 December 31 Decamber

Expected long-term rates of retum on UK plan assets 2011 2010
LD pools 3.10% 3.90%
Equity-linked bond funds 8.30% 7.00%
Equities 6.30% 7.00%
Property {including secured leases) 4.85% - 6.30% 7.00%
Insurance contracts 4.70% 7.00%
Cash 0.50% 0.50%

Basis used to detarmine the expected rate of return on plan assets

To develop the expected long-term rate of retum on assets assumption, the Group ¢onsidered the cument level of expected returns on risk-free
investments (primarily government bonds and swaps), the historical leval of risk premium associated with the other asset classes in which the
portiolio is invested, and the expectations for the future retumns of each asset class. The expected return for each asset class was then
waighted, based on the actual asset allocation, 1o develop the expected long-term rate of return on assets assumption for the portfolio.

(b) Major assumptions used by schemes’ actuarias in respect of benefit obligations
() Mortality assumptions
The mortality assumptions used for the main UK defined benefit scheme and the unfunded UK obligation are:

31 December 31 BDecember
2011 2010
Mortality table for males retiring in the future SINMA L MC min1% -1 SINMA L MC min1% -1
Mortality table for fernales retiring in the future SINFA L MC min1% -1 SINFALMC min1% — 1
Mortatity 1abie for current male pensioners SINMA L MC min1% -1 S1NMA L MC min1% = 1
Mortality table for currant female pensioners SINFA L MC min1% -1 SINFA L MC min1% -1
The mortality assumptions for the overseas schemes are:
31 December 31 December
2011 2010
F&C Netherlands Prognosetafel 2010 - 2060 generational table Prognosetafel 2010 — 2060 generational table
F&C Ireland Compulsory Purchase Annuity Rates Compulsory Purchase Annuity Rates
F&C Portugal Males TV 73/77 (rated down 1 year) Males TV 73/77 {rated down 1 year)
Females TV 88/90 (rated down 2 years) Females TV 88/90 (rated down 2 years)

(i} Impact of mortality assumptions
To demonstrate what these mortality assumptions mean in respect of the FCAM Plan, the expected ages at death of members retiring at age
60 are as follows:

31 December 31 December

2011 2010
Years Yoars
Expected age at death for a male retiring in the future at age 60, curréntly aged 40 ] 90
Expected age at death for a female retiring in the future at age 60, cumently aged 40 92 92
Expected age at death for a curment mate pensioner aged 60 89 89

Expected age at death for a current female pensioner aged 60 20 90
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25. Pension benefits continued

fiii) Cost of annuities
The table below summarises the cost of providing annuities of £1 per annum {with associated death benefits and pension increases) for UK
members currently aged 40, retiring at age 60, based on the assumptions used for the pension disclosures:

31 December 31 December

201 2010

£ |3

Male annuity 27.50 25.60
Female annuity 26.70 25.00

These rates assume a monthly payments model with a discount rate of 4.70% (2010: 5.30%). The rates also assume two-thirds of the
members’ benefit will ba paid to the spouse; a five-year guarantee is provided; and pensions in excess of Guaranteed Minimum Pension will
increasa by 3.20% (2010: 3.35%) per annum.

(iv) Discount and growth assumptions
The range of assumptions used to determine benefit Obligations are as follows:

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

Discount rate 4.70% - 5.20% 5.30%
Rate of salary increase 2.00% - 4.00% 2.00% — 4.00%
Rate of price inflation (CPI) 2.60% 3.50%
Rate of inflation increase (RPI) 2.00% - 3.30% 2.00% - 3.50%

The range of assumptions used to determine net pension cost for the year arg as follows:

2011 2010
Discount rate 5.30% 5.50% - 5.70%
Weighted average expected long-term return on plan assets 4.91% - 6.04% 4.91% - 6.00%
Rata of salary increase 2 00% - 4.00% 2.00% - 4.00%
Rate of inftation increase (RPN 2.00% - 3.50% 2.00% - 3.60%
{v) Sensitivities
An estimate of the sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measurs the schemes’ liabilities are set out below:
Assumption Change in assumption Estimated impact on scheme liabilities
Inflation Increase/decrease by 0.1% Increasa/decrease by 1.7%
Sataries Increase/decrease by 0.1% increase/decrease by 0.1%
Pensions Increase/decrease by 0.1% Increase/decrease by 1.3%
Discount rate Increase/decraass by 0.1% Decrease/increase by 2.2%
Life expectancy increase/decrease by 1 year Increase/decrease by 2.5%

{c} Profile of schemes' membership
The profile of the current membership of defined benefit arrangements in the Group is as follows:

31 December 2011 31 December 2010
9 of total Average % of total Average
membership age  membership age
Agtive members 16% 44 7% 44
Defared members T1% 44 70% 44
Pensioners 13% 66 13% 66
100% 100%

The profile of the liabilities of defined benefit arrangements throughout the Group is as follows:

2011 2010

£m £m

Active members 526 52.7
Deferred members 1123 105.0
Pensioners 71.5 60.3

Benefit obligations at 31 December 236.4 218.0
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25, Pension benefits continued
(d} Aggregate disclosures

201 2010
Change in benefit obligations: £m £m
Benefit obligations at 1 January 218.0 204.2
Foreign exchange movements {0.6} 0.7}
Current service cost 23 2.1
Past service costs* 07 0.6
Interest cost on pension obligations 115 113
Cunailment incoma? - (4.0}
Members' contributions 0.3 0.2
Actuarial losses 21 9.0
Benefits paid 14.89) 4.7)
Benefit obligations at 31 December 236.4 2180

* The past service costs in both 201+ and 2010 relate to the augmentation of pension entitliements for certain employeas.

1 The Board and Trustees implemented changes to tha UK FCAM Pansion Plan during 2010. The changes capped future increases in pensionable salary for past
and futura service. These changes resulted in a one-off cradit to the Income Statement. The curtailment income has been recognised as an exceptional item
within exceptional employmeant income/(expenses) (see note S(a)). For future servica the changes increased tha nomal pension age uniess additional emplayeo

contributions were paid) and reduced the level of pension increasas applied.

31 December 31 December
201 2010
Analysis of defined benefit obligations: £m em
Plans that are wholly or partly funded 233.2 215.0
Obligation that is wholly unfunded 3.2 3.0
Benefit obligations at 31 December 236.4 218.0
2011 2010
Change in plan assets: £m £m
Fair value of plan assets at 1 January 190.4 157.5
Foreign exchange moverments (0.4) {0.5)
Expected return on pension plan assets 115 9.5
Actuarial gains 124 19.4
Employer contributions 6.6 90
Member contributions 0.3 0.2
Benefits paid (4.9) (4.7)
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 2158 190.4
31 Decomber 31 December
2011 2010
£m £m
Net pension deficit recognised (20.5) (27.6)
2011 2010
Components of defined benefit pension expense/(income): £m £m
Curent service cost 23 21
Past service cost 0.7 0.6
Curtailment income - (4.0)
Interest cost on pension obligations 15 11.3
Expected return on pension plan assets (11.5) (9.5)
Total daefined benefit pension expense recognised in the Income Statement 3.0 0.5
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2011 2010
Classification of defined benefit pension expense/(income) in the Income Statement: Notes £m £m
Cperating expenses 5 3.0 1.3)
Finance revenue 7 {11.5) 9.5)
Finance costs 8 11.5 1.3
Total defined benefit pension expense recognised in the Income Statement 3.0 0.5
201 2010
£m £m
Net actuarial gains immediately recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive iIncome 3.3 10.4
The cumulative actuarial losses recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income {31.0) (34.3)
2011 2010
£m £m
Actual returmn on plan assets 239 289
Five year history
2011 2010 2009 2008 2007
£m £m £m £m £m
Banefit obligations at 31 December (236.4) (218.0) (204.2) (167.9) (177.4)
Fair value of plan assets at 31 December 215.9 190.4 157.5 146.1 150.6
Total pension deficit (20.5) (27.6) (46.7) 21.8) (26.8)
Difference between expected and actual return on plan assets:
Amount 124 19.4 4.2 21.1) {1.6)
Percentage of ptan assets 6% 10% 3% (14%) {196}
Experience (losses) and gains on benefit obligations:
Amount (0.3) 5.8 1.1 1.3 (3.4)
Percentage of benefit obligations 0% 3% 1% 1% (2%
Total gains and (losses):
Amount 3.3 104 27.2) 2.5 1.1
Percentage of banefit cbligations 1% 5% (13%) 1% 6%

(e) Pension schemes’ details
(i) F&C Asset Management Pension Plan (FCAM Plan}

Date of last actuarial vatuation 31 March 2010
Scheme Actuary Mercer Limited
Method of valuation Projected Unit
Market value of assets at last valuation date £156.4m

Level of funding 88%

The FCAM Plan's assets, which are managed by F&C, are held under the control of the Trustees and are used 10 secure benefits for tha
members of the FCAM Plan and their dependants in accordance with the Trust Deed and Rules.

Trustee Board of the FCAM Plan

The appeintment of Trustees is determined by the FCAM Plan’s trust documentation. The Trustee Board currently consists of three employer-
appointed Trustees, three member-selected Trusiees and two independent Trustees, one of whom is curently the Chairman of the Trustee
Board. Of the cumment employer-appointed and member-salected Trustees, four are employees of FA&C and active members of the FCAM Plan,
one is a deferred member and one is retired and receiving a pension from the FCAM Plan.

Relationship between F&C and the Trustees of the FCAM Plan
The FCAM Plan's assets are held in a separate Trustee-administered fund to meet long-term pension liabilities 1o past and present employees.
The Trustees of the FCAM Plan are required to act in the best interests of the FCAM Plan's baneficiaries.

{ii} Other pension schemes

F&C Portugal

Certain employees in Portugal participate in the multi-employer scheme, Fundo de Pensces do Grupo Banco Comercial Portugués. The assets
and fiabilities of the scheme are separately identifiable. There are no Trustees, and F&C Portugal controls the assets relating to the FAC
members of the scherme. From 1 January 2011, this scheme has been integrated into the Soctal Security system and part of the employees'
occupational pension benefits is funded through the Social Security system from that date. However, the scheme benefit structure and
employees’ total pensions have not changed.
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25. Pension benefits continued

F&C Netherlands

The Plan in The Netherlands is financed via an insurance contract. There are no Trustees, but the Works Council participates in negotiations in
respect of potential changes to the Plan.

F&C Ireland
The Group operates a defined benefit pension scheme in lretand. There are cumrently four Trustees of this plan, all of whom are employees of
F&C.

(0 Future funding requirements
FCAM Plan

A revised schedule of contributions was agreed in January 2011, under which the Group agreed to pay a minimum of 17.0% of Pensionable
Salaries plus £3.0m per annum in respect of deficit recovery contributions, £0.5m per annum in respect of administrative expenses and any
additional amounts required as a result of the asset underperformance guarantee. Further, to the extent that the Group repays any amount of
its fixad or floating rate notes after 1 January 2011 then the Group shall pay, within one month of that repayment, a special contribution to
reduce the deficit determined in the valuation at 31 March 2010 in the same proportion as the aggregate reduction in fixed or flcating rate
notes. If thers is more than one such reduction then the special contributions necessary shall be computed taking into account the aggregate
percentage reduction in fixed or fioating rate notes since 1 January 2011 and the amount of any previous such special contribution paid. For
the avoidance of doubt, a repayment does not include a repayment of the notes from the issue of a capital instrument specified for that
purpose. The minimum estimated contribution expected to be paid into the Plan during 2012 is £5.5m (2011: £5.2m).

As the FCAM Plan is a closed scheme, under the projected unit method the current service cost will tend to increase as a percentage of
pensionabtle salaries as the average age of members increases.

Non-UK schemes
The figures in the table below assume that contributions will continue to be paid to the overseas schemes at the level paid in 2011, with
appropriate increases for future changes in salary assurnptions.

Contributions to defined benefit schemes
Armounts paid into the Group's defined benefit schemes in the past two years and expected future payments over the next five years are as
follows:

Contributions paid £m
2010 9.0
2011 6.6
Expected future contributions £m
2012 6.6
2013 59
2014 59
2015 59
2016 59

{g} Risk management

(i} FCAM Plan

The Trustees set genaral investment policy but delegate the responsibility for the selection of spacific investments {other than investments in
respect of members’ voluntary contributions) to the investment manager. The Trustees regularty monitor the FCAM Plan's investments.

The Trustees seek advice from their investment advisor and believe they have sufficient skills and expertise to make investment decisions
based on this advice.

The Trustees have set performance and risk targets for the investment manager. The performancs objectives are long-term, and the Trustees
manitor the investment manager on a regular basis in order to ensure that the scheme is on track to meet its long-term objectives.

The results of an asset-liability review undertaken alongside the 31 March 2010 actuarial valuation of the Plan have been used to assist the
Trustees and the Group in managing volatility in the underlying invesiment performance and the risk of a significant increase in tha FCAM Plan’s
deficit by providing information used to determine the FCAM Plan's investment strategy.
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25. Pension benefits continued

Asset allocation

During tha year, the Trustees, with the agreement of F&C, decided to further diversify the FCAM Plan's investment strategy by introducing an
allecation to funds investing in secured property leases. In addition, the geographical alocation of the Plan's equity holdings was reviewed
during the year, with a larger proportion being allocated to emerging markets. In pravious periods, diversiying allocations to both UK and
overseas equity-linked bond funds and an overseas private equity fund have been made. Previously the Trustees have implemented a Liability
Driven investment {LDI} approach to the investment strategy. Other allocations to altemnative asset classes may be mads in the futura.

Interest rate and inflation rigk

The LDI pools are intended to help provide a degree of matching to the liabilities of the FCAM Plan. Each pool comprises zero coupon
derivatives with the same maturity as the expected cash flows of the scheme. Each pool has leveraged exposure of varying amounts to
inflation and interest rates. The pools are valued using the market values of the underlying securities.

The equity-linked bond funds alsc provide a degree of matching to the liabilities but in addition retain an exposure 10 equity markst
movements.

Currency risk

In order to increase the diversification of the equity portfolio, the FCAM Plan invests in overseas assets. However, the FCAM Plan's liabilities are
denominated eniirely in Stering and themsfore there is a risk that the appreciation of Stering against other currencies will reduce the return from
overseas assets.

Operational risk
The investment managers do not directly hold any of the FGAM Plan's securities. These are held by an externat custedian. The assets are
ring-fenced from F&C's creditors and are therefore transferable.

{ii) Non-UK schemes

The plan in The Nethertands is financed via an insurance contract, The value of the plan assets is the value of the reserve which the insurance
company holds to match guaranteed pension liabilities. These reserves are, in effect, fixed interest instruments, 50 provide a reasonable match
to pension liabilities.

The plan in Ireland invests in pooled unitised funds, with returns reflecting the performance of the underying assets.

The plan in Portugal is part of an industry-wide banking sector plan, Each participant company holds a share of the assats, which are invested
using the same asset allocation as the overall plan assets. F&C Portugal is the asset manager for the overall scheme.

At 31 Decemnber 2011, the assets of both the F&C Portugal and F&C Iretand plans were invested in diversified portfolios that consisted
primarily of debt and equity securities.

(h) Cost of defined contribution plans

201 2010

Note £m £m

Group personal pension plans 3.4 34
Other defined contribution schemes 01 0.5
Defined contribution pension expense 5 a5 39

The Group had £0.4m of pension contributions cutstanding as at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: £0.1m).
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26. Share-based payments
The Group operates several share-based payment plans as part of its total employee compensation arrangements.

Summary
The total share-based payment expense is analysed as follows:

2011 2010
By Scheme: Note £€m £m
The Long-Tenm Remuneration Plan (deferred awards) 8.8 11.8
The Long-Term Remuneration Plan {restricted awards) 1.0 0.3
Executive Director Remuneration Plan (deferred awards) 0.8 15
F&C REIT variable non-controlling interests SBP (4.8) (0.3)
F&C REIT Long-Term Remuneration Plan 1.1 0.8
TRC Management Ratention Plan 45 1.5
TRC Management Incentive Plan {0.1) 0.1
TRC Commutation arrangements 5.7 48
Purchased Equity Plan (FCAM plc shares) 0.1 0.5
Purchased Equity Plan (FAC investment funds) 0.5 1.3
Deferred Share Awards 0.4 a1
Share Save Scheme - 0.2
Total share-based payment expense recognised in the Income Statermnent 5 17.8 226
The total expense recognised during the year in raspect of share-based payment schemes is split as follows:

2011 2010

£m tm

Equity-settled 17.3 19.5
Cash-settied 0.5 3.1
Total share-based payment expense recognised in the Income Statement 17.8 226

31 December 31 December

2011 2010
£m £m
Total carrying amount of cash-settied liabilities 6.0 10.9

The details of sach scheme are disclosed below.

Details of option pricing models and key assumptions used to obtain the fair vatue of services received, or the fair value of the equity
instruments granted, have been disclosed only for awards granted during the year ended 31 December 2011, Details of awards granted in
previous accounting periods are disciosed in the previous years’ Financial Statements.

The fair value of services received in return for awards granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share awards granted.

The cash-settlied element of the awards is basad on dividends payable on the shares during the vesting period, being notionally re-investad in
F&C Asset Management pic shares. Once the share awards vest, the vatue of the notional shares is paid to the employee in cash. The value of
dividend payments has been separated from the equity-settled awards as these are settled in cash.

The cumulative grant expense for each award is “trued-up” during the vesting period and at the end of the vesting period, after allowing for
actual forfeitures and, where applicable, the extant to which the performance criteria have been met.

The weighted average share price during 2011 was £0.74 (2010: £0.64).

The weighted average share price at exercise date during 2011 was £0.77 (2010: £0.65}).
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The following tables summarise the inputs into the valuations used for awards grantec and the fair values assigned, during the year ended

31 December 2011.

Deferred Awards
LTRP Deferred
Award: Share Awards
Award date 10 March 2011
Number of awards granted 15,437,379
Share price at grant date 82.35p
Exercise price 0.0p
Vesting period 3 ysars
Full term of award 3 ysars
Expected dividend yield (56) 4.27%
Expected volatility {%) n/a
Risk-free interest rate (%} p.a. n/a
Expected forfeiture rate {9%) 0.0%
Fair value at measurement date (per award)
— Equity 72.46p
—Cash 9.89p
Valuation basis market price
Estimated vesting percentage at award dats n/a
LTRP Restricted Share Awards
Investmeant Net New

Element of Award: EPS Performance Business TSR
Award date 4 May 2011 4 May 2011 4 May 2011 4 May 2011
Number of awards granted 937,421 937,421 937,421 937,421
Share price at grant date 77.8p 77.8p 77.8p 77.8p
Exercise price 0.0p 0.0p 0.0p 0.0p
Vesting period 3 years 3years 3years 3years
Full term of award 3 years 3 years Jyears 3years
Expected dividend yield (%) 3.9% 3.9% 3.9% 3.9%
Expected volatility (%) n/a n/a n/‘a 58.0%
Risk-free interest rate (%} p.a. n/a n/a na 1.52%
Expected forfeiture rate {%) 0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Fair value at measurement date (per award)
- Equity 69.0p 69.0p 69.0p 50.2p
- Cash 8.8p 8.8p B8.8p 4.3p
Valuation basis market price market price market price Monte Carlo

simulation model
Estimated vesting percentage at award date 64% 50% 67% 100%
F&C REIT Long-Term Remuneration Plan
Award: 2011 award
Award date 1 May 2011
Number of units in F&C REIT LLP granted 15,833.33 units
Value of unit at award date £90.00 per unit
Vesting period 3 years
Full term of award 3 years
Expected forfeiture 0.0%
Model used External valuation of F&G REIT LLP business

{a) The Long-Term Remuneration Plan (LTRP)

The LTRP is the primary long-term incentive arrangement of the Group. The LTRP rules allow both Deferred Share Awards and Restricted

Share Awards to be made at the discretion of the Board.
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26. Share-based payments continued

(i) Doferred Share Awards
The LTRP allows deferred awards o be granted to employees below Executive Director fevel, subject only to a time-vesting period of
three years.

The number of Deferred Share Awards is as follows:

2011 2010
No. Na.
Cutstanding at 1 January 39,371,737 28,769,100
Granted during the year 15,437,379 17,335,585
Exarcised during the year (10,697,991} (5.243,031)
Forfeited during the year (6,170,470) (1,280,575)
Expired during the year (983,387) (209,342)
Outstanding at 31 December 36,957,268 30,371,737
Exercisable at 31 December 957,480 208,259
The awards exercisable at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 relate to good leavers.
At 31 Decemnber 2011 the following LTRP Deferred Share Awards were cutstanding:
Grant date No. of aptions outstanding Earfiest exercise date Exercise price
8 July 2009 10,979,123 8 July 2012 0.0p
7 April 2010 13,365,317 7 April 2013 0.0p
10 March 2011 12,612,828 10 March 2014 0.0p

The awards outstanding at 31 December 2011 have a weighted average outstanding term of 1.4 years (31 December 2010: 1.6 years).

{ii) Restricted Share Awards

Ordinary Shares that are the subject of a Restricted Share Award under the LTRP will vest dependent upon achieving four specified
performance conditions and conditions of continued service being met. The performance conditions applied to the LTRP are determined by
the Board, are measured aver a three-year performance period and comprise the following:

*  25% of the award comprises an undertying Earnings Per Share (EPS) condition;
*  25% of the award comprises a Total Shareholder Return (TSR) condition;

¢ 25% of the award comprises an Investment Parformance condition; and

¢ 25% of the award comprises a Net New Business condition,

To the extent that any element of the award has not vested in accordance with the performance criteria detailed below it lapses immediatety.
(1) The EPS element

The EPS condition is based on the amount by which the average annual percentage growth in underlying EPS exceeds the percentage
increase in the Retail Price Index condition over the three-year performance period (EPS Outperformance Percentage).

The awards vest according to the following critenia:

EPS Qutperformance Percentage Percentage of award vesting
Less than 3% 0%
3% 25%
Equal to or greater than 11% 100%
Between 3% and 11% Straight-line vesting between 25% and 100%

{2} The TSR element

The TSR condition compares the TSR of the Group over a three-year performance period (commencing on the award date) with a list of
companies in a predetermined financial services comparator group, At the end of the performance period, the Group and éach of the
comparator companies are listed and ranked in accordance with their TSR over the performance period (TSR Position). The TSR measure
reflects the movement in the vatue of shares plus any dividends declared during the relevant period.

The awards vest according to the following criteria:

TSR Position Percentage of award vesting
Below median 0%
Median 25%
Upper quartile 100%
Between median and upper quartile Straight-line vesting between 25% and 100%
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{3) The Investment Performance element
‘The Investment Performance condition is based on the Total Weighted Qutperformance Percentaga {25% of the one-year outperformance
percentage and 75% of the three-year cutperformance percentage) on investmant management parformance aver a three-year period.

The awards vest according to the following criteria;

Total Weighted Outperformance Percentage Percentage of award vesting
Equal to or less than 42% 0%
75% or more 100%
Between 42% and 75% Steaight-line vesting betwaen 0% and 100%

{4) The Net New Business element

The Net New Business condition is based on a comparison of the actual versus the budgeted amount of net new business for the pariod {(Net
New Business Percentage). The budgeted net new business is determined on an annual basis by the Board. Performancs is measured over a
three-year period.

The awartls vest according to the following criteria:

Net New Business Percentage Percentage of award vesting
Equal to or less than 25% 0%
125% or more 100%
Between 25% and 125% Straight-line vesting between 0% and 100%

The number of Restricted Share Awards is as follows:

2011 2010

No, No.

Qutstanding at 1 January 3,786,486 327,548

Granted during the year 3,749,683 3,786,486

Forfeited during the year (250,637) -

Expired during the year (199,989) (327,548)

Outstanding at 31 December 7,085,543 3,786,485
At 31 December 2011 the following LTRP restricted share awards were cutstanding:

Ne. of options Earfiest Exercise

Grant date cutstanding exercise date” price

4 May 2010 3,786,486 4 May 2013 0.0p

4 May 2011 3,299,057 4 May 2014 0.0p

* Assuming pesformancs criteria satisfied.

The awards outstanding at 31 December 2011 have a weighted average outstanding term of 1.8 ysars (31 December 2010: 2.3 years).

(b) The Executive Director Remuneration Plan {EDRP)

Any Executive Director of the Company is eligible 1o participate in the EDRP. The EDRP provides for the grant of two different forms of award,
Deferrad Share Awards and Restricted Share Awards. Thers were no outstanding Restricted Shara Awards at either 31 December 2011 or
2010.

Deferred Share Awards
Awards vest at the end of a three-year period from grant date, subject to the continued employment of the participant within the Group. There
are no performancae criteria attached to the deferred shares and the vested shares transfer to the participant as soon as possible after vesting.

The number of Deferred Share Awards is as follows:

2011 2010

No. No.

Qutstanding at 1 January 3,214,632 4,715,206
Exercised during the year {1,025,640) (1,500,574)
Outstanding at 31 December 2,188,992 3,214,632

No awards wers exercisablg at either 31 December 2011 or 31 December 2010.
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26. Share-based payments continued
At 31 December 2011 the following EDRP Deferred Share Awards were outstanding:

No. of awards Earliest Exercise
Grant date outstanding exercise date price
8 Juty 2009 2,188,992 8 July 2012 0.0p

The awards outstanding at 31 December 2011 have a weighted average cutstanding term of 0.5 years (31 December 2010: 1.1 years).

{c} F&C REIT variable non-controlling interests SBP
In accordance with the FA&C REIT fartnership Agreement, the F&C REIT minority partners (Kendray Properties Limited, Leo Noé and vor
Smith) have the potential {0 increase their stake in F&C REIT Asset Management LLP (F&C REIT) collectively from 30% to 40%.

A variable NCI was granted as an incentive to achieve increased levels of profit including realisation of future performance fees in return for a
potential increasad stake in the business. This variable NCl is therefore accounted for under IFRS 2: Share-based Payment. The fair value of
the “award” at date of acquisition reflected the value assessed as part of the acquisition valuation. The fair value of the award is reassessed at
each reporting date and this fair value is spread over the relevant vesting period.

The minority partners have the potential to increase their stake in F&C REIT by 3.33% for avery year in which the EBITDA performance target
of £45.0m is achieved, up to 8 maximum of 10%. The variable NCI performance criteria could be achieved in any year of the

six calendar years ending 31 December 2014, At 31 December 2011 the Directors have assessed that the performance target is unfikey to be
achieved in any of the remaining performance measurement parods, The cumulative charge previously recognised has been reversed at 31
December 2011, but would ba reinstated to the extent that any performance criteria were met.

{d) F&C REIT Long-Term Remuneration Plan (F&C REIT LTRP)

During 2010, a new scheme was introduced to incentivise FAC REIT employees.
There ars two elements to the Plan:

) Defered Award with no performance conditions; and

(i) Restricted Awards with performance conditions.

Participants are awarded notional units in the F&C REIT Asset Management LLP Group (F&C REIT), each equal to 0.00005% of the market
value of F&C REIT. The market value of F&C REIT is determined annually by an independent valuation.

The Deferred Awards vest at the end of a pre-dstermined period from grant date (normalty three years), subject to the continued employment
of the participant. On vesting, the awards are settled by a cash payment based on the marke! value of each unit at the end of the vesting
pericd.

No Restricted Awards have been granted under the performance element of this Plan to date.
The number of FAC REIT LTRP Deferred Awards is as follows:

2011 201Q

Units Units

Qutstanding at 1 January 28,859.60 -

Granted during the year 15,833.33  28,859.60

Forfeited during the year {219.53) -

Expired during the year (865.16) -

Outstanding at 31 December 43,608.24  28,859.60
At 31 December 2011 the following F&C REIT LTRP Deferred Awards were outstanding:

No. of units Earllest Exercise

Grant date outstanding exercise date price

1 May 2010 15,891.47 1 April 2012 0.0p

1 May 2010 12,216.77 1 May 2013 0.0p

1 May 2011 15,500.00 1 May 2014 0.0p

The awards outstanding at 31 Decemnber 2011 have a weighted average cutstanding term of 1.3 years {31 December 201 0: 1.7 years).
The intrinsic value of a unit at 31 December 2011 was £75.50 (31 December 2010: £90.00).
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26. Share-based payments continued

(e) Thames River Capital Management Retention Plan (TRC MRP)

The TRC MRP was one of the two new share plans established at the date of the TRC acquisition to retain and incentivise key professionals
within the TRC Group. Awards of deferred shares vest three years after completion of the acquisition, subject to continued employment within
the F&C Group or membership of one of the two TRC LLPs. The TRC MRP awards are not subject to any performance criteria. The TRC MRP
includes good and bad leaver provisions.

The number of TRC MRP awards is as follows:

2011 2010

No. Na.

Qutstanding at 1 January 21,312,209 -

Granted during the year - 21,312,209

Outstanding at 31 December 21,312,209 21,312,209
No awards were exercisable at either 31 December 2011 or 31 December 2010.

At 31 December 2011 the following TRC MRP awards were outstanding:

No. of awards Earflest Exarcise

Grant date outstanding exarcise date price

1 Septernber 2010 21,312,209 1 September 2013 0.0p

The awards oulstandging at 31 December 2011 have a weighted averags outstanding term of 1.7 years (31 Decernber 2010: 2.7 years).

{f) Thames River Capital Management Incentive Plan (TRC MIP)
The TRC MIP is the second of two plans established at the date of the TRC acquisition to further incentivise TRC employees and members of
the two TRC LLPs in the six-year period from the dats of acquisition (Completion) on 1 September 2010,

Awards under the TRC MIP will vest upon achievemeants of spacified financial targets as follows:

*+ 12,5% of the shares subject to awards will vest on the date faling 30 months following Completion provided that the Run-rate EBITDA of
the TRC Group as at 31 December 2011 is £15.0m or more. If the Run-rate EBITDA is £12.5m or less, none of this tranche of shares will
vest and the number of the sharas that vest will increase on a linear basis if the Run-rata EBITDA falls between the two thresholds;

* 12.5% of the shargs subjoct to awards will vest on the third anniversary of Completion provided that the Run-rate EBITDA of the TRC
Group as at 30 June 2012 is £17.0m or more. If the Run-rate EBITDA is £15.0m or less, none of this tranche of shares will vest and the
number of tha shares that vest will increase on a linear basis if the Run-rate EBITDA falls between the two thresholds; and

» thae remaining 75.0% of the sharas subject to awards will vest in two equal instalments on each of the fifth and sixth anniversarias of
Completicn provided that the cumulative EBITDA of the TRG Group for the four-year pericd to 31 March 2014 is egual 1o £100.0m or
more. If the cemulative EBITDA is equal to £60.0m or less, none of this tranche of shares will vest and the number of the shares that vest
will increase on a linear basis if the Run-rate EBITDA falls batween these two thresholds.

Vesting is subject in each case to continued employment within the F&C Group or membership of the relevant LLP (as the case may be). The
terms of the TRC MIP includes good and bad leaver provisions, change of control provisions and a cash-settled element. In addition,
participants in the TRC MIP will receive an additional cash payment {up to a maximum aggregate amount of £3.0my}, payable at the time that
shares are defivered and in proportion to the number of shares which vest.

The 31 December 2011 Run-rate EBFTDA target was not met. The Directors also believe that none of the other financial targets are expected to
ba achieved and the cumulative charge has been reversed at 31 Decernber 2011, but will be reinstated should the performance criteria be met.
The number of TRC MIP awards is as follows:

2011 2010

No. No.

Qutstanding at 1 January 14,208,140 -

Granted during the year - 14,208,140

Outstanding at 31 December 14,208,140 14,208,140
No awards were exercisable at 31 December 2011 or 31 December 2010,

At 31 Decemnber 2011 the following TRC MIP awards were outstanding:

No, of awards Earflest Exercise

Grant date outstanding exercise date* price

1 September 2010 1,776,018 1 March 2013 0.0p

1 September 2010 1,776,018 1 September 2013 0.0p

1 September 2010 5,328,062 1 September 2015 0.0p

1 September 2010 5,328,052 1 Septemnber 2016 0.0p

* Assuming performance Criteria satisfied.

The awards outstanding at 31 Decembaer 2011 have a weighted average outstanding term of 3.5 years (31 Decembaer 2010: 4.5 years).
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26. Share-based payments continued

{g) Thames River Capital Commutation arrangements (TRC Cormmutation arrangements)

Note 15(a} outlines the key aspects of the Commutation arrangements which were established at the date of the acquisition of TRC by the
F&C Group. Under these arrangements, the Divisional Members of TRC Investment Teams enterad into put and call options, which Iif exercised
will typically transfer up to 20% of their entitlement to managemeant fee profits 1o the F&C Group. The members of the LLPS are considered to
be providing services to the Group and as a result, the share element of the Commutation consideration is required 1o be accounted for as a
share-based payment.

It is the intention of the Directors to settle these awards in equity and therefore they have been treated as equity-settled awards.

The maximum payable under Commutation amangemsnts is £81.4m and F&C has authority 1o issue a maximum of 122,511,485 shares to
settle the consideration payable on exercise of the options.

The opiions are re-measured at intrinsic value at each reporting date and the total expense is spread over the respective vesting period. The
options are considered 1o have non-market performance conditions — if the options are not exercised, then there is no charge to the Income

Statermnant.
31 December 31 December

2011 2010
m £m
Cumulative TRC Commutation expense, recognised in equity 10.5 4.8
Total intrinsic value of unexercised Commutation options 149 20.1
No. No.

Potential number of FCAM plc shares which would be settled as at the reporting date
{based on Commutation Consideration Share Issue share price at 31 Daecember) 23,527,481 25,449,030

No Commutation options were exercisable at either 31 December 2011 or 31 December 2010. However, at 31 December 2011 some
10.9 miillion of the shares which would be issued to settle Commutation arrangements relate to options potentially exercisable by the Divisional
Members, and 12.6 million shares relate to the options potentially exercisable by the Group.

The Commutation arangements are exercisable at dates between 1 March 2012 and 1 September 2016.

{h} Purchased Equity Plan (PEP)

(i) F&C Asset Management plc shares

The PEP operated in conjunction with the discretionary bonus scheme and was intended to encourage shareholding by management and
employees of the Group by providing for the compulsory purchase of shares using annual bonus above a threshold level.

At the Board's discretion, eligible employses who were awarded in a financial year an aggregate bonus in excess of a threshold level, typically
£100,000, were required to defer cne-third of the slement exceeding the threshold into shares (comprising either a range of investmeant
products managed by the Group or the Company's shares) {Compulsory PEP) for three years.

The Compulsory PEP is subject to forfeiture in the event that the employee leaves the Group for any reason (other than as a good leaver) in the
three-year retention period.

The number of Compulsory PEP share awards is as follows:

2011 2010

No. No.

Outstanding at 1 January 783,727 1.396.860

Granted during the year - 493,810

Exercised during the year {66,716) (1,105,055)

Forteited during the year {25,813) (1,888)

Outstanding at 31 December 691,198 783,727

Exercisable at 31 December 2,728 13,145

The awards sxercisable at 31 December 2011 and 31 Decernber 2010 relata to good leavers,

At 31 December 2011 the following awards granted under the PEP to acquire Ordinary Shares were outstanding:

No. of options Earllest Exercise

Grant date outstanding exercise date price

2 April 2009 197,388 2 April 2012 0.0p

31 March 2010 493,810 31 March 2013 0.0p

The awards outstanding at 31 Decemnber 2011 have a weighted average outstanding term of 0.9 years {31 December 2010: 1.8 ysars).
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26. Share-based payments continued

{ii) F&C Investment Funds

At the discretion of the Board, the cash bonus may be deferred on a mandatory basis into certain F&C Funds {Compulsory Purchased Equity)
subject to continued service over either three or four years. This option is avaitable as an alternative to the Compulsory PEP into FCAM plc
shares. The main benefit of this arrangement is to incantivise fund managers to invest in the funds they manage, thereby further aligning
employee interests with those of clients.

The settlemant of awards from the Compulsory PEP {F&C Investment Funds) is made by realisation of the holding in the fund at the vesting
date and purchase of FCAM plc shares at that date. The value of the investment in F&C Funds, the FCAM plc share price and hence the
ultimate number of FCAM plc shares to be setiled is only known with certainty at the vesting date. Any dividends paid by F&C Funds during
the vesting period are re-invested in F&C Invaestment Funds.

The awards meet the criteria of IFRS 2: Share-based Payment. However, as the awards are ultimately settled in FCAM plc shares, it is not
considerad possible to reliably estimate the fair value of these awards at the grant date. This is dus to the number of market-based criteria
which ultimately combine to determine the number and value of FGAM plc sharas settled. Settlement of thasa awards 10 employees is satisfied
by the purchase of FCAM plc shares in the market.

The fair value of these awards at the year end has besan determined by measuremant of the equity instruments at intrinsic vatue, being the
quoted price of the relevant F&C Funds, both at the grant date and at each subsequent reporting date. The intrinsic value is then spread over
the vesting period. The value of the services provided is measured using the ultimate vatue of awards which vest,
The underlying investments are held within an Employee Benefit Trust.

31 December 31 December

2011 2010
Note £m £m
Value of F&C Investments held within the Purchased Equity Plan 18(a)(i2) t.5 4.0
No. Ne.

Number of FCAM pic shares which would be settled as at the reporting date
(based on year-end share price) 2,218,877 4,739,271

(i} Deferred Share Awards
The Group has made some deferred share awards which are not subject to ongoing performance conditions, but have a time-vesting period.

The number of share awards is as follows:

2011 2010

No. Ng.

Qutstanding at 1 January 1,108,959 40,000

Granted during the year 22,200 1,068,959

Exercised during the year {40,000} -

Qutstanding at 31 December 1,091,159 1,108,958
No awards were exercisable al either 31 December 2011 or 31 December 2010.

At 31 December 2011 the following Deferred Share Awards were outstanding:

No. of options Earllest Exercise

Grant date outstanding exercise date price

1 September 2010 1,068,959 t March 2012 0.0p

1 April 2011 22,200 1 April 2014 0.0p

The awards outstanding at 31 December 2011 have a weighted average outstanding term of 0.2 years (31 December 2010: 1.2 years).
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26. Share-based payments continued

@i Share Save Scheme

The Share Save Scheme is an “all-employee shame schema”. Participants are required to enter into a savings contract with a savings provider.
At the end of the savings period employees can elact to receive cash or exercise options. The options granted entitle the holders to acquire
QOrdinary Shares at a price per Ordinary Share determined by the Directors prior to the issue of invitations. The price at which options are
offered cannot be less than 80% of the middle-rmarket quotation of an Ordinary Share at the date of grant.

The number and weighted avarage axercise pricas (WAEP) of share options are as follows:

2011 2010

WAEP WAEP

No. £ No. £

Qutstanding at 1 January 197,102 1.56 534,288 1.56
Forfeited during the year (69,268} 1.51 (293,178) 1.53
Expirad during the year (22,405) 1.7 {44,008} 1.73
Outstanding at 31 December 106,429 145 197,102 1.56
Exercisable at 31 December 3,766 1.n 7.747 1.51

The 2006 (five-year) award vested during 2011. No options were exercised and the options expired.
At 31 December 2011 the following options granted under the Share Save Scheme to acquire Ordinary Shares were outstanding:

No. of options Earfiest Exercisable Exsrcise
Grant date outstanding exercise date before price
18 April 2006 (five-year} 3,766 1 January 2012 1 June 2012 171.0p
25 April 2007 (five-year} 102,663 1 June 2012 1 December 2012 144.3p

The options outstanding at 31 December 2011 have a weighted average oulstanding term of 0.3 years (31 December 2010: 0.9 years).

{k) 1995 and 2002 Executive Share Option Schemes

IFRS 2: Share-based Payment is only applied to grants of shares, share options or other equity instruments that were granted after 7
Novernber 2002 and had not vested before 1 January 2005 {.e. the effective date of IFRS 2). The 1995 Executive Share Option Scheme (1995
ESQOS) and the 2002 Executive Share Option Scheme (2002 ESOS) both granted options before 7 Novamber 2002 and are not therefore
subject to the full effects of IFRS 2 in terms of recognising an expense in the Income Statement. The standard does, however, require certain
disclosures to be made in respect of these schemes.

All options under both schemes have now vested.

If the options remain unexercised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, the options expire. Options ara forfeited if the employee
leaves the Group.

The number and weighted average exercise price (WAEP) of share options are as follows:

2011 2010
WAEP WAEP
No. € No. £
Quistanding at 1 January 1,318,528 243 1,614,150 2.37
Expired during the year (408,628) 3.45 {295,622) 2.14
Outstanding at 31 December 909,900 196 1,318,528 2.43
Exercisable at 31 December 909,900 1.96 1,318,528 2.43

At 31 December 2011 the following options granted under the 1895 and 2002 ESOS to acquire Ordinary Shares were ouistanding:

No. of options Earfiest Exercisable Exercise
Grant date outstanding exercise date before price
19 March 2003 398,343 1 January 2012 19 March 2013 139.00p
9 March 2004 510,557 1 January 2012 9 March 2014 240.83p

The options outstanding at 31 December 2011 have a weighted average outstanding term of 1.8 years (31 December 2010: 2.3 years),
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2011 2010

£m £m

At 1 January 1.8 12.9
Fair value ot additions arising on acquisition of TRG - 07
Income deferred in the year 2.4 24
Amortisation in the year {3.9) {4.2)
At 31 December 10.3 11.8
31 December 31 December

2011 2010

£m £m

Split as follows:

Non-currant liabiities 7.0 8.1
Current liabilities 3.3 37
10.3 1.8

Deferred income primarily comprisas initial fees arising on investments into open-ended funds. These fees ara initially recognised as deterred
income and released 10 incomea over the estimated period (2011: four to seven years; 2010: four to seven years) for which the investment is

axpected 10 ba held.

28. Other financial liabilities

31 December 31 December
2011 2010
£m £m

Non-current:
F&C REIT put option liabilities 1.5 495

Current:

F&C REIT put option liakilities 38 4.5
Total other financial liabilities 45.3 B4.0

The FA&GC REIT put options represent the fair value of the potential future liability to purchase the 30% interest in F&G REIT currently hekd by the
minority interest partners in this business. The REIT parties have the right to require F&G to acquirs all or part of their membership interasts in
F&C REIT at a valuation determined by an independent valuer, subject to an overall cap on F&C's liability of £100.0 million, tvor Smith's option
is exercisable after the third anniversary of Completion and Leo Noé's option is exercisable after the seventh anniversary of Completion. White
Kendray Properties Limited does not hava any direct right to require F&C to acquire its holding in F&G REIT, under the terms of the Partnership
Agreement Kendray cannot hold a greater interest in F&C REIT than the aggregate of Leo Nod's and vor Smith's interests (or the holder of their
beneficial interasts) and Is tharsfore effectively required to transfer an element of its holding such that this requirement is achieved. The
consideration for such a transfer would be fair value. Hence, in determining the gross liability of the option, Kendray Properties Limited's entire
holding in F&C REIT has been includad. The reduction in the fair value of the F&C REIT put option liabiiities of £8.7m during 2011 {2010: £6.4m
reduction} has been released to the Income Statement as detailed in nots 6(b).

An external valuation of the F&C REIT business is performed at each reporting date to enable a fair value to be placed on the F&C REIT put
option liabifities.

The average of three valuation mathodologies (equally weighted) was used to place a fair value on the F&C REIT business, namely:
1. Discounted cash flow method

2. Markat earnings before interest, taxation, depraciation and amortisation (EBITDA) multiple

3. Fixed EBITDA muttiple

The main assumptions used in the valuation methodologies are:

{a) Projections of the profit and loss for F&C REIT:
Nat new business: Based on the F&C REIT approved budget for year one, with management forecast projections for the
subsequent few years
Revenue growth: 1.5% - 7.0% per annum
Cost inflation: 3.5% per annum
{t) Discount rates: 12.5% on recurring cash flows

{€) Perpetuity growth rates:

{d

Earnings multipliers:

25.0% on non-recurring cash flows

3.0% for recurring cash flows
3.0% for non-recurring cash flows

9.0 x recurring EBITDA
3.0 x non-recurring EBITDA
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29. Investment contract liabilities

Investment contract liabilities in respect of policyholder investrments at the start and and of the year and an analysis of movernents during the
year are as follows:

2011 2010

Note £m £m

Liability as at 1 January 559.2 649.9
Contributions received 41.6 66.4
Investment return applied 3 13.7 743

Charges |svied {1.9) 3.1)

Repayments {139.8) (229.2)

Movemant in contingency reserve - 0.2)
Mavement in reinsurance ceded - 1.1
Liability as at 31 December 4728 5569.2

Alt investment contract liabilities have been disclosed as current liabilities as this is considered to be appropriate to the rights of policyholdars
who may withdraw their investments at short notice. The Directors expect that the majority of the investment contract liabilities will be
repayable outwith one year.

30. Insurance contract liabilities

Insurance contract liabilities include life assurance liabilities in respect of Iifatime guarantees provided with certain investment products, and
annuity liabilities in respect of pension investment contracts where the investor has retired. These liabilities and related reinsurance balances at
the start and end of the year, together with an analysis of movements in the year, are as follows:

201 2010

Gross  Reinsurance Net Gross  Reinsurance Net

m £m £m £Tm £m £m

At 1 January 20 2.0) - 1.9 (1.9) -
Claims paid 0.2 0.2 - (0.1) 0.1 -
Change in economic assumptions 0.1 (0.1) - 0.1 0.1) -
Unwinding of discount rate 0.1 (0.1) - 01 0.1) -
At 31 December 20 20) - 20 (2.0 -

The reinsurance liabilities relate to annuity business reinsured with Friends Life Limited.

A ligbility adequacy test was carmmied out at policy level and rasulted in no additional provision for either 2011 or 2010. No significant gain or loss
arose on reinsurance contracts incepted in 2011 or 2010,

Assumptions
The principal assumptions used in determining the insurance contract kabilities and the reinsurer’s share of these liabilities, and the process
adapted to arrive at these assumptions are as follows:

Mortality rates 2011 2010
Annuities in payment Males: 97% FCMAODO;
Females: 92°% FCFADD 82-93% PCXA0C

Due to the small number of annuity policies, the mortality assumptions reflect recent experience of the reinsurer together with an allowancs for
future mortality improvermnent. Experience analysis for mortality is parformed annually by the reinsurer.

Discount rate

The discount rate used at 31 December 2011 is 4.02% (31 December 2010: 4.81%) based on current fixed interest gross redemption yields,
with a prudent adjustment for risk.
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31. Share capital

31 December 2011 31 December 2010
No. of No. of
Ordinary Share capital of 0.1p shares fm shares £m
Allotted, called up and fully paid:
Equity interests
Orginary Shares of 0.1p* 532,118,789 0.5 532,118,789 0.5
* Includes those categorised as own shares.
2011 2010
No. of No. of
shares shares
Issued at 1 January 532,118,789 499,273,120
Ptacing of new shares - 24,807,145
Issued at Completion in respect of TRC Commutation amangements - 6,085,996
Issue of shares at par to settle share-based payment awards? - 1,952,528
lssued at 31 Decemnber 532,118,789 532,118,789

' During 2010 Ordinary Shares were llotted at par value inta an EBT to sett'a share-based payment awards. Thera was no exarcisg pica associated with thesa
awargs,

The holders of Ordinary Shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company.

The Group held the following Ordinary Shares in Employee Benefit Trusts (EBTs) or similar amangements. These are categorised as own shares
and are deducted from shareholders’ funds:

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

No. No.

F&C Managemant Limited Employee Benefit Trust 10,437,516 17,778,910
The Ivory & Sime Empioyee Benefit Trust 64,176 64,176
Thames River Capital {(UK) Limited Farnity Benefit Plan 1,185,960 1,139,460
Held by RBC cees in a nominee capacity” 2,253,335 2,195,059
13,940,987 21,177,605

* Thess are specifically held as TRC Deferred Commutation Shares in respect of Commutation arrangements.

The aggregate nominal value of own shares heid by EBTs at 31 December 2011 was £14,000 (31 December 2010: £21,000). The markst
value of these shares at 31 Decemnber 2011 was £9.1m (31 December 2010: £17.8m).

During the year, the Group purchased 4,125,841 of its own 0.1p Ordinary Shares (2010: 14,988,822) to satisfy the settiements of awards
granted under share schemes and 1o hold as own shares within an EBT, The consideration paid for the shares was £3.2m (2010; £9.7m).

32. Reserves
The analysis of movements in reserves is disclosed within the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity on page 45.

Nature and purpose of reserves:

Share premium account
The share premium account is used to record the issue of share capital in excess of par value.

Capital redemption reserve
The Capital redemption reserve is used to maintain the capital of the Company when shares are bought back and subsequently cancelled
without Court Approval,

Merger reserve

The merger reserve is used to record share premium on shares issued by way of consideration in respect of acquisitions. The elerment of the
merger reserve which relates to amortisation and impairment of intangible assets charged to the Income Statement is considered 10 be
realised.

A transfer is made from the merger reserve to retained earnings 10 recognise the extent to which the merger raserve has been realised, theraby
offsetting the comesponding element of the intangible amortisation and any impairment charge.




102 | FINANGIAL STATEMENTS | Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

32, Reserves continued

Other reserves:

» Foreign currency translation reserve
The foreign currency translation reserve is used to record exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of
toreign operations and non-Sterling denominated intangible assets.

* Fair value reserve
This reserve records fair value changes on available for sale investments until the investments are derecognised.

* Acquisition reserve
The acquisition reserve was created on the initiat recognition of the F&C REIT NCI put option liabilities.

Retained earnings
Movements in ratained eamings comprises:

» net profits and losses recognised through the Income Statement;

«  dividend distributions to aquity holders;

» actuarial gains and losses recognised on pension cbligations;

*  deferred tax on actuarial gains and losses;

+ transactions relating to equity-settied share-based payments, and deferred tax movements on share-based payments reflected
through equity;

* transactions with NCI in respect of their share ¢f the partnerships;

» the purchase and sale of own shares; and

* transfers from merger reserve.

Non-controlling interests (NCI)
This reserve represents the share of the Group's net assets which are not attributable to equity holders of the parent, including the NCI share of
intangible assets arising from business combinations and subsaquent amortisation thereof.

33. Notes to the statement of cash flows
{a) Analysis of movements in statement of cash flows

2011 2010
Notes £m £m

Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 12 3.2 2.7
Amortisation of intangible assets 13 46.4 51.4
Loss on disposa! of property, plant and equipment 0.3 01
Equity-settted share-hased payment expenses 26 17.3 19.5
Non-cash movements on forward cumrency contracts - 0.9

67.2 728
Changes in working capital and provigions:
Decrease/{increase) in trade and other receivables 78.6 {57.2)
{Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables {56.5) 50.9
Decreases in employes benefit liabilities (1.2 {2.1)
{Increase)/decrease in stock of units and shares 18(a)(i} (0.8} 0.2
Increase in liabilities to members of LLPs 0.3 1.0
Decrease in other liabilities - (0.4
Decrease in investrment contract liabilities 29 {86.4} (90.7)
Increase in insurance contract liabilities - 0.1
Decrease in deforred acquisition costs 16 1.7 0.4
Decraase in defarred income 27 (1.5} 1.8
Pansion charge to operating profit less defined benefit pension contributions paid 3.6} {10.3)
Decrease in provisions 3.3} 2.5)
Decraase in unit-linked financial investments 18(ayi)1) 91.0 86.1

183 (26.3)

(b) Property, plant and equipment
During the period the Group acquired property, plant and equipment with an aggregate cost of £2.7m (2010: £1.2m). Cash payments of
£3.0m (2010: £1.1m) were made to purchase property, plant and equipment during the year.

(c) Cash and cash equivalents
Note 21 provides details of cash and cash equivalent balances, a description of cash and cash equivalents and restrictions on use of cash,
and note 22 gives details of loans and bomowing facilities.
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34. Contingent liabilities

Ongoing business operations

In the nomal course of its business, the Group is subject to mattars of litigation or dispute. While there can be no assurances, at this time the
Directors believe, based on the information currently available to them, that it is not probable that the ultimate outcome of any of these matters
will have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Group.

35. Commitments

Operating leases

The Group has the following futura minimurm rentals payable in respect of non-cancellable operating leases and other contracts at the year
end:

Premises Other contracts
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
201 2010 2011 2010
m £m £m £m
Not later than cne year 121 129 3.2 2.8
Later than one year and not later than five years 35.1 39.5 1.3 1.1
Later than five years 245 334 - -
M7 85.8 4.5 3.9

Commitmants in respect of premises leases exclude service charges and other costs, which are variable in nature, and cannot be reliably
estimated.

Obligations in respect of other contracts are stated gross and excluds amounts potentially recoverable from brokers under commission sharing
arangements.

Sub-lease receivables
Future minimum rentals receivable under non-cancellable operating leases at the year end are as follows:

Premises
31 December 31 December
2011 2010
£m £€m
Not later than one year 33 3.8
Later than one year and not later than five years 115 1.3
Later than five years 8.3 9.1
231 24.2

A contingent leasa payment, based on a percentage of revenusg, is receivable in addition to the minimum leasae payments in respect of one
property. The maximum amount recaivable under this arrangement is £0.6m (31 December 2010: £0.6rm) per annum.

Other commitments
A number of third-party administration services are provided under contracts with a fixed-term duration, The actual amounts payable under
these contracts vary according 1o the level of services received. The minimum amounts payable under the terms of the contracts are as
follows:
Third-party administration
31 December 31 December

2011 2010

£m £m

Not later than one year 4.0 -
Later than one year and not |ater than five years 138 -
Later than five years 24 -
20.2 -

Capital commitments
The amount of capital expenditure contracted for, but not provided for in the Financial Statements at 31 December 2011, was £0.1m
{31 December 2010: £0.5m).
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38. Financial risk management

Overview

The Group has exposure to a number of business risks. The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the Group's risk management
arrangements, but has delegated the implementation and operation of the Board policies to management. The Group's risk managerment
palicies and the risk management framework for identifying, monitcring and managing risks across the Group, including strategic and
operational risks, are outlined in the Directors’ Report on Corporate Governance on page 32.

The Directors consider it appropriate to differentiate between those financial risks which directly impact the Group and those which indirectly
impact the Group due to the risks borne by our clients and the consequential impact on the Group's assets under management and revenues.
The Group's direct or indirect exposure to financial instruments arises from the following financial risks:

« Market risk
*  Credit risk
«  Liquidity risk

This note presants information on the Group's direct or indirect exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's objectives, policies and
processes for measuring and managing risk and the managemant of the Group's capital. Note 37 provides numerical analysis of the Group’s
financial instrument exposure to such risks, in¢luding relevant sensitivity analysis, at the reporting date.

Indirect earnings risk through client assets

As an active fund manager, the Group is responsible for managing assets in accordance with the mandates specified by our clients. The assets
managed by the Group are subject to varying financial risks (market, credit and liquidity). While these risks could result in financial loss or gain
through a change in asset value, these risks and rewards are fully borne by, or fall to the benefit of, our clients.

However, as the majority of the Group's revenues are quantified as a percentage of assets under management {generally on a quarterty,
monthly or daily basis), the Group's income is impacted by movements in client assets which are caused by the exposure to financial risks. As
a rasult of the direct link of revenues to the value of client assets, the Group's interests are aligned to those of our clients.

A key risk to our business is that of poor investrnent performancea, which could lead to the subsequent loss of client mandates. A key rolg of
the heads of FAC's investment functions is to monitor the fund performance achieved by our investmant professionals. Whaere it is considered
necessary, actions are taken to change process or personnel with a view to attaining top quartile performance. The Group has the abiiity to
earn performance fees from a number of our clients based on absolute parformance or where out-parformances of the benchmark or set
objective is achieved. These arrangements reinforce the alignment of the Group's interests with those of our clients.

The key components of financial risk to which our clients are exposed are:

Market risk — the risk of financial loss arising from changes in the market prices of assets. Market risks include exposure to all asset classes,
including equities, fixed income products and property as well as currency risk and interast rate risk.

Credit sk - the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations in respect of assets held
within client portfolios. Credit risk can vary by asset class and individual instrument.

Liquidity nsk — the risk of financial loss to client portfolios because a counterparty does not have sufficient financial resources available and is
unabile to realise assets in order to meet its obligations as they fali dus, or can only raalise assets by suffaring financial loss.

Direct earnings and capital exposure
The Group has direct exposure to the following risks in respect of financial instruments on the Staternent of Financial Position:

s Market nsk — the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate because of changes in market prices.
Markat risk comprises three types of risk: currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk.

s Credit isk - the risk of financial loss if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations in respect of financial
instruments held by the Group. Credit risk includes investment credit risk, countarparty risk, deposit and loan risks and country risk.

» liquidity nisk — the risk of the Group failing to maintain adequate levels of financial resources to enabilg it to meet its financial obligations
as they fall due. Liquidity risk arises becauss of the possibility that the Group could be required to pay Its liabilities earlier than expecied
or because of any inability to realise assets in order to meet obligations as they fall due or is only able to realise assets by suffering
financial loss.

A fulter analysis follows of the financial risks associated with the Group's financial instruments, together with the objectives, policies and
processes to manage the Group's exposure 1o those risks.
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36. Financial risk management continued

Unit-linked assets and liabilities

A significant element of the value of the Group’s financial assets relates to the Group's unit-linked pooled pension entity, F&C Managed Pension
Funds Limited (F&C MPF). As outlined in note 18(a){i(1), Financiat Instruments, the risks and rewards associated with these assets, which are
held by F&C MPF, fall t0 be borne by, or to the banefit of, the underlying policyholders. As a result, the investment contract liabilities included in
the Statement of Financial Position are equal and opposite in valug to the assets which are held on behalf of unit-linked palicyholders. The
Group has no direct exposure to fluctuations in the value of the assats arising from changes in market prices or credit defautt, although the
revenue stream earned from managing these assets varies in line with the movemant in assets heid on behalf of clients.

The financial risk management disclosures specifically exclude policyholders' unit-linked assets and liabilities relating to F&C MPF as there is no
direct exposure to the Group from the associated financia! instruments.

Financial investments

Recognising that the Group's revenue stream has significant financial exposure to fluctuations in assets managed on behalf of clients, a key
principle of the Group Treasury Policy set by the Board is to restrict investment of the Group’s assets 1o low risk deposits or money market

instruments where the risk of capital loss is low, thersby seeking to protect the Group's capital. Advance Board approval is required for any
investment or financial instrument which does not follow this general principle.

The Board recognises that the Group has significant exposure to Eure-denominated cash flows, but at this paint in time has not chosen not to
enter into any medium-term forward exchange contracts. During 2010 the Group recognised E0.9m of a realised gain in respect of a historic
medium-term forward currency contract. This gain represented the partial reversal of a £1.3m unrealised loss recognised in prior periods. As at
31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010, the Group held short-term contracts, to a gross value of less than £1.0m, which were specifically
matched to foreign currency assets at year end.

Financial investments classified as availabie for sale, as detailed in note 14, primarily refléct the value of the Group's private equity investments.
These represent carried interest entitiement which arises from the Group's historical ownership of private equity businesses. The Board doas
not seek to manage any of the financial risks associated with thase investments and recognisas that uncertainty exists as to the quantum and
timing of future distributions which may arise from thesa investments.

Cther financial investments, classified as fair value through profit or loss, as detailed in note 18{a){i)(2}, primarily comprise assets held in
connection with current or historic employee ramuneration arrangements. The Group has no net financial exposure to Purchased Equity Plan,
Banus investments and TRC Employee Benefits asssts as the risks and rewards of all movements in the value of these financial asssts fall to
the beneficiary and are offset by equal and opposite movements in the Group's associated employee benefit liabilities, which accrue over the
vesting period. The ‘NIC hedge' economically hedges the Group's exposure to movements in future national insurance contributions
obligations in respect of legacy employee share plans.

Stock of units and shares

The Group operates and manages a number of OEICs whose funds, inte which retail and institutional investors can invest, have a wide range
of investment cbjectives. The Group holds a stock of units and shares in these OEIC funds in order to facilitate the creation and redemption of
units by investors. The Group's risk management policy limits the aggregate value of the units held by the Group to £1.25m, thereby capping
the maximum financial risk exposure associated with these assets.

Trade debtors and accrued income

Trade debtors and accrued income represent amounts recognised within net revenue in the Income Staternent, but which have not been
seftled in cash. The nature of FAC's business is such that asset management fees accrue based on daily, month-end or quarter-end asset
valugs which, once known, are billed to clients and are due to be settled in line with individual contractual terms. As a result, the aggregate
value of debiors and accrued income can represent up to four months of revenue at any point in time. In addition, as a significant portion of the
performance fees which can be earned by the Group accrue in respect of the calendar year and can only be biled subsequently, the quantum
of accrued income recognised in the Statement of Financial Position at the reporting date is generally higher than at other points during the
year and is sensitive to the magnitude of performance fees eamed.

Before the Group takes on new clients, it undertakes the required “Know Your Client” procedures. As the Group manages assets on behalf of
clients and management fees are typically charged 10 and paid from the underlying funds managed by the Group, there is a retatively low risk
of default on management fees. The Group does not hold any credit insurance. Due to the scate of some of F&C's larger clients, the Group is
axposed to a concentration of credit risk from large dlients or groups of connected clients, arising from timing diffarence between the
recognition of income and the receipt of management fees outlined above. Very few dlients have an extamal credit rating.

Where management fees are denominated in a currency other than Sterling, the Group is exposed to currency risk. As noted earlier, the Group
no longer hedges any significant element of its exposure to monetary assets denominated in foreign currency.
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36. Financial risk management continued

OEIC and unit trust debtors

‘OEIC and unit trust debtors® include trustee debtors and debtors due from investors in respect of the purchasse of units. Typically, the Group
racognises ‘OEIC and unit trust creditors’ of a similar magnitude at any point in time. In operating and managing OEICs, the Group seoks to
match the purchase and sale of investments to align to the receipt or payment of funds from or to investors., However, if these obligations are
not matched then there is a requirement for the Group to fund any shortfall from its corporate cash resourcas. The risk relating to unsattied
transactions is considered small due 1o the short settlement period involved. In the event that investors defauit on sums due, then the Group is
entitled to reimbursement of costs from the investor.

Cash and cash equivalents
F&G adopts a low risk approach to treasury management and seeks to ensure that its capital is preserved and financial risks are managed

appropriately.

The Group treasury operations are managed by the Finance function within parameters defined by the Board. The regulatory capital and
treasury position of the Group are reported to the Board on a regutar basis.

The Group's cash and cash equivalent assets are exposed to a number of financial risks in tha normal course of its business, The policy
adopted is designed to manage risk and recognises that treasury management operations are specifically not treated as a profit centre. The
key aspects of this policy and its implementation are detailed below:

* Funds on deposit will only be placad on a short-term basis {maximum term 90 days) to help maximise regutatory capital.

» Deposits may only be placed with counterparties approved by the F&C Credit Committee, and the Board has set a £25.0m limit for the
maximum exposure to any single counterparty. The F&C Credit Committee's primary focus is to assess the credit position of counterparties
prior to placing any client assets with them and to monitor credit risk thereafter.

» Exposure to cash and cash equivalent balances helkd in foreign currency is managed to reduce the risk of movements in exchange rates,
where possible, by the repatriation of surplus foreign currency into Sterling. This is achieved in practice via the regular settlernent of the
Group's transfer pricing arrangements and through the payment of dividends from foreign subsidiaries, having regard to any restrictions in
respect of their respective legal, regulatory and working capital requirements.

» Cash and deposit balances can be exposed to interest rate movements. The Group utilises the experience and skills of its professional
dealing team to obtain the best interest rates, ensuring the expected maturity dates of deposits are aligned to the Group’s working
capital requirerments.

Any exception to the treasury policy requires the prior approval of the Board. Recognising the potential consequences of the recent global and
European financial crises, management scught to operate throughout 2010 and 2011 with a maximum corporate exposure to any one financial
institution of £15.0m. Prior approval was given for a limited number of exceptions.

Reinsurance assets

The Group's unit-linked pooled pension subsidiary is an insurance company and has some exposure to insurance contract liabilities, as
outlined in note 30. These liabilities are tully reinsured as the Group seeks to have no net insurance exposure, The reinsurance assets rapresent
the expected amounts recoverable to mest insurance liabifities as they fall due. The Group has exposure to both credit and liquidity risk on
these assets.

Defined benefit pension deficit
The Group’s defined benefit pension deficit represents the discounted value of future pension obligations in excess of plan assets, details of
which are given in note 25.

The Group has exposure 10 movements in the market value of the plan assets, which include equities and LDI fixed interest pools.
Approximately 25% of the assets held in respect of the UK scheme are heid in LDI pools, with maturity profies which match the expected
maturity profile of pension obligations. The market values of the LDI pools are impacted by movements in interest rates,

The value of defined benefit pension obligations is quantified and discounted using corporate bond rates. Moverments in these rates can have
a significant impact on the pension liabifities and hence the quantum of the Group's pension deficit.

Management of capital

While F&C considers its capital to be its total equity, this is effectively managed via the net assets 1o which it relates. The Company’s Ordinary
Shares are listed on the Longon Stock Exchange. The Board monitors significant movements in the composition of its sharsholder basse.
Details of substantial interests in share capital are shown in the Report of the Directors on page 25. In the ordinary course of business the only
movements in the absolute number of shares in issue woukd be through the issue of new or own shares to satisfy obligations under share-
based paymant arangements or through the purchase of own shares to satisfy future share scheme obligations.
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36. Financial risk management continued

The Directors give carsful consideration to the appropriate funding structure for financing all acquisitions, which historically have included both
equity and dabt funded transactions. During 2010 some 24.8 million new shares were placed in the market to partially fund the TRC
acquisition and some 6.1 million of new shares were issued in respect of the Commutation amangements.

Dividends are only declared by the Board after due ¢onsideration of a number of key items, including the financial results and the outlook of the
financial position of the Company and of the Group. The dividend policy seeks to achieve a targeted dividend cover of 1.5 times underlying
earnings per share. The Board dectared a total dividend of 3.0 pence per share for 2011.

The overall objective of shareholder liquidity risk managament is to ensure that there is sufficient liquidity over short and medium time horizons
to meet the needs of the business. This includes liquidity to cover, among other things, capital expenditure, sanvicing debt and equity capital as
wel as working capital to fund the Group’s day-to-day operaticnal reguirernents. The Board indicated that it will seek to reduce net debt over
the medium-term, with a target of zero net debt to be achieved by the end of 2014, While the Board consider this target to be achievable, the
Directors recognisa that a number of risks exist which could prevent this target from being achieved.

Working capital

Working capital is monitored on a daily basis to ensure that sattlement terms of all forthcoming liabilities can be met. This activity includes
tirnely collection of debtors and monitoring of cash on deposit, having regard to regulatory capital requirernents, as outlined below. The
Group's Finance function includes a Treasury team which manages the cash flow requirements of the Group while seeking to maximise the
amount of cash on deposit.

At 31 December 2011 the Group had a £20m revolving credit facility and bank overdratt facilities available 1o it which provided some protection
against any short-term cash-flow deficiencies. The revolving credit facility expired on 29 February 2012, The undrawn committed tacilities
available at the reporting date are shown in note 22 as are details of the Group's interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

The Group has some £150m of Guaranteed Fixed-Rate Loan Notes which mature in December 2016 together with some £125m of
Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Notes in issue. The earliest repayment date for these Subordinated Notes is 2016, but this can be extended
at the option of the Group to 2026. In addition, the Group has the option to defer interest payments on this subordinated debt, but if it elects to
do so then no dividend can be paid to Ordinary Shareholders until the cumutative amount of any unpaid interest due on the subordinated dabt
is settled in full. No such interest payments have been defarred.

The Board Reserved List prohibits the use of derivatives including futures, options and forward contracts, in respect of the Group's net assets,
without prior Board approval, eeognising the general principle of seeking to minimise capital loss.

Regulatory capital requirements
The Group is required to maintain a minimum leval of capital in accordance with the Capital Reguirements Directive (CRD) prascribed in the UK
by the Financial Services Authority (FSA).

In 2006, the Group obtained from the FSA a walver from measting any minimum capital requirements under the consolidated supervision rules
of the CRD. This waiver took effect from 1 January 2007 and was due to expire at the end of 201 1. However, in April 2011 the FSA approved
F&C’s application to renew the waiver, which now expires in April 2016.

At 31 December 2011, there werg 15 regulated companies in the Group, of which 11 are registered in the United Kingdom and are subject to
regulation by the FSA. This includes F&C MPF which, being a regulated insurance firm, as opposed to an investmant firm, is not part of tha
consolidation Group for regulatory capital reporting purposes. Overseas regulated companies, registered in the Republic of Ireland, The
Netherlands, Portugal and Hong Kong are subject to regulatory capital requirements set out by their respective local regulatory authority, as
ambeddad within the legistation of those urisdictions.

Regulations set out the measurament of Capital Resources and Capital Rasources Requiremants {CRR) to determine tha regulatory capital
surplus or deficit, This CRR is refermed to as the Pilar 1 capital requirements under the CRD.

For the UK-regulated investment firms, the CRR is the higher of:
= the sum of the 'credit risk capital requirement’ and the ‘market risk capital requirement’; and
« the fixed overhead requirement’.

Credit risk reprasants the risk of a party being unable to meet its obligations to a firm and is calculated using risk weighted percentages applied
to the various exposure amounts. The market risk for F&C represents the risk of loss from fluctuations in exchange rates and is calculated as a
percentage of the total of tha long or short positions, denominated in foreign currencies, whichever is the greater. The fixed overhead
raquirernent is calculated as a guarter of a firm’s relevant fixed annual expenditure in the previous year's audited Financial Statements.

The regulated companies are required to submit financial returns to the FSA, or the local regulatory authority for overseas companies, setting
out the calculation of the regulatory capital surplus (or deficit). The Group's reguiated companies are required to submit financial returns
monthly, quarterly or semi-annually, and the Group must submit a consolidated return semi-annually.
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36. Financial risk management continued

The CRD requires the Group 10 conduct an Internal Capital Adequacy Assassment Process (ICAAP), raferred to as Pillar 2 capital
requirernants. Tha objective of this process is to ensure that companies have adequate capital to enable them to manage fisks not deemed to
be adequately coverad under the Pillar 1 minimum requirements. This is a forward-looking exercise which includes stress-testing key risks,
considering how the company would cope with a significant market down turn for example, and an assessment of the Group's ability to
mitigate the risks.

All of the Group’s regulated entities maintained surpluses of regulatory capital throughout 2010 and 2011.

37. The extent of risks arising from financial instruments

Note 36 prosents details of the Group’s direct or indirect exposure to financial risks arising from financial instruments and the Group's
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk and the management of the Group's capital. This note provides numerical
anatyses of the Group's direct exposure to such financial risk, including relevant sensitivity analysis, at each reporting date.

The disclosures in this note exclude any policyholder unit-linked assets and liabilities in respect of F&C MPF, as the risks and rewards rest
primarily with the policyholders.

{a) Credit risk
{} Maximum exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount of financial assets represents tha Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposure of each class of
financial asset is:
31 Decemnber 31 Decamber

2011 2010
£m £m
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial investments 8.6 9.9
Stock of units and shares 0.9 0.1
Available for sale financial assets:
Financial investments 1.7 35
Loans and receivables:
Trade debtors 13.3 21.5
Accrued income 20.0 389
OEIC and unit trust debtors 29.5 81.2
Other debtors 4.8 10.8
Amounts owed by Achmea Group” - 1.4
Amounts owed by TRC related party entities 0.6 0.7
Amounts owned by F&C REIT related party entities 0.1 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents - shareholders 196.9 178.8
283.4 346.9

* As the Achmea Group ceased to be a related party during 2011, the balances are now included within other dedtors at 31 December 2011.

The accrued inceme balance is higher than the average monthly balance during the year. This is primarily due to the level of performance fees
recognisad at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010.

The guanturn of QEIC and unit trust debtors fluctuates significantly during the year; the balance is dependent upon the timing and values of
creations and liquidations of units or shares.
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37. The extent of risks arising from financial instruments continued
The credit risk of the financial assets analysed by the credit ratings of the counterparties, based on external credit ratings, is set out below:

Other Not

AAA AA A rated rated Total
As at 31 December 2011 £m £m £m £m £m £m
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial investments - 1.2 - 0.3 51 6.6
Stock of units and shares - - - - 0.9 0.9
Available for sale financial assets:
Financial investments - - - - 1.7 1.7
Loans and receivables:
Trade debtors - - 0.3 01 129 133
Accrued income - - 0.1 0.1 28.8 29.0
OEIC and unit trust debtors - - - - 285 295
Other debtors - - - 0.3 45 4.8
Amounts owed by TRC related party entities - - - - 06 06
Amounts owed by F&C RET related party entities - - - - 0.1 01
Cash and cash equivalents - shareholders 8.3 58.1 118.5 9.8 4.2 196.9

6.3 59.3 1189 10.6 88.3 2834

As at 31 December 2010
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial investments - 1.4 - 0.3 8.2 9.9
Stock of units and shares - - - - (o] 0.1
Available for sale financial assets:
Financial investments - - - - 35 3.5
Loans and receivables:
Trade debtors - - 1.3 0.1 20.1 215
Accrued income - - 0.7 0.2 38.0 389
QOEIG and unit trust debtors - - - - 81.2 81.2
Other debtors - - 57 - 5.1 10.8
Amounts owed by Achmea Group - - 1.4 - - 1.4
Amounts owed by TRC related party entities - - - - 0.7 0.7
Amounts owed by F&C RET related party entities - - - - R 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents - sharehoiders 16.8 67.0 71.0 24.0 - 178.8

16.8 68.4 80.1 2486 157.0 3469




110 | FINANCIAL STATEMENTS | Notes to the Consclidated Financial Staternents

37. The extent of risks arising from financial instruments continued

{iiy Analysis of financial assets past due but not impaired
The anatysis of financial assets which are receivable but have not been impaired is as follows:

Neither Less Between Between
past due than 30 30 and 90 90 days Beyond
nor days days and 1 year 1 year
impaired overdue overdue overdue overdue Total

As at 31 December 2011 om £m fm £m £m £m
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial invastrnents 6.6 - - - - 6.6
Stock of units and shares 0.9 - - - - 0.9
Available for sale financial assets:
Financial investments 1.7 - - - - 1.7
Leoans and receivables:
Trade dabtors 7.7 22 22 1.2 - 13.3
Accrued income 29.0 - - - - 29.0
OEIC and unit trust debtors 29.5 - - - - 29.5
Other debtors 4.8 - - - - 4.8
Amounts owed by TRC related party entities 0.6 - - - - 0.8
Amounts owed by F&C REIT refated party entities 0.1 - - - - 0.1
Cash and cash equivalents - shareholders 196.9 - - - - 196.9

277.8 22 22 1.2 - 283.4
As at 31 December 2010
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial investments 9.9 - - - - 9.9
Stock of units and shares 0.1 - - - - 0.1
Available for sale financial assets:
Financial investments 3.5 - - - - 3.5
Leoans and receivables:
Trade debtors 10.9 26 35 45 - 21.5
Accrued income 38.9 - - - - 38.9
QEIC and unit trust debtors B81.2 - - - - B1.2
Other debtors 10.2 - - 0.2 0.4 10.8
Amounts owed by Achmea Group 1.4 - - - - 1.4
Amounts owed by TRC relatad party entities - - - Q.7 - 0.7
Amounts owed by F&C REIT related party entities a1 - - - - Q1
Cash and cash equivalents - shareholders 178.8 - - - - 178.8

335.0 2.6 3.5 5.4 0.4 346.9

Based on past experience and the natura of the Group's business, the Directors believe that no additional impairment provision is necessary at
either 31 Decembar 2011 or 31 December 2010 in respect of trade debtors. The trade debtor balances, which have been impaired at the
reporting dates, are shown below.

{iii} Impairment losses
Details of impairment of financial assets at 31 December are as follows:

Trade debtors provision:
201 2010
£m £m
At 1 .January 0.8 0.6
Bad debt charge in the year” 0.4 0.3
Utilised in the year {0.1) 0.1)
At 31 December 11 0.8
Gross impaired trade debtors 1.1 0.8

* Included within operating expenses in the Income Statement.

No other financial instrurnents have been impaired during 2011 (2010: none}.
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37. The extent of risks arising from financial instruments continued

(iv) Concentration risk
Specific concentration of risk in respect of amounts receivable from any one bank or financial institution, client or group of connected clients at
the reporting date is given below:

31 Decombar 31 December

2011 2010

Concentrations of £1.0m or more €m £m
Amounits held with banks and similar financial institutions — 2011: 24 (2010: 17) 196.8 175.1
Amounts dua from Achmea Group® - 4.4
Amounts due from QEIC Truslges 21.8 127
Amounts due from cther significant clients — 2G11: 8 clients (2010: 10) 253 B8.2
Amounts due from significant other debtors - 2011: no debtors (201C: 1) - 55
2439 285.9

" As the Achmea Group ceased 10 be a related party during 2011, the balances are now included within other significant clients at 31 December 2011.

Concentration risk comprises individual entities or cliants with a recsivable balance of £1.0m or more at the reporting date. This disclosure
shows the potential impact of some of these entities or clients failing to satisfy payment of the receivable amounts. The table does not consider
the likelihood of any of these entities or clients defaulting.

{b) Liquidity risk
The following are the maturity dates of the Group's financiat liabilities:

Within
1 year, or More
repayable Within Within than
on demand 1-2 years 2-5 years 5 years Total

As at 31 December 2011 £m £m £m £m £m
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:
Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 2016/2026 - - 1250 - 125.0
Interest on Subordinated Notes™ 8.4 8.4 25.4 - 42.2
Guaranteed Fixed Rate Loan Notes 2016 - - 149.7 - 149.7
Interest on Guaranteed Loan Notes 2016 13.5 13.5 40.3 - 673
Trade and other payables:
Trade creditors 3.7 - - - 3.7
OEIC and unit trust creditors 278 - - - 27.8
Other creditors 213 07 1.9 1.4 253
Accruals 18.0 1.6 0.8 0.5 209
Liabilities to members of LLPs 4.7 - - - 4.7
Other financial liabilities 38 3.8 ar7 - 453

101.2 28.0 380.8 1.9 511.9
As at 31 December 2010
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings:
Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 2016/2026 - - - 125.0 125.0
Interest on Subordinated Notes* 8.4 8.4 253 85 50.6
Guarantesd Fixed Rate Loan Notes 2016 - - - 149.7 149.7
Interest on Guaranteed Loan Notes 2016 13.5 13.5 40.4 134 BO.8B
Trade and other payables:
Trade creditors 3.4 - - - 34
OEIC and unit trust creditors BO.1 - - - 80.1
Other creditors 258 7.9 09 1.3 359
Accruals 25.1 - 1.5 05 271
Armounts owed to Achmea Group 2.0 - - - 20
Amounts owed to F&C REIT related party entities 0.3 - - - 0.3
Liabilities to members of LLPs 4.4 - - - 4.4
Other financial liabilities 4.5 4.5 45.0 - 54.0

167.5 34.3 1131 298.4 613.3

* To the date of the Group's option to extend the Notes beyond 19 December 2018,

The quantum of OEIC and unit trust creditors fluctuates significantly during the year; the balance is dependent upon the timing and values of
creations and liquidations of umits or shares.
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37. The extent of risks arising from financial instruments continued
The maturity dates of the Group's financial liabiities have been determined by reference to the earliest contractual date on which the
counterparty could demand payment and the stated amounts represent undiscounted cash flows.

Other financial liabilities comprise the F&C REIT put options, included at the sarliest date at which the options could be exarcised.

The Group has borrowing facilities avatlable to it. The undrawn committed facilities available at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 are
shown in note 22,

{c) Market risk
(i) Market price risk
The analysis of financial assets which are exposed to market price risk is as follows:
31 December 31 Doecamber

2011 2010
£m £m

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
Financial investments 54 85
Stock of units and shares 0.9 Q1
6.3 86

Detalls of the assets held by the Group's defined benefit pension schemes, which are also exposed to market price risk, are given in note 25.

(i} Other price risk
31 December 31 December

2011 2010
£m £m

Available for sale financial assets:
Financial investments 1.7 3.5

{iii) Currency risk
The Group is exposed to currency risk at the reporting date in respect of:

* Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cumrencies; and
* The foreign currency risk of net assets of foreign operations.

The net monetary assets and net investmeant in foreign operations, in Stering, which are denominated in foreign currencies or for which the fair
value of the asset or liability varies with movements in foreign currencies are:

Euro US Dollar Other Total

£m £m £m £m

As at 31 December 2011 84.0 28 14 68.2
As at 31 December 2010 75.0 11.0 1.7 87.7

The above table excludes intangible assets.
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37. The extent of risks arising from financial instruments continued

(iv} Interest rate risk
The following tables set out the carrying amount and maturity profite of the Group's financial instruments that are exposed to interest rate risk:

Within Within Within More than
1 year 1-2 years 2-5 years S years
As at 31 December 2011 £m £m £m fm
Fixed rate:
Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated MNotes 2016/2026 - - (125.0) -
Guaranteed Fixed Rate Loan Notes 2016 - - {(149.7) -
Financial investments — corporate bonds - - 0.3 -
Financial investments — NIC hedge 01 - - -
Floating rates:
Financial investments - NIG hedge 1.2 - - -
Financial investments — mutual funds 0.3 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents — shareholder 196.9 - - -
198.5 - (274.4) -
As at 31 December 2010
Fixed rate:
Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 2016/2026 - - - (125.0)
Guaranteed Fixed Rate Loan Notes 2016 - - - (149.7)
Financial investments - corporate bonds - - 0.3 -
Financial investments - NIC hedge - - 0.1 -
Floating rates:
Financial investments — NIC hedge 15 - - -
Cash and cash equivalents — shareholder 178.8 - - -
180.3 - 0.4 (274.7)

{v} Sensitivity analysis
The Group has quantified the impact of specific changes in its significant market risk variables. This analysis measures the change in fair value
of the Group's financial instruments.

The sensitivity anatysis, which is for illustrative purposes only, is prepared based on financial instruments at the reporting dates. The sensitivity
assumes changes in cartain market conditions. These assumptions may differ matenally from the actual outtum due to the inherent
uncertainties in global financial markets. In practice, market risks rarety change in isolation and are likety to be interdependent. The mathods
and assumgptions used are the same for both reporting periods.

The sensitivity analysis has been prepared based on the impact that a set percentage increase or decrease in the market conditions would
have on the profit or loss and on total equity.

Changes in exchange rates assume an instantaneous increase or decrease of 10.0% in foreign currency {o Steriing rates at the reporting date,
with all other variables ramaining constant.

The estimated changes in fair values of investments assume a 10.0% increase or decrease in the fair values of investments at the reporting
date, with all other variables remaining constant.

Changes in marke! interast rates assume an increase or decrease of 1.0% in the rate applied to average cash balances in the yaar.
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37. The extent of risks arising from financial instruments continued
The financial impact of market risk sensitivities, after taxation, are summarised below:

Profit or loss  Profit or loss Equity Equity
sensitivity sensitivity sensitivity sensitivity
As at 31 December 2011 £m £m £m £m
Exchange rate movement* +10% -10% +10% -10%
Sterling/Euro exchange rates 1.0 {1.2) 5.5 {6.7)
Sterling/USD exchange rates 0.1 {0.2) 0.1 {0.2)
Fair value movement - investments +10% -10% +10% -10%
Sterling equity prices 0.4 0.4) 0.6 (0.6)
interest rate movement +1% 1% +1% -1%
Sterling market interest rates 15 (1.5) 15 (1.5)
As at 31 December 2010
Exchange rate movement* +10% 10% +10% -10%
Sterling/Euro exchange rates 08 09 6.5 (7.8
Sterling/USD exchange rates 0.4 {0.6) 0.4 (0.6}
Fair value movement - Investments +10% -10% +10% -10%
Sterling equity prices 08 {0.6) 0.8 0.8
interest rate movement +1% -1% +1% -1%
Sterling market interest rates 15 (1.5) 1.5 (1.5)

* +10% represonts a movement in favour of the Group and -10% represents a movement against the Group.

In addition, the F&C REIT put options are disclosed in note 28 at fair vatue. A 10% movement in the fair value of the options at 31 December
2011 woutd resuft in a £4.5m (31 December 2010: £5.4m) chargs or credit to the Income Staternent and to equity.

Impainment of financial assets can also be affacted by changes in the relevant underlying risk.

{d) Capital
A summary of the Group's capital and the net assets which it represents is shown below:

31 December 31 December

2011 2010

£m £m

Share capital 0.5 0.5
Share premium account 51.8 51.8
Capital redemption reserve 0.8 0.8
Merger reserve 359.7 383.3
Other reserves (22.8) {19.5}
Retained sarnings 154.3 138.2
Non-controling interests 128 16.5
Total equity 556.8 571.6
Net assets 556.8 571.6

Note 36 describes the Group's management of capital, working capital and regulatory capital requirements.

38. Insurance risk management

The Group's insurance contracts are all annuity contracts which guarantee payment during the lifetime of the annuitant at a specified level or
with a specified escalation factor. They are all 100% reinsured with Friends Life Limited.

The only risk that the Group is subject to in respect of these contracts is the credit risk of the reinsurer. Given tha small amount at risk {£2.0m
at 31 December 2011; £2.0m at 31 December 2010}, this is not considered to be significant.




39. Subsidiary undertakings

The principal entities controlted by the parent undertaking are as follows:
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Percentage Country of

interest and registration ot

voting rights*  incorporation Nature of business
{i) United Kingdom
FP Asset Management Holdings Limited") 100 England Holding company
F&C Asset Management Services Limitedt 100 Scotland Employee sarvice company
ISIS Investment Manager pict 100 England Investment management
F&C Managed Pension Funds Limited!" 100 England Unit-linkad pooledt pensions business
F&C Treasury Limited™ 100 England Treasury managsment company
F&C Group {Holdings) Limited(™® 100 England Hokding company
F&C Group ESOP Trustee Limited™ 100 Scatland ESOP Trustes
F&C Investment Business Limitec! 100 Scotland Investrment management
F&C Finance picit! 100 England Debt financing company
F&C Aurora (GP) Limitect" 100 Scotland General Partner
The Aurora Fund (Founder Partner) LPX 501 Scotland Founder Partner
F&C European Capital Partners (GP) Limited" 100 Scotland General Partner
F&C European Capital Partners (Founder Partner) LP™ 50 Scolland Founder Partner
F&C Climate Opportunity Partners (GP) Limited™ 100 Scotland Geaneral Partner
FAC Climate Opportunity Partners (Founder Partner} LP 50t Scotland Founder Partner
F&C REIT Asset Managemen! LLP™ 70t England Property asset management
FP Fund Managers Limited® 100 England Investment manzagement
F&C Asset Managers Limited@ 100 England Investmant management
F&C Property Limited® 100 England Property asset managsment
WAM Holdings Limited® 100 England Holding company
F&C Property Investments Limitegt 100 England Property asset management
F&C Fund Management Limited® 100 England OEIC investment management
F&C Managers Limited® 100 England investment management
F&C Alternative Investments (Hokdings) Limited® 100 England Hoiding company
F&C Group Management Limited® 100 England Holding company
F&C Holdings Limited® 100 Engtand Helding company
F&G (Cl) Limited™ 100 Engtand Investment company
F&C Investment Services Limited® 100 England Support services company
F&C Management Limited™ 100 England Investmant management
FCEM Holdings (UK) Limited® 100 England Holding company
F&C Emerging Markets Limited™® 100 England Investmant management
F&C Partnars LLPUG 1001 England Hedge fund investment management
F&C Private Equity Nominee Limited" 100 England Investment company
F&C REIT Property Asset Management plct'? 70 Engtand Property assst management
REIT Asset Management Limited™? 70 England Property asset management
F&C REIT Corporate Finance Limited®3 70 England Property asset management
Tier Services Limited4 70 England Property assat management
Thames River Capital UK Limited'® 100 England Employes service company
Thames River Capital LLP™ 100t England Investment managemnent
Thames River Multi-Capital LLP™ 100t England Invastment management
{ii) Non United Kingdom
Thames River Capital Group Limited™ 100 Cayman lslands ~ Holding company
F&C Netherlands B.v.® 100 The Netherlands  Investment managerment
F&C lreftand Limited® 100 Republic of Ireland Investiment management
F&C Portugal Gestao de Patrimonios S.A.9 100 Portugal Investment management
F&C Asset Management Asia Limited.® 100 Hong Kong Investment management
F&C Management Luxembourg S.A.® 100 Luxembourg Investment management
F&C Channel Islands Limited® 100 Jersay Employee service company
FAC REIT Asset Management SA.rl19 70 Luxembourg Property asset rmanagemant
F&C REIT Asset Management Sweden AB'Y 70 Sweden Property asset management
F&C REIT Asset Worldwide Limited*# 70 Gibraltar Property asset management
F&C REIT Asset Management GmbH & Co KG!'Y 70t Garmany Property asset managerment
F&C REIT Property Management India Pvt Ltg4* 70 India Property asset management
Thames River Capital Holdings Limited ' 100 Cayman Islands  Holding company

. Voting nights are ordinary share capital except where indicated.

t Partnership interest in voting rights.

. These companies have non-coterminous 31 March reporting dates, to comply with local reporting regquirements and partnarship agreements.
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Subsidiary undertakings continued
Owmed by F&C Asset Management ple

Owned by FP Asset Management Holdings Limited
Owned by F&C Traasury Limited

Owned by WAM Holdings Limited

Owned by F&C Group (Holdings) Limited

Owned by F&C Group Managemant Limited
Owned by F&C Holdings Limited

Owned by FAC Management Limited

Owned by FGEM Holdings (UK} Limited

Owned by FEC Alternative Investments {Holdings) Limited
Owned by F&C {CI) Limited

Crwmed by FEC REIT Asset Management LLP
Owned by REIT Assst Management Limited
Owned by F&C REIT Asset Management S.A.rl.
Owned by Thames River Capital Group Limited
Owned by Thames River Capital Holdings Limited
Owned by Thames River Capital UK Limitad

Related party transactions

In the ordinary course of business, the Group carried out transactions with related parties, as defined by 1AS 24: Related Party Disclosures.

The principal subsidiary undertakings of the Company are shown in note 39.

During the year, the Group entered into the following transactions with related parties:

(a) Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
In aggregate these are set out balow:
Totai Qutstanding at Total  Qutstanding at
ti 3 D b compensation 31 December
2011 201 2010 2010
£m £m £m £m
Shon-term employee and rmernber benefits 135 6.1 10.2 4.2
Post-employment benefits 0.8 - 0.8 -
Termination benefits 1.7 0.7 - -
Share-based payments 6.0 - 3.2 -
Total 220 6.8 14.2 4.2

‘Kay management personnel’ comprise:

Directors of al principal companies in the Group;
Members of the Group Management;
Members of F&C REIT's Executive Committee; and

Members of TRC's Management Committee.
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40. Related party transactions continued
Compensation of key management personnel excludes the profit entiliement attributable to minority interests, which are separately disclosed
within note 40(c)ii).

Where key management parsonnel participate in defined benefit pension schemes which have bean accounted for as such under IAS 18, the
amount included as compensation reflacts the current sarvice and/or past service cost for the relevant year. Where key management personnel
are members of multi-employer defined benefit arrangements or defined contribution schemes, the benefits shown reflect the contributions
payable for each year.

Tha share-based payments disclosed in the table above reflect the value of any share-based payments vesting during the year. This is

quaniified as the aggregate of cash payments plus the fair value of shares on the date of vesting (excluding any consideration payable on
exarcise) of such share-based payment awards.

{b) Transactions with key management personnel of the Group
Appropriations of profits paid to key management are as follows:

2011 2010

£m £m

Ordinary dividends paid 0.1 0.2
Distributions paid to minority interests* 71 5.9

* An analysis of profit entitiements for 2011 ang 2010 and net assets attributable to minority interests at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010 are disclosed
on pages 119and 120,

{c) Transactions and balances with Group related parties
Transactions with related parties during 2011 and 2010 and outstanding balances with these parties as at 31 December 2011 and
31 December 2010 are given below, by each group of related parties.

(i} Related party transactions with Sherborne

Sherborne owns approximately 20% of the Crdinary Share capital of F&C and is represented on the Board by the Executive Chairman, Edward
Bramson, who is a partner in Sherborne. Sherbome is entitled to ordinary dividends, and a fee in respect of the Chairman's services to F&C.
The Greup’s fransactions with Sherborne ame disclosed below:

Total expensed Outstanding at Total expensed  Outstanding at
and acorved 31 December  and accrued 31 December

during 2011 2011 during 2010 2010

£m £m &m £m

Ordinary dividends paid to Sherborng” 3.0 - n/a n/a
Dirsctor's fees payable to Sherbome* 0.1 - n/a n/a
Other expenses payable to Sherborne* 0.2 - n‘a n/a

* With effect from Mr Bramson's appointment as Chairman on 3 February 2011,
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40. Related party transactions continued

{ii) Related party transactions with Achmea B.V. and subsidiary companies {Achmea Group)

While the Achmea Group hekd in excass of 10% of the Ordinary Share capital of the Company they were entitled to appoint a representative to
the Board of the Company. However, since 1 March 2011, Achmea no longer had Beard representation and as a result ceased to be a elated
party. The disclosures below represent transactions up to that date or balances at that date.

Companies within the F&C Group provide investment management sarvices to the Achmea Group. Companies within the Achmea Group,
under the Transitional Services Agreement, provide services in respact of investment accounting and other administration services.

Total Total
invoiced Outstanding at invoiced  Qutstanding at
and accrued 31 December and accrued 31 December
during 2011 2011 during 2010 2010
£m £m £m £m
Shared services and administrative services:
Achmea Group 01 n/a 0.2 -
Friends First - nfa 0.1 0.1
Amounts outstanding at 31 December are included within accruals.
Management fees:
Achmea Group 4.0 n/a 255 1.5
Friends First 0.8 n/a 46 0.2
Imperio 61 n/a 0.5 0.2
Amounts outstanding at 31 December are included
within trade debtors and accrued income.
Dividends payable to Achmea B.V.:
Ordinary dividends nfa nfa 26 -

* Uintd Achmea ceased to have Board representation on 1 March 2011,

Other amounts owed by/to Achmea
In addition 1o the above, the Group was owed £1.7m at 1 March 2011 {31 Decamber 2010: £1.4m}) by Achmea B.V. and its subsidiaries.

The Group also owed Achmea B.V. £1.3m at 1 March 2011 (31 December 2010; £1.3m) in respect of taxation balances.

The Group owed Achmea B.V. £0.7m at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: £0.7m} in respect of additional estimated purchase
consideration for the acquisition of F&C Group (Holdings) Limited on 11 October 2004 as disclosed in note 15(c).

{ii) Transactions with minority partners

{1) F&C REIT Asset Management LLP

F&C Asset Management plc owns 70% of the “A” and “B" partnership units in F&C REIT Asset Management LLP (the Partnership). The other
panners in the Partnership, all of whom have significant influence over the management of the Partnarship or a significant economic interest in
the Partnership are:

Kendray Properties Limited 30.0% ownership interest in “B™ units
Leo Noé 225% ownership interest in A" units
wor Smith 7.5% ownership interest in "A” units

These parties are considered to be related parties.
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40. Related party transactions continued
The partners are entitied 10 receive a share of the profits of F&C REIT Group as disglosed in the table below:

2011 2010
amortisation 2011 2011 NCJ at amortisation 2010 2010 NCI at
of Intangible profit  distributions 31 December of intangible profit distributions 31 December
assets share paid 2011 assets share paid 2010
£m £m £m £m em £m £m £m
Kendray Properties Limited {1.0} 2.3 (3.5) 6.8 (1.2} 24 2.4) 9.0
Leo Noé {0.7} 19 2.4) 4.7 {0.9) 2.2 2.3) 5.9
Iver Smith {0.3} 0.7 {1.0) 1.0 (0.3} Q.7 0.9 16
{2.0) 4.9 {6.9) 125 2.4 5.3 {5.6) 16.5

F&C has a shared services agreement and a staff secondment agreement with FAC REIT Assst Management LLP whereby the F&C Group
provides certain administrative and professional services 10 the FAC REIT Group. Amounts charged under these agreements ara set out balow:

Total Total
Involced Outstanding at invoiced  Outstanding at
and d 3D b and accrued 3% December
during 2011 2011 during 2010 2010
£m £m £m em
Shared services and administrative services:
Employee benefits 9.3 4.3 9.0 3.3
Administration service fees 1.0 0.2 1.0 0.1

The abova amounts are eiiminated on consolidation.

In addition, F&C REIT Assat Management LLP paid Leo Noé and Ivor Smith £0.4m during 2011 (2010: £0.5m) in respect of rent for the F&C
REIT Group's head office at Wigmors Strest, London.

The F&C REIT Assaet Management LLP Group has balances with several entities connected with the minority partners of the Parinership. These
halances primarily remain from the creation of the FAC REIT Group in 2008.

Balances Balances
outstanding at outstanding at
31 December 31 December

2011 2010

£m £m

Kendray Properties Limited - {0.3}
REIT Europe Limited 0.1 Q.1

During 2011, F&C Asset Management plc made a camied interast investment in F&C REIT Carry LP, an associated entity, This investment will
antitle the Company to future caried interest profits from the management of F&C REIT Club Deals LP.

£13.5m of profit distributions were paid by FRC REIT Asset Management LLP to the Company in 2011 {2010: £10.6m), which eliminate on
consolidation.
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40. Related party transactions continued

Certain management feas receivable by F&C companies outwith the F&C REIT Group are passed to the F&C REIT Group under revenue
delegation agreements, as the asset managament activity has been delegated to FAC REIT. Amounts payabte during the year and outstanding
at the year end are set out below:

Total Total
Invoiced Outstanding at invoiced  Outstanding at
and accrved 31 Docember and accrued 31 December
during 2011 2011 during 2010 2010
£m £m £m £m
Management fees 1.2 4.4 13.3 4.6

These amounts are aliminated on consolidation.

As part of the acguisition of REIT in 2008, F&C issued £35.0m of Floating Rate Secured Notes to Kendray Properties Limited, of which £25.0m
was repaid to Kendray Properties Limited during 2009 and £10.0m was repaid in 2010.

Interest on Floating Rate Secured Notes

Charged Outstanding at Chargad  Outstanding at

and accrued 31 December and accrued 31 Decamber

during 2011 2011 during 2010 2010

£m £m £m £m

Interest payable to Kendray Properties Limited - - 0.2 -

The F&C Group recognises a share-based payment credit or expense in respeact of the variable minority interest enhancement which could be
achieved by Kendray Properties Limited, Leo Noé and tvor Smith. Full details are disclosed in note 26(c).

The F&C REIT minority partners gach have a put option to sell their minority stake in F&C REIT after a minimurm number of years. Details of the
carrying amount of these option liabilities are disclosed in note 28. The option liability is split in the ownership proportions of Kendray Properties
Limited, Leo Noé and Ivor Smith.

{2) F&C Partners LLP

F&C Alternative Investments (Holdings) Limited owned 60% of F&C Partners LLP until the founder partners exarcised their put options over
their shares on 7 October 2011, whersupon F&C acquired the remaining 40% of the interest in the Parnership. The founder partners, both of
whom held significant inflilence over the management of the Partnership and had the following economic interest in the Partnership until

7 October 2011, were:

F. Barthelemy 20% ownership interest
A. Gulligan 20% ownership interest

These parties were considered to be related parties until the date of transfer of the membership interests.

The partners were entitled to receive a share of the profits in F&C Partners LLP.

2011 NCI at 2010 NGl at

2011 profit  distributions 31 December 2010 profit distributions 31 December

entitlement” paid® 2011 entitlernent paid 2010

£m £m £m £m £m £m

F. Barthelemy 0.1125 {0.1125) nfa 0.15 (0.15) -
A. Culligan 0.1125 {0.1125) nfa 018 (0.15) -
0.225 (0.225) n/a 0.3 0.3) -

* Until 7 October 2011.

Under the terms of the Partnership agreement, a portion of certain management fees receivable by FAC Partners LLP are passed to F&C
Alternative Investrnents (Holdings) Limited.

Total Total
invoiced Outstanding at invoiced  Outstanding at
and accrued 31 December and accrued 31 December
during 2011 2011 during 2010 2010
£&m £m m m
Management fees - nfa 0.2 A

These amounts are eliminated on consclidation.
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40. Related party transactions continued
The Group has a shared services agreement with F&C Partners LLP wherehy the F&C Group provides certain administrative and professional
sarvices to F&C Partners LLP.

Total Total
invoiced Outstanding at invoiced  QOutstanding at
and d 31D b and accrued 31 December
during 2011* 2011 during 2010 2010
£m £m £m £m
Employee services 0.3 n/a 0.8 0.4
Administration service fees 0.1 n/a R -

These amounts are eliminated on consolidation.

* Ut 7 October 2011.

({iv} Transactions with Thames River Capital related party entities
Two of the directors of Thames River Capital UK Limited are also membaers of Nevsky Capital LLP, an entity to which Thames River Capital UK
Limited provides support and infrastructure services.

Thames River Capital UK Limited recharges Nevsky Capital LLP at cost for these services.

Tota! Total
invoiced Outstanding at invoiced  Outstanding at
and d 31 Decemb and accrued 31 December
during 2011 201 during 20107 2010
£m £m £m £m
Support and infrastructure services:
Nevsky Capital LLP 3.0 0.6 06 0.7

* Period from 1 September 2010 - 31 Decermber 2010,

{v) Post-employment benefit plans
The Group operates and participates in several post-employment benefit plans as detalled in note 25.

The Group contributed amounts to the defined banefit plans and had amounts outstanding at 31 December sach year as follows:

Employer Outstanding at Employer  Outstanding at

contributions 31 December contributions 31 December

2011 2011 2010 2010

£m £m £m £m

F&C Asset Management Pension Plan 5.3 - 8.1 -
F&C Portugalt® 0.4 - 0.3 -
F&C Netherlands 0.8 - 0.4 -
F&C Ireland 0.2 - 0.2 -
6.5 - 9.0 -

9 incorporated within the Fundo de Pensoes do Grupo Banco Comercial Portugués scheme,

In addition to the above, the Group has an unfunded obligation to provide a former Chairman, Mr R W Jenkins, with a pension as detailed in
note 25.

The Group manages certain of the assets of the F&C Asset Management Pension Plan. The assets of the Plan managed by the Group totalled
£189.8m at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: £176.1m).

The Group received the following investment management fees from this scheme;

Fees Outstanding at Fees  Outstanding at
recelvable 31 December receivable 31 Decemnber
2011 2011 2010 2010

£m £m fm fm

F&C Asset Management Pension Plan 0.1 - oA -
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40. Related party transactions continued

{vi} Asset management vehicles
The Group has some carried interest investments in asset management vehicles, which entitle the Group to a share of profits if certain
investment return thresholds are achieved.

The Group provides asset management services for a number of asset managament vehicles where Group companies directly sponsor or are
involved in the management of underlying funds, which meet the criteria of related parties. In return the Group receives investment
management fees for provision of these services.

These assst management vehicles and the investment management fees are summarised below:

Total Total
Invoiced Outstanding at invoiced  Qutstanding at
and accrued 31 December and accrued 31 Decemnber
during 2011 201 during 2010 2010
£m £m £m £m
Asset management vehiclas 519 45 521 4.5

41. Capital Requirements Directive

Under Pillar 3 of the Capital Requirements Directive, prescribed in the UK by the Financial Sarvices Authority, the Group is required to disclose
information relating to its risks, regulatory capital, remuneration policy and risk managemenit objectives and policies. The Group's Pillar 3
disclosures are given on the Company's websile (www.icamplc.comy).

42. Guarantees

The Company's subsidiary, FAC Netherands B.V,, has provided a lease guarantee for £0.3m to the landlord of its premises at Jachthavenweg
109E, 1081 KM Amsterdam.

43. Events after the reporting period

Corporation Tax

The Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a further Comoration Tax rate reduction in his budget of 21 March 2012, This will become
effectfve from 1 April 2012 and will now move the UK Grroup's statutory effective tax rate to 24.5% for 2012. Furthermore this reduction will
move the Group's tax rate to 22% by 2015.

44. Parent undertaking and controlling party
In the opinion of the Directors, the Group has no ultimate parent undertaking and controling party.
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Five Year Record

Historical summaries
The Five Year Record is shown based on International Financial Reporting Standards which have been adopted by the Group.
This Five Yaear Record is not part of the audited Financial Statements.

2008
2007 {as restated?} 2009 2010 2011
m £m £m £m £m

Consolidated Income Statements
Revenue
Investment management fass 267.2 2442 237.8 258.2 278.0
Other income 10.6 1.1 41 1.6 4.2
Total revenue 277.8 245.3 2419 255.8 283.2
Fee and commission expenses {13.3) (15.4) (16.8) (16.6) (16.2)
Net revenue 264.5 229.9 2251 243.2 267.0
Net gains/{losses) and investment income on unit-inked assets 45.0 (208.7) 136.0 74.3 12.7
Movement in fair value of unit-linked liabilities {43.9) 2105 {134.6) (73.3) {13.4)
Operating expenses
Operating expenses (183.8} (171.0) (164.8) (169.7) {183.8)
Distributions to members of LLPs - - - 6.0) (18.3)
Amortisation of intangible assets — management contracts {42.4) (48.9) {49.8) (50.7) {45.8)
Impairment of intangible assets - management contracts - {48.3) - - -
Unrealised (losses)'gains on forward currency contracts - {12.3) 1.2 - -
Other exceptional net operating costs {10.6} {10.6) {(19.0) (20.9} (19.0)
Total operating expenses (236.8} 291.1} (232.4) (247.3} {266.9)
Operating profit/{loss) 28.8 (59.4) (5.9) 3.7) 0.4
Finance revenue 23.8 25.7 11.5 1 17.2
Finance costs {27.3} (29.4) {30.3) (33.6} (35.4)
F&C REIT put option fair value gain - - 5.6 6.4 8.7
TRC acquisition consideration adjustments - - - - 7.6
Gain on debt exchangs - - 27.9 - -
Loss on disposal of subsidiaries and associates - (4.1} - - -
Impairment in associates and other financial investments - c.1) 0.1) - -
Share of profit of associates 0.6 - - - -
Profit/{loss) before tax 25.8 67.3) 8.7 (19.2) {1.5)
Tax — Shareholders 6.6 17.6 104 6.2 4.1
Tax — Policyholders 0.8 0.9) 0.4) 0.4 -
Tax (expense)/income (7.2) 16.7 10.0 58 4.1
Profit/(loss) for the year 18.7 (50.6) 18.7 (13.4) 2.6
Attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 17.1 (52.5) 158 (16.6) {0.5)
Non-controlling interests 1.8 1.9 2.8 3.2 a1
Profit/(loss) for the year 18.7 (50.6) 18.7 (13.4) 28
Undertying earnings per Ordinary Share’ 10.43p 7.75p 4.57p 5.74p 551p
Basic eamnings/{loss) per Ordinary Share 3.54p {10.66)p 3.24p {3.31)p {0.10)p
Diluted eamings/{loss) per Ordinary Share 3.43p (10.66)p 3.19p @.31)p {0.10)p
Dividends
Memo
Final dividend for 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 33.8 19.7 19.8 19.4 10.4
Interirn dividend for 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011 Q.7 9.9 a7 5.1 52

43.5 29.6 29.5 245 156
Finat dividend per Ordinary Share for 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 7.0p 4.0p 4.0p 4.0p 2.0p
Interim dividend per Ordinary Share for 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011 2.0p 2.0p 2.0p 1.0p 1.0p
Dividend cover! 0.39 (1.78) 0.54 (0.68) {0.03)
Dividend cover before exceptional itams*H 1.16 1.29 0.76 1.17 1.82

* As restated for tha amendment to IFRS 2: Share-based Payment.
* As restated in 2007, 2008, 2009 and 2010 for tha effect of the Deferred Tax - Carporation Tax rate change being excluded from Underlying EPS.
' Based on the dividends paid during 2007, 2008, 2008, 2010 and 2011.
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Reconciliations of reported to underlying earnings

The following tablas reconcile the reportad earnings to underlying earnings attributable to equityholders of the parent. In addition, the

calculation of cantain key performance indicators is given below,

Year ended 31 December 2011

€ millions unless otherwise stated Profit attributable to
Underlying Group Eamings equity holders of the parent
Non-
Adjusted controlling
Reported Income interests Undertying
earnings Adjustments Statement profits" earnings
A Net Revenue 267.0 - 267.0 - 267.0
Net policyholder income 0.3 - 0.3 - 0.3
QOperating expenses (183.8) - (183.8} - (183.8)
Distributions to members of LLPs (18.3} - {18.3} - {18.3)
Amortisation of intangible assets (45.8) 458 - - -
Other exceptional net operating expenses (19.0) 19.0 - - -
Total operating expenses {266.9) 64.8 (202.1): - {202.1)
B Operating profit 0.4 84.8 65.2 - 856.2
Interest paid (23.8) - {23.8} - {23.9)
Interast and investmant income received 5.7 - 5.7 - 57
F&C REIT put option fair value gain 8.7 8.7} - - -
TRC acquisition consideration adjustments 7.6 (7.6} - - -
Other non-operating itams @.1) - (0.1} - ©.n
Non-controlling interests profits - - - (5.7) 5.7)
{Loss)/profit before tax 1.5) 48.5 47.0¢ 5.7 1.3
Tax income/{expense} 4.1 (17.6) (13.5) 0.6 (12.9)
C Profit for the year 26 30.9 3.5 5.1) 28.4
Underlying EPS (C+D) 5.5p
Underlying operating margin (B+A) 24.4%
D Weighted average number of shares {000's) 515,373
* Excluding NCI share of amertisation of intanglble assets.
* Defined as 'underlying operating costs’.
* Defined as 'Group undertying profit before tax'.
Year ended 31 December 2010
£ milions unless otherwise stated Profit attributabile to
Underlying Group Eamings equity holders of the parent
Non-
Adjusted controlling
Reported Income Interests  Undertying
earnings  Adjust Staty t profits* earnings
A Net Revenue 243.2 - 243.2 - 243.2
Net policyholder income 1.0 - 1.0 - 1.0
Operating expenses {169.0} - {169.0} - (169.0)
Exchange losses (1.6} - (1.6) - (1.6)
Realised gains attributable to closed FX contracts 0.9 - 0.9 - 0.9
FX contract losses recognised in prior periods - (1.3} {1.3} - (1.3)
Operating expenses (169.7) {1.3) {171.0) - {171.0)
Distributions to members of LLPs {6.0) - 6.0) - 6.0)
Amortisation of intangible assets {50.7) 50.7 - - -
Other exceptional net operating expenses {20.9) 20.9 - - -
Total operating expenses {247.3) 70.3 {(177.0)t - {177.0)
B Operating (loss)/profit 3.-1) 70.3 67.2 - 67.2
Interest paid (22.3) - (22.3) - (22.3)
Interest and investment income received 1.6 - 1.6 - 1.6
F&C REIT put option fair value gain 6.4 (6.4) - - -
Cther non—operating items (1.8) - {1.8) - (1.8}
Non-controlling interests profits - - - 6.4) 6.4)
{Loss)/profit before tax {19.2) 63.9 a44.7¢ {6.4) 38.3
Tax income/(expensa) 58 (16.0) {10.2) 0.7 (9.5}
C ({Loss)/profit for year {13.4) 47.9 34.5 (5.7 28.8
Underlying EPS {C+D} 5.7p
Underlying operating margin (B+A) 27.6%
D Weighted average number of shares (000's) 501,469

* Excluding NCI share of amortisation of intangible assets and other exceptional costs.
1 Defined as 'underlying operating costs'.
! Defined as ‘Group undertying profit before tax’.
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Company Financial Statements

for the year ended 31 December 2011

These Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
(UK GAAP).

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the F&C Asset Management Group, given on pages 42 to 122 have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS.
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Company Balance Sheet

as at 31 December 2011

M December 31 December
2011 2010
Notas £m £€m
Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets 5 09 1.3
Investmants in subsidiarias =} 1,256.0 1,262.8
Other investments 7 5.4 9.8
1,262.3 1,273.9
Current assots
Debtors — amounts falling due:
Within one year 8 106.7 107.1
Outwith one year 8 60.6 61.8
Cash and shor-term depcsits 2.0 0.2
169.3 1691
Creditors (amounts falling due within one year) g {(11.7) (81.1)
Net current assets 157.6 138.0
Total assets less current liabilities 1,4199 1,411.9
Creditors (amounts falling due outwith one year) g {303.9) (311.1)
Provisions for liabilities 10 8.3) 6.9
Net assets 1,107.7 1,093.9
Capital and reserves
Called up Ordiinary Share capital 15,16 05 0.5
Sharg premium account 16 51.8 51.8
Capital redemption reserve 16 0.8 0.8
Merger reserve 16 M7 912.7
Other reserves 16 75.4 75.8
Profit and loss account 16 66.5 52.3
Total shareholders' funds 15 1,107.7 1,093.9

The Company Financial Statements were approved by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 23 March 2012, They were signed

on its behalf by:

Af

Edward Bramson
Executive Chairman

o

Alain Grisay
Chief Executive

The accompanying notes to the Company Financial Statements form an integral part of these financial statements.
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Company Accounting Policies

Basis of preparation

The separate Financial Statements of the Company are prasented
as required by the Companies Act and are prepared under the
historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
investments, and in accordance with applicable accounting
standards in the United Kingdom.

The principal accounting policies set out below have been
appiied consistently for the years ended 31 December 2011 and
31 December 2010.

The Company's Financial Statements are presented in millions of
pounds Sterling (rounded to one decimal place), the Company's
functional and presentational cumency.

In accordance with Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 a
separate Profit and Loss Account for the Company is not presented.

The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 29:
Financial Instruments: Disclosure and Presentation and has not
disclosed the information required by that standard because the
Company is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements
which ara publicly avaitable and include disciosures given under
IFRS 7: Financial Instruments: Disclosures.

Going concern

The Group's business activities, together with the factors likely to
affect its future development, performance and position are set out
in the Business Review on pages 2 to 21. The financial position of
tha Group, its cash flows and liquidity position are also described in
the Business Review. In addition, note 36 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements on pages 104 to 108 includes the Group's
objectives, policies and processes for managing its capital; its
financial risk management objectives; details of its financial
instruments and its exposure to credit risk and liquidity risk.

After making enquiries, the Directors have a reasonable expectation
that the Company has adequate resources to continua in
operational existence for the foreseeable future. Accordingly, they
continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing these
Financial Statements.

Turncver

Turnover comprises fees for secretarial services provided to
Investment Trusts, and shared services and administration services
provided to subsidiary undertakings. Fees are recognised in the
Profit and Loss Account aver the period for which these services
are provided.

Dividend recognition

Dividends receivable and dividends payable are recognised only
when they have been declared and approved or at the date of
payment for interim dividends,

Investments in subsidiaries
Investrments in subsidiarigs are carried at cost less accumulated
impaiment losses. The cost includes the uplift arising from the

equity-settied share-based payments calcutated in accordance with
FRS 20: Share-based Payment, where no cash contributions are
made by the subsidianies. The uplift is credited to a capital
contribution reserve in equity. The Company recharges certain
subsidiaries when it satisfies these equity-settled awards with its
own shares.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are stated at ¢ost less accurnulated
dapreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Expenditure on tangible fixed assets is capitalised on initial
recognition. Subsaquent expenditurs is only capitalised when it is
probabie that thara will be future economic benafits associated with
the expenditure which can be measured reliably. All other
expenditure is recognised in the Profit and Loss Account as an
expense as incurrad.

Tangible fixed assets are depreciated, using the straight-ling
method, to write off the cost of assets over their estimated useful
lives, as follows:

Leasshold improvements — 10 years
Office furiture & equipment — 3-5 ysars
Computer equipment — 3 years

The carrying vatue of assets and ther useful lives are reviewed at
each reporting date. If an inclication of impairment exists, the assets
are written down to their recoverable amount and the impairment is
charged to the Profit and Loss Account in the year in which it arises.

Financial instruments
Whaen financial instruments are recognised initially they are
measured at fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs.

The fair value of instrumants that are actively traded in organised
financial markets is determined by reference to quoted market bid
prices {mid-price for Open Ended Investment Companies) at the
close of business on the balance sheet date.

Financial instruments are classified into the categornies described
below:

{) Avaiable for sale financial assets are carried at fair value in the
Balance Sheet. In respect of unquoted instruments, or where
the market for a financial instrument is not active, fair value is
established by using recognised valuation methodologies, in
accordance with Internaticnal Private Equity and Venturs Capital
Valuation Guidelines.

For unguoted investments in eady stage enterprises and
enterprises with revenues but without significant profits or
significart positive cash flows, fair value is detarmined using the
“Price of a Recent Investment™ method. Repayments are treated
as reductions to camying value. After an appropriate period, an
assessmeant is made as to whether the circumstances of the
investment have changed such that another valuation
methodology is appropriate or there is any evidence of
deterioration or strong defansible evidence of an increase in
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value, In the absence of these indicators, fair value is
determined 10 be that reported at the previous balance
sheet date.

Unquoted investments with revenues, maintainable profits
and/or maintainable cash flows are valued by deriving an
Enterprise Value of the underlying business.

Movements in fair value, other than impairment losses and
foreign exchange movemants on monetary assets, are taken to
the fair value reserve in equity until derecognition of the asset, at
which time the cumulative amount in this resarve is recognised
in the Profit and Loss Account. The following assets are
classified as avaiable for sale:

* Fixed assets
— Other investments

(i} Financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss include
investments which have been specifically designated as “at fair
value through profit or loss'. Thase are carried in the Balance
Sheet at fair value and movements in fair value are taken to the
Profit and Loss Account in the period in which they arise. The
following assets are classified as financial instruments at fair
value through profit or loss:

+ Fixed assets
~ Qther investments

(i) Loans and receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair
valus plus any incremantal costs incurrad. Subsequent to initial
recognition, loans and receivables are measured at amortised
cost using the efiective interest rate method. Gains and losses
are recognised in the Profit and Loss Account when loans and
receivables are derecognised or impaired, as well as through the
amortisation process. The following assets and liabilities are
classified as /oans and receivables:

* Current assets:
- Debtors
- Cash and short-term deposits

{iv)

Fnancial liabiliies are racognised at amortised cost using the
effective interest rate method after initial recognition. The
tollowing liabilities are classified as financial liabilities:

s Creditors (amounts falling dus within one year)
s Creditors (amounts falling due outwith one year)

The Company has adopted “trade date™ accounting for
purchases or sales of financial assets under a contract whose
terms require delivery of the assets within the timeframe
established in the marketplace concerned. Accordingly, such
financial instruments are recognised on the date the Company
commits to the purchase of the investments, and are
derecognised cn the date it commits to their sale.

Derecognition of financial assets and liabilities

Financial assets

A financial asset or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset, is
deracognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired.

Financial liabifities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is either discharged, cancelled or expires.

Impairment of financial assets
The Company assesses al each balance sheet date whether a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.

Assets carried at amortised cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment in loans and
receivables carried at amortised cost has occurred, the amount of
the impairment loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s camying amount and the expected recoverable amount. The
carrying amount of the asset would be reduced and the amount of
the loss recognised in the Profit and Loss Account.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impaiment loss
decreases and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previcusly
recognised impairment [0ss is reversed. Any subsequent reversal of
an impairment koss is recognised in the Profit and Loss Account to
the extent that the carying value of the asset does not exceed its
amortised cost at the reversal date.

Available for sale financial assets

If an avaiable for sale assat is impaired, an amount comprising the
difference between its cost (net of any principal payment and
amortisation) and its current fair value, less any impairment loss
previously recognised in the Profit and Loss Account, is transferred
from reserves to the Profit and Loss Account, Reversals in respect
of equity instruments classified as available for sals are not
recognised in the Profit and Loss Account. Raversals of impairment
losses on debt instruments are taken through the Profit and Loss
Account, if the increase in fair value of the instrument can be
objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss
was recognised in the Profit and Loss Account.

Deferred taxation

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that
have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date where
transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result in
an obligation to pay less or receive more tax, with the following
exceplions:

*  Provision is made for tax on gains arising from the revaluation
{and similar fair value adjustments) of fixed assets, or gains on
disposal of fixed assets that have been rolled over intc
replacement assets, only to the extent that, at the balance sheet
date, there is a commitment to disposa of the assets
concerned. However, no provision is made where, on the basis
of all available evidence at the balance sheet date, it is more
likely than not that the taxable gain will be rolled over into
replacement assets and charged to tax only when the
replacerment assets are sold;

* Provision is made for deferred tax that would arise on
remittance of the retained earnings of overseas subsidiaries only
to the extent that, at the balance sheet date, dividends have
been accrued as receivable; and




* Defarred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that the
Directors consider that i is more likely than not that there will be
suitablg taxable profits from which the underlying timing
differances can be deducted.

Deferred tax is msasured on a non-discounted basis at the tax rates
that are expectad to apply in the periods in which timing differences
reverse, based on tax rates and laws enacted or substantively
enacted at the balance sheet date.

Operating leases
Rentals paid under operating leases are charged to the Profit and
Loss Account on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Lease incentives are recognised by the Company as a reduction of
the rental expensa, allocated on a straight-line basis, over the
shorter of the lsase term and a period ending on a date from which
it is expected the prevailing market rental will be payabls.

Accounting for Employee Benefit Trusts (EBTs)

UITF 38 requiras that own shares acquired through an EBT be
deducted in arriving at shareholders' funds until they vest
unconditionally to the ermployees. Consideration paid and raceived
for the purchase or sale of these shares is included in shareholders’
funds and ne gain or loss is recognised. Other assets and liabilities
of tha EBTs are recognised as assats and liabilities of the Company.

Ordinary Shares of the Company are held by EBTs in order to satisfy
a number of F&C Group share-based payment plans and future
exercises of options and awards to employees of subsidiary
companies. The cost relating to the share-based payment plans is
recognised in the subsidiary companies which employ the staff in
receipt of awards and the Company recognises any frash issue of
shares or re-issue of own shares when such a transaction occurs,
These shares ara included in the Financial Statements of the
Company as a deduction from sharsholdars' funds,

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the Balance Sheet when the Company
has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
settle the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-
tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. No
provision is established where a reliable estimate of the obligation
cannot be made.

Where the Company expects some or all of a provision to be
reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a separate asset
but only when the reimbursement is virtually certain.

Whers the Company has obligations under property leases and
where the space has ceased to be used for the purposes of the
business, full provision is made for future net outstanding liabilities
under such leases after taking into account the effect of any
expacted sub-letting arrangements.

Related party disclosures

FRS 8: Related Party Disclosures requires disclosure of the details of
material transactions between the reporting entity and related
parties. The Company has taken advantage of the exemption in FRS
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8 not to disclose transactions between F&C Group companies
which eliminate on consolidation,

Foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies arg translated to ihe functional
currency at the exchange rate niling at the date of the transaction.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at
the balance sheet date are translated at the exchange rate ruling at
the balance sheet date, and any exchange differences arising are
taken to the Profit and Loss Account.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities measured at historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date
of transaction and are not subsequently restated. Non-monetary
assats and liabilities stated at fair value in a foreign cumency arg
translated at the exchange rate at the date the tair value was
determined. When fair value movements in assets and liabilities are
reflected in the Profit and Loss Account, the corresponding
axchange movements are also recognisad in the Profit and Loss
Account. Conversely, when fair value movements in assets and
liabilities are reflected directly in equity, the comasponding exchange
movements are also recognised directly in squity, with the exception
of available for sale debt instruments, which are reflected in the
Profit and Loss Account.

Share-based payments
The Company operates a share scheme arrangement which is
required to be accounted for as a share-based payment.

The tair value of share-based payment awards, where it is not
considered possible to estimate rafiably the fair value of these
awards at the grant date, is determined by measuremsent of the
equity instruments at infrinsic value. The fair value is measured by an
independent external valuer at each reporting date. The intrinsic
value is spread over the vesting pariod.

Vasting of equity-settled employea shars awards depends upon
meeting “non-market related” performancs conditions. The type of
vesling criteria affects the calculation of the expense charged to the
Profit and Loss Account and subsequent adjustments as non-
market related conditions are performanca criteria, such as earnings
targsts and/cr service reguirements. The probability of meeting non-
market conditions is incorporated into the expensa chargs via the
estimate of the number of awards expected to vest. The totat
cumulative expensa is ultimately adjusted to reflect the actual
number of awards which vest. Theretore, if no awards vest, no
cumulative expense is ultimately recognised.

FRS 20: Share-based Payment makes a distingtion between awards
setited in equity and those settled in cash. Equity-settied awards are
charged to the Profit and Loss Account with a corresponding credit
to equity. Gash-settled awards are charged to the Prcfit and Loss
Account with a corresponding credit to liabilities. The estimated fair
value of cash-settled awards is re-maasured at sach reporting date
until the payments are ultimately settied.

Ordinary Share capital

When Ordinary Shares are issued the proceeds on issue are
allocated to the equity component and included in shareholkders'
funds, net of transaction costs.
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When Ordinary Shares are repurchased, the amounts of
consideration paid, including direcily attributable costs, are
recognised in the own share reserve included within retained
earnings and are classified as deductions in equity. Dealings in
own shares are reflected through equity.

Dividends on Ordinary Shares are recognised on the date of
payment, or if subject to approval, the date approved by the
shareholders.

Cash flow statement

The Company has taken advantage of the exemptions in FRS 1
{revised): Cash Flow Statements and has elected not 1o prepars a
Cash Flow Staterment as it is included within the Consolidated Cash
Flow Statement in the Consolidated Financial Statements of F&C
Assat Management plc.
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Notes to the Company Financial Statements

1. Auditor’'s remuneration
Amounts received by the Company's auditor in respect of services to the Company have not been disclosed as the Group-wide inforrmation is
disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Statements.

2. Directors’ remuneration
Details of Directors’ remuneration are as follows:

2011 2010

em Em

Aggregate emoluments . 23 2.2
Company contributions paid to defined contribution pension schemes 0.1 0.1
Aggregate value of gains made by Directors on exercise of sharg awards 1.9 09
2011 2010

No. No.

Members of defined contribution pension schemes 2 2

Full disclosure of Directors’ ramuneration is shown on page 35 and pages 38 to 39.

The Company has no employees (including Directors) under contract of employment, all F&C Group employess baing employead by several
subsidiary companies.

3. Dividends
Details of dividends paid and proposed during the year are disclosed in note 11 to the Gonsolidated Financial Statements on page 65.

4. Acquisitions
The acquisition of Tharnes River Capital Group was made on 1 September 2010. Section (a) discloses the 2010 acquisition nots and section
(b) discloses the 2011 updates for changes in censideration.

{a) 2010 - Acquisition of Thames River Capital Group

Full details of the acquisition of the TRC Group are disclosed in note 15(a} to the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 69 1o 72. Under
UK GAAP the expenses of acquisition are capitalised in accordance with FRS 7, while under IFRS these are expensed by the Group through
the Income Statement. The details of the acquisition are otherwise similar to those disclosed in the Consolidated Financial Staterments.

The aggregate considaration in respect of the acquisition of TRC in the Gompany Financial Statements is summarised as follows:

£m
Initial consideration - cash 33.6
Estimated additional cash consideration payable as a result of TRC net assets axceeding target net assets 7.5
Estimate of first instaiment of conditional consideration 5.0
Estimate of second instalment of conditional consideration 2.5
Expenses of acquisition 7.2
Total estimated consideration 55.8

{b) 2011 - Acquisition of Thames River Capital Group
The aggregate consideration paid by the Company as disclosed in 2010 has been revised as follows:

{ii The additional cash consideration paid as a result of TRC net assets exceeding target net assets was £7.4m, compared to £7.5m as
estimated in the 2010 Financial Statements.

{il The fair values of both the first and second instalments of conditional consideration have both been revised to zero, as the Run-rate
EBITDA targets on an annualised basis have not been achieved. Therefore, the total conditional consideration liability of £7.5m has been
released.

Bath of these adjustments have resutted in a reduction in the camying value of the Company's investments in subsidiaries and a release of the
corresponding acquisition creditor.
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5. Tangible fixed assets

Leasehold Office furniture Computer
improvements and equipment equipment Tota!
£m £m £m om
Cost:
At 1 January 2011 4.1 04 5.3 98
Disposals - - {0.1) {0.1)
At 31 December 2011 4.1 0.4 5.2 9.7
Depreciation:
Al 1 January 2011 28 0.4 5.3 8.5
Depreciation charge for the year 0.4 - - 04
Disposals - - (0.1) {0.1)
At 31 December 2011 3.2 0.4 5.2 8.8
Net book vatues:
At 31 Dacember 2010 1.3 - - 1.3
At 31 December 2011 0.9 - - 09
6. Investments in subsidiaries
Note on
Cost
At 1 January 2011 1,2658
Adjustment to acquisition creditor for TRC net assets consideration 4{b} {0.1)
Reversal of TRC conditional consideration 4{b} 7.5
Additions in raspect of share-based payment awards 173
Recharge in respect of shara-based payment awards (16.5)
At 31 December 2011 1,259.0
Cumulative impairment:
At 1 January 2011 and 31 December 2011 .0
Net book values:
At 31 December 2010 1.262.8
At 31 December 2011 1,256.0

Included within the above net book value is £74.2m (31 December 2010: £73.4m} in respect of equity-settled share-based payment awards

made by subsidiary undertakings.

7. Other investments
The classification of investmants at 31 December is as follows:

31 December 31 Dacember
2011 2010
Notes £m £m
Avaitable for sale =)} 1.5 3.2
Fair value through profit or loss (b} 3.9 6.6
5.4 9.8

(a) Awvailable for sale
Unguoted
£m
At 1 January 2011 32
Fair value movement in the year 1.6
Fair value gains transferred to the Profit and Loss Account (3.3)
At 31 December 2011 1.5

These investments represent carried interest entitltement in private equity funds.

The unquoted investments have been valued in accordance with International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines and in

accordance with the limited partnership agreements where possible.
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7. Other investments continued
{b) Fair value through profit or loss

Purchased
Equity Plan  NIC Hedge Total
m £m £m
At 1 January 2011 40 2.6 6.6
Disposals in the year (2.6} {0.1) 27
Fair value movement in year 0.1 {0.1) -
At 31 December 2011 15 2.4 3.9

Further details of these investments are disclosed in nots 18(2)(1}2) to the Consclidated Financial Statemaents, on page 75.

The cost of quoted investments as at 31 Decamber 2011 was £3.8m (31 Decarnber 2010: £5.9m).

The valuation of quoted investments as at 31 December 2011 was £2.6m (31 December 2010: £5.1m). The fair value of quoted investments is

based on quoted markest prices at the balance sheet date without any deduction for transaction costs.

8. Debtors
31 December 31 December
2011 2010
Note £m £m
Amounts due within one year:
Trade debtors 1.0 1.2
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 2.2 2.4
Loan to subsidiary undertaking 84.4 89.4
Prepayments 2.3 3.4
VAT recoverable 0.5 0.7
Group relief recsivable 4.6 3.0
Other debtors 1.7 7.0
108.7 107.1
Amounts due outwith one year:
Loan to subsidiary undertaking 60.0 60.0
Deferred tax 12 0.6 1.8
60.6 61.8

The loan to the subsidiary undertaking bears interest at three-month LIBOR minus 0.25% and is with F&C Treasury Limited. The Company will
give written notice of a minimum of one year to seek rapayment of £60.0m. The £54.4m {31 December 2010: £89.4m) included within

Amounts due within one year is repayable on demand.
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9. Creditors
31 December 31 December
2011 2010
Note £m tm
Amounts due within one year:
Trade creditors 02 0.5
Accruals 25 8.0
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 3.4 25
Amounts owed to Achmea Group” - 0.7
Other creditors 16 9.4
Loans from subsidiary undertakings 11 4.0 10.0
117 311
Amounts dus outwith one year:
Other creditors - 7.5
Loans from subsidiary undertakings 1 45.0 45.0
Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 2016/20261 11 258.9 258.6
303.9 31141

* As the Achmea Group ceased to be a related party during 2011, these balances are now included within othar creditors at 31 December 2011,

t At 31 December 201 1 £135.0m (31 December 2010: £135.0m) of the Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 201672026 are held by F&C Finance pic, a
subsidiary undertaking.

Other creditors at 31 Decernber 2011 includes:

» £0.7m (31 December 2010: £0.7mj of estimated further consideration payable in respect of the acquisition of F&C Group (Holdings)
Limited during 2004; and

»  £nil (31 Dacember 2010: £15.0m) of estimated further consideration payable in respect of the acquisition of Thames River Capital Group
on 1 September 2010, as shown in note 4(a).

10. Provisions for liabilities

Onerots Pension
premises Plan Deferred Litigation
contracts guarantee tax guarantee Total
£m £m £m £m om
At 1 January 2010 7.2 - 0.6 2.4 10.2
Provided during the year 0.4 0.1 0.3 - 0.8
Utilised during the year (1.2} - - - (1.2)
Released during the year {0.5) - - (2.4) 2.9)
At 31 December 2010 59 0.1 0.9 - 6.9
Provided during the year 1.1 0.1 0.4 20 3.6
Utilised during the year (1.3} - {0.8) - {22}
At 31 December 2011 5.7 02 04 20 8.3

Onerous premises contracts

The Company holds all properties undsr operating leases. This includes a number of vacant or sub-let properties which were either previously
occupied or are partially occupied by the Company. Provision has been made for the residual lease commitments, where significant, after
taking into account existing and expected sub-tenant contraciual arrangements. The remaining terrms are for up 10 nine years,

Assumptions have been made as to whether each leasshold property may be sub-let or assigned in the future. All leases and sub-leases are
for minimum guaranteed rentals. The provision is subject to uncertainties over time including marke? rant reviews and break options within the
lsase arrangermants. [n addition, exposure coutd exist if an existing tenant defaulted or went into liquidation or administration.

The amount included within the Profit and Loss Account in respect of unwinding of the discount on onerous premises provisions in 2011 is
£0.4m (201(: £0.4m).

Pension Plan guarantee

The Company has agreed to provide the F&C Asset Management Pension Plan (FCAM Plan) Trustees with a guarantee that, should F&C Asset
Management Services Limited become inscivent, the Company will guarantee an amount up to the lower of the cost of securing members’
benefits with an insurance company over the assets of the FCAM Plan (the ‘solvency deficit’) and £120.0m. The pravision represents the
actuarial estimate of the fair value of the guarantes at 31 December 2011 and 31 December 2010.
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10. Provisions for liabilities continued

Deferred tax

The deferred tax provision rslates to short-term timing differences which have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet date. The
provision is subject to uncertainties in respect of when timing differances might reverse. The provision relates to the revaluation of available for
sale assets, which is recognised as a separate componsnt of raserves.

A further analysis of deferred taxation is disclosed in note 12.

Litigation guarantee
Note 24 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 82 and 83 outlines the background and status of the F&C Partners litigation.

A provision of £2.4m was recognisad during 2009 as the Company had guaraniesed any amounts validly due to the founder members in
respect of the put option, to the extent that FAC Alternative Investmant Holdings (F&C AlH) is unable to meet such obligations. However, the
provision was released in 2010 as F&C AIH had sufficient resources available to it to meet any amount payable in respect of a valid put option
claim by the two founder members of Partners. The put option liability was settled during 2011.

The Company now has a joint legal cbligation with F&C AlH to settle any litigation amounts payable to the founder partners. As a result, the
Company has recognised an amount of £2.0m as being patentially payable, in line with the provision recognised in note 24 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

11. Loans

31 December 31 December
2011 2010
Notes m £€m

Amounts repayable:
Fixec/Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 2016/2026 0] 258.9 258.6
Fixed Rate inter-company loan 2016 0] 25.0 25.0
Fixed Rate inter-cormpany loan 2016 {ii) 20.0 200
Floating Rate inter-company loan repayable on demand {v) 4.0 4.0
Floating Rate inter-company ioan repayable on demand ] - 6.0
3079 313.6

() The £260.0m Fixed/Floating Rate Subordinated Notes 2016/2026 bear intenest at 6.75% per annum for the pericd 20 Decembaer 2006 —
19 Decamber 2016, payable annually in arrears. The Company has the option to extend the Notes beyond 19 December 2016 at a rate of
2.69% above three-month LIBOR for the period 20 December 2016 — 19 December 2026, payable quartery in arvears.

i) The £25.0m loan bears intarest at a fixed rate of 13.26%, payable half-yearly in arrears. This loan is due to FAC Finance pic, a subsidiary
undertaking, and is repayable on 19 December 2016.

(i) The £20.0m koan bears interest at a fixed rate of 9.66%, payable half-yearly in armears. This loan is due to F&C Finance plic and is repayable
on 19 December 2016,

{iv) The £4.0m loan bears intarest at three-month LIBOR minus 0.25%, payable quartery in arrears. This loan is due to F&C Managed Pension
Funds Limited, a subsidiary undertaking, and is repayable on demand.

(V) The £6.0m lpan due to F&C Managers Limited was settled on 24 January 2011.
31 December 31 December

2011 2010
Note m m

Amounts repayable:
In one year or less, or on demand 9 4.0 10.0
In more than one yaar but not more than two years - -
In more than two years but not more than five years 9 303.9 -
In more than five years 9 - 303.6
307.9 313.6

Borrowing facilities
The Company has borrowing facilities available to it. The undrawn committed facilities available at the year end are as follows:
31 December 31 December

2011 2010

£m £m

Revolving credit facility 200 20.0
Bank overdraft facilities - 05
20.0 20.5

Details of the revolving credit facility, which expired on 29 February 2012, are disclosed in note 22 to the Consolidated Financial Statements on
page 80.
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12. Deferred taxation

2011 2010
£m m
At 1 January 0.9 10
Provided/(utilised) during the year 03 Q1)
Adjustments in respect of previous periods (1.0) -
At 31 December 0.2 a9
31 Decemnmber 31 December
2011 2010
Notes £m £m
Deferred taxation is provided as follows:

Distributions from partnerships - 0.8
Depreciation in advance of capital allowances 0.5 07
Other timing differences 0.1 0.3
Revaluation of avalable for sale assets (0-4) {0.9)
0.2 0.9

Disclosed in the Financlal Statements as follows:
Debtors: Amounts due gutwith one year 8 0.6 1.8
Provisions for liabilities 10 {0.4) ©.9)
Net deferred tax asset 0.2 0.9

The Dirsctors believe it is appropriate to recognise a defemed tax asset because it is considered that it is more likely than not that there will be
suitable taxable profits from which the underlying timing differences can be deducted.

13. Share-based payment
F&C REIT variable non-controlling interests share-based payment (SBP)
Details of this share-based payment award are disclosed in note 26(c) to the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 94.

A combination of a reassessment of the fikelihood of the financial targets being achioved and the ra-measurement of the fair value of the F&C
REIT business resulted in a credit being recognised in both 2611 and 2010. The cumutative charge has been reversed at 31 Decembear 2011,

but will be reinstated should the performance criteria ba met.

2011 2010

£m £m

F&C REIT variable non-controlling interests SBP 4.9) 0.3)
31 December 31 December

2011 2010

£m £€m

Total carrying amount of cash-settied liabilities - 4.8

14. Pension commitments

The sponsering company and principal emptoyer for the FCAM Plan is FAC Asset Management Services Limited.

The Company has provided a guarantee in respect of this Plan, further details of which are described in note 10,

15. Ordinary Share capital

31 December 2011 31 Decemntier 2010

No. ot No. of
Ordinary Share capital of 0.1p shares £m shares £m

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
Equity interests
Ordinary Shares of 0.1p" 532,118,789 0.5 532,118,789 0.5

* Includes those categorised as own shares.

2011 2010

No. of shares No. of shares

Issued at 1 January 532,118,789 499,273,120
Placing of new shares - 24,807,145
Issued at Gompletion in respect of TRC Commutation arrangements - 6,085,996
Issue of Shares at par to settle share-based payment awards* - 1,952,528
tssuad at 31 December 532118,789 532,118,789

* During the year Ordinary Shares were aliotted, at par value, 10 settie share-based payment awards. There was no exercise price associated with these awards,
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15. Ordinary Share capital continued
The hokders of Ordinary Shares are entitied to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share at
meetings of the Company.

No new Ordinary Shares were allotted in 2011 (2010: 32,845,669). £14.2m was received in respect of the Ordinary Share capital issued during
the year ended 31 December 2010.

Contingent rights to the allotment of shares

The Group operates several share-based payment schemes and has a number of contractual obligations which have a contingent right to
Ordinary Shares which may be settled by the allotment of shares in the Company. The Company may choose to purchase shares in the market
or utilisa its own sharas to setlle some of these awards.

At 31 December 2011 the maximum contingent right to the allotment of shares was as folows:

No. of awards Exercise
Scheme cutstanding price {p) Exercise/vesting dates
Long-Term Rermuneration Plan (Deferred Award) 36,957,268 0.00 1 January 2012 - 10 March 2014
l.ong-Term Remuneration Plan {Restricted Award) 7,085,543 0.00 4 May 2013 - 4 May 2014
Executive Director Remuneration Plan {Defermed Award) 2,188,992 0.00 8 July 2012
TRC Management Retention Plan 21,312,208 0.00 1 Septernbar 2013
TRC Management Incentive Plan 14,208,140 0.0Q 1 March 2013 — 1 September 2016
TRC Commutation Awards” 23,527 481 0.00 1 March 2012 — 1 September 2016
Purchased Eguity Plan (FCAM plc Shares) 691,198 0.00 1 January 2012 - 31 March 2013
Purchased Equity Plan (F&C Investrnent Funds)? 2,218,877 0.00 2 April 2012
Deferred Share Awards 1,091,159 0.00 1 March 2012 - 1 April 2014
Share Save Scheme 3,766 171.00 1 January 2012 - 1 June 2012
Share Save Scheme 102,663 144.30 1 June 2012 — 1 December 2012
2002 Executive Share Option Schema 399,343 139.00 1 January 2012 - 19 March 2013
2002 Executive Share Opticn Scheme 510,557 240.83 1 January 2012 - 9 March 2014

110,297,196

* The potential number of shares as quantified at the reporting date.
1 The number of shares is dependent on the share price and the value of F&C Funds as explained in note 26(h)(i} to the Consolidated Financial Statements on
page 97.

Details of share-bassd payment armrangements are given in note 26 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Employee Benefit Trusts (EBTs)
The following shares are held in EBTs where the Company is the sponsoring employer or in Nominee for the Company. These are categorised
as own shares and deducted trom shareholders” funds:

31 December 31 Decamber

2011 2010

No. of shares  No. of shares

F&C Management Limited Employee Benefit Trust 10,437,516 17,778,910
The tvory & Sime Employee Bensfit Trust 64,176 64,176
Held by RBC cees in a nominee capacity” 2,253,335 2,195,059

12,755,027 20,038,145

= These are specifically held as TRC Deferred Commutation Shares in respect of Commutation amangements.

The aggregate nominal value of own shares held by EBTs at 31 Decemnber 2011 was £13,000 (31 December 2010: £20,000). The markat
value of thesa shares at 31 December 2011 was £8.4m (31 December 2010: £16.8m}.

The Trustees of the EBTs have waived their right to the dividend entitiement on some of these shares.

During the year, the Company purchased 4,079,341 of its own Crdinary Shares (2010: 13,849,362) of 0.1p to satisfy the settlement of awards
granted under share schemes and to hold as own shares in EBTs. The consideration paid for the shares was £3.2m {2010: £8.8m). The cost of
this to the Company, after exercise price monies paid by the employees, was £3.2m (2010: £8.6m}.
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16. Reserves
Reconciliation of movement in reserves:

Ordinary Share Capital Fair Capitad Protit Total
Share PrEmiAn  recemption Margar valye  contriwrtion and loas sharehoiders'
capital [ Ve | resarvet oot ey
£m Em Em £m £m £m fm £m
Balance at 1 January 2010 05 33.8 0.8 927 1.4 66.9 430 1,058
Share capital allotted on placement of shares - 14.22 - - - - - 14,2
Share capital allotted in respect of TRC
Commutation arrangements - 3.8 - - - - (3.8) -
Purchase of own shares - - - - - - 8.8) (8.8}
Settiament proceeds received on disposal of own shares - - - - - - 0.2 0.2
Profit for the year - - - - - - 33.2 33.2
Final 2009 dividend paid - - - - - - (19.4) (19.4)
Interim 20190 dividend paid - - - - - - 5.1} (5.1)
Fair value gain - - - - 1.2 - - 1.2
Tax on fair value gain - - - - (0.2) - - 0.2)
Equity settled share-based payment charge - - - - - 18.5 - 18.5
Transfer to Profit and Loss Account on setliemant
of share-based payment awards by subsidiaries - - - - - (13.0) 13.0 -
Balance at 31 December 2010 0.5 51.8 0.8 912.7 24 73.4 523 1,093.9
Purchase of own shares - - - - - - 3.2} {32)
Profit for the year - - - - - - 16.5 18.5
Final 2010 dividend paid - - - - - - {10.4) {10.4)
Interim 2011 dividend paid - - - - - - 5.2} 5.2)
Fair value gain - - - - 1.8 - - 1.6
Fair value gains transferred to Profit and Loss Account - - - - {3.3) - - 3.3)
Tax on fair valua movernents - - - - 0.5 - - 0.5
Equity settled share-based payment charge - - - - - 173 - 173
Transfer to Profit and Loss Account on settlement
of share-based payment awards by subsidiaries - - - - - (16.5) 16.5 -
Balance at 31 December 2011 0.5 51.8 0.8 927 12 74.2 66.5 1,107.7
o The Fair value reserve and Capital contribution reserve constituta 'Other reserves’ as disclosed on the face of the Balance Sheet and amount to
£75.4m a1 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: £75.8m).
@  The share premium recognised during 2010 is stated net of 20.4m of transaction expenses associated with the retated share piacing.
The profit after tax of the Company for the year, before dividends paid, was £16.5m (2010: £33.2m).
17. Financial commitments
The Company had the following annual commitments in respect of non-cancellable operating leases and other contracts:
Premises Other Contracts
31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2011 2010 2011 2010
£m £m £m £m
Commitments expiring within one year - - - 0.1
Commitments expiring within two to five years 0.1 01 - -
Gommitments expiring outwith five years 4.5 4.6 - -
48 4.7 - 0.1

The premises financial commitments disciosed above do not include any sub-leasing arrangements which the Gompany may have in place.

The amounts shown reflect gross commitrments at the balance sheel dates.

18. Capital commitments
There are no capital commitments not providad for at 31 December 2011 (31 December 2010: Enil).

19. Subsidiary undertakings

Details of the principal subsidiary undertakings are disclosed in note 39 1o the Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 115 and 116.
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20. Related party transactions

The Company has taken examption from the requirement to disclose related party transactions with wholty-owned members of the FAC Asset
Management plc Group on the basis that these companies are included within the Gonsolidated Financial Statements of F&GC Asset
Management plc.

{a} Related party transactions with Sherborne

Sherborng owns approximately 20% of the Ordinary Share capital of F&C and is reprasented on the Board by the Executive Chairman, Edward
Bramson, who is a partner in Sherborne. Sherborne is entitted to ordinary dividends, and a fee in respect of the Chairman’s services to F&C,
The Company's transactions with Sherborne are disclosed below:

Total Total
expensed Outstanding at expensed  Outstanding at
and accrued 31 December and accrued 31 December
during 2011 2011 during 2010 2010
£m o £m £m
Ordinary dividends paid to Sherborne* 3.0 - n/a n‘a
Other expenses payable to Sherborna” 0.2 - a n/a

* With effect from Mr Bramson's appointment as Chairman on 3 February 2011.

(b) Transactions with entities which are not wholly owned

F&C REIT Asset Management LLP
F&C Asset Management plc owns 70% of F&C RET Asset Management LLP. The other partners in the Partnership, all of whom have
significant influence over the management of the Partnership or a significant economic interest in the Partnership, are:

Kendray Properties Limited 30.00% ownership interest in *B” units
Leo Noé 22.50% ownership interest in “A” units
vor Smith 7.50% ownership interast in “A” units

These parties are considerad to be related parties.

Interest on Secured Loan Notes
The remaining £10.0m of Secured Loan Notes issued as part consideration for the acquisition of the REIT Group were rapaid to Kendray
Properties Limited on 29 June 2010.

Charged Outstanding at Charged  Outstanding at

and accrued 31 December ancg accryed 31 December

during 2011 2011 during 2010 2010

om £m £m £m

Interest payable to Kendray Properties Limited nia n/a 0.2 -

Shared services and administrative services
The Company has a shared services agreemant with F&C REIT Asset Management LLP whersby it provides certain administrative and
professional services 1o F&C REIT Asset Management LLP. Amounts charged under this agreement are set out balow:

Total Total
invoiced Outstanding at invoiced Outstanding at
and accrued 31 December and accrued 31 December
during 2011 2011 during 2010 2010
£m £m £m em
Administration service fees 0.8 01 0.8 0.1

£13.5m of profit distributions were paid to the Gompany by F&C REIT Asset Management LLP in 20171 (2010: £10.6m).

F&C Asset Management plc recognises a share-based payment credit or expanse in respect of the variable minority interest enhancement in
ownership interest which could be achieved by Kendray Properties Limited, Leo Noé and vor Smith. Full details are disclosed in note 28{(c) to
the Consolidated Financial Statements on page 94,

The F&C REIT minority partners each have a put option, requiring the Company to purchase their minority stake in F&C REIT after a minimum
number of yaars, at fair value. The fair value of the option is nil, as the potential amount payable is the same as the fair value of the interests to
be acquired.

In the Consolidated Financial Staternents the gross amount payable under the option is dealt with as a liability, in accordance with IAS 32 as an
obligation for purchase of own equity. As at 31 December 2011, the value of this commitment is estimated at £45.3m (31 December 2010;
£54.0m}. Further details are provided in note 28 to the Consolidated Financiat Staternents on page 98. The option liabilities are split in the
ownership proportions of Kendray Properties Limited, Leo Noé and Ivor Smith.

During 2011, F&C Asset Management plc made a carried interast investment in F&C REIT Carry LP, an associated entity. This investment will
entitle the Company to future camed interest profits from the management of F&C RET Club Deals LP.
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21. Guarantees
The Company has provided the following guarantees as at 31 December 2011:

* A guarantee in respect of the F&C Asset Management Pension Plan. Details of this guarantee are disclosed in nota 10.

* A guarantee for the £149.7m 9% Guaranteed Fixed Rate Loan Notes 2016 issued by F&C Finance pic, dstails of which are disclosed in
note 22 to the Consolidated Financia! Statements on page 80. These Loan Notes are unconditionally and imevocably guaranteed by the
Company.

= Guaranteed funding for its subsidiary F&C Treasury Limited until 27 September 2012 for satisfying its liabilities, At 31 December 2011,
F&C Treasury Limited had net liabilities of £24.1m.

*  Guarantesed funding for its subsidary F&C Alternative Investments (Holdings) Limited until 28 Septermber 2012 for satisfying its liabilities. At
31 December 2011, F&C Alternative Investments (Holdings) Limited had nat liabilities of £3.7m.

22. Contingent liabilities

Ongoing business operations

In the normal course of its business, the Company is subject to matiers of litigation or dispute. While there can be no assurances, at this time
the Directors beliave, based on the information currently available to them, that it is not probable that the ultimate cutcome of any of these
maiters will have a material adverse effect on the financial condition of the Company.

23. Post Balance Sheet Events

Corporation Tax

The Chancellor of the Exchequer announced a further Cormporation Tax rate reduction in his budget of 21 March 2012, This will become
effective from 1 April 2012 and wilt now move the Company’s statutory effective tax rate to 24.5% for 2012. Furthermore this reduction will
move the Company’s tax rate to 22% by 2015.

24. Parent undertaking and contrelling party
In the opinion of the Directors, the Company has ne ultimate parent undertaking and controlling party.




ANNUAL REPCRT AND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 2011 | 141

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the thirty-second Annual General Mesting
of F&C Asset Management plc will be held at Ironmongers Hall,
Shaftesbury Place, Barbican, London EC2Y 8AA on Wednesday 9
May 2012 at 10 a.m. (UK time} for thes following purposes:

Ordinary Business

To be proposed as ordinary resolutions:

1.

© m N AW

To receive the Financial Statements and the Reports of the
Directors and the Independent Auditor for the year ended
31 December 2011.

To declare a final dividend of 2,0 pence per share on the
ordinary shares of the Company to be paid on 25 May 2012 to
members whose name appears on the ragister of members at
the close of business on 30 March 2012,

To elect Keith Jones as a Directer.

To elect Keith Percy as a Director.

To re-elect Edward Bramson as a Director.
To re-elect Keith Bedell-Pgarce as a Director.
To re-elect lan Brindle as a Director.

To re-elect David Logan as a Director.

To ra-elect Jeif Medlock as a Director.

. To re-elect Derham O'Neill as a Director.
. To ms-slect Kieran Poynter as a Director.
. To approve the Dirsctors’ Rermnuneration Report for the year

ended 31 December 2011,

. To re-appoeint KPMG Audit Plc as Auditor to the Company to

hold office until the conclusion of the next General Meeting at
which Financial Statements are laid before the Company and to
authorisa the Directors to determine their remuneration.

. THAE:

(A) pursuant to section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 (‘the
Act'), the Directors be generally and unconditionally
authorised to allot:

(1) shares in the Gompany, or to gran? rights to subscribe
for or to convert any security into shares in the
Company, up to a maximum nominal amount of
£177,355.19, subject to paragraph A{2); and

(2} shares in the Company, or to grant rights to subscribe
for ar to convert any security into shares in the
Company, comprising equity securities {within the
meaning of section 560(1) of the Act} up to a maximum
nominal amount (when aggregated with any allotment
made pursuant to paragraph A{1)) of £354,710.38 in
connection with a Pra-Emptive Offer undertaken by
means of a rights issue;

(B) the authorities given in this Resolution:

(1) shatt be in substitution for all pre-existing authorities to
allot sharas under saction 551 of the Act (ather than the
spacific authorities granted at the general meeting of
the Gompany haid on 18 Jung 2010 to allot sharas 1o

satisfy the consideration payable in relation to the
acquisition of Thames River and the related
commutation arrangements and for the ssttlement of
awards made under the management share plans) but
without prejudice to tha exercise of any such authority
pricr to the date hereof; and

(2} unless renewed, revoked or varied in accordance with
the Act, shall expire at the completion of the Annual
General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2013,
save that the Company may before such expiry make
an offer or agreement which would or might require the
allotment of shares in the Company, or the right to
subscribe for or 10 convert any secunity into shares in
the Company, after such expiry; and

C

for the purpose of this Resolution, “Pre-Emptive Offer”
means an offer of equity securities to:

(1} holders of ordinary shares (other than the Company) on
a fixed record date in proportion 1o their respective
holdings of such shares; and

(2} other persons entitled to participate in such offer by
virtue of the rights attaching to any other equity
securities held by them,

in each case, subject to such exclusions or other
arrangements as the Directors may deem necessary or
appropriate in relation to fractional entitliements, legal,
regulatory or practical problams under the laws or the
requirements of any regulatory body or stock exchange of
any territory or ctherwise.

To be proposed as special resclutions:
15. THAT:

{A} subject to the passing of resclution 14 set out in this Notice
{'the Allotmant Authority'), the Directors be given power
pursuant to section 570 of the Companies Act 2006 ('the
Act’) to allot equity securities (within the meaning of section
560(1} of the Act) for cash, pursuant to the authorities given
by the Allotment Authority, and to sell treasury shanes wholly
for cash, as if saction 561(1) of the Act did not apply to any
such allotrment or sale, provided that such power shall be
limited to the allotment of equity securities or tha sale of
treasury shares:

(1) in the case of paragraph A{1) of the Allctment
Authority, (8) in connection with a Pre-Emptive Offer (as
dafined in the Allotment Authority); or (b} in order to
satisfy options or awards under any share scheme for
employees or share incentive plan approved by the
Company in general mesting; or (c) otherwise, up to a
maximum nominal amount of £26,605.94;

(2

~—

in the case of paragraph A(2) of the Allotment
Authority, in connection with a Pre-Emptive Offer
undertaken by means of a rights issue;
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{B) the power given in this Resolution:

(1) shal be in substitution for all pre-existing authorities
under saction 570 of the Act but without prejudice to
the exercise of any such authority prior to the date
hereof; and

(2) unless renewed in accordance with the Act, shall expire
at the same time as the Alloiment Authority, save that
the Company may before such expiry make an offer or
agreement which would or might require equity
securitios 10 be allotted or treasury shares to be sold
after such expiry,

This power applies to a sale of shares which is an allotment
of equity securitias by virtue of section 560{3) of the Act as if
the words “in the case of paragraph A(1} of the Allotment
Authority,” and “in the case of paragraph A{2) of the
Allotment Authority,” were omitted from, respectively,
paragraphs A{1) and A{2) of this rasolution.

16. THAT, in substitution for any existing power under section 701

of the Companies Act 2006 {'the Act’), but without prejudice to
the exercise of any such power prior to the date hereof, the
Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally
authorised, pursuant to and in accordance with section 701 of
the Act, to make market purchases fwithin the meaning of
section 633 of the Act) of fully paid ordinary shares of 0.1 pence
each in the capital of the Company ({‘ordinary shares’) in such
terms and in such manner as the Directors of the Company may
decide, provided that:

{i} the maximum aggregate number of ordinary shares hereby
authorised to be purchased is 53,211,879 (being
approximately 10 per cent. of the issued ordinary share
capital of the Company excluding treasury shares as at
22 March 2012},

{i} the minimum price which may be paid for an ordinary share
is 0.1 pence (exclusive of expenses); and

(i) the maximum price (exclusive of expensas) which may be
paid for an ordinary sharg is an amount equal to 105 per
cent. of the average of the middle market quotations (as
derived from the Daity Official List of the London Stock
Exchange) for the ordinary shares for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of purchase,

such authority to expire on the earlier of the date falling 15
months after the date of the passing of this resolution and
the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the
Company to be held in 2013, unless previously revoked,
varied or renewed by the Company in general meeting, save
that the Company may at any time prior to the expiry of
such authority enter into a contract or contracts to purchase
ordinary shares under such authority which will or might be
completed or executed wholly or partly atter the expiration
of such authority and may make a purchase of ordinary
shares in pursuance of any such contract or contracts as if
this authority had not expired.

Special Business
To be proposed as a special resolution;

17. THAT the period of notice for calling a general meeting (other

than an Annual General Meating) shall be not less than 14 clear
days provided that this authority shall expire at the conclusion of
the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2013.

By order of the Board

W Marrack Tonkin, FGCA
Secretary

80 George Strest
Edinburgh EHZ2 3BU

23 March 2012

Notes
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A member who is entitied 1o attend and vote at the meeting is entitied to
appoint one or More proxies 1o attend and speak and vote on his/her
behalf. A member may appoint more than one proxy provided that each
proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different shares. A
member may not appoint more than one proxy to exercise rights
attached to any one share. A proxy need not be a member of the
Company.

A Form of Proxy for use by Ordinary Shareholders in connection with the
meeting is enclosed with thesa Accounts. To be valid, the Form of Proxy
should be completed and signed and sent or deliverad, together with any
power of attornay or other authority (if any) under which it is signed or an
extract from the Books of Council and Session or a notarially certified
Copy or a copy certified in accordance with the Powers of Attorney Act
1971 of such power or autharity, in accordance with the instructions
contained therein, 50 as to reach the Company’s registrars, at the
adcress stated therecn, not later than 10 a.m. (UK time) on 4 May 2012,

Altarnatively, shareholders who would ks to lodge their proxy
etectronically may do so via the Sharevote website
[www.sharevote.co.uk) or through CREST in each case so as to be
recaived by no later than 10 a.m. (UK time} on 4 May 2012, Further
details relating to proxy appointments through CREST are set out in note
{xovi) below. If you return mora than one valid proxy appointment in
respect of the same share, sither by paper or electronic communication,
the one which Is received last will take precedence; if tha Company is
unable to detarmine which of them was received last, none of thern wilk
be treated as valid in respect of that share.

Completing and returning a Form of Proxy will not prevent an Crdinary
Sharsholder from attending in person at tha meeting referred to above
and woting should he or she wish 1o do so.

To be entitied to attend and vote at the meeting (and for the purposes of
the determination by the Company of the votes they may cast),
shareholders must be registered in the register of members of the
Caompany at 6,00 p.m. on Friday, 4 May 2012 {or, in the event of any
adjournment, on the date which is two days {excluding any part of a day
that is not a working day} betore the time of the adjourned meeting).
Changes to the register of members after the relevant deadline shall be
disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend and vots at
the meeting.

If you are not a member of the Company but you have been nominated
by a member of the Company to enjoy information rights. you do not
have a right to appoint a proxy. See note (v} below.




{wil} 1 you are a person who has besn nominated under section 146 of the
Companigs Act 2006 to enjoy infarmation rights:

«  Youmay have a right under an agreement between you and the
member of the Company who has nominated you to have
information rights {'Relevant Member’) to ba appointed or ta have
someone else appointed as a proxy for the meeting.

»  If you either do not have such a fight or if you have such a right but
do not wish to exercise i, you may have a right under an agreement
batwean you and the Relavant Member to give instructions to the
Ratevant Member as to the axercise of veting rights.

{vii] Any corporation which is a shareholder can appoint one of more
corporate representative(s) who may exercise on its behalf all of its
powers as a sharsholder provided that they do not do so in relation to the
same shares.

(ix) Under section 527 of the Companies Act 2006, shareholders meeting the
threshold requiremnents set out in that section have the right to require the
Company 10 publish on a website a statement setting out any matter
relating to: (i the audit of the Company's accounts (including the auditor's
report and the conduct of the audit) that are (o be laid belore the
meetng; of (i} any circumstance connected with an auditor of the
Company ceasing 1o hold office since the previous meeting at which
annual accounts and reports were laid in accordance with section 437 of
the Companies Act 2008. The Compary may not require the
shareholders requesting any such website publication to pay its expenses
in complying with sections 527 or 528 of the Companies Ast 2006,
Where the Company is required to place a statement on a website under
section 527 of the Companies Act 2006, it must forward the statement to
the Company's auditor not later than the time when it mzakes the
statement availzble on the websita. The business which may be dealt
with at the meeting includes any statement that the Comparny has been
required under section 527 of the Companies Act 2006 to publish on a
website.

{x} Any shareholder attending the meeting has the right o ask questions.
The Company must cause to be answered any such question relating 1o
the business being dealt with at the meeting but no such answer need be
given if {a) to do so would interfere unduly with the preparation for the
meeting or involve tha disclosure of confidential information, {b) the
answer has already been given on a website in the form of an answer 10
a question, of (¢} it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the
good order of the mesting that the question be answered.

{xi) In accordance with section 311A of the Companias Act 2006, the
contents of this notice, detaits of the total number of shares in raspect of
which members are entitled to exercisa voting rights at the meeting and.
if applicable, any members® statements, members’ resolutions or
members' matters of business received by the Compary after the data of
this notice of meeting will be available on the Compary's website at
www.fcamplc.com.

[(xi) As at 22 March 2012 (being the latest practicable date prior to
publication of this notice) the Company's issued share capital consisted
of 532,118,789 ordinary shares of 0.1 pence each camying one vota
each, No shares are held in treasury. Therefore, total voting rights in the
Company as at 22 March 2012 are 532,118,788.

{xil} Copies of the following documents will be mads available for inspection
at the registered office of the Company and at the Company's head office
guring normal business hours on any week day (Saturcays, Sundays and
public holidays excepted) from the date of this notice until the close of the
meeting, and at the place of the mesting from 15 minutes prior to and
cuning the continuance of the meeting:

s the Executive Directors’ service contracts and Non-executive
Directors' letters of appointment; and

s the articles of association of the Company.
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{xdv) A member may not use any glectronic address provided either in this

Notice of Annual General Meeting or any related documents to
communicate with the Company for any purpose other than thoss
expressly stated.

(v} The Company has made pronvision jor sharabolders who would like to

vote by electonic means.

{ovi) CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the

CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so by using the
procedures described in the CREST Manual. CREST Personal Members
or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who
have appointed a service provider(s), should refer to their CREST sponsor
or vating senvice provider(s), who will be able to take the appropiate
action on their behalf.

In order for a proxy appointment qr instruction made using the CREST
service to be valid, the appropriate CHEST message (a ‘CREST Proxy
Instruction’} must be property authenticated in accordance with Eurodear
UK & Irefand Limited's specifications, and must contain the information
required for such instruction, as descriped in the CAEST Manual
(available via www.ewroclear.com/CREST). The message, regardless of
whether it constitutes the appointment of a proxy of is an amendment to
the instruction given to a previousty appointed proxy must, in order to be
valid, be transmitied 50 as 10 be recsived Dy our Registrars, Equiniti (ID
RA19) by 10 am. {UK time) on 4 May 2012. For this purpose, the time of
recaipt will be taken to be the time (as determined by the time stamp
applied to the message by the CREST Application Host) from which the
issuer’s agent is able to retrieve the messaga by enquiry to CREST in the
manner prescrited by CREST. After this time any change of instruction to
proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the
appointee through other means, CREST members and, where applicable,
their CREST sponsors or voting senvice providers shoutd note that
Eurcdlear UK & Iraland Limitec does not make avaitable special
procedures in CREST for any particular message. Normal system timings
and limitations will, therefore, apply in refation 1o the input of CREST
Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of thea CREST member
concerned to take (o, it the CREST member is a CREST personal
member, or sponsared member, or has appointad a voting service
provider, to procure that his CREST sponser of voting service provider(s)
takef{s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message is
transmitted by means of the CREST system by ary particular tirme, In this
connection, CREST members and, where applicabie, their CREST
sponsors or voting service providers are referrad, in particular, to those
sections of the CREST Manual concerning practical limitations of the
CREST systen and timings.

The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the
circumnstances set out in Regulation 35(S)(a) of the Uncentificated
Securities Regulations 2001,
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Notice To US Shareholders —
Certain PFIC Considerations

Shareholders should consult their own tax advisors as to the tax
considerations applicable to them relating to the purchase,
ownership and disposition of our ordinary shares {the 'Shares’),
including the applicability of US Federal state and local tax laws and
non-US tax laws. This discussion does not address tax
considerations applicable to US Shareholders other than the passive
foreign investment company nules.

F&C Asset Management plc {the ‘Company') and certain of its
subsidiaries may be treated as passive foreign investment
companies (sach, a 'PFIC’) within the meaning of section 1297 of
the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the ‘Code’} for
US Federal income tax purposes.

Treatment of the Company or any of its subsidiaries as a PFIC could
result in adverse tax consequences for US Shareholkders.

A foreign corporation generally will be treated as a PFIC in any year
in which either 75 per cent. or more of its gross income constitutes
passive income or at least 50 per cent. of the value of its assets is
attributable to assets which produce or are held for the production
of passive incoma. In applying these tests, a non-US comoration
that directly or indirectly owns at lsast 25 per cent., by valus, of the
stock of another corporation is treated as if it held directly its
proportionate share of the other corporation’s assets and received
directly its proportionate share of the other corporation’s income.

Whether a non-US company is a PFIC is deterrined annually, and the
status of the Company, or any of its subsidiares, could change
depending among other things upon the changes in the composition
of its gross receipts and assets, and the naturs of its business.

US Shareholders are particularly urged to consult their own Tax
Advisors regarding the US tax considerations relating to an
investment in a company that may be or may become a PRIC,
including the avaiability and consequenceas of slactions that may be
available to mitigate the adverse Federal income tax consequences
of owning or disposing of PFIC shares. In that regard, US
Sharehclders should be aware that the Company does not intend to
satisfy the record keeping and other requirements that would permit
a LS Shareholder to make a qualified electing fund {'QEF’) election
with respect 1o the Company or any of its subsidiaries.

Each taxpayer is hereby notified that: (a) any discussion of US
Federal tax issues herein is not intended or written to be used. and
cannot be used by the taxpayer, for the purpese of avoiding
penalties that may be imposed on the taxpayer under US Federal
tax law; (b) any such discussion is written to support the promotion
or marketing of the transactions or matters addressed herein; and
{c} the taxpayer should seek advice based on its particular
circumstancas from an independent tax advisor,
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Shareholder services available from Equiniti Limited

Shareview

The Company's registrar, Equiniti, offers a Shareview service enabling shareholders to have more control over their shares and other investiments:

m Direct access to data held on the share register including recent share moverments and dividend details.

m The ability to change address details or dividend payment instructions online.

m To sign up for Shareview, shareholders need the “shareholder referance” printed on the proxy form or dividend stationery, and there is no
charge to register.

On registration, sharsholders can select their preferred format (post or e-mail) for sharehelder communications. Shareholders selecting “e-mail”

as their maiing preference will be sent shareholder communications, such as proxy forms and notice of Company results by e-mail instead of

post, as long as this option is available. Shareholders selecting “post” as their prefarence wili be sent paper documents as usual. Details of

software and equipment requirements are given on the website, www.shareview.co.uk

Voting Online

In accordance with good governance practice, the Company is offering shareholders use of an online voting service, “sharevots”, offered by

Equiniti, at www.sharevote.co.uk. Shareholders can use this service to vote ar appoint a proxy online. The same voting deadline (10 a.m.

(UK time) on 4 May 2012} applies as for the Personalised Voting Form to vote or appoint a proxy by post to vote. Shareholders need to use

the unique personal identification details (Reference Number, Card ID and Account Number) that are printed on the Personalised Voting Form

to use this service.
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